Stochastic Bargaining Theory and Order Flow

Thesis by

Kaoru Kato

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

California Institute of Technology

Pasadena, California

1996

(Defended September 15, 1995)

c 1996

Kaoru Kato

All Rights Reserved

ii

Dedication

To Kikuma Kato

•

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge the financial support of the California Institute of Technology. I am deeply indebted to Peter Bossaerts whom I admire for his attitude toward intellectual adventures and for his truly exceptional personality, and I would like to thank him for his guidance, encouragement, and patience throughout the development of this dissertation. I thank Charles Plott for giving me an access to his fountain of wisdom and creativity, for letting me participate in the frontline of Experimental Economics, and for encouraging me at every stage of my educational experience at Caltech with his vast generosity. I thank Richard McKelvey for helpful comments and insights, from which this dissertation has benefited considerably.

Though the kind people I have met are too numerous to list, I would like to extend my special thanks to Hsing Yan Lee, the Got of Calted Social Sciences Computer Lab., for assisting me in computerized experiments, for improving the MUDA program¹ to its state-of-the-art level, for sharing his intellectual and creative views, and for being a big brother to me in many aspects; Tetsuo Kondo for opening my eyes to a wonder world of Economics; Tetsuya Uchiki for being a fascinatingly amusing officemate; Kim Border and Wes Boudville for answering numerous $IATEX 2_{\varepsilon}$ questions; and the friendly faculty and staff members of the Division of the Humanities and Social Sciences at Caltech for always motivating me in a positive manner.

My five years at Caltech have been fruitful not only in terms of academic stimulations, but also in terms of my abrupt and eventual awakening to the real world that used to be,

¹MUDA stands for Mutiple–Unit Double Auction. This software was used to run experiments that are described in Chapter 5 of this dissertation.

and still is in many sense, beyond my cognition. I had subconsciously refused to face the presence of any negativity in humans for a long time in search of my green house. I was one of many caterpillars that are climbing up a mystery tower of infinite height without questioning. I believed that there would be an ideal world of happiness somewhere in the tower that is rid of any known negative feelings, such as anger, hatred, and jealousy, that human beings are prone to possess. Such an ignorance has cost me a significant amount of pain both tangibly and intangibly. I am grateful, however, to have experienced this stage, so that the damage, I believe, has been minimized. In this process of enlightenment I have learned to appreciate my life far more than I used to. Throughout the difficult times, I have been exceptionally fortunate to be surrounded by people whom I can call, with confidence, true friends. They are the ones who have kept my faith in human beings alive and have provided me with unconditional friendship, without which this dissertation would not have existed, and I would like to thank them here:

Joseph Sivo for his unique and convincing advice in search of the meaning of my existence, for introducing numerous interesting both scientific and phylosophical ideas scattered in this world to me, and for sharing his view on the fractal market hypothesis; Anastasios Lappas for participating in endless conversations with me when I am confused at the margin of reality and for letting me use his valuable collection of books on innovative topics such as nonlinear modeling and neural network learning; Kyuson Yun for giving me objective and critical opinions on the environment I was in, for showing me the necessity of skepticism, and for sharing her unique molecular-biologist's view of Economics; William Kelly and Szilvia Papai for their support in my efforts to overcome the dilemma between trust and distrust in human beings and for sharing the excitement of learning financial markets;

v

Betsy Marvit for providing me with a unique and creative way of dealing with *almost impossible to deal with* issues; Inez, Andrew, Joe, Micah, Mike, and Rajesh for sharing many wonderfully exciting, refreshing, and occasionally decadent moments with me on and off campus; Chie, Eiko, Makoto, and Tatsuya for their eternal friendship from a distance; my very frecial friends who have been with me fince my early dilbhood for having always shown me a positive aspect in situations that appear to be devastating and for teaching me how to find the good in every evil; and my family for their silent encouragement.

At last, but not the least, very special thanks go to Anthony Dahm for his unconditional love. When I saw a vanishing point in the horizon, he taught me that it is not the destination but the journey that is important.

Abstract

This thesis is composed of two parts, each of which reflects our attempt to describe order flow determinants in a bilateral and multilateral trading environment, respectively.

In Part I of this research, we investigate noncooperative bilateral sequential bargaining games in which the value of the asset changes stochastically according to a sequence of perfectly observable time-varying random variables. We attempt to model scientific speculations of the game participants that lead to varied length of bargaining durations. Previous studies, which have focused on the analyses of incomplete information games in interpreting bargaining delays, have shown that such delays are attributed to information asymmetry on asset values among players that results in differences in players' personal valuation of the asset. However, following the viewpoint of the Efficient Market Hypothesis, we assume in our models that there is no uneven assimilation of information of vital importance that affects the asset value once the players are at a negotiating table. Hence, one of the important features of the investigated models is that both players observe identical information regarding the future asset value, and that there is no uncertainty regarding one's opponent's preferences during the bargaining process. Despite the assumption of complete information, we argue that a delay before an agreement under certain conditions is an inevitable consequence of the stochastic component in this model.

We give game theoretic specifications for two types of bargaining games, which we call the Basic game and the Alternative game. The two games differ from each other in their timing of information arrivals with respect to players' actions. We characterize their subgame perfect equilibria that follow our particular behavioral assumptions. Characteristics of the equilibrium outcomes of the two games are compared. We direct special attention to the study of the analytical results in comparison with those of Rubinstein (1982), Osborne and Rubinstein (1990), and Merlo and Wilson (1995). We then give statistical specifications for two types of stochastic bargaining simulations, which are the Autoregressive Binomial Model and the Generalized Wiener Process Model. Comparative statics of several variables and bargaining durations are investigated thoroughly through numerous simulation runs. Subsequently, through our research we clarify the importance of integrating stochastic concepts into the bargaining theory and its applications in search of alternative explanations for various bargaining durations.

In Part II of this research, we provide a set of experimental results in our study of order flow determinants in experimental financial markets with asymmetrically informed human subjects. The markets are organized as computerized double auctions accommodated with an order book that contains a complete set of current limit and market orders and that can be inspected by every market participant at any time during each trading period. Our empirical analysis focuses on the series of actions taken by the subjects that include quote revisions, limit order arrivals, and trades. At first, we report thorough descriptive statistics on the extracted data sets, where we do not assume any particular theory of the market microstructure. Then we show serial dependencies of order flow on the previous event type, the state of the order book, the size of bid-ask spread, and the time intervals. In so doing, we ascertain the significance of the impact of information carried in the order book.

viii

Contents

Ι	Sto	chastic Bargaining Games with Sequential Information Arrival	1
1	\mathbf{Intr}	oduction	2
	1.1	Bargaining Delays and Information	3
	1.2	Theoretical Literature on Bargaining Delays	6
	1.3	This Dissertation	9
2	Bar	gaining with Sequential Information Arrival	15
	2.1	The Model	15
		2.1.1 The Basic Game	20
		2.1.2 The Alternative Game	22
		2.1.3 The Equilibrium Concept	24
	2.2	Analysis of the Basic Game	33
	2.3	Analysis of the Alternative Game	47
	2.4	Notes on the Distribution of Surplus	57
	2.5	Discussion	59

2A Derivations of Equilibria

.

.

62

.

	2A.1	Equilil	brium of the Basic Game	••••			•	62
	2A.2	Equilil	brium of the Alternative Game					69
3	Sim	ulation	ns of Stochastic Bargaining Games					79
	3.1	The B	inomial Distribution Model	••••	•••	• •		81
		3.1.1	The Autocorrelation Model	• • • •				81
		3.1.2	The I.I.D. Model		• • •		•	86
		3.1.3	Design and Data Structures	• • • •			•	87
		3.1.4	Results and Comparative Statics					89
	3.2	The C	ontinuous Distribution Model				•	96
		3.2.1	The Geometric Brownian Motion (Wiener Process)	Model			•	97
		3.2.2	Design and Data Structures				•	100
		3.2.3	Results and Comparative Statics				•	102
	3.3	Summa	ary and Discussion				•	106
3A	. Tab	oles for	r Chapter 3					111
	3A.1	Autore	gressive Binomial Models				٠	111
	3A.2	Genera	alized Wiener Process Models				•	121
sЪ	Fig	uros fe	vr Chaptor 3					180
UL.	r ig	ures it	n Chapter 3			,		138
	3B.1	Autore	egressive Binomial Models I	••••	•••		•	138
	3B.2	Autore	egressive Binomial Models II				•	150
	3B.3	Genera	alized Wiener Process Models	••••	•••			162
	. . .							

 \mathbf{x}

C(ONTI	ENTS		xi
	3C.1	Autore	egressive Binomial Models	169
	3C.2	2 Genera	alized Wiener Process Models	185
4	Cor	ncludin	g Remarks on Part I	203
B	ibliog	graphy	Ι	207
II	In	forma	tion and Order Flow in Experimental Markets	210
5	Ord	ler Flo	w in Experimental Financial Markets	211
	5.1	Introd	uction \ldots	211
	5.2	Exper	imental Procedure	214
		5.2.1	Market Organization	215
		5.2.2	Experimental Design	217
	5.3	Descri	ptive Summary	219
		5.3.1	Trading Activities and Bid–Ask Spreads	220
		5.3.2	Inferences Concerning Variances	223
		5.3.3	Other Findings on the Descriptive Statistics	225
	5.4	Analy	sis of the Order Flow	228
		5.4.1	Frequencies of Event, Conditional on the Previous Event Type	230
		5.4.2	Frequencies of Event, Conditional on the State of the Order Book .	234
		5.4.3	Frequencies of Event, Conditional on the Size of Bid–Ask Spread	236
		5.4.4	Time Intervals between Events	. 237
	5.5	Concl	uding Remarks	. 240

.

CONTENTS

5A	Tables for Chapter 5	245
$5\mathrm{B}$	Figures for Chapter 5	285
5C	Computation Steps of the Hurst Exponent	307
$5\mathrm{D}$	An Instruction for the Experiments	310
$5\mathrm{E}$	Record Sheet and Dividend Sheet	316
5F	Data Files	324
Bib	liography II	326

xii

List of Figures

2.1	The Timing of Events (Basic Game)	20
2.2	The Timing of Events (Alternative Game)	22
3.1	The Binary Tree of Depth 3 with Sequential Node I.D. Number	88
3.2	Design of Wiener Process Model with $T = 2$	102
3.3	Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$	140
3.4	Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$	140
3.5	Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$	141
3.6	Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$	141
3.7	Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$	142
3.8	Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$	142
3.9	Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[ho=0.1 ightarrow 0.9]$	143
3.10	Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[x_T = 0.1 \rightarrow 0.9]$	144
3.11	Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T=2 ightarrow 18]$	145
3.12	Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T=2 \rightarrow 18]$	145
3.13	Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$	146

3.14	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Alternative G	tame) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 1]$	18]	146
3.15	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Alternative G	same) [$\beta_B = 1.0$ -	ightarrow 3.8]	147
3.16	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Alternative G	$\beta_{B} = 1.0$ -	$\rightarrow 3.8$]	147
3.17	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Alternative G	tame) $[ho = 0.1 \rightarrow$	0.9]	148
3.18	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Alternative G	$ame) \ [x_T = 0.1 - 1]$	ightarrow 0.9]	149
3.19	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Basic Game)	$[T=2 \rightarrow 18]$.		152
3.20	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Basic Game)	$[T=2 \rightarrow 18]$.		152
3.21	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Basic Game)	$[T=2 \rightarrow 18]$.		153
3.22	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Basic Game)	[T=2 ightarrow 18] .		153
3.23	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Basic Game)	$[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$		154
3.24	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Basic Game)	$[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$		154
3.25	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Basic Game)	$[\rho=0.1\rightarrow 0.9]$		155
3.26	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Basic Game)	$[x_T=0.1 ightarrow 0.9]$		156
3.27	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Alternative C	Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow$	18]	157
3.28	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Alternative G	Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow$	18]	157
3.29	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Alternative G	Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow$	18]	158
3.30	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Alternative G	Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow$	18]	158
3.31	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Alternative G	Game) [$\beta_B = 1.0$	$\rightarrow 3.8$]	159
3.32	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Alternative G	Game) [$\beta_B = 1.0$	$\rightarrow 3.8$]	159
3.33	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Alternative G	Game) $[ho = 0.1 - 0.1]$	→ 0.9]	160
3.34	Autoreg.	Binomial Model (Alternative (Game) $[x_T = 0.1]$	$\rightarrow 0.9$]	161
3.35	Wiener	Process Model (Basic Game) [θ	$\theta = -0.05 \rightarrow 0.06$]	163
3.36	Wiener	Process Model (Basic Game) [6	$\theta = -0.05 \rightarrow 0.06$]	163

3.37	Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[\theta = -0.05 \rightarrow 0.06]$	164
3.38	Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[heta=-0.05 ightarrow 0.06]$	164
3.39	Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[heta_A=0.5 ightarrow 6.0]$	165
3.40	Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[heta_A=0.5 ightarrow 6.0]$	165
3.41	Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[heta_A=0.5 ightarrow 6.0]$	166
3.42	Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[heta_A=0.5 ightarrow 6.0]$	166
3.43	Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[T=2 \rightarrow 12]$	167
3.44	Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[T=2 \rightarrow 12]$	167
3.45	Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[T=2 \rightarrow 12]$	168
3.46	Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[T=2 \rightarrow 12]$	168
51	Demand and Supply Schedules in Market 2	286
0.1		200
5.2a	Time Series of Transaction Prices (Data 042393b : Market 1)	287
$5.2\mathrm{b}$	Time Series of Transaction Prices (Data 042393c : Market 1)	288
5.2c	Time Series of Transaction Prices (Data 042393b : Market 2)	289
5.2d	Time Series of Transaction Prices (Data 042393c : Market 2)	290
5.3a	Average and Total Number of Bids and Asks (Data 042393b : Market 1)	291
5.3b	Average and Total Number of Bids and Asks (Data $042393c$: Market 1)	291
5.3c	Average and Total Number of Bids and Asks (Data 042393b : Market 2)	292
5.3d	Average and Total Number of Bids and Asks (Data $042393c$: Market 2)	292
5.4a	State of the Order Book (Data 042393b : Market 1)	293
$5.4\mathrm{b}$	State of the Order Book (Data 042393c : Market 1)	293
5.4c	State of the Order Book (Data 042393b : Market 2)	294

5.4d State of the Order Book (Data 042393c : Market 2)	294
5.5a1 Intraperiod Patterns of Market Activities (Data 042393b : Market 1)	295
5.5a2 Intraperiod Patterns of Market Activities (Data 042393b : Market 1)	295
5.5b1 Intraperiod Patterns of Market Activities (Data 042393c : Market 1)	296
5.5b2 Intraperiod Patterns of Market Activities (Data 042393c : Market 1)	296
5.5c1 Intraperiod Patterns of Market Activities (Data 042393b : Market 2)	297
5.5c2 Intraperiod Patterns of Market Activities (Data 042393b : Market 2)	297
5.5d1 Intraperiod Patterns of Market Activities (Data 042393c : Market 2)	298
5.5d2 Intraperiod Patterns of Market Activities (Data 042393c : Market 2)	298
5.6a Histograms of Intraperiod Price Changes (Data 042393b : Market 1)	299
5.6b Histograms of Intraperiod Price Changes (Data 042393c : Market 1)	300
5.6c Histograms of Intraperiod Price Changes (Data 042393b : Market 2)	301
5.6d Histograms of Intraperiod Price Changes (Data 042393c : Market 2)	302
5.7a1 Intraperiod Pattern of Bid-Ask Spreads (Data 042393b : Market 1)	303
5.7a2 Intraperiod Pattern of Bid-Ask Spreads (Data 042393b : Market 1)	303
5.7b1 Intraperiod Pattern of Bid–Ask Spreads (Data 042393c : Market 1)	304
5.7b2 Intraperiod Pattern of Bid–Ask Spreads (Data 042393c : Market 1)	304
5.8a Distribution of Time Interval between Orders (Data $042393b$: Market 1) .	305
5.8b Distribution of Time Interval between Orders (Data $042393c$: Market 1) .	305
$5.8c\ $ Distribution of Time Interval between Orders (Data $042393b$: Market 2) $\ .$	306
5.8d Distribution of Time Interval between Orders (Data $042393c$: Market 2) .	306

xvi

List of Tables

3.1	Exhibit 1 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game)	112
3.2	Exhibit 2 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game)	114
3.3	Exhibit 3 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game)	116
3.4	Exhibit 4 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game)	118
3.5	Exhibit 5 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game)	119
3.6	Exhibit 6 : Wiener Process Model (Basic Game)	122
3.7	Exhibit 7 : Wiener Process Model (Basic Game)	124
3.8	Exhibit 8 : Wiener Process Model (Basic Game)	126
3.9	Exhibit 9 : Wiener Process Model (Basic Game)	128
3.10	Exhibit 10 : Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game)	130
3.11	Exhibit 11 : Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game)	132
3.12	Exhibit 12 : Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game)	134
3.13	Exhibit 13 : Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game)	136
5.1a	Summary of the Experimental Design (Market 1)	246
5.1b	States of Trading Periods (Market 1)	246
5.1c	Summary of the Experimental Design (Market 2)	247

5.1d	Equilibrium Predictions in Market 1	247
5.2a	State Contingent Dividend Parameters in Market 1	248
$5.2\mathrm{b}$	Buyers' Redemption Values in Market 2	248
5.2c	Sellers' Inventory Use Costs in Market 2	249
5.2d	Types of Each Subject in Market 1 and Market 2	250
5.3a	Descriptive Statistics on Market Activities (Data 042393b : Market 1)	251
$5.3\mathrm{b}$	Descriptive Statistics on Market Activities (Data 042393c : Market 1)	252
5.3c	Descriptive Statistics on Market Activities (Data 042393b : Market 2)	253
5.3d	Descriptive Statistics on Market Activities (Data 042393c : Market 2)	254
5.4	Statistics for Tests Concerning Equality of Selected Variables between Market	
	1 and Market 2	255
5.5a	ANOVA Tables for Tests Concerning Difference among X, Y, and Z States	
	(Data 042393b : Market 1)	256
5.5b	ANOVA Tables for Tests Concerning Difference among X, Y, and Z States	
	(Data 042393c : Market 1)	257
5.6	Unconditional Frequencies of Events	258
5.7a	Unconditional Frequencies of Events by Period (Data $042393b$: Market 1).	259
5.7b	Unconditional Frequencies of Events by Period (Data $042393c$: Market 1) .	259
5.7c	Unconditional Frequencies of Events by Period (Data 042393b : Market 2).	260
$5.7\mathrm{d}$	Unconditional Frequencies of Events by Period (Data $042393c$: Market 2) .	260
5.8a	Cross-tabulation of Event Types by State	261
5.8b	Statistics for Tests Concerning Equality of Unconditional Event Frequencies	
	among Three Defferent States	261

5.9a Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Type of the Previous Event (Data	
042393b : Market 1)	262
5.9a' Frequencies of Events by State, Conditional on the Type of the Previous	
Event (Data 042393b : Market 1)	263
5.9b Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Type of the Previous Event (Data	
042393c : Market 1)	264
5.9b' Frequencies of Events by State, Conditional on the Type of the Previous	
Event (Data 042393c : Market 1)	265
5.9c Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Type of the Previous Event (Data	
042393b : Market 2)	266
5.9d Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Type of the Previous Event (Data	
042393c : Market 2)	267
5.10 χ^2 Statistics for the Discrepancy between Unconditional Frequencies and	
Frequencies Conditional on the Last Event Type	268
5.11a Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the State of the Order Book (Data	
042393b : Market 1)	269
5.11a'Frequencies of Events by State, Conditional on the State of the Order Book	
(Data 042393b : Market 1)	270
5.11b Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the State of the Order Book (Data	
042393c : Market 1)	271
5.11b'Frequencies of Events by State, Conditional on the State of the Order Book	
(Data 042393c : Market 1)	272

5.11c Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the State of the Order Book (Data	
042393b : Market 2)	273
5.11d Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the State of the Order Book (Data	
042393c : Market 2)	274
5.12 χ^2 Statistics for the Discrepancy between Unconditional Frequencies and	
Frequencies Conditional on the State of the Book	275
5.13a Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Size of Bid–Ask Spread (Data	
042393b : Market 1)	276
5.13a'Frequencies of Events by State, Conditional on the Size of Bid–Ask Spread	
(Data 042393b : Market 1)	276
5.13b Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Size of Bid-Ask Spread (Data	
042393c : Market 1)	277
5.13b'Frequencies of Events by State, Conditional on the Size of Bid–Ask Spread	
(Data 042393c : Market 1)	277
5.13c Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Size of Bid-Ask Spread (Data	
042393b : Market 2)	278
5.13d Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Size of Bid-Ask Spread (Data	
042393c : Market 2)	278
5.14 χ^2 Statistics for the Discrepancy between Unconditional Frequencies and	
Frequencies Conditional on Bid–Ask Spread	279
5.15a Mean Time Interval between Two Events (seconds)	280
5.15b Mean Time Interval between Two Events (seconds)	281

.

	5.16 Statistics for Tests Concerning Equality of Mean Time Intervals among Dif-
282	ferent Conditioning Variables
	5.17a Mean Time Intervals between Two Events, Jointly Conditional on the Pre-
	vious Event Type, the State of the Order Book, and the Size of the Last
283	Time Interval (Data 042393b : Market 1 ; 042393c : Market 1) \ldots
	5.17b Mean Time Intervals between Two Events, Jointly Conditional on the Pre-
	vious Event Type, the State of the Order Book, and the Size of the Last
284	Time Interval (Data 042393b : Market 2 ; 042393c : Market 2)

 $\mathbf{x}\mathbf{x}\mathbf{i}$

Part I

Stochastic Bargaining Games with Sequential Information Arrival

Chapter 1

Introduction

Part I of this research addresses the problem of resource allocation among two parties in a dynamic context, where both parties have bargaining power, thereby significantly influencing the final outcome. The process of negotiation is modeled as a noncooperative sequential bargaining game in which the two parties alternate making offers over a share of a single divisible asset. We introduce a bilateral bargaining model in which the value of the asset changes stochastically according to a sequence of perfectly observable time-varying random variables. Then we give statistical specifications for two types of the stochastic bargaining games to generate numerical examples. We direct special attention to the duration of negotiation processes in the analysis of the simulation results.

Bargaining among parties of opposing interests constitutes a wide range of negotiation processes in economic, political, and legal spheres. To rival firms negotiating over market share, bargaining may be a process to achieve an agreement on a production level. In labor dispute, bargaining may be necessary to reach an agreement on wage levels. In the context of international trading, bargaining may indicate a negotiation over an import-export quota

among nations. Yet another example can be found in a process of public policy making among opposing political parties, between executive and legislative branches, or between the authorities and the general public. Likewise, bargaining describes an intrinsic aspect in the process of solving disputes when all the participants possess non-trivial influence over final outcomes.

1.1 Bargaining Delays and Information

Bargaining may break down, that is, the negotiating parties may never come to an agreement and may quit making further efforts to reach an agreement. It is not surprising to observe such breakdowns in cases where the parties can find better outside alternatives. If the outside alternatives are not available or costly to search for, and if the parties recognize positive gains from reaching an agreement in the current negotiation, we would expect that the rational participants would prefer an agreement to a breakdown. Such an agreement is often not achieved immediately after the negotiation begins. It is frequently accomplished only after a significant delay even when the participants are aware of costs associated with the bargaining duration. This delay becomes an unavoidable source of inefficiency when similar or better terms could have been realized in the earlier stage of negotiation. On August 13, 1992, the Century Plaza Hotel in Los Angeles was crowded with bidders from the United States, Europe, and the Pacific Rim. They were there to participate in an auction for real estate assets that the American banks were trying to unload. The result was quite disappointing to the banks, for barely half the properties were sold. Was this the issue of supply-and-demand imbalance? What is it that caused the buyers to balk? Was it

simply a matter of pricing? We are interested in analyzing how the bargaining participants' contention for larger gains could result in the bargaining delay.

In the related sequential bilateral bargaining literature,¹ where a seller and a buyer are bargaining over a single indivisible asset, several attempts have been made in identifying conditions that require or cause delays in reaching an agreement. The central assumption in those models was the information asymmetry among the participants. For example, let us consider a case in which a seller's valuation is common knowledge and a buyer's valuation is known only to the buyer. Suppose that they alternate in quoting asks and bids over an indivisible asset. After observing the seller's ask price, the buyer can delay to signal that his valuation is low before quoting his bid. The buyer may choose to delay even longer to convince the seller that his signal is credible (Admati and Perry (1987)). Similar results have been obtained for the case where both the seller and the buyer have private information about the value of the asset. Let us now suppose that only a seller makes an offer and a buyer responds by accepting or rejecting the offer. For example, consider a case of monopoly pricing in which the buyer's valuation is known only to the buyer. A seller naturally charges a price that is higher than the marginal cost, and a buyer will not accept the offer if his valuation is lower than the monopoly price. But the transaction would have been efficient if the buyer's valuation is higher than the marginal cost. The seller may employ a screening strategy to find out the buyer's valuation by making successively lower offers until the buyer accepts. In other words, delay becomes a part of seller's screening strategy. In such cases, however, the delay disappears as the time interval between the offers converges to zero, allowing the seller to make offers frequently (Gul, Sonnenschein,

¹A detailed review of the literature is included in the next section.

and Wilson (1986), and Ausubel and Deneckere (1989)). In addition, if a buyer has an incentive to reject an offer that is lower than his valuation in the hope of receiving an even better offer, similar inefficiencies may result (Myerson and Satterthwaite (1983)).

Consequently, those studies have shown that delay is attributed to information asymmetry on the asset value among players, which results in differences in players' personal valuation of the asset. It is, however, unreasonable to assume that the information of vital importance which affects the value is not publicly held. Decisions and actions taken by major financial intermediaries are visible to investors, and any non-trivial information travels to major financial centers all over the world along electronic pathways immediately after it leaks out. Following the viewpoint of the Efficient Market Hypothesis, in our bargaining models we assume that there is no *uneven* assimilation of information among players once they are at a negotiating table. This assumption indicates that one player cannot take advantage of poorly informed players by identifying arbitrage opportunities resulting from informational asymmetry. Hence, one of the important features of the investigated model in the following chapters is that both parties observe identical information regarding the value of the asset and that there is no uncertainty regarding one's opponent's characteristics during a bargaining process. We conjecture that even without information asymmetry bargaining delay is generated due to the players' contention for larger gains based on their speculation in changes of the asset value in the future.

1.2 Theoretical Literature on Bargaining Delays

In Rubinstein's (1982) sequential bargaining game of complete information with an alternating offer process, it is well-known that there is a unique subgame perfect equilibrium in which the first offer is immediately accepted by a responder.² In other words, the agreement is reached in the first period without any delay. Such a result is not implausible due to the assumption that every participant is completely informed about all aspects of the bargaining procedure. Previously studied game-theoretic formulations incorporating incompletely informed player(s) have indicated that models with informational disparities must be investigated in order to identify main causes of delays before reaching an agreement.

A typical sequential bargaining game of incomplete information that has attracted much attention is the one with one-sided incomplete information and assumes that a seller's reservation value is common knowledge and that a buyer's valuation is his private information. Such works include those by Sobel and Takahashi (1983), Cramton³ (1984), Rubinstein⁴ (1985), Fudenberg, Levine, and Tirole (1985), Grossman and Perry (1986), Gul, Sonnenschein, and Wilson (1986), Admati and Perry (1987), Gul and Sonnenschein (1988), and Ausubel and Deneckere (1989). Rubinstein studies an alternating offer game, while the

$$x^{A} = \left(\frac{1-\delta^{B}}{1-\delta^{A}\delta^{B}}, \ \frac{\delta^{B}-\delta^{A}\delta^{B}}{1-\delta^{A}\delta^{B}}\right),$$

²Suppose that, in Rubinstein's famous bilateral pie-sharing bargaining game, players have time preferences with constant discount factors such as δ^A for player A and δ^B for player B, where $\delta^i \in (0, 1)$. Then its predicted unique subgame perfect equilibrium is the first proposer A making an offer such that

which is accepted immediately by a responder B. Whenever we refer to the solution of Rubinstein's bargaining model later in this dissertation, we mean the above result.

³Cramton (1984, 1987) extends the model into a two-sided uncertainty case. Fudenberg and Tirole (1983) also studied a two-sided incomplete information case for two-period bargaining games.

⁴Rubinstein assumes that the buyer's discount factor or both his valuation and discount factor are private information.

others mainly look at a process where only the seller makes offers.⁵ They usually suppose that the seller makes offers at discrete times with the interval Δ , that is, $t = 0, \Delta, 2\Delta, \cdots$, and so on. Such one-sided offer games are often referred to as screening models, since the seller quotes successively lower offers to sort the possible buyer's types. Decreasing the offer prices over time until the buyer's acception is intuitive, since the seller can infer the buyer's valuation to be low after repeated rejection by the buyer, assuming that the buyer waits for an offer smaller than his reservation value and accepts it if the cost of another delay is larger than the anticipated next lower offer. Though each model investigated in the above strategic approach specifies an extensive form that is different from each other, resulting delay can be explained by this screening strategy.

Delays generated in this manner, however, have been found to disappear as the time interval between offers becomes arbitrarily small(Gul and Sonnenschein (1988), and Gul, Sonnenschein, and Wilson (1986)). In other words, significant delays result only if offers are made infrequently or due to the agent's inability to make offers quickly. As the Coase conjecture states, one party's making offers frequently encourages its opponent to wait for an even better term for himself without a significant time loss, leading to a quick agreement with a favorable term for the opponent. Then, what would be necessary to have a significant delay in a screening model? The offer making agent has to avoid making offers frequently in order to convince its opponent that he is not going to make offers that are more favorable to the opponent than the current offer. To show that he is unlikely to compromise, he may use

⁵Grossman and Perry present numerical simulations for both alternating offer games and one-sided offer games. They show how to embed the one-sided offer equilibrium into the alternating offer process using beliefs that assign weight only to types in the interval support of the buyer's calculation. Fudenberg, Levine, and Tirole, and Ausubel and Deneckere also discuss both cases.

a significant delay before making the next offer. Hence, screening models have to assume an incentive for reputation building in order to explain significant delays observed in practice. A finding of Admati and Perry (1987) in an alternating offer framework is consistent with this argument.⁶ They model an alternating offer game in which the time between offers is an endogenous strategic variable, and find that delays caused in such a model do not vanish as the time between offers approaches to zero.

In alternating offer bargaining games, strategies are more like that of two-sided signaling than one-sided screening(Admati and Perry (1987)). Delays are used as a signaling device to communicate one's type or valuation in a credible manner to his opponent. Let us first consider a one-sided uncertainty case, in which the seller's valuation is common knowledge and the buyer's valuation is either high or low. After receiving an offer from the seller, the buyer now can use a longer duration to signal that his valuation is low and finally make a counteroffer that is lower than the seller's offer. A low valuation buyer has to stall a sufficiently long time to eliminate the seller's wrong suspicion on his valuation. Hence, if the buyer has low valuation, he would have to choose a duration and a counteroffer that would have been unprofitable to him if he had high valuation. Delay here is a necessary consequence of incomplete information. In two-sided uncertainty models a similar interpretation can be provided to explain delays.

We have to notice, however, that in those models delays are generated by time intervals, leaving the relationship between delays and uncertainty unclear. Cho (1990) explicitly proved that the presence of uncertainty over the gain from trading is a necessary condition

⁶Ausubel and Deneckere (1988) show the condition to have delay even if the time interval between offers converges to zero in a seller-offer game with two-sided uncertainty.

for delay.⁷ Cramton (1984) showed that the more uncertainty present, the less efficient the bargaining outcome is; that is, the bargaining results in costly delays.⁸ A more detailed survey of sequential bargaining games with incomplete information is provided by Linhart, Radner, and Satterthwaite (1992) and by Osborne and Rubinstein (1990).

Though the models with asymmetric information have helped our search for the causes of costly delays, these models have not provided us with a complete list of the sources. Instead, they have indicated the necessity to investigate other sources of delays without the presence of informational disparities among the participants. Merlo and Wilson (1995) have made a creative attempt in attacking this challenge by studying a sequential bargaining game with multiple players in which both the surplus to be allocated and the identity of a person who makes an offer follow a stochastic process. Their model is that of complete information, so that any delay generated in this model is not due to informational asymmetry, but rather due to each player's speculation over the gain in the future. In fact, one of the models we investigate in the following chapters is one specific case that can be incorporated into their bargaining model. They have shown the existence of subgame perfect equilibria in their bargaining game and investigated the characteristics of stationary subgame perfect equilibria in nontransferable utility.

1.3 This Dissertation

A particular type of bargaining that we investigate is a problem of surplus sharing, where the size of surplus is known to change stochastically as time proceeds. Hence, the game

⁷It is proved in Theorem 5.4 in Cho (1990).

⁸The degree of uncertainty is measured by the amount of overlap of the supports of two uniform distributions of equal length. The uncertainty is greatest when the supports are identical.

is a discrete version of adaptive control system, in which we take a random change in the environment into account. The key feature of our bargaining model is the presence of uncertainty regarding the future value of the asset due to the stochastic factor. Each player observes identical information regarding the stochastic factor and has to make contingency plans for quoting an offer because of this uncertainty. Consequently, players employ closed– loop strategies, in which they condition their actions on the history of the game up to the current period and respond optimally to the realizations of random variables.

We introduce in our concluding remarks an idea for modeling possibilities of breakdowns explicitly in a bargaining game as a future extension to our games. This is another way of incorporating a stochastic process in explaining bargaining durations. We assume that the value of the asset in the current negotiation does not change in the short term, and that players can choose to invest their resources into the search for outside alternatives while participating in the current negotiation. The realization of better options follows a stochastic process, given each player's investment level. In such a model an agreement is generated by an increasing endogenous risk of breakdowns. Despite the assumption of complete information and the cost associated with the search, we conjecture to observe a delay caused by the presence of the potential for better outside options.

Using the results of probability theory, we expand the scope of our analysis beyond the deterministic point of view. This stochastic treatment of the dynamic process of asset value variations enables us to identify a delay before reaching an agreement as an unavoidable consequence in some bargaining situations despite the assumption of perfect information. For example, in our model families of probability distributions that typically change their forms as time progresses are reflected in the players' beliefs about asset values in the future.

Such a sequence of observable random variables helps the formation of *scientific* speculations among the players, causing them to wait for better terms. We feel the need for explicitly modeling how such contentions for larger gains, resulting from an information flow, influence bargaining durations. Therefore, we must note the importance of integrating stochastic concepts into the bargaining theory and its applications.

Sequential bargaining games usually assume the existence of some sort of impatience on the part of the participants. Such impatience has been modeled as discount factors on future payoffs or as fixed per-period costs in the existing bargaining literature. The presence of discount factors is viewed to generate an incentive to come to an early agreement. We note that discounting on payoffs over time is not considered in our models. Therefore, unlike many of previously studied bargaining models, the pressure to reach an agreement in our model is generated solely by the information flow, not by the presence of discount factors.

Though the investigated game is a specific bilateral bargaining over a divisible asset, potential scope of the model is not restricted to this pie-sharing situation. For example, a slight modification of the model can provide us with interpretation of a more general type of bargaining over an indivisible asset. Suppose that two players, a seller and a buyer, are bargaining over an indivisible asset. In each period the seller and the buyer submit an ask and a bid, respectively. Realized gains to be distributed from trade are determined by the bid-ask spread, while how it is divided is determined by the transaction price. Suppose that they can decide on the transaction price and whether or not to trade *after* observing the ask and the bid. Notice that they observe identical information regarding the size of gain, the bid-ask spread.⁹ They form expectations as to what the gain in the future will

⁹Observing the identical information does not necessarily mean that the both players interpret the infor-

be after observing this bid-ask spread. Therefore, if the current gain is positive but the expected bid-ask spread in the future is larger than that in the current period, the players could have an incentive to wait until later period. Delay is not generated by information asymmetry, but by each player's speculation over the gain in the future.

Hence, our principal task in Part I of this research is to provide an alternative explanation to commonly observed phenomena of costly delays in reaching an agreement in many bargaining situations. Instead of characterizing the complete set of equilibria, we look for special types of equilibria that are consistent with specified behavioral rules. By following the language of game theory, we assume that each player, i.e., a decision maker, is *rational* and *intelligent*. By rational we mean that each player consistently acts to maximize the expected value of his own payoff and that he uses Bayes' rule to update his beliefs on the state whenever necessary. By intelligent we mean that each player knows everything that we know about the structure of the game and that he can make inferences about conditions that we can make. In summary, the main contributions of this dissertation are as follows:

1. By incorporating a notion of dynamic stochastic control into a noncooperative game, we model two types of bilateral bargaining situations with the value of the asset changing stochastically. One is called the Basic Game, and the other is called the Alternative Game. The two models differ from each other in the timing of information arrival and a player's response. By using a method of backward induction, we explicitly solve for subgame perfect equilibria for the specified decision rules to the two types of stochastic bargaining games. We demonstrate that reservation values for

mation in the same manner. In fact, there has to be a difference in interpreting the information reflecting diverse characteristics of the players in order to have any trade occurrence with indivisible assets.

proposing players differ between the Basic and the Alternative bargaining games.

- 2. Some properties of subgame perfect equilibria are provided through the application of Merlo and Wilson (1995)'s results. For example, under given assumptions the existence of subgame perfect equilibria in both Basic and Alternative games is shown.
- 3. We characterize the derived equilibria especially in comparison with Rubinstein's findings on his pie-sharing bargaining game. We give several sufficient conditions for our equilibria to be unique and thus to converge to that of Rubinstein's game. We also provide necessary and sufficient conditions for such games to have a delay before an agreement. In so doing we also discuss similarities and dissimilarities of the two games.
- 4. We numerically simulate such bargaining games and examine the results thoroughly, through comparative statics, directing special attention to bargaining durations. We design two types of simulation models. One is called the Autoregressive Binomial Model, in which the information shock depends on a random variable that follows a binomial distribution. The other is called the Generalized Wiener Process Model, in which the information shock follows a continuous distribution. Through the analyses of the two models, especially in comparison of the Basic and the Alternative games, we show the sensitivity of bargaining outcomes to the information availability.
- 5. We provide a set of computerized experimental results in our study of order flow determinants in experimental financial markets with asymmetrically informed human subjects. Thorough descriptive statistics are reported, and the dependency of order flow on the previous order types and a size of order books are demonstrated through

χ^2 statistics.¹⁰

The rest of the dissertation is organized as follows. Part I consists of four chapters that include this introduction chapter. In Chapter 2 we describe and analyze our Basic bargaining game and an Alternative game, and characterize subgame perfect equilibria. Chapter 3 defines the Autoregressive Binomial Model and the Generalized Wiener Process Model, and provides the results of computer simulations to describe effects of parameter changes in the bargaining games analyzed in Chapter 2. We conclude Part I in Chapter 4, where we give an example of possible extension that models the effect of endogenous risk of breakdowns in bargaining. Bibliography for Part I is attached after Chapter 4. Part II consists of Chapter 5, and its detailed introduction and brief concluding remarks are contained in the chapter. Thorough descriptive statistics on the results of experimental financial markets are given in Chapter 5, and the dependency of the order flow on the previous order types and the size of order books are demonstrated. Bibliography for Part II is attached after Chapter 5. Related Appendices follow after each relevant chapter.

¹⁰Part II is devoted to this task. Although both parts direct their attention to a stochastic nature of information flow, the underlining models in each part are very different from one another. The models in Part I incorporate a stochastic nature of external information flow that affects bargainers' beliefs on the value of divisible assets, whereas the implicit model underlining the experiments in Part II reflects a stochastic nature of internal information assimilation process in a competitive market, where a bargaining strategy is not a primary concern of the traders. Therefore, traders' speculative behavior is interpreted from a different perspective in each part. It should also be noted that the games in Part I are those of complete information with no asymmetric information among the players, whereas players in the experiments in Part II are asymmetrically informed. Hence, bargaining durations in Part I are attributed to differences in players' beliefs, while the durations between trades in Part II reflect an information availability.

Chapter 2

Bargaining with Sequential Information Arrival

2.1 The Model

We begin with a basic sequential bilateral bargaining game of perfect information with a commonly known finite horizon. The environment is modeled as a discrete-time game. Two risk neutral players, indexed by $i \in I = \{A, B\}$, are bargaining on the partition of a single divisible asset.¹ The value of the asset in period t, i.e., the gains to be distributed if the agreement is reached in period t, is denoted by Q_t and changes stochastically over time according to a sequence of time-varying random variables $\{\delta_{\tau}\}_{\tau=1}^{t}$. We assume that Q_0 is positive, so that the asset is desirable for the players to begin the negotiation. The asset will be divided only after two players come to an agreement. δ_t is positive and relates the

¹We often treat player A as female and player B as male purely for convenience' sake. Therefore, we refer A as she and B as he. We use "he" for generic individuals.
value of the asset in period (t-1) to that in period t linearly; that is,

$$Q_t = \delta_t Q_{t-1}.$$

It describes a set of stochastic constraints to each player's expected payoff maximization behavior.

Let $f(\cdot)$ describe a state transition equation specifying how δ_t evolves with time:

$$\delta_{t+1} = f_t(\delta_t, \varepsilon_t).$$

It is a first order stochastic difference equation, and thus $\{\delta_{\tau}\}_{\tau=1}^{t}$ is a first order Markov process. Note that the current state δ_{t} is a sufficient statistic for predicting future states. As an argument of f_{t} , it is assumed that there exists an exogenous random variable, ε_{t} , that causes the transition from δ_{t} to δ_{t+1} to be stochastic, and that a sequence of such random variables, $\{\varepsilon_{t}\}$, is a stationary (i.i.d.) process and is independent of δ_{t} . We assume that the δ_{t} is perfectly observable by both players at the beginning of period t. Let us define a product space Ω such that $\Omega = \prod_{t=0}^{T} \Omega_{t}$, where

 $\delta_t \in \Omega_t$

 and

$$\delta = (\delta_0, \delta_1, \cdots, \delta_T) \in \Omega.$$

Then Ω^t defines the set of all sequences of length t of elements in a space of feasible δs of

each period t. Hence, $\{\delta_{\tau}\}_{\tau=0}^t \in \Omega^t$, or simply $\delta^t \in \Omega^t$.

Let X be a product space of the sets of feasible share vectors in each t such that $X = \prod_{t=0}^{T} X_t$. Let us also define a share vector in period t as $x_t = (x_t^A, x_t^B)$ where $x_t \in X_t$. Let π_t be a payoff vector in period $t, \pi_t = (\pi_t^A, \pi_t^B)$, which will be defined for each game later in this section. A bargaining outcome, (π_t, t) , describes the allocation of realized gains and the period number in which the bargaining ended. Implicitly assumed is that players care only about the resulting payoff scheme and the time of agreement, not about the history of the game that leads to the agreement. We also impose the non-negativity constraints such that

 $x_t^i \ge 0, \ \forall t,$

where x_t^i is player *i*'s offer in period *t*, or a share of Q_t that player *i* wants to take in period *t* if an agreement is reached. Note that with this formulation we allow players to make a ridiculous quote to generate a delay; that is, x_t^i could be larger than one without further restriction.

Let S^i denote the set of all strategies available to player *i*, i.e., S^i is the set of all sequences of strategy mappings $S^i = \{S^i_{\tau}\}^T_{\tau=0}$. In addition, we define $s_t = (s^A_t, s^B_t)$ as a strategy pair chosen by the players in period *t*, and $s = (s_1, s_2, \dots, s_T)$ as a strategy combination for the entire game. The assumption of perfect information and perfect recall naturally indicates that each player knows all previous moves when one makes a decision. Hence, an information set after period t, in general, is²

$$h^{t} = ((\delta_{0}, s_{0}), (\delta_{1}, s_{1}), \cdots, (\delta_{t}, s_{t})) \in H^{t}.$$

We can think of δ_t as a piece of new information that can be either endogenous or exogenous to the system and describes the value of the asset in period t. Hence, an arrival of new information implies the beginning of another negotiation period. We consider two cases that differ in the information availability to each player when they make decisions. The first case specifies the Basic game, in which both players take some action in each period. We call the second case the Alternative game, in which only one player takes an action in each period. The Alternative game allows us to investigate a case in which a responder has a chance to observe additional information regarding the asset value before making any decision after observing a proposer's offer. These two games appear to be similar to each other, but have to be distinguished for the reason that will become clear as we proceed with our analysis and simulations. We argue that the Alternative game may allow more variations in the bargaining durations.

Before we describe detailed frameworks of the two games, we list the following assump-

$$h^{t} = ((\delta_{0}, s_{0}), (\delta_{1}, s_{1}), \cdots, (\delta_{t-1}, s_{t-1}), \delta_{t}) \in H^{t},$$

whereas that for a responder B in even t is

 $h^{t} = ((\delta_{0}, s_{0}), (\delta_{1}, s_{1}), \cdots, (\delta_{t-1}, s_{t-1}), \delta_{t}, s_{t}^{A}) \in H^{t}.$

In an Alternative game, an information set for an action taking player in t is

 $h^{t} = ((\delta_{0}, s_{0}), (\delta_{1}, s_{1}), \cdots, (\delta_{t-1}, s_{t-1}), \delta_{t}) \in H^{t}.$

²A precise definition of information set available for each player is slightly different between the Basic game and the Alternative game. In a Basic game, an information set for a proposer A in even t is

tions on the players' preferences over bargaining outcomes. The following assumptions are weak enough to allow a wide variety of preferences.

Assumption 1 Each player's preference ordering \succeq_i over a bargaining outcome (π_t, t) is complete, transitive, and reflexive.

Assumption 2 For any $t \in T$ and any feasible $\pi_t, \hat{\pi}_t, (\pi_t, t) \succ_i (\hat{\pi}, t)$ if and only if $\pi^i > \hat{\pi}^i$.

In other words, the asset is desirable for the players to engage in a negotiation process until an agreement.

Assumption 3 For any $t, \hat{t} \in T$ and any feasible $\pi_t, t < \hat{t}$ implies $(\pi_t, t) \succeq_i (\pi_{\hat{t}}, \hat{t})$, with strict preference if $\pi^i > 0$.

Hence, time is valuable in a sense that an agreement now is preferred to an agreement of the same payoff later.

Assumption 4 Let $\{(\pi_n, t)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ and $\{(\hat{\pi}_n, \hat{t})\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ be sequences of outcomes such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \pi_n = \pi \text{ and } \lim_{n \to \infty} \hat{\pi}_n = \hat{\pi}.$$

Then, $(\pi, t) \succeq_i (\hat{\pi}, \hat{t})$ if and only if $(\pi_n, t) \succeq_i (\hat{\pi}_n, \hat{t}) \forall n$.

Therefore, the preference ordering is continuous. Player *i*'s preference orderings that satisfy the assumptions above can be represented by a continuous utility function u^i that is increasing in π_t^i and decreasing in *t*. Note that we can make analogous assumptions on the players' preferences over uncertain outcomes in the future periods in terms of their expected values. In other words, we assume that the utility function possesses the expected utility property, i.e., it is a von Neumann-Morgenstern utility function.



Figure 2.1: The Timing of Events (Basic Game)

2.1.1 The Basic Game

Player A starts the bargaining by making an offer $x_0^A \in X_0^A$ after both players have observed Q_0 at the beginning of period 0. In the same period player B responds to the A's offer by either accepting or rejecting it. If B accepts the offer, the bargaining terminates. If B rejects the offer, he will have a chance to make a counteroffer $x_1^B \in X_1^B$ in period 1 after both players have observed δ_1 . Then A responds to the B's offer by either accepting or rejecting it. In this fashion the players alternate in making offers until one of the players accepts an offer or the exogenously predetermined final period T, where T is an even integer and common knowledge, is reached. Figure 2.1 shows the timing of events in the Basic game. Notice that A makes an offer and B responds to it by choosing either {accept} or {reject} in even-numbered periods, while B makes an offer and A responds to it in odd-numbered periods. The Basic game is that of perfect information in a sense that players do not move simultaneously.

When it is player i's turn to make an offer in period t, i has observed $\{\delta_{\tau}\}_{\tau=1}^{t}$ but has

not observed $\delta_{t+1}, \delta_{t+2}, \cdots$. Thus, *i* has his expectation as to what the future δ s will be. Taking this expectation into consideration, *i* chooses an offer that is optimal to him. A strategy for player *i* specifies the offer that *i* makes in period *t*, $x_t^i \in X_t^i$, as a function of observed δ s. We define player *A*'s strategies. Those of player *B* follow analogously. S^A is the set of all sequences of strategy mappings $S^A = \{S_{\tau}^A\}_{\tau=0}^T$, such that in even-numbered periods

$$S_t^A : H^t \longrightarrow X_t,$$

and in odd-numbered periods

$$S_t^A : H^t \longrightarrow \{\{accept\}, \{reject\}\}.$$

Note that we consider only pure strategies in our analyses.

If a responding player j accepts x_t^i , the bargaining ends and j's realized gain is $Q_t(1 - x_t^i)$ while *i*'s realized gain is $Q_t x_t^i$. In general, *i*'s and *j*'s realized gains in period t are, respectively,

$$egin{array}{rcl} \pi^i_t &=& \left\{ egin{array}{ccc} Q_t x^i_t & ext{if}\ j ext{ accepts } x^i_t \ 0 & ext{otherwise,} \end{array}
ight. \ \pi^j_t &=& \left\{ egin{array}{ccc} Q_t (1-x^i_t) & ext{if}\ j ext{ accepts } x^i_t \ 0 & ext{otherwise.} \end{array}
ight.
ight.$$

If no agreement is reached until the final period T, A receives $\pi_T^A = Q_T x_T$ while B receives $\pi_T^B = Q_T (1 - x_T)$, where $x_T \in [0, 1]$ is a predetermined A's default share in T that is known



Figure 2.2: The Timing of Events (Alternative Game)

to both players before the game begins.

Let $E_t^i \pi_{t+n}^i$ denote *i*'s conditional expected payoff in some future period t + n, $n \in (0, T - t)$, which is determined by a sequence of observed δ s up to t and his expectation of the strategies of both his own and the opponent j. *i* forms his expectation on his opponent j's future strategies and his own, based on his updated expectation of the asset values in the future periods. We note that it is possible to have $E_t^i \neq E_t^j$, reflecting differences in initial priors among players. The structure of the game is common knowledge.

2.1.2 The Alternative Game

In the Alternative game player A also starts the bargaining by making an offer x_0^A in period 0 after observing Q_0 . Then player B responds to the A's offer by either accepting or rejecting it after observing δ_1 in period 1. If B rejects the offer, then he makes a counteroffer x_1^B before he observes δ_2 . When period 2 begins, both players observe δ_2 and A will respond to x_1^B by either accepting it or making a counteroffer x_2^A . Figure 2.2 shows the timing of events described above. Notice that A and B take an action in period t, where t is even and odd, respectively. Therefore, the Alternative game is also a game of complete and perfect information, in which exactly one player takes an action in each period.

When it is player *i*'s turn to take an action in period *t*, *i* has observed $\{\delta_{\tau}\}_{\tau=1}^{t}$ but has not observed δ_{t+1} . Hence, *i* has his expectations as to what δ_{t+1} will be and how his opponent *j* will respond to his offer after observing δ_{t+1} . Based on such considerations, *i* chooses his action that maximizes his expected gain. Therefore, a strategy for player *i* specifies the action that *i* takes in period *t*, which is either to accept x_{t-1}^{j} or to quote a counteroffer x_{t}^{i} , as a function of observed δ s and the opponent's immediately preceding offer x_{t-1}^{j} .

Formally, S^A is the set of all strategies available to player A in even-numbered periods t(>0); that is, it is the set of all sequences of strategy mappings $S^A = \{S^A_\tau\}_{\tau=0}^T$, such that

$$S_t^A : H^t \longrightarrow \{\{accept\}, \{reject\}\},\$$

and in the event of rejection

$$S_t^A : H^t \longrightarrow X_t.$$

Similarly, S^B is the set of all strategies available to player B in odd-numbered periods, and S^B is defined analogously.

If player *i* accepts player *j*'s offer in period *t*, the bargaining terminates and *i*'s realized gain is $Q_t(1 - x_{t-1}^j)$ while *j*'s realized gain is $Q_t x_{t-1}^j$. In general, *i*'s and *j*'s realized gains

 $\mathbf{24}$

in period t(>0) are, respectively,

$$egin{array}{rcl} \pi^i_t &=& \left\{ egin{array}{cc} Q_t(1-x^j_{t-1}) & ext{if i accepts x^j_{t-1}} \ 0 & ext{otherwise,} \end{array}
ight. \ \pi^j_t &=& \left\{ egin{array}{cc} Q_tx^j_{t-1} & ext{if i accepts x^j_{t-1}} \ 0 & ext{otherwise.} \end{array}
ight.
ight.
ight.$$

As in the Basic game, if no agreement is reached until the final period T, player A receives $\pi_T^A = Q_T x_T$ while B receives $\pi_T^B = Q_T (1 - x_T)$, where x_T is a predetermined share known to both players before the game begins. Since a proposer *i*'s expected payoff in some future period (t + n) is determined by a sequence of observed δ s, the space of expected payoffs for each observed sequence $\{\delta_{\tau}\}_{\tau=1}^t$ is the space of continuous functions $C(E_t^i \pi_{t+n}^i)$. The structure of the Alternative game is common knowledge.

2.1.3 The Equilibrium Concept

A strategy profile $\{S^A, S^B\}$ generates a path of offers and responses, which determines a payoff to each player. Let us denote player *i*'s realized payoff that is generated by a strategy profile $\{S^A, S^B\}$ by $\pi^i(S^A, S^B)$.

Definition 1 A strategy profile $\{\hat{S}_t^A, \hat{S}_t^B\}$ is a *(pure strategy) Nash equilibrium* if and only if

- 1. $\hat{S}_t^i \in \mathcal{S}^i, i = A, B$;
- 2. $\pi^A_t(\hat{S}^A_t,\hat{S}^B_t) \geq \pi^A_t(S^A_t,\hat{S}^B_t), \; \forall S^A_t \in \mathcal{S}^A \; ;$
- 3. $\pi_t^B(\hat{S}_t^A, \hat{S}_t^B) \ge \pi_t^B(\hat{S}_t^A, S_t^B), \ \forall S_t^B \in S^B$.

Unfortunately, it is demonstrated that the theory cannot give a very sharp prediction in bargaining games without further refinement in the equilibrium concept. Let $\{S^A|h^t, S^B|h^t\}$ be a strategy profile induced by $\{S^A, S^B\}$ after a history $h^t \in H^t$. Then we give a definition of subgame perfect equilibrium as follows.

Definition 2 A strategy profile $\{\hat{S}^A, \hat{S}^B\}$ is a subgame perfect equilibrium if and only if $\{\hat{S}^A|h^t, \hat{S}^B|h^t\}$ is a Nash equilibrium in the game remaining after h^t , for all t and h^t , i.e.,

- 1. $\hat{S}^i_t \in \mathcal{S}^i, i=A,B$;
- 2. $E_t^A(\pi_t^A(\hat{S}_t^A, \hat{S}_t^B)) \ge E_t^A(\pi_t^A(S_t^A, \hat{S}_t^B)), \ \forall t, h^t, S_t^A \in \mathcal{S}^A$;
- 3. $E_t^B(\pi_t^B(\hat{S}_t^A, \hat{S}_t^B)) \ge E_t^B(\pi_t^B(\hat{S}_t^A, S_t^B)), \ \forall t, h^t, S_t^B \in \mathcal{S}^B$.

Subgame perfection implies that the players' strategies are best responses not only at the opening of the bargaining game, but also at any decision node. Therefore, each player's actions are optimal at every possible history. Merlo and Wilson (1995) proved the existence of subgame perfect equilibria in their stochastic sequential bargaining game.³ In the rest of this subsection we give corollaries to their findings.

Corollary 1 There exists a subgame perfect equilibrium in the Basic bargaining game.

The proof follows that of Merlo and Wilson (1995) applied to our bargaining game framework. Let us first define the following and proceed with the proof. Define player i's minimum payoff to disagreement, which we shall call i's minimum reservation value, in some period t as

$$m_t^i = Q_t \underline{x_t^i} = \min\{E_t^i(\pi_{\tau}^i), \ \tau = t+1, \cdots, T | h^t\}.$$

³Also refer to Harris (1985) for the existence of pure strategy subgame perfect equilibria in sequential games of perfect information with infinite action spaces.

 $\underline{x_t^i}$ is a minimum reservation share that is a share *i* needs to have in the present period *t*, given h^t , to guarantee himself a payoff exactly equal to the minimum expected continuation payoff in an equilibrium path. Similarly, define *i*'s maximum reservation value as

$$M_t^i = Q_t \overline{x_t^i} = \max\{E_t^i(\pi_{\tau}^i), \ \tau = t + 1, \cdots, T | h^t\}.$$

 $\overline{x_t^i}$ is a maximum reservation share *i* needs to have in the present period *t* to give him a payoff exactly equal to his maximum expected continuation payoff in an equilibrium path. We write a minimum reservation value vector as $m_t = (m_t^A, m_t^B)$, and a maximum reservation value vector as $M_t = (M_t^A, M_t^B)$. By construction they are nonempty valued.

Next, define an operator on the space of feasible histories up to period t as

$$\Psi_t^i(M_t, m_t)(h^t) = \overline{\Psi_t^i} \times \underline{\Psi_t^i}(M_t, m_t)(h^t) = \left(\overline{\Psi_t^i}(M_t, m_t)(h^t), \ \underline{\Psi_t^i}(M_t, m_t)(h^t)\right),$$

where

$$egin{array}{rll} \overline{\Psi}^i_t(M_t,m_t) &=& Q_t \max\{1-\underline{x}^j_t,\overline{x}^i_t\} \ &=& \max\{Q_t-m^j_t,M^i_t\}, \end{array}$$

 and

$$\underline{\Psi_t^i}(M_t, m_t) = Q_t \max\{1 - \overline{x_t^j}, \underline{x_t^i}\}$$
$$= \max\{Q_t - M_t^j, m_t^i\}.$$

We can consider Ψ_t^i as a refinement on s_t^i that is a bounded measurable function. Hence, $\overline{\Psi_t^i}$ is the maximum possible payoff i can achieve in period t, while $\underline{\Psi_t^i}$ is the least payoff ican guarantee himself in period t. Let us also denote F^2 the set of bounded and measurable functions on Ω that take values in \mathbb{R}^2 , and let $p = (p^A, p^B) \in F^2$ be a feasible payoff vector.

The goal of the proof is to show that there exist extremal fixed points of $\overline{\Psi_t} \times \underline{\Psi_t}$ and that the extremal fixed points of $\overline{\Psi_t} \times \underline{\Psi_t}$ correspond to extremal subgame perfect payoffs. The corollary is proven through the series of the following lemmas, in which we first show the monotonicity and pointwise continuity of $\overline{\Psi_t} \times \underline{\Psi_t}$.

Lemma 1 If $m_t^1 \leq m_t^2$ and $M_t^1 \geq M_t^2$, then

$$\overline{\Psi^i_t}(M^1_t, m^1_t) \ge \overline{\Psi^i_t}(M^2_t, m^2_t),$$

and

$$\underline{\Psi^i_t}(M^1_t, m^1_t) \leq \underline{\Psi^i_t}(M^2_t, m^2_t).$$

Proof. Suppose that $m_t^1 \leq m_t^2$ and $M_t^1 \geq M_t^2$.

i) We first show $\overline{\Psi_t}(M_t^1, m_t^1) \ge \overline{\Psi_t}(M_t^2, m_t^2)$. Given $h^t \in H^t$, from the assumption it is clear that $Q_t - m_t^{i,1} \ge Q_t - m_t^{i,2}$, $Q_t - m_t^{j,1} \ge Q_t - m_t^{j,2}$, $M_t^{i,1} \ge M_t^{i,2}$, and $M_t^{j,1} \ge M_t^{j,2}$. It follows, from the definition of $\overline{\Psi_t}$, that

$$egin{aligned} \overline{\Psi^i_t}(M^1_t,m^1_t)(h^t) &=& \max\{Q_t-m^{j,1}_t,M^{i,1}_t\} \ &\geq& \max\{Q_t-m^{j,2}_t,M^{i,2}_t\} &=& \overline{\Psi^i_t}(M^2_t,m^2_t)(h^t), \end{aligned}$$

 and

$$\overline{\Psi_t^j}(M_t^1, m_t^1)(h^t) = \max\{Q_t - m_t^{i,1}, M_t^{j,1}\}$$

$$\geq \max\{Q_t - m_t^{i,2}, M_t^{j,2}\} = \overline{\Psi_t^j}(M_t^2, m_t^2)(h^t).$$

Therefore, $\overline{\Psi_t}(M^1_t,m^1_t) \geq \overline{\Psi_t}(M^2_t,m^2_t).$

ii) Next we show $\underline{\Psi_t}(M_t^1, m_t^1) \leq \underline{\Psi_t}(M_t^2, m_t^2)$. Given $h^t \in H^t$, from the assumption it is clear that $Q_t - M_t^{i,1} \leq Q_t - M_t^{i,2}$, $Q_t - M_t^{j,1} \leq Q_t - M_t^{j,2}$, $m_t^{i,1} \leq m_t^{i,2}$, and $m_t^{j,1} \leq m_t^{j,2}$. It follows, from the definition of $\underline{\Psi_t}$, that

$$egin{array}{rll} \underline{\Psi^i_t}(M^1_t,m^1_t)(h^t) &=& \max\{Q_t-M^{j,1}_t,m^{i,1}_t\} \ &\leq& \max\{Q_t-M^{j,2}_t,m^{i,2}_t\} &=& \underline{\Psi^i_t}(M^2_t,m^2_t)(h^t), \end{array}$$

 and

$$egin{array}{rll} & \underline{\Psi^j_t}(M^1_t,m^1_t)(h^t) &=& \max\{Q_t-M^{i,1}_t,m^{j,1}_t\} \ & \leq& \max\{Q_t-M^{i,2}_t,m^{j,2}_t\} &=& \underline{\Psi^j_t}(M^2_t,m^2_t)(h^t). \end{array}$$

Therefore, $\underline{\Psi_t}(M_t^1, m_t^1) \leq \underline{\Psi_t}(M_t^2, m_t^2)$. This completes the proof.

Lemma 2 If $(u^k, w^k) \rightarrow (u, w) \in F^2 \times F^2$ pointwise, then

$$\overline{\Psi_t} \times \underline{\Psi_t}(u^k, w^k)(h^t) \to \overline{\Psi_t} \times \Psi_t(u, w)(h^t).$$

Proof. For $(u, w) \in F^2 \times F^2$ and $h^t \in H^t$, define

$$||u,w||_{h^t} = E\left(\max\{||u||_{\infty}, ||w||_{\infty}\}|h^t\right),$$

where

$$||g||_{\infty} = \max\{g^i(h^t) : i = A, B\}.$$

Then, $(u^k, w^k) \rightarrow (u, w)$ pointwise implies

$$||(u^k, w^k) - (u, w)||_{h^t} \to 0, \ \forall h^t \in H^t.$$

Given $h^t \in H^t$, $\overline{\Psi_t} \times \underline{\Psi_t}(\cdot, \cdot)(h^t) : F^2 \times F^2 \to R^2 \times R^2$ defines a continuous function with respect to the $\|\cdot\|_{h^t}$ topology on $F^2 \times F^2$.

Lemma 3 There exist $M_t^*, m_t^* \in F^2$ such that

1.
$$M_t^* \ge m_t^* \ge 0.$$

2. $\overline{\Psi_t} \times \underline{\Psi_t}(M_t^*, m_t^*) = (M_t^*, m_t^*).$
3. $\overline{\Psi_t} \times \underline{\Psi_t}(M_t, m_t) = (M_t, m_t) \Longrightarrow m_t^* \le m_t, \ M_t \le M_t^*$

Proof. First we define $(M_t^k, m_t^k) = (\overline{\Psi_t}(M_t^{k-1}, m_t^{k-1}), \underline{\Psi_t}(M_t^{k-1}, m_t^{k-1}))$, and choose $(M_t^0, m_t^0) \ni m_t^0(h^t) = 0, \ M_t^0(h^t) \ge x_t, \ x_t = (x_t^A, x_t^B) \in F^2$. Then, by induction with an application of the monotonicity lemma, it is straightforward to show that $\{M_t^k\}_{k=1,2,\cdots}$ is a monotonically decreasing sequence and $\{m_t^k\}_{k=1,2,\cdots}$ is a monotonically increasing sequence, with $m_t^k \le M_t^k \ \forall k$. Hence, (M_t^k, m_t^k) is monotonic and bounded. Then, there exists a

pair of functions M_t^* , $m_t^* \in F^2$ such that $M_t^k(h^t) \downarrow M_t^*(h^t)$ and $m_t^k(h^t) \uparrow m_t^*(h^t)$ for $h^t \in H^t$. Hence, $\overline{\Psi_t} \times \underline{\Psi_t}(M_t^k, m_t^k)$ converges to (M_t^*, m_t^*) pointwise. Then, continuity implies $\overline{\Psi_t} \times \underline{\Psi_t}(M_t^k, m_t^k)$ converges to $\overline{\Psi_t} \times \underline{\Psi_t}(M_t^*, m_t^*)$. It follows that $\overline{\Psi_t}(M_t^*, m_t^*) =$ $M_t^* \ge m_t^* = \underline{\Psi_t}(M_t^*, m_t^*)$. This proves 1 and 2.

Now let $(M_t, m_t) = (\overline{\Psi_t}(M_t, m_t), \underline{\Psi_t}(M_t, m_t))$. Then, we have $m_t^0 \leq m_t$ and $M_t \leq M_t^0$. Hence, from the monotonicity lemma and the definition of (M_t^k, m_t^k) , $m_t^1 = \underline{\Psi_t}(M_t^0, m_t^0) \leq \underline{\Psi_t}(M_t, m_t) = m_t$ and $M_t = \overline{\Psi_t}(M_t, m_t) \leq \overline{\Psi_t}(M_t^0, m_t^0) = M_t^1$. By induction with the application of the monotonicity lemma, it is straightforward to show $m_t^k \leq m_t$ and $M_t \leq M_t^k$ for $k = 1, 2, \cdots$. Therefore, $(M_t^k, m_t^k) \to (M_t^*, m_t^*)$ implies $m_t^* \leq m_t$ and $M_t \leq M_t^*$. This proves 3.

Lemma 4 $p_{\tau} = (p_{\tau}^{i}, p_{\tau}^{j})$ is a subgame perfect equilibrium outcome if and only if $m_{t}^{*} \leq E_{t}(p_{\tau}) \leq M_{t}^{*}$.

Proof.

i) Consider any subgame perfect payoff vector p, and suppose that \hat{M}_t and \hat{m}_t are supremum and infimum of subgame perfect payoffs of the game after observing h^t , respectively. By construction, we can show $p^i(h^t) \geq \underline{\Psi}_t^i(\hat{M}_t, \hat{m}_t)$ and $p^i(h^t) \leq \overline{\Psi}_t^i(\hat{M}_t, \hat{m}_t)$, which indicate $\hat{m}_t \geq \underline{\Psi}_t(\hat{M}_t, \hat{m}_t)$ and $\hat{M}_t \leq \overline{\Psi}_t(\hat{M}_t, \hat{m}_t)$. Now we construct a convergent sequence such that $(M^k, m^k) = (\overline{\Psi}_t(M^{k-1}, m^{k-1}), \underline{\Psi}_t(M^{k-1}, m^{k-1})), k = 1, 2, \cdots$, with $(M^0, m^0) = (\hat{M}_t, \hat{m}_t)$. Then, $M^1 = \overline{\Psi}_t(M^0, m^0) \geq M^0$ and $m^1 = \underline{\Psi}_t(M^0, m^0) \leq m^0$. From the monotonicity lemma, we have $M^k \geq M^{k-1}$ and $m^k \leq m^{k-1}$ for $k = 1, 2, \cdots$. Note that m^k is bounded since \hat{m}^0 is bounded.⁴ In addition, by assumption we know that there is an upperbound

 $^{^{4}}$ Everyone is guaranteed to receive at least a payoff of 0 by not coming to an agreement in the current period.

on the feasible payoff vectors, i.e., $M^k \leq \tilde{p}$. Since $\{M^k\}$ and $\{m^k\}$ are bounded monotonic sequences, there is a (\bar{M}, \bar{m}) such that $(M^k, m^k) \to (\bar{M}, \bar{m})$ pointwise. Therefore, $\bar{M} \geq \hat{M} \geq \hat{m} \geq \bar{m}$. Then, from Lemma 3 we conlude $M^* \geq \bar{M} \geq \hat{M} \geq \hat{m} \geq \bar{m} \geq m^*$.

ii) Consider a payoff vector p_{τ} such that $m_t^* \leq E_t(p_{\tau}) \leq M_t^*$. It is straightforward to show that there is a strategy profile that supports p_{τ} as a subgame perfect equilibrium outcome.

Consequently, Corollary 1 has been proven. The following corollary for the Alternative bargaining game is also immediate.

Corollary 2 There exists a subgame perfect equilibrium in the Alternative bargaining game.

Redefine m_t and M_t in the following manner.⁵ When player *i* is proposing an offer in a given period *t*, his minimum reservation value is

$$m_t^i = E_t^i(Q_{t+1})x_t^i = \min\{E_t^i(\pi_\tau^i), \ \tau = t+2, \cdots, T|h^t\},\$$

while i's maximum reservation value is

$$M_t^i = E_t^i(Q_{t+1})\overline{x_t^i} = \max\{E_t^i(\pi_{\tau}^i), \ \tau = t+2, \cdots, T|h^t\}.$$

Note that the reservation values when i is responding to j's offer from the previous period is the same as the definitions given in the Basic game. Hence, the definitions above are the reservation values after rejecting an opponent's offer, which incorporate the uncertainty of the asset value in the following period (t+1). With these definitions, the proof of Corollary

⁵Whenever we are discussing Alternative games, we assume these definitions.

2 is analogous to that of the Basic game.

Next, we include some of the findings by Merlo and Wilson on stationary subgame perfect equilibrium. Note that a strategy profile is *stationary* if the actions depend only on the current state. Hence, a stationary subgame perfect outcome is generated by stationary subgame perfect strategy profile. We denote player *i*'s best feasible allocation that guarantees at least p^B to player *j* as $BR^i(p)$, which is bounded and measurable on H^t , is continuous on $h^t \in H^t$, and exists whenever the set of feasible allocations is not empty. Let us define an operator *O* on the history of states such that a proposer *A*'s equilibrium payoff is $O^A(p)(h^t) = \max\{BR^A(p)(h^t), p^A\}$ and a responder *B*'s payoff is $O^B(p)(h^t) = p^B$. With these definitions, Theorem 1 and Theorem 8 of Merlo and Wilson (1995) can be immediately applied to our bargaining games.

Theorem 1 (Theorem 1 of Merlo and Wilson (1995)) In Basic and Alternative bargaining games, $p = (p^A, p^B) \in F^2$ is a stationary subgame perfect equilibrium payoff vector if and only if O(p) = p.

Theorem 2 (Theorem 8 of Merlo and Wilson (1995)) $(M_t^{A,*}, m_t^{B,*})$ and $(m_t^{A,*}, M_t^{B,*})$ are stationary subgame perfect payoff vectors.⁶

Merlo and Wilson (1995) proves the theorem above by showing that $\overline{\Psi_t} \times \underline{\Psi_t}(M_t, m_t) = (M_t, m_t)$ implies $O(m_t^A, M_t^B) = (m_t^A, M_t^B)$.⁷

⁶Note that the monotonicity of the operator Ψ is essential for the existence of stationary subgame perfect equilibria in stochastic bargaining games.

⁷In other words, first assume $\overline{\Psi_t^A}(M_t, m_t) = M_t^A$, $\underline{\Psi_t^A}(M_t, m_t) = m_t^A$, $\overline{\Psi_t^B}(M_t, m_t) = M_t^B$, and $\underline{\Psi_t^B}(M_t, m_t) = m_t^B$. Then it is straightforward to show $O^A(m_t^A, M_t^B) = \underline{\Psi_t^A}(M_t, m_t) = M_t^A$ and $\overline{O^B}(m_t^A, M_t^B) = \overline{\Psi_t^B}(M_t, m_t) = M_t^B$. Analogous argument is made for the case with $(M_t^{A,*}, m_t^{B,*})$.

CHAPTER 2. BARGAINING WITH SEQUENTIAL INFORMATION ARRIVAL 33

In the following sections, we consider an equilibrium offer strategy such that $x_t^i = \max\{1 - \overline{x_t^j}, \overline{x_t^i}\}$. Therefore, the equilibrium payoff operator for a proposer *i* in the Basic game is $\Psi_t^i(x_t) = \Psi_t^i(x_t^i, x_t^j) = \max\{Q_t - M_t^j, M_t^i\}$. $Q_t - M_t^j$ is *i*'s best payoff while guaranteeing a maximum reservation value for his opponent *j*. Hence, a responder *j*'s equilibrium payoff is $\Psi_t^j(x_t) = M_t^j$. In the Alternative game, the operator is defined as $\Psi_t^i(x_t) = \Psi_t^i(x_t^i, x_t^j) = \max\{E_t^i(Q_{t+1}) - M_t^j, M_t^i\}$. This is a strategy that leads to *ex ante* Pareto optimal outcomes. We also show that the particular type of equilibrium strategies we have derived predicts stationary subgame perfect shares.

2.2 Analysis of the Basic Game

In this section we present some findings which are immediate from the formulation of the Basic bargaining game. We describe an equilibrium strategy profile derived through a method of backward induction. Recall that a strategy profile constructed by backward induction necessarily coincides with a subgame perfect equilibrium, since such an equilibrium requires the players to act optimally whenever they make decisions, i.e., choose their best responses in each period t, given an observed history h^t . We first specify behavioral assumptions and provide a fundamental algorithm for the backward-induction solution to our Basic game in words.

In the penultimate period (T-1), it is player B's turn to make an offer. Consider a quote x_{T-1}^B that satisfies

C-I Accepting B's offer in period (T-1) gives A at least as much as what A expects to receive in period T.

C-II In the event that A accepts B's offer in period (T-1), B receives at least as much as what B expects to receive in period T.

 x_{T-1}^B satisfying condition C–I is a marginal offer that guarantees A's acceptance in period (T-1), while the one satisfying condition C-II grants B a payoff that motivates him not to delay until period T. Whenever it is his turn to choose an action, B wishes to gain more than or at least as much as what he expects to receive from any future transactions. Let \tilde{x}_{T-1}^B be the smallest such offer, i.e., the smallest offer that satisfies condition C–II, and let $\tilde{\tilde{x}}_{T-1}^B$ be the largest offer that satisfies condition C–I. Suppose that \tilde{x}_{T-1}^B exists and consider the offers that are feasible and are greater than or equal to \tilde{x}_{T-1}^B . If $\tilde{\tilde{x}}_{T-1}^B \geq \tilde{x}_{T-1}^B$, then B quotes $x_{T-1}^B = \tilde{\tilde{x}}_{T-1}^B$ which will be accepted by A with certainty and will be expected to give both players at least as high a payoff as any possible payoff from future trading. If $\tilde{\tilde{x}}_{T-1}^B < \tilde{x}_{T-1}^B$, then B quotes $x_{T-1}^B \ge \tilde{x}_{T-1}^B$, knowing that his offer will be rejected by A. This is because delaying leaves B with a potential opportunity to gain a higher payoff in the future, so that B prefers delaying to having a transaction take place with his share less than \tilde{x}_{T-1}^B in the current period. We assume that B will choose $x_{T-1}^B = \tilde{x}_{T-1}^B$ in such a case. Hence, under such an assumption B will quote the larger of $\tilde{\tilde{x}}_{T-1}^B$ and \tilde{x}_{T-1}^B . Let us also assume that if a respondent is indifferent between a guaranteed payoff in the current period and an expected payoff in the future, then he chooses to accept the current offer.

A symmetric argument applies to A's action in period (T-2) when it is A's turn to make an offer. In general, the two conditions can be restated as

C-I In the event of the respondent's accepting the current offer, the respondent receives at least as much as what the respondent expects to receive in any

future period.

C-II In the event of the respondent's accepting the current offer, the proposer receives at least as much as what the proposer expects to receive in any future period.

Proceeding to an initial period in this fashion leads us to find a strategy profile that is a subgame perfect equilibrium as described in the following proposition.

Proposition 1 A strategy profile $\{\hat{S}^A, \hat{S}^B\}$ that satisfies the following conditions is a subgame perfect equilibrium of the Basic game.

1. In an even-numbered period t, player A makes an offer such that

$$x_t^A = \max\left\{1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^B), \ E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^A)\right\},\tag{2.1}$$

and player B accepts x_t^A iff $x_t^A \leq 1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^B)$, and rejects otherwise.

2. In an odd-numbered period t, player B makes an offer such that

$$x_t^B = \max\left\{1 - E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^A), \ E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^B)\right\},\tag{2.2}$$

and player A accepts x_t^B iff $x_t^B \leq 1 - E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^A)$, and rejects otherwise.

Proof. The derivation of this equilibrium is included in Appendix 2A.1.

If an agreement is reached, the proposer's share gives him a payoff that is at least as much as the largest expected continuation payoff in future periods over a subgame perfect equilibrium,⁸ plus any surplus in excess of what the players expect to receive in any following future period. For example, a surplus A can extract in an even-numbered period t is $1 - (E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^A) + E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^B))$. Note that if $1 - (E_t^A(\cdot) + E_t^B(\cdot)) < 0$, then there is no agreement. In other words, a negative surplus in a current period indicates that at least one player is very optimistic about the future value of the asset and that the player wants to delay until the value is maximized.⁹ It is also indicative that there is an advantage to be a proposer. When an agreement is reached, a proposer's surplus in excess of his reservation value is nonnegative, whereas a responder's surplus is always zero.

It is also immediate that an equilibrium share predicted by the strategies given in Proposition 1 is stationary. Let us consider some even-numbered period t. A proof of an oddnumbered period is analogous. The reservation values for the players are written as $M_t^A = Q_t E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^A)$, and $M_t^B = Q_t E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^B)$. If $1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^B) \ge E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^A)$, then there is an agreement in t. We have

$$O^{A}(\pi_{t}) = O^{A}(\pi_{t}^{A}, \pi_{t}^{B})$$

$$= Q_{t} \max\{1 - E_{t}^{B}(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^{B}), E_{t}^{A}(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^{A})\}$$

$$= Q_{t}(1 - E_{t}^{B}(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^{B}))$$

$$= Q_{t} - M_{t}^{B},$$

⁸For a proposer A in an even-numbered period, it is $E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^A)$, and for a proposer B in an oddnumbered period, it is $E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^B)$. It can be considered as a proposer's reservation share resulting from delay.

⁹This observation is revisited again in Proposition 9.

 and

$$O^B(\pi_t) = Q_t E^B_t(\delta_{t+1} x^B_{t+1}) = M^B_t.$$

Hence, $O(\pi_t) = \pi_t$. Similarly, if $1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^B) < E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^A)$, we can show $O(\pi_t) = \pi_t$. Therefore, we can conclude that the derived equilibrium satisfies the condition specified in Theorem 1.

Recall that $E_t^i(\cdot)$ is a player *i*'s expectation conditional on the information that is available on and before period *t*. The proposition shows that the demand of each player depends on the expected values of both current and lagged δs . It should also be noted that in this formulation we have not excluded the possibility of having a value of x_t that exceeds one, for δs are not restricted to be less than one. The following Lemma gives a sufficient condition to guarantee x_t^i in the closed interval of zero and one.

Lemma 5 If $\delta_t \in [0,1)$ for all t with certainty, then $x_t^i \in [0,1]$.

Proof. This is immediate by following our backward induction algorithm. \Box

This lemma is used in the proofs of the following propositions that assume $\delta_t \in [0, 1)$. The next three propositions give sufficient conditions to have a unique subgame perfect equilibrium.

Proposition 2 If $\delta_t \in [0,1)$ for all t with certainty, then there is no delay before reaching an agreement.

Proof. Suppose that $\delta_t \in [0, 1)$ for all t. What we need to show here is that player A's offer in period 0 is always accepted by player B in the period. From Proposition 1 the

condition that has to be satisfied to avoid delay is

$$1 - E_0^B(\delta_1 x_1^B) \ge E_0^A(\delta_1 \delta_2 x_2^A).$$

Suppose that this is not true; that is, $1 - E_0^B(\delta_1 x_1^B) < E_0^A(\delta_1 \delta_2 x_2^A)$. Then $E_0^A(x_2^A) \leq E_0^A(\delta_1 \delta_2 x_2^A)$ since $E_0^A(x_2^A) \leq \max\{1 - E_0^B(\delta_1 x_1^B), E_0^A(\delta_1 \delta_2 x_2^A)\}$. This implies $E_0^A(x_2^A) \leq 0$ because $\delta_1 \delta_2 \in [0, 1)$. Then $E_0^A(\delta_1 \delta_2 x_2^A) \leq 0$. But since $\delta_1 \in [0, 1)$ and the assumption of $\delta_t \in [0, 1)$ for all t implies $x_1^B \in [0, 1], 1 - E_0^B(\delta_1 x_1^B) > 0$, which results in $1 - E_0^B(\delta_1 x_1^B) > E_0^A(\delta_1 \delta_2 x_2^A)$. This contradicts our assumption. Hence, we conclude that $1 - E_0^B(\delta_1 x_1^B) \geq E_0^A(\delta_1 \delta_2 x_2^A)$.

Proposition 3 If $\{\delta_{\tau}\}_{\tau=1}^{t}$ is non-stochastic, in particular $\delta \in [0,1)$ and $\delta_{t} = \delta^{t}$, then the solution to the Basic game converges to that to the Rubinstein's model as $T \longrightarrow \infty$.

Proof. We need to show that $x_0^A = \frac{1}{1+\delta}$ as $T \to \infty$. From Proposition 2 we know that

$$1 - E_0^B(\delta_1 x_1^B) \ge E_0^A(\delta_1 \delta_2 x_2^A),$$

which means $x_0^A = 1 - \delta E_0^B(x_1^B)$. In a similar fashion we can show that if period 1 is reached, then $x_1^B = 1 - \delta^2 E_1^A(x_2^A)$. In general,

$$x_t^A = 1 - \delta^{t+1} E_t^B(x_{t+1}^B)$$

and

$$x_t^B = 1 - \delta^{t+1} E_t^A(x_{t+1}^A).$$

By recursively substituting x_t^A 's and x_t^B 's into x_0^A , we get

$$\begin{aligned} x_0^A &= 1 - \delta E_0^B(x_1^B) \\ &= 1 - \delta \left(1 - \delta^2 E_1^A(x_2^A)\right) \\ &= 1 - \delta \left(1 - \delta^2 \left(1 - \delta^3 E_2^B(x_3^B)\right)\right) \\ &\vdots \\ &= 1 - \delta \left(1 - \delta^2 \left(1 - \delta^3 (\cdots (1 - \delta^T x_T))\right)\right) \\ &= \sum_{t=0}^{T-1} (-1)^t \delta^{\sum_{i=0}^t i} + \delta^{\sum_{j=0}^T j} x_T. \end{aligned}$$

By taking a limit of the last expression, we have

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \left[\sum_{t=0}^{T-1} (-1)^t \delta^{\sum_{i=0}^t i} + \delta^{\sum_{j=0}^T j} x_T \right] \\ = \lim_{T \to \infty} \sum_{t=0}^{T-1} \left((-1) \delta^{\frac{1}{t} \sum_{i=0}^t i} \right)^t.$$

Note that by using L'Hôpital's rule,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\sum_{i=0}^t i}{t} = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\frac{d}{dt} \sum_{i=0}^t i}{\frac{d}{dt} t} = 1.$$

Since $|\delta| < 1$, as T approaches to infinity we have the sum of a converging geometric series such that

$$x_0^A = \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} (-\delta)^t = \frac{1}{1+\delta}.$$

This completes the proof.

Proposition 4 If δ_t 's are identically and independently distributed, and the players agree on the expected values, which is $E(\delta_t) = \delta^* \in [0,1)$, then the solution to the Basic game converges to the solution to the Rubinstein's model, provided that $T \longrightarrow \infty$.

Proof. By using a similar reasoning to Proposition 2, we can show

$$1 - \delta^* E_0^B(x_1^B) \ge {\delta^*}^2 E_0^A(x_2^A).$$

In general,

$$x_t^A = 1 - \delta^* E_t^B(x_{t+1}^B)$$

and

$$x_t^B = 1 - \delta^* E_t^A(x_{t+1}^A).$$

Then x_0^A can be expressed as

$$\begin{aligned} x_0^A &= 1 - \delta^* E_0^B(x_1^B) \\ &= 1 - \delta^* \left(1 - \delta^* (\cdots (1 - \delta^* x_T)) \right) \\ &= 1 - \delta^* + \delta^{*^2} - \delta^{*^3} + \cdots + \delta^{*^T} x_T \\ &= \sum_{t=0}^{T-1} (-\delta^*)^t + \delta^{*^T} x_T. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, as T approaches to infinity, we have

$$x_0^A = \lim_{T \to \infty} \left[\sum_{t=0}^{T-1} (-\delta^*)^t + {\delta^*}^T x_T \right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{1+\delta^*}.$$

Hence, the proposition holds when $\delta^* \in [0, 1)$.

The following two propositions give sufficient conditions to generate a delay in period (T-1).

Proposition 5 In period (T-1), if the players' beliefs about the value of δ_T are greater than or equal to 1 with $E_{T-1}^A(\delta_T) > E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T)$, then there is delay at period (T-1).

Proof. We need to show that

$$1 - E_{T-1}^{A}(\delta_{T}x_{T}) < E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T}(1 - x_{T})).$$

Suppose that $E_{T-1}^{A}(\delta_{T}) > E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T}) \geq 1$. Then we have

$$1 - x_T E_{T-1}^A(\delta_T) < 1 - x_T E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T)$$

$$\leq E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T) - x_T E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T)$$

$$= (1 - x_T) E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T).$$

Note that we can also show that there is a delay if $E_{T-1}^A(\delta_T) \ge E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T) > 1$ in a similar manner. These results indicate that players' beliefs do not have to differ in order to generate delay if both are optimistic about the future.

Proposition 6 In period (T-1), if the players' beliefs are such that

$$E_{T-1}^{A}(\delta_{T}) - E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T}) > \frac{1}{x_{T}}$$

where $E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T) \in [0,1)$, then there is delay at period (T-1).

Proof. Suppose that $E_{T-1}^{A}(\delta_{T}) - E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T}) > \frac{1}{x_{T}}$ and $E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T}) \in [0, 1)$. Then we have $1 - E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T}) \leq 1$ and $x_{T} \left[E_{T-1}^{A}(\delta_{T}) - E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T}) \right] > 1$. Therefore,

$$1 - E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T}) < x_{T} \left[E_{T-1}^{A}(\delta_{T}) - E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T}) \right]$$

$$1 - x_{T} E_{T-1}^{A}(\delta_{T}) < E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T}) - x_{T} E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T})$$

$$1 - E_{T-1}^{A}(\delta_{T}x_{T}) < E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T}(1 - x_{T})).$$

This proposition implies that $E_{T-1}^A(\delta_T)$ is necessarily larger than 1 to generate delay under the given conditions. Propositions 5 and 6 provide sufficient conditions to result in delay in period (T-1). The following proposition gives a necessary condition to have delay in period (T-1), and it shows that we can also observe delay when $E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T) > E_{T-1}^A(\delta_T)$.

Proposition 7 In period (T-1), there is a delay only if the convex combination of $E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T)$ and $E_{T-1}^A(\delta_T)$ is larger than one.

Proof. Under our behavioral assumptions, the necessary condition that has to be satisfied to generate delay in period (T-1) is that player B quotes x_{T-1}^B that will be rejected by player A with certainty, which is

$$x_{T-1}^B = (1 - x_T) E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T),$$

where

$$1 - x_T E_{T-1}^A(\delta_T) < (1 - x_T) E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T).$$

By rearranging this inequality we have

$$x_T E_{T-1}^A(\delta_T) + (1 - x_T) E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T) > 1,$$

where the right side is a convex combination of E_{T-1}^A and E_{T-1}^B with $x_T \in [0, 1]$.

This proposition is also intuitive in the following manner. Even if the predetermined default share x_T is 0.5, indicating that the players have equal division of the surplus in the final period, as long as the proposer B is *reasonably* optimistic about the future value of the asset, meaning that $E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T)$ is sufficiently large, B can generate a delay by making a ridiculously large quote that could be larger than one. The proposition also indicates that at least one of the players must be optimistic about the future value in order to have a delay. In other words, both $E_{T-1}^A(\delta_T)$ and $E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T)$ cannot be less than one together, since otherwise it is impossible to have the value of the convex combination larger than one.

Proposition 8 In general, there is a delay until the final period T only if

$$x_T E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}\cdots\delta_T) + (1-x_T)E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}\cdots\delta_T) > 1 \ \forall t.$$

Proof. The proof is straightforward by using a method of backward induction with the result of Proposition 7 as its initial step. Suppose that there is a delay from some odd-

numbered period (t+1) through period (T-1). A's strategy in period t is

$$x_t^A = \max\left\{1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^B), \ E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^A)\right\}.$$

Now suppose that there is a delay in period t. Then, by definition it must be true that

$$x_t^A = E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^A) > 1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^B).$$

But our induction hypothesis indicates that

$$x_{t+2}^A = x_T E_{t+2}^A (\delta_{t+3} \delta_{t+4} \cdots \delta_T),$$

and

$$x_{t+1}^B = (1 - x_T) E_{t+1}^A (\delta_{t+2} \delta_{t+3} \cdots \delta_T).$$

Therefore,

$$x_t^A = x_T E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}\cdots\delta_T) > 1 - (1 - x_T) E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}\cdots\delta_T).$$

$$x_T E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}\cdots\delta_T) + (1-x_T) E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}\cdots\delta_T) > 1.$$

The proof for odd-numbered ts is analogous.

The proposition also indicates that at least one of the players must be optimistic about the future values of δs in order to have a delay. Hence, both $E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\cdots\delta_T)$ and $E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}\cdots\delta_T)$ cannot be less than one together, since otherwise it is impossible to have the value of the convex combination larger than one.

In the next proposition we restate the condition given in Proposition 1, and generalize the previous propositions.

Proposition 9 In period t when it is i's turn to make an offer, there is a delay iff

$$E_t^i(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^i) + E_t^j(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^j) > 1.$$

Proof. First, suppose that there is a delay in period t. Then, $x_t^i > 1 - E_t^j(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^j)$, where

$$x_t^i = \max\left\{1 - E_t^j(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^j), E_t^i(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^i)
ight\}.$$

But this implies

$$x_t^i = E_t^i(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^i) > 1 - E_t^j(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^j).$$

It follows that

$$E_t^i(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^i) + E_t^j(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^j) > 1.$$

Now let us suppose that

$$E_t^i(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^i) + E_t^j(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^j) > 1.$$

Then

$$\begin{aligned} x_t^i &= \max\left\{1 - E_t^j(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^j), \ E_t^i(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^i)\right\} \\ &= E_t^i(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^i) \\ &> 1 - E_t^j(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^j). \end{aligned}$$

This proposition indicates that there is no delay unless at least one of the players is optimistic about the future values of δ . Hence, there exists a possibility of delay when a proposing player's belief $E_t^i(\delta_{t+1})$ is less than one, given that a responding player has a very optimistic view about the value of δ_{t+1} , and vice versa. Note that this proposition also indicates that a mere difference in beliefs among the players is not a sufficient condition to generate a delay.

After observing some of the results concerning the Basic model, here emerges a rather natural question not to be ignored. Since a respondent does not make his counter-offer until he observes another information in the event of his rejection, why can't he also wait to declare his acceptance or rejection until he has observed the new information? Or why shouldn't he always reject a current offer to observe another information in the next period? It is these questions that gave rise to the Alternative model. Hence, the findings in this section have served us as a prelude to our study of the Alternative game. The timing of events described in the Alternative model reflects commonly observed situations that certain information which are presently unavailable will, to varying degree, become available by the time when one's opponent makes a decision.

46

2.3 Analysis of the Alternative Game

Our analysis of the Alternative model proceeds by utilizing dynamic programming algorithms. We first derive the equilibrium described in the following proposition by working backwards from period T through a sequence of solutions to single stage optimization problems. Let $V_{t+1}^{i}(Q_t)$ represent player *i*'s maximal expected payoff from the remaining negotiation periods including period (t+1), given that the value of the asset in period t is Q_t .

By using maximal expected payoff functions, the terminal conditions are written as

$$\begin{cases} V_T^A(Q_{T-1}) = x_T E_t^A(Q_T) \\ V_T^B(Q_{T-1}) = (1-x_T) E_t^B(Q_T), \end{cases}$$

and V_t^i 's describe the recurrence relation. By using such notations, we find that player *i* rejects x_{t-1}^j in period *t* if there exists x_t^i such that

$$Q_t(1 - x_{t-1}^j) < V_{t+1}^i(Q_t)$$

where

$$\begin{split} V_{t+1}^{i}(Q_{t}) &= \max_{x_{t}^{i}} \ prob \left\{ Q_{t+1}(1-x_{t}^{i}) \geq V_{t+2}^{j}(Q_{t+1}) \right\} \\ &\times E_{t}^{i} \left(Q_{t+1}x_{t}^{i} | Q_{t+1}(1-x_{t}^{i}) \geq V_{t+2}^{j}(Q_{t+1}) \right) \\ &+ prob \left\{ Q_{t+1}(1-x_{t}^{i}) < V_{t+2}^{j}(Q_{t+1}) \right\} \\ &\times E_{t}^{i} \left(V_{t+2}^{i}(Q_{t+1}) | Q_{t+1}(1-x_{t}^{i}) < V_{t+2}^{j}(Q_{t+1}) \right). \end{split}$$

If indeed *i* rejects, then *i* quotes such x_t^i . The condition described here states that a player would reject an offer if the maximal expected payoff from the remaining period is larger than the payoff from accepting the current offer and that in the event of his rejecting the offer, the player would quote a counter-offer with which he can expect to receive at least as much as the maximal payoff. Implicitly assumed is that each player tries to maximize his expected payoff and that one prefers trading now to delaying if no payoff improvement is expected in the future.

By using the algorithm analogous to that used in the Basic game, the equilibrium to the Alternative game is given as follows.

Proposition 10 A strategy profile $\{\hat{S}^A, \hat{S}^B\}$ that satisfies the following conditions is a subgame perfect equilibrium of the Alternative game.

1. In an even-numbered period t, player A rejects x_{t-1}^B iff

$$x_{t-1}^B > 1 - E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}x_t^A),$$

and quotes

$$x_t^A = \max\left\{1 - \frac{E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+1}^B)}{E_t^B(\delta_{t+1})}, \ \frac{E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}\delta_{t+3}x_{t+2}^A)}{E_t^A(\delta_{t+1})}\right\}.$$
(2.3)

A accepts x_{t-1}^B otherwise.

2. In an odd-numbered period t, player B rejects x_{t-1}^A iff

$$x_{t-1}^A > 1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}x_t^B)$$

and quotes

$$x_t^B = \max\left\{1 - \frac{E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+1}^A)}{E_t^A(\delta_{t+1})}, \ \frac{E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}\delta_{t+3}x_{t+2}^B)}{E_t^B(\delta_{t+1})}\right\}.$$
(2.4)

B accepts x_{t-1}^A otherwise.

Proof. The derivation of this equilibrium is included in Appendix 2A.2.

Recall that the physical environment characterized by random variables ε s is memoryless, whereas players' expectations, and thus strategies, depend on the history. Therefore, $E_t^i(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+1}^i)$ may not be equal to $E_t^i(\delta_{t+1})E_t^i(\delta_{t+2})E_t^i(x_{t+1}^i)$. We can make a following interesting observation by examining period (T-1) strategies. Suppose that period (T-1)is reached, and let us consider a case in which

$$x_{T-2}^{A} = 1 - \frac{(1 - x_T)E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_T \delta_{T-1})}{E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1})} > \frac{x_T E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_T \delta_{T-1})}{E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1})}.$$

By rearranging the inequality, we have

$$x_T \frac{E_{T-2}^A(\delta_T \delta_{T-1})}{E_{T-2}^A(\delta_{T-1})} + (1 - x_T) \frac{E_{T-2}^B(\delta_T \delta_{T-1})}{E_{T-2}^B(\delta_{T-1})} \le 1.$$

It is clear from this resulting inequality that in period (T-2) there was at least one player who had a pessimistic view about the future asset value. Moreover, it is also indicative that both players might have been pessimistic in (T-2), meaning that both might have speculated the value of δ to be less than one. Now consider player B's period (T-1)strategies. Given the value of x_{T-2}^A as above, he rejects it if $x_{T-2}^A > 1 - (1 - x_T)E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T)$.

49

This condition can be rewritten in the following way.

$$1 - \frac{(1 - x_T)E_{T-2}^B(\delta_T \delta_{T-1})}{E_{T-2}^B(\delta_{T-1})} + (1 - x_T)E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T) > 1$$
$$E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T)E_{T-2}^B(\delta_{T-1}) - E_{T-2}^B(\delta_T \delta_{T-1}) > 0.$$

Therefore, if B speculates a higher value of δ_T after observing δ_{T-1} than he thought before observing δ_{T-1} , then he would reject x_{T-2}^A resulting in a delay until the final period. The possibility of this case is interesting, because this is the case in which both players might have not been very optimistic in period (T-2), yet we may observe another delay in period (T-1) if player B's view changes after observing new information δ_{T-1} . Note that such a case is not possible in the Basic bargaining game. Having no chance of observing another information before responding to a current offer in the Basic game, the other player immediately accepts such an offer that reflects not very optimistic views of the players.

The above observation is generalized in the following proposition.

Proposition 11 The following conditions are sufficient to generate a delay in Alternative bargaining games.

1. There is a delay in an odd-numbered period t if

$$E_{t-1}^{B}(\delta_{t})E_{t}^{B}(\delta_{t+1}x_{t}^{B}) > E_{t-1}^{B}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}x_{t}^{B}).$$

2. There is a delay in an even-numbered period t if

 $E_{t-1}^{A}(\delta_{t})E_{t}^{A}(\delta_{t+1}x_{t}^{A}) > E_{t-1}^{A}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}x_{t}^{A}).$

Proof. We give a proof for the odd-numbered period. The proof for an even-numbered period is analogous. We need to look at the following two cases.

$$1. \ x_{t-1}^{A} = 1 - \frac{E_{t-1}^{B}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}x_{t}^{B})}{E_{t-1}^{B}(\delta_{t})} > \frac{E_{t-1}^{A}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+1}^{A})}{E_{t-1}^{A}(\delta_{t})}$$
$$2. \ x_{t-1}^{A} = \frac{E_{t-1}^{A}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+1}^{A})}{E_{t-1}^{A}(\delta_{t})} \ge 1 - \frac{E_{t-1}^{B}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}x_{t}^{B})}{E_{t-1}^{B}(\delta_{t})}.$$

First, consider case 1. We need to show $x_{t-1}^A > 1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}x_t^B)$, which is the condition to generate a delay. Suppose

$$E_{t-1}^{B}(\delta_{t})E_{t}^{B}(\delta_{t+1}x_{t}^{B}) > E_{t-1}^{B}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}x_{t}^{B}).$$

This inequality is rearranged to

$$1 - \frac{E_{t-1}^B(\delta_t \delta_{t+1} x_t^B)}{E_{t-1}^B(\delta_t)} > 1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1} x_t^B).$$

But by assumption,

$$x_{t-1}^A = 1 - rac{E_{t-1}^B(\delta_t \delta_{t+1} x_t^B)}{E_{t-1}^B(\delta_t)}.$$

Therefore,

$$x_{t-1}^A > 1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}x_t^B).$$

Similarly, consider case 2, and suppose

$$E_{t-1}^{B}(\delta_{t})E_{t}^{B}(\delta_{t+1}x_{t}^{B}) > E_{t-1}^{B}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}x_{t}^{B}).$$
This inequality is rearranged to

$$1 - \frac{E_{t-1}^B(\delta_t \delta_{t+1} x_t^B)}{E_{t-1}^B(\delta_t)} > 1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1} x_t^B).$$

But by assumption

$$\begin{aligned} x_{t-1}^A &= \quad \frac{E_{t-1}^A(\delta_t \delta_{t+1} \delta_{t+2} x_{t+1}^A)}{E_{t-1}^A(\delta_t)} \\ &\geq \quad 1 - \frac{E_{t-1}^B(\delta_t \delta_{t+1} x_t^B)}{E_{t-1}^B(\delta_t)}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence,

$$x_{t-1}^A > 1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}x_t^B).$$

Therefore, after observing δ_t in some odd-numbered period t, if B becomes more optimistic about the value of δ_{t+1} than he was in period (t-1), then there is a delay. Note that this proposition indicates that the statement given in Proposition 2 is not true for Al-

ternative games. In other words, the assumption of $\delta_t \in [0, 1)$ alone does not guarantee an immediate agreement in Alternative games. We will observe more variations in bargaining durations in Alternative games when we run simulations in Chapter 3.

The following lemma is analogous to Lemma 1, except that we eliminate the possibility of $\delta = 0$ to avoid undefined fractions in the derived equilibrium.

Lemma 6 If $\delta_t \in (0,1)$ for all t with certainty, then $x_t^i \in [0,1]$.

Proof. This is immediate by following our backward induction algorithm.

The conditions given in the next proposition, which are the same as those given in Proposition 3, guarantee an immediate agreement in Alternative games.

Proposition 12 If $\{\delta_{\tau}\}_{\tau=1}^{t}$ is non-stochastic, in particular $\delta \in (0,1)$ and $\delta_{t} = \delta^{t}$, then the solution to the Alternative game converges to the solution to the Rubinstein's model as $T \to \infty$.

Proof. First, we show that there is an immediate agreement under the given conditions. Suppose that δs are non-stochastic, $\delta \in (0,1)$, and $\delta_t = \delta^t$. Since $x_{T-1}^B = 1 - x_T$ and $\delta^T \in (0,1)$, A's strategy in period (T-2) is

$$x_{T-2}^{A} = \max\{1 - \delta^{T}(1 - x_{T}), \ \delta^{T}x_{T}\}$$
$$= 1 - \delta^{T}(1 - x_{T})$$
$$= 1 - \delta^{T}x_{T-1}^{B}.$$

Given such x_{T-2}^A , B's strategy in period (T-3) is

$$\begin{aligned} x_{T-3}^B &= \max\{1 - \delta^{T-1}(1 - \delta^T(1 - x_T)), \ \delta^T \delta^{T-1}(1 - x_T)\} \\ &= 1 - \delta^{T-1}(1 - \delta^T(1 - x_T)) \\ &= 1 - \delta^{T-1}x_{T-2}^A. \end{aligned}$$

By induction, it is straightforward to show that in general

$$x_t^i = 1 - \delta^{t+2} x_{t+1}^j. \tag{2.5}$$

Hence, A's strategy in period 0 is $x_0^A = 1 - \delta^2 x_1^B$. B accepts x_0^A in period 1 if $x_0^A \leq 1 - \delta^2 E_1^B(x_1^B)$. But this is satisfied since

$$x_0^A = 1 - \delta^2 x_1^B \leq 1 - \delta^2 x_1^B = 1 - \delta^2 E_1^B(x_1^B).$$

Therefore, there is an immediate agreement.

Now we show that $x_0^A = \frac{1}{1+\delta}$ as $T \to \infty$. The equation 2.5 can be rewritten as

$$x_t^i = 1 - \delta^{t+2} \left(1 - \delta^{t+3} \left(1 - \delta^{t+4} (\cdots (1 - \delta^T (1 - x_T))) \right) \right).$$

Hence, we can express x_0^A as

$$\begin{aligned} x_0^A &= 1 - \delta^2 \left(1 - \delta^3 \left(1 - \delta^4 (\cdots (1 - \delta^T (1 - x_T))) \right) \right) \\ &= \sum_{t=1}^T (-1)^{t-1} \delta^{(\sum_{i=0}^t i - 1)} + \delta^{(\sum_{j=0}^T j - 1)} x_T. \end{aligned}$$

By taking a limit of the last expression, we have

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \left[\sum_{t=1}^{T} (-1)^{t-1} \delta^{(\sum_{i=0}^{t} i-1)} + \delta^{(\sum_{j=0}^{T} j-1)} x_T \right]$$
$$= \lim_{T \to \infty} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \left((-1) \delta^{\frac{1}{t-1} (\sum_{i=0}^{t} i-1)} \right)^{t-1}.$$

Note that by using L'Hôpital's rule,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\sum_{i=0}^{t} i - 1}{t - 1} = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\frac{d}{dt} (\sum_{i=0}^{t} i - 1)}{\frac{d}{dt} (t - 1)} = 1.$$

Since $\delta \in (0, 1)$, by rewriting the sum of a converging geometric series, we have

$$x_0^A = \sum_{t=1}^{\infty} (-\delta)^{t-1} = \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} (-\delta)^t = \frac{1}{1+\delta}.$$

This completes the proof.

The next proposition also gives conditions in which results of Alternative games converge to the Rubinstein's solution as it was observed with Basic games.

Proposition 13 If δ_t 's are identically and independently distributed, and the players agree on the expected values, which is $E(\delta_t) = \delta^* \in (0, 1)$, then the solution to the Alternative game converges to the solution to the Rubinstein's model, provided that $T \longrightarrow \infty$.

Proof. The proof proceeds in the same fashion as that of the previous proposition. Since B's strategy in period (T-1) is $x_{T-1}^B = 1 - x_T$, A's strategy in period (T-2) is

Similarly, B's strategy in period (T-3) is

$$\begin{aligned} x_{T-3}^B &= \max\{1 - \delta^* (1 - \delta^* (1 - x_T)), \ \delta^{*^2} (1 - x_T)\} \\ &= 1 - \delta^* (1 - \delta^* (1 - x_T)) \\ &= 1 - \delta^* x_{T-2}^A. \end{aligned}$$

In general,

$$x_t^i = 1 - \delta^* x_{t+1}^j.$$

Hence, $x_0^A = 1 - \delta^* x_1^B$. B accepts x_0^A in period 1 if $x_0^A \leq 1 - \delta^* E_1^B(x_1^B)$. But this is satisfied since

$$x_0^A = 1 - \delta^* x_1^B \leq 1 - \delta^* x_1^B = 1 - \delta^* E_1^B(x_1^B).$$

Therefore, there is an immediate agreement. x_0^A can be also expressed as

$$\begin{aligned} x_0^A &= 1 - \delta^* \left(1 - \delta^* (\cdots (1 - \delta^* (1 - x_T))) \right) \\ &= 1 - \delta^* + \delta^{*^2} - \delta^{*^3} + \cdots - \delta^{*^{(T-1)}} + \delta^{*^{(T-1)}} x_T \\ &= \sum_{t=0}^{T-1} (-\delta^*)^t + \delta^{*^{(T-1)}} x_T. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, as T approaches to infinity we have

$$x_0^A = \lim_{T \to \infty} \left[\sum_{t=0}^{T-1} (-\delta^*)^t + \delta^{*^{(T-1)}} x_T \right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{1+\delta^*}.$$

Hence, the proposition holds when $\delta^* \in (0, 1)$.

Consequently, if we eliminate a speculative element in the beliefs from our bargaining games in a certain way as above, then the results of both Basic and Alternative games with $T \to \infty$ conform to that of Rubinstien's model.

The next proposition gives a condition to generate a delay in a penultimate period.

Proposition 14 There is delay in period (T-1), if and only if player B is optimistic about

the asset value in period T in such a way that $\frac{1-x_{T-2}^A}{1-x_T} < E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T)$.

Proof. The proof is straightforward from the equilibrium conditions given in Proposition 10. In period (T-1), the condition that will make player B reject x_{T-2}^A is $x_{T-2}^A > 1 - (1 - x_T)E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T)$, which is rearranged to give

$$\frac{1 - x_{T-2}^A}{1 - x_T} < E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T).$$

This proposition says that if B expects the asset value to increase in the next period more than the ratio of his share in the current period (T-1) to his share in period T, then there will be a delay in period (T-1). This sort of delay is likely to occur especially when B's expectation of period-T value in period (T-1) becomes larger than his expectation in period (T-2) after observing δ_{T-1} .

2.4 Notes on the Distribution of Surplus

By construction of our equilibria in the Basic bargaining game, there is an advantage of being a proposer insofar as extracting a surplus in excess of his maximum expected continuation payoff in the event of agreement. Suppose that player *i* proposes $x_t^i = \max\{1 - \overline{x_t^j}, \overline{x_t^i}\}$ in period *t*. If the offer is accepted, then we know $x_t^i = 1 - \overline{x_t^j} \ge \overline{x_t^i}$. Therefore, the payoff vector is $(\pi_t^i, \pi_t^j) = (Q_t(1 - \overline{x_t^j}), Q_t \overline{x_t^j}) = (M_t^i + \epsilon, M_t^j)$, where $\epsilon \ge 0$. Consequently, the equilibrium was constructed in such a way that if an agreement is reached, then a proposer extracts a surplus over what he expects to receive by delaying until any future period, while

57

a responder receives the amount exactly equal to his maximum continuation payoff.

This, however, does not mean that a proposer's payoff is always higher than that of a responder. The size of a realized payoff depends on each player's view of the future. In the example above, it can be observed that $\pi_t^i = Q_t(1-\overline{x_t^i}) > Q_t\overline{x_t^i} = \pi_t^j$ if and only if $\overline{x_t^j} < 1/2$. In other words, the proposer's payoff is larger than the responder's payoff only when the responder is sufficiently pessimistic about his future continuation payoffs. As a numerical example, let us look at Exhibit 3 that is included in Table 3.3 of Appendix 3A.1. This is the case in which player A starts the negotiation with a more pessimistic view than player $B.^{10}$ Take Path = 10 in the table, where an agreement occurs.¹¹ Despite the fact that A is a proposer in period 2, A receives less than B. With regard to surplus extraction, notice that $\pi_2^A > M_2^A$, whereas $\pi_2^B = M_2^B$. Hence, the proposer A has received more than her maximum reservation value, while B received exactly the same as his maximum reservation value. This is in accord with our discussion above.

In the Alternative game, it is possible to observe both players receiving positive surplus; that is, $\pi_t^A > M_t^A$ and $\pi_t^B > M_t^B$ in the same period. Suppose that player *i* proposes an offer such that $x_t^i = \max\{1 - \overline{x_t^j}, \overline{x_t^i}\}$, and first let us consider the case in which $x_t^i = 1 - \overline{x_t^j} \ge \overline{x_t^i}$. We would like to find a condition to have both $\pi_{t+1}^i > M_{t+1}^i$ and $\pi_{t+1}^j > M_{t+1}^j$ in the event of agreement in period (t + 1). We can observe, by simple manipulation of the inequalities, that both players have a positive surplus if and only if both $M_{t+1}^j < Q_{t+1}\overline{x_t^j}$ and $Q_{t+1}\overline{x_t^j} < Q_{t+1} - M_{t+1}^i$ are satisfied. Consequently, the necessary condition to have both inequalities satisfied is $M_{t+1}^i + M_{t+1}^j < Q_{t+1}$. In a similar fashion, we can obtain the

¹⁰After observing the information in period 0, player A assigns a probability 0.25 to the arrival of favorable information in period 1, whereas player B assigns a probability 0.67.

¹¹Path = 10 is the path with $\varepsilon_1 = 1$ and $\varepsilon_2 = 0$. This will be described in detail in Chapter 3.

same necessary condition in the case where $x_t^i = \overline{x_t^i} > 1 - \overline{x_t^j}$. As a numerical example, let us look at Exhibit 10 included in Table 3.10 of Appendix 3A.2. The first agreement occurs in period 1, in which $\pi_1^A = 0.596253 > 0.596184 = M_1^A$ and $\pi_1^B = 0.596279 > 0.596266 = M_1^B$, indicating a positive surplus in excess of maximum continuation payoff on both players.

2.5 Discussion

It has become clear that it matters to analyze the Basic game and the Alternative game separately.¹² In the Basic model, a proposer knows exactly what his and his opponent's payoffs will be if his offer is accepted in the current period. A responder in the Basic model also knows exactly what his and his opponent's payoffs are if he accepts the offer. On the contrary, in the Alternative model a proposer knows what his payoff in the event of acceptance will be only in terms of its expected value when he quotes his offer, while a responder knows exactly what his payoff will be if he accepts the offer. Consequently, a proposer in Alternative games cannot generate a delay with certainty when he makes an offer, since he cannot observe the next period δ that his opponent will observe before responding. But a proposer can force a delay with certainty in Basic games. For example, as indicated in Proposition 11, the assumption of $\delta_t \in (0, 1)$ alone does not guarantee an immediate agreement in Alternative games, whereas it is guaranteed in Basic games as shown in Proposition 2. A bargainer's ability to observe certain information before making his decision affects his bargaining power, and proposer's bargaining power in Alternative games is not as strong as that in the Basic games in terms of manipulating durations. It is

 $^{^{12}}$ As numerical examples, it is interesting to compare Exhibits 3 and 5, or Exhibits 6 and 10 that are included in Appendix 3A.

also clear from the derived equilibria that an additional uncertainty on the proposing party affects reservation values.

Are the two games equivalent if a responding party always rejects the current offer in the Basic model to observe new information? In computing the offer-strategies the proposer's reservation values in the two games are equivalent *if* a proposer in the Basic game knows with certainty that a responder *always* rejects his offer in the current period in order to observe the next available information. This is because in such a case the proposer in the Basic game adjusts his reservation value to incorporate the additional uncertainty as if he were playing the Alternative game. Without such an anticipation of consistent rejection,¹³ a proposer in the Basic game has a different reservation value from a proposer in the Alternative game as we have observed.

As it was shown, however, there are conditions with which the solution to the Basic games coincides with that to the Alternative games.¹⁴ For example, if δ_t s are identically and independently distributed with $E(\delta_t) = \delta^* \in [0, 1)$, then the solution to both games converges to a unique subgame perfect equilibrium that is the same as the Rubinstein's solution. In Rubinstein's perfect and complete information bargaining game, it is players' time preferences modeled as discounting of the asset value that gives a pressure for an early agreement. In our model the pressure comes from players' speculation on the information flow in the future. Consequently, when players speculate a series of future information shocks to be an undesirable one, such a speculation leads to an effect on bargaining outcomes that is similar to the one caused by a presence of discount factors.

¹³We note that it is not reasonable to assume such rejection strategies on the part of responder if he can achieve the highest expected payoff by accepting the current offer.

¹⁴Refer to propositions 3, 4, 12, and 13.

This research originally started out by introducing δ as a convenient way of capturing differences in beliefs after observing common information as a stochastic process. The models studied here have reduced the richness of the initial bargaining games by altering the interpretation of δ , and the original intent was not accomplished. However, even in this restricted framework, our analyses confirm that the introduction of stochastic components into bargaining situations is essential in describing varied bargaining durations. For example, as it was found in Proposition 3 of the Basic game and in Proposition 12 of the Alternative game, if a sequence of δ s is not stochastic in addition to the assumption of $\delta_t \in (0, 1)$, then the solution converges to that of Rubinstein's bargaining model.

Appendix 2A

Derivations of Equilibria

The derivations of the equilibria given in Propositions 1 and 10 are provided. Each step of backward induction algorithm is described in detail.

2A.1 Equilibrium of the Basic Game

Proposition 1 A strategy profile $\{\hat{S}^A, \hat{S}^B\}$ that satisfies the following conditions is a subgame perfect equilibrium of the basic game.

1. In an even-numbered period t, player A makes an offer such that

$$x_t^A = \max\left\{1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^B), \ E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^A)\right\},\tag{2A.1}$$

and player B accepts x_t^A if $x_t^A \leq 1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^B)$, and rejects otherwise.

2. In an odd-numbered period t, player B makes an offer such that

$$x_t^B = \max\left\{1 - E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^A), \ E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}^B)\right\},\tag{2A.2}$$

and player A accepts x_t^B if $x_t^B \leq 1 - E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^A)$, and rejects otherwise.

Proof of Proposition 1: The derivation of this equilibrium is immediate by using the backward-induction algorithm outlined in section 2.2. Note that subgame perfection coincides with backward induction in games of perfect information. Recall the following behavioral assumptions that each player's strategy must satisfy.

- C-I In the event of the respondent's accepting the current offer, the respondent receives at least as much as what the respondent expects to receive in any future period.
- C-II In the event of the respondent's accepting the current offer, the proposer receives at least as much as what the proposer expects to receive in any future period.
 - (i) In period (T-1), it is B's turn to quote an offer. Condition C-I gives

$$Q_{T-1}(1 - x_{T-1}^B) \geq E_{T-1}^A(Q_T x_T)$$
$$Q_{T-1}(1 - x_{T-1}^B) \geq E_{T-1}^A(\delta_T Q_{T-1} x_T)$$
$$x_{T-1}^B \leq 1 - x_T E_{T-1}^A(\delta_T),$$

indicating that an offer that is smaller than or equal to $1 - x_T E_{T-1}^A(\delta_T)$ guarantees A's acceptance. Condition C–II gives

$$Q_{T-1}x_{T-1}^B \geq E_{T-1}^B(Q_T(1-x_T))$$

$$Q_{T-1}x_{T-1}^B \geq E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T Q_{T-1}(1-x_T))$$

$$x_{T-1}^B \geq (1-x_T)E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T),$$

meaning that $(1 - x_T)E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T)$ is the smallest offer B is willing to make. Hence, player B's offer in period (T-1) is

$$x_{T-1}^{B} = \max\left\{1 - x_{T} E_{T-1}^{A}(\delta_{T}), \ (1 - x_{T}) E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T})\right\}.$$
(2A.3)

A would accept \boldsymbol{x}_{T-1}^B such that

$$x_{T-1}^B \le 1 - x_T E_{T-1}^A(\delta_T),$$

since such x_{T-1}^B satisfies the condition C–I.

(*ii*) In period (T - 2), the largest offer A is willing to make, which satisfies condition C–I, is given as

$$x_{T-2}^{A} = \min\left\{1 - E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}x_{T-1}^{B}), \ 1 - (1 - x_{T})E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1})\right\}.$$
 (2A.4)

This is because the offer has to guarantee B a payoff at least as large as B's expected payoff in periods (T-1) and that in period T. The former requires

$$Q_{T-2}(1 - x_{T-2}^{A}) \geq E_{T-2}^{B}(Q_{T-1}x_{T-1}^{B})$$
$$Q_{T-2}(1 - x_{T-2}^{A}) \geq E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}Q_{T-2}x_{T-1}^{B})$$
$$x_{T-2}^{A} \leq 1 - E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}x_{T-1}^{B}),$$

and the latter requires

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{T-2}(1-x_{T-2}^{A}) &\geq E_{T-2}^{B}(Q_{T}(1-x_{T})) \\ Q_{T-2}(1-x_{T-2}^{A}) &\geq E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}Q_{T-2}(1-x_{T})) \\ \\ x_{T-2}^{A} &\leq 1-(1-x_{T})E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T}^{-}\delta_{T-1}). \end{aligned}$$

The smallest offer satisfying condition C–II is

$$x_{T-2}^{A} = \max\left\{E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T-1}^{B})), \ x_{T}E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1})\right\},$$
(2A.5)

since the offer has to give A at least as much a payoff as she expects to receive in period (T-1); that is,

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{T-2}x_{T-2}^{A} &\geq E_{T-2}^{A}(Q_{T-1}(1-x_{T-1}^{B})) \\ Q_{T-2}x_{T-2}^{A} &\geq E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}Q_{T-2}(1-x_{T-1}^{B})) \\ x_{T-2}^{A} &\geq E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T-1}^{B})), \end{aligned}$$

and also at least as much as she expects to receive in period T; that is,

$$Q_{T-2}x_{T-2}^{A} \geq E_{T-2}^{A}(Q_{T}x_{T})$$

$$Q_{T-2}x_{T-2}^{A} \geq E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}Q_{T-2}x_{T})$$

$$x_{T-2}^{A} \geq x_{T}E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}).$$

Hence, the conditions 2A.4 and 2A.5 tell us that A makes an offer such that

$$x_{T-2}^{A} = \max \left\{ E_{T-2}^{A} (\delta_{T-1} (1 - x_{T-1}^{B})), \ x_{T} E_{T-2}^{A} (\delta_{T} \delta_{T-1}), \\ \min \{ 1 - E_{T-2}^{B} (\delta_{T-1} x_{T-1}^{B}), \ 1 - (1 - x_{T}) E_{T-2}^{B} (\delta_{T} \delta_{T-1}) \} \right\}.$$
(2A.6)

But the equation 2A.6 is simplified to

$$x_{T-2}^{A} = \max\left\{1 - E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}x_{T-1}^{B}), \ x_{T}E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1})\right\},\tag{2A.7}$$

due to the reasons described in 1 and 2 below.

1. $x_{T-1}^B \ge E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T(1-x_T))$ implies

$$1 - E_{T-2}^B(\delta_{T-1}x_{T-1}^B) \le 1 - E_{T-2}^B(\delta_{T-1}E_{T-1}^B(\delta_T(1-x_T))).$$

But by applying the law of iterated mathematical expectations to the right-hand side to condition on the information up to period (T-2), this can be rewritten as

$$1 - E_{T-2}^B(\delta_{T-1}x_{T-1}^B) \le 1 - E_{T-2}^B(\delta_{T-1}\delta_T(1-x_T)).$$

Hence,

$$\min\left\{1-E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}x_{T-1}^{B}),\ 1-E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T}))\right\}=1-E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}x_{T-1}^{B}).$$

2. $x_{T-1}^B \ge 1 - E_{T-1}^A(\delta_T x_T)$ implies

$$E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T-1}^{B})) \leq E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}E_{T-1}^{A}(\delta_{T}x_{T})).$$

But by applying the law of iterated expectations to the right-hand side, this is written as

$$E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T-1}^{B})) \leq E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T}x_{T})$$

Hence,

$$\max\left\{E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T-1}^{B})), \ E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}x_{T})\right\} = E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}x_{T}).$$

(*iii*) Suppose that the equilibrium strategy prescribed in the proposition holds for periods t through (T-1). We need to show that the strategies in period (t-1) follow those of the equilibrium, i.e.,

$$x_{t-1}^{j} = \max\{1 - E_{t-1}^{i}(\delta_{t}x_{t}^{i}), E_{t-1}^{j}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^{j})\},\$$

and player *i* accepts x_{t-1}^j if $x_{t-1}^j \leq 1 - E_{t-1}^i(\delta_t x_t^j)$.

Condition C–I indicates that j's offer has to satisfy

$$\begin{aligned} x_{t-1}^j &\leq \min\{1 - E_{t-1}^i(\delta_t x_t^i), 1 - E_{t-1}^i(\delta_{t+1}\delta_t(1 - x_{t+1}^j)), \\ & 1 - E_{t-1}^i(\delta_{t+2}\delta_{t+1}\delta_t x_{t+2}^i), 1 - E_{t-1}^i(\delta_{t+3}\delta_{t+2}\delta_{t+1}\delta_t(1 - x_{t+3}^j)), \cdots \}. \end{aligned}$$

By the induction hypothesis and an application of the law of iterated mathematical expectations, we have $x_{t-1}^j \leq 1 - E_{t-1}^i(\delta_t x_t^i)$.

Condition C–II indicates that j's offer has to satisfy

$$\begin{aligned} x_{t-1}^j &\geq \max\{E_{t-1}^j(\delta_t(1-x_t^i)), E_{t-1}^j(\delta_{t+1}\delta_t x_{t+1}^j), \\ & E_{t-1}^j(\delta_{t+2}\delta_{t+1}\delta_t(1-x_{t+2}^i)), E_{t-1}^j(\delta_{t+3}\delta_{t+2}\delta_{t+1}\delta_t x_{t+3}^j), \cdots \}. \end{aligned}$$

By the induction hypothesis and an application of the law of iterated mathematical expectations, we have $x_{t-1}^j \ge E_{t-1}^j(\delta_{t+1}\delta_t x_{t+1}^j)$.

Consequently, player j's offer strategy in period (t-1) is

$$x_{t-1}^{j} = \max\{1 - E_{t-1}^{i}(\delta_{t}x_{t}^{i}), E_{t-1}^{j}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}^{j})\},\$$

as desired. By construction we know that player *i*'s acceptance decision follows the strategy based on a unique reservation value, i.e., *i* accepts x_{t-1}^j if $x_{t-1}^j \leq 1 - E_{t-1}^i(\delta_t x_t^j)$.

Therefore, we conclude that the equilibrium strategy holds for all t.

2A.2 Equilibrium of the Alternative Game

Proposition 10 A strategy profile $\{\hat{S}^A, \hat{S}^B\}$ that satisfies the following conditions is a subgame perfect equilibrium of the alternative game.

1. In an even-numbered period t, player A rejects x_{t-1}^B if

$$x_{t-1}^B > 1 - E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}x_t^A),$$

and quotes

$$x_t^A = \max\left\{1 - \frac{E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+1}^B)}{E_t^B(\delta_{t+1})}, \frac{E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}\delta_{t+3}x_{t+2}^A)}{E_t^A(\delta_{t+1})}\right\}.$$
 (2A.8)

A accepts x_{t-1}^B otherwise.

2. In an odd-numbered period t, player B rejects x_{t-1}^A if

$$x_{t-1}^A > 1 - E_t^B(\delta_{t+1} x_t^B),$$

and quotes

$$x_t^B = \max\left\{1 - \frac{E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+1}^A)}{E_t^A(\delta_{t+1})}, \ \frac{E_t^B(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}\delta_{t+3}x_{t+2}^B)}{E_t^B(\delta_{t+1})}\right\}.$$
 (2A.9)

B accepts x_{t-1}^A otherwise.

Proof of Proposition 10:

By using the algorithm similar to the one used in the basic model, we derive the equilibrium of the alternative model. Hence, we work backwards from period T through a sequence of solutions to single stage optimization problems.

(i) In period (T-1) after observing δ_{T-1} , it is player B's turn to respond to A's action that was taken in period (T-2). B rejects x_{T-2}^A if his utility by accepting it in the current period is smaller than his expected payoff from period T; that is,

$$Q_{T-1}(1 - x_{T-2}^{A}) < E_{T-1}^{B}(Q_{T}(1 - x_{T}))$$

$$Q_{T-1}(1 - x_{T-2}^{A}) < E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T}Q_{T-1}(1 - x_{T}))$$

$$x_{T-2}^{A} > 1 - (1 - x_{T})E_{T-1}^{B}(\delta_{T}).$$

Then, B will quote x_{T-1}^B that satisfies

$$E_{T-1}^{A}(Q_{T}(1-x_{T-1}^{B})) \geq E_{T-1}^{A}(Q_{T}x_{T})$$

 $x_{T-1}^{B} \leq 1-x_{T},$

indicating that an offer that guarantees A's acceptance has to be smaller than or equal to $1 - x_T$, and

$$E_{T-1}^{B}(Q_{T}x_{T-1}^{B}) \geq E_{T-1}^{B}(Q_{T}(1-x_{T}))$$
$$x_{T-1}^{B} \geq 1-x_{T},$$

indicating that B needs to make an offer that is at least as large as $1 - x_T$ to grant himself a payoff not less than he is guaranteed to receive in period T. But B knows that it is meaningless for B to quote $x_{T-1}^B > 1 - x_T$ since it would only result in A's rejection without improving his payoff. Hence, the only offer B would make in the event of his rejecting x_{T-2}^A is $x_{T-1}^B = 1 - x_T$.

(ii) In period (T-2), it is player A's turn to respond to B's action from the previous period. A rejects x_{T-3}^B if

$$x_{T-3}^B > \min\left\{1 - E_{T-2}^A(\delta_{T-1}x_{T-2}^A), \ 1 - x_T E_{T-2}^A(\delta_T\delta_{T-1})\right\}.$$
(2A.10)

This is because A would reject x_{T-3}^B if accepting it in the current period gives her a payoff strictly smaller than her expected payoff from period (T-1); that is,

$$Q_{T-2}(1 - x_{T-3}^B) < E_{T-2}^A(Q_{T-1}x_{T-2}^A)$$

 $x_{T-3}^B > 1 - E_{T-2}^A(\delta_{T-1}x_{T-2}^A),$

or a payoff strictly smaller than her expected payoff from period T; that is,

$$Q_{T-2}(1 - x_{T-3}^B) < E_{T-2}^A(Q_T x_T)$$

 $x_{T-3}^B > 1 - x_T E_{T-2}^A(\delta_T \delta_{T-1})$

Given the condition 2A.10, A will quote x_{T-2}^A such that

$$x_{T-2}^{A} = \max\left\{1 - \frac{(1 - x_T)E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_T \delta_{T-1})}{E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1})}, \frac{x_T E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_T \delta_{T-1})}{E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1})}\right\}.$$
 (2A.11)

The first expression in the braces is due to the condition that guarantees B's acceptance; that is, $Q_{T-1}(1 - x_{T-2}^A) \ge E_{T-1}^B(Q_T(1 - x_T))$. Since in period (T-2) player A can infer this only in terms of her expectation given information up to period (T-2), the condition is in fact,

$$E_{T-2}^{B}(Q_{T-1}(1-x_{T-2}^{A})) \geq E_{T-2}^{B}(Q_{T}(1-x_{T}))$$
$$x_{T-2}^{A} \leq 1 - \frac{(1-x_{T})E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1})}{E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1})}.$$

The second expression in the braces is due to the condition that gives A a payoff in period (T-1) at least as much as that in period T; that is,

$$egin{array}{rll} E^A_{T-2}(Q_{T-1}x^A_{T-2})&\geq&E^A_{T-2}(Q_Tx_T)\ &&x^A_{T-2}&\geq&rac{x_TE^A_{T-2}(\delta_T\delta_{T-1})}{E^A_{T-2}(\delta_{T-1})}. \end{array}$$

This condition implies

$$E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}x_{T-2}^{A}) \geq E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}x_{T})$$
$$1 - E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}x_{T-2}^{A}) \leq 1 - E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}x_{T}).$$

Hence, the condition 2A.10 simplifies to

$$x_{T-3}^B > 1 - E_{T-2}^A(\delta_{T-1}x_{T-2}^A).$$
(2A.12)

(iii) In period (T-3), player B rejects x^A_{T-4} if

$$x_{T-4}^{A} > \min \left\{ 1 - E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-2}x_{T-3}^{B}), \ 1 - E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}(1 - x_{T-2}^{A})), \right.$$
$$\left. 1 - (1 - x_{T})E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}) \right\}.$$
(2A.13)

This is because B would reject x_{T-4}^A if accepting it in the current period gives him a payoff strictly smaller than his expected payoff from period (T-2); that is,

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{T-3}(1-x_{T-4}^{A}) &< E_{T-3}^{B}(Q_{T-2}x_{T-3}^{B}) \\ & x_{T-4}^{A} > 1 - E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-2}x_{T-3}^{B}), \end{aligned}$$

or a payoff strictly smaller than his expected payoff from period (T-1); that is,

$$Q_{T-3}(1 - x_{T-4}^{A}) < E_{T-3}^{B}(Q_{T-1}(1 - x_{T-2}^{A}))$$
$$x_{T-4}^{A} > 1 - E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}(1 - x_{T-2}^{A}))$$

or a payoff strictly smaller than his expected payoff from period T; that is,

$$Q_{T-3}(1 - x_{T-4}^{A}) < E_{T-3}^{B}(Q_{T}(1 - x_{T}))$$

$$x_{T-4}^{A} > 1 - (1 - x_{T})E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}).$$

Given the condition 2A.13, B will quote x^B_{T-3} such that

$$x_{T-3}^{B} = \max\left\{\frac{E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}(1-x_{T-2}^{A}))}{E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-2})}, \frac{E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}(1-x_{T}))}{E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-2})}, \\ \min\left\{1-\frac{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}x_{T-2}^{A})}{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-2})}, 1-\frac{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}x_{T})}{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-2})}\right\}\right\}.$$
 (2A.14)

This is because x_{T-3}^B has to satisfy the condition that it gives B a payoff at least as much as that in period (T-1); that is,

$$\begin{array}{rcl} E^B_{T-3}(Q_{T-2}x^B_{T-3}) & \geq & E^B_{T-3}(Q_{T-1}(1-x^A_{T-2})) \\ & x^B_{T-3} & \geq & \frac{E^B_{T-3}(\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}(1-x^A_{T-2}))}{E^B_{T-3}(\delta_{T-2})}, \end{array}$$

and a payoff at least as much as that in period T; that is,

$$E_{T-3}^B(Q_{T-2}x_{T-3}^B) \geq E_{T-3}^B(Q_T(1-x_T))$$
$$x_{T-3}^B \geq \frac{E_{T-3}^B(\delta_T\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}(1-x_T))}{E_{T-3}^B(\delta_{T-2})}.$$

The two conditions above give

$$x_{T-3}^B \ge \max\left\{\frac{E_{T-3}^B(\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}(1-x_{T-2}^A))}{E_{T-3}^B(\delta_{T-2})}, \frac{E_{T-3}^B(\delta_T\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}(1-x_T))}{E_{T-3}^B(\delta_{T-2})}\right\}.$$

But this simplifies to

$$x_{T-3}^B \ge \frac{E_{T-3}^B(\delta_T \delta_{T-1} \delta_{T-2}(1-x_T))}{E_{T-3}^B(\delta_{T-2})},$$
(2A.15)

because from (ii)

$$\begin{aligned} x_{T-2}^{A} &\geq 1 - \frac{E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T}))}{E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1})} \\ &E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T})) &\geq E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T-2}^{A})) \\ &E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-2}E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T}))) &\geq E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-2}E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T-2}^{A}))) \\ &\frac{E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}(1-x_{T}))}{E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-2})} &\geq \frac{E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}(1-x_{T-2}^{A}))}{E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-2})}. \end{aligned}$$

The last two steps are due to the fact that the information set in period (T-3) is included in that in period (T-2). The condition C-I that guarantees A's acceptance in period (T-1) indicates that x_{T-3}^B also has to satisfy the following.

$$Q_{T-2}(1 - x_{T-3}^B) \ge E_{T-2}^A(Q_{T-1}x_{T-2}^A),$$

and

$$Q_{T-2}(1-x_{T-3}^B) \ge E_{T-2}^A(Q_T x_T).$$

Since B has to infer these after observing the information up to period (T-3), the first condition becomes

$$E_{T-3}^{A}(Q_{T-2}(1-x_{T-3}^{B})) \geq E_{T-3}^{A}(Q_{T-1}x_{T-2}^{A})$$
$$x_{T-3}^{B} \leq 1 - \frac{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}x_{T-2}^{A})}{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-2})},$$

and the second condition becomes

$$E_{T-3}^{A}(Q_{T-2}(1-x_{T-3}^{B})) \geq E_{T-3}^{A}(Q_{T}x_{T})$$

$$x_{T-3}^{B} \leq 1 - \frac{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}x_{T})}{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-2})}.$$

The two conditions above give the condition

$$x_{T-3}^B \le \min\left\{1 - \frac{E_{T-3}^A(\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}x_{T-2}^A)}{E_{T-3}^A(\delta_{T-2})}, \ 1 - \frac{E_{T-3}^A(\delta_T\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}x_T)}{E_{T-3}^A(\delta_{T-2})}\right\}.$$

But this simplifies to

$$x_{T-3}^B \le 1 - \frac{E_{T-3}^A(\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}x_{T-2}^A)}{E_{T-3}^A(\delta_{T-2})},$$
(2A.16)

because from (ii)

$$\begin{aligned} x_{T-2}^{A} &\geq \frac{E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}x_{T})}{E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1})} \\ &E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}x_{T-2}^{A}) &\geq E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}x_{T}) \\ &\frac{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-2}E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-2}T))}{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-2})} &\geq \frac{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-2}E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}x_{T}))}{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-2})} \\ &1 - \frac{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-2}E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}x_{T-2}^{A}))}{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-2})} &\leq 1 - \frac{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-2}E_{T-2}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}x_{T}))}{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-2})}. \end{aligned}$$

From the conditions 2A.15 and 2A.16, the equation 2A.14 becomes

$$x_{T-3}^{B} = \max\left\{1 - \frac{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}x_{T-2}^{A})}{E_{T-3}^{A}(\delta_{T-2})}, \frac{E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}(1-x_{T}))}{E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-2})}\right\}.$$
 (2A.17)

Now the condition 2A.13 simplifies to

$$x_{T-4}^A > 1 - E_{T-3}^B(\delta_{T-2}x_{T-3}^B), (2A.18)$$

because the condition 2A.17 implies

$$\begin{aligned} x_{T-3}^B &\geq \frac{E_{T-3}^B(\delta_T \delta_{T-1} \delta_{T-2}(1-x_T))}{E_{T-3}^B(\delta_{T-2} x_{T-3}^B)} \\ &E_{T-3}^B(\delta_{T-2} x_{T-3}^B) &\geq E_{T-3}^B(\delta_T \delta_{T-1} \delta_{T-2}(1-x_T)) \\ &1 - E_{T-3}^B(\delta_{T-2} x_{T-3}^B) &\leq 1 - E_{T-3}^B(\delta_T \delta_{T-1} \delta_{T-2}(1-x_T)), \end{aligned}$$

and from (ii),

$$\begin{aligned} x_{T-2}^{A} &\geq 1 - \frac{E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T}))}{E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1})} \\ &E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T-2}^{A})) &\leq E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T})) \\ &E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-2}E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T-2}^{A}))) &\leq E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-2}E_{T-2}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}(1-x_{T}))) \\ &1 - E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}(1-x_{T-2}^{A})) &\geq 1 - E_{T-3}^{B}(\delta_{T}\delta_{T-1}\delta_{T-2}(1-x_{T})). \end{aligned}$$

(*iv*) Suppose that the equilibrium strategy prescribed in the proposition holds for periods t through (T-1). We need to show that the strategies in period (t-1) follow those of the equilibrium, i.e., player j rejects x_{t-2}^i if $x_{t-2}^i > 1 - E_{t-1}^j(\delta_t x_{t-1}^j)$, and in the event of rejection he offers

$$x_{t-1}^{j} = \max\left\{1 - \frac{E_{t-1}^{i}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}x_{t}^{i})}{E_{t-1}^{i}(\delta_{t})}, \frac{E_{t-1}^{j}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+1}^{j})}{E_{t-1}^{j}(\delta_{t})}\right\}.$$

Condition C–I indicates that j's offer has to satisfy

$$\begin{aligned} x_{t-1}^{j} &\leq \min\left\{1 - \frac{E_{t-1}^{i}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}x_{t}^{i})}{E_{t-1}^{i}(\delta_{t})}, 1 - \frac{E_{t-1}^{i}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}(1-x_{t+1}^{j}))}{E_{t-1}^{i}(\delta_{t})}, \\ &1 - \frac{E_{t-1}^{i}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}\delta_{t+3}x_{t+2}^{i})}{E_{t-1}^{i}(\delta_{t})}, 1 - \frac{E_{t-1}^{i}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}\delta_{t+3}\delta_{t+4}(1-x_{t+3}^{j}))}{E_{t-1}^{i}(\delta_{t})}, \cdots\right\} \end{aligned}$$

By the induction hypothesis and an application of the law of iterated mathematical expectations, we have $x_{t-1}^j \leq 1 - \frac{E_{t-1}^i(\delta_t \delta_{t+1} x_t^i)}{E_{t-1}^i(\delta_t)}$.

Condition C–II indicates that j's offer has to satisfy

$$\begin{aligned} x_{t-1}^{j} &\geq \max \left\{ \frac{E_{t-1}^{j}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}(1-x_{t}^{i}))}{E_{t-1}^{j}(\delta_{t})}, \frac{E_{t-1}^{j}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+1}^{j})}{E_{t-1}^{j}(\delta_{t})}, \\ & \quad \frac{E_{t-1}^{j}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}\delta_{t+3}(1-x_{t+2}^{i}))}{E_{t-1}^{j}(\delta_{t})}, \frac{E_{t-1}^{j}(\delta_{t}\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}\delta_{t+3}\delta_{t+4}x_{t+3}^{j})}{E_{t-1}^{j}(\delta_{t})}, \cdots \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

By the induction hypothesis and an application of the law of iterated mathematical expectations, we have $x_{t-1}^j \ge \frac{E_{t-1}^j(\delta_t \delta_{t+1} \delta_{t+2} x_{t+1}^j)}{E_{t-1}^j(\delta_t)}$.

Consequently, player j's offer strategy in period (t-1) is

$$x_{t-1}^j = \max\left\{1 - rac{E_{t-1}^i(\delta_t \delta_{t+1} x_t^i)}{E_{t-1}^i(\delta_t)}, rac{E_{t-1}^j(\delta_t \delta_{t+1} \delta_{t+2} x_{t+1}^j)}{E_{t-1}^j(\delta_t)}
ight\},$$

as desired. By construction we know that player j's acceptance decision follows the strategy based on a unique reservation value, i.e., j accepts x_{t-2}^i if $x_{t-2}^i \leq 1 - E_{t-1}^j(\delta_t x_{t-1}^j)$.

Therefore, we conclude that the equilibrium strategy holds for all t.

Chapter 3

Simulations of Stochastic Bargaining Games

We construct simulated negotiation processes and investigate the effects of variations in parameter values on bargaining outcomes. The structures of the games are the ones studied in Chapter 2.¹ Equilibrium strategies simulated here are the ones derived in Proposition 1 for Basic bargaining games and Proposition 10 for Alternative bargaining games. The bargaining environment is defined by utilizing statistical tools. We also attempt to provide behavioral simulation models for bargaining in the sense that we are modeling each agent's decision process based on the specified behavior rules. The behavioral assumptions made in our bargaining games help to realize such an attempt. According to the definitions of the games, the simulation is designed in such a way that the bargaining flow is governed by the initial environment, specified behavioral rules of the agents, and the information flow. Such

¹Notations in this chapter are kept consistent with those used in Chapter 2.

simulations help us identify bargaining durations in negotiations with various parameter values and make predictions on the outcomes of similar situations in actual bargaining settings.

The factor that affects the asset value is influenced by a variable that takes a value of either one or zero in our first model, the Autoregressive Binomial Model. Such a factor is derived from a continuous distribution in our second model, the Generalized Wiener Process Model. The agent's decision is made by taking into account this newly arrived information. The behavioral rules in taking an action were given as conditions C–I and C–II in the previous chapter. They are repeated below.

- C-I In the event of the respondent's accepting the current offer, the respondent receives at least as much as what the respondent expects to receive in any future period.
- C-II In the event of the respondent's accepting the current offer, the proposer receives at least as much as what the proposer expects to receive in any future period.

The assumption of complete information assures that each agent has an access to the identical information as soon as it becomes available to the negotiating environment. We allow the possibility of different initial beliefs on unknown parameter values that can result from different interpretations of the same information among the players prior to the negotiation. This is to reflect a variety of speculation processes and different levels of expectations due to diversified human characteristics. Once the bargaining process begins, agents' behavior is consistent in that they use Bayes' rule whenever possible to update their conjecture on the future information flow that affects the value of the asset. We first describe in the next section the statistical specification of the binomial bargaining model in detail. Computational methods and the data structure are explained later.² The results of the binomial model, including findings on comparative statics, are given below. Then we investigate the continuous distribution model in the rest of the chapter.

3.1 The Binomial Distribution Model

We first simulate the case in which the information variable δ s constitute a first-order autoregressive series.³ Though we are aware that the information in actual negotiation situations may have a very complex correlation structure, we attempt to study the case of the first-order dependency structure with a stochastic factor that follows a binomial distribution as a simple approximation to the reality. Later, we will provide a specification of the model with identically and independently distributed δ s.

3.1.1 The Autocorrelation Model

Let us consider a case of autocorrelated δs with perfect observation such that

$$\delta_{t+1} = \rho \delta_t + \varepsilon_{t+1}, \ |\rho| < 1,$$

where ε_t s are mutually stochastically independent⁴ and

 $\varepsilon \sim binomial(1,\theta), \ \theta \in (0,1),$

 $^{^{2}}$ An additional description is also provided in the beginning of the simulation codes included in Appendix 3C.1 and 3C.2.

³We address such models as autocorrelation models or autoregressive binomial models in our research. ⁴Hence, $\{\varepsilon_t\}$ is a stationary process, in that the transition (probability) matrix is independent of time.

and

$$\theta \sim \beta eta(\alpha, \beta),$$

with positive constants α and β . We will use α_A and β_A to characterize player A and α_B and β_B to characterize player B. This will allow us to incorporate the possibility of different priors about parameter values, indicating that the two players can have different expectations on the future value of the asset. Let us for now use α and β for a generic player.

We consider ε as a message regarding the information that affects the asset value. When ε becomes available in the negotiating environment, it is instantaneously passed to both agents. Notice that we assume that the players do not know the value of θ , the probability that ε takes the value 1. Let $X = \sum_{\tau=1}^{t} \varepsilon_{\tau}$. Then $X \sim binomial(t, \theta)$. Hence, the conditional probability density function of X, given $\Theta = \theta$, is

$$f(x|\theta) = \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} t \\ x \end{pmatrix} \theta^x (1-\theta)^{t-x} & \text{if } x = 0, 1, \cdots, t \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where the prior probability density function of the random variable Θ is given as

$$g(heta) = \left\{egin{array}{c} rac{\Gamma(lpha+eta)}{\Gamma(lpha)\Gamma(eta)} heta^{lpha-1}(1- heta)^{eta-1} & 0 < heta < 1 \ 0 & ext{otherwise.} \end{array}
ight.$$

After observing a piece of information δ_t in period t, the players update their beliefs about the value of θ by using Bayes' rule, so that they can compute the expected value of δ_{t+1} . The joint probability density function of X and Θ is given by $f(x|\theta)g(\theta)$ and the marginal probability density function of X is

$$h_1(x) = \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} t \\ x \end{pmatrix} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+x)\Gamma(t+\beta-x)}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(t+\alpha+\beta)} & \text{if } x = 0, 1, \cdots, t \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Therefore, the conditional probability density function of Θ , given X = x, is

$$h(\theta|x) = \frac{f(x|\theta)g(\theta)}{h_1(x)}.$$

Hence, the prior mean of the distribution of Θ is expressed as

$$E_0(\theta) = \frac{\alpha}{\alpha + \beta}$$

while the posterior mean of the conditional distribution of Θ , given X = x, is

$$E_t(\theta|x) = \int_0^1 \theta h(\theta|x) d\theta$$
$$= \frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^t \varepsilon_{\tau}}{\alpha + \beta + t}.$$

It follows that the expected value of δ_{t+1} after observing the information in period t is computed as

$$E_t(\delta_{t+1}) = \rho \delta_t + E_t(\varepsilon_{t+1}),$$

where

$$E_t(\varepsilon_{t+1}) = 1 \cdot E_t \left(\theta \left| \sum_{\tau=1}^t \varepsilon_\tau \right) + 0 \cdot \left(1 - E_t(\theta | \sum_{\tau=1}^t \varepsilon_\tau) \right) \right.$$
$$= E_t \left(\theta \left| \sum_{\tau=1}^t \varepsilon_\tau \right) \right.$$
$$= \frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^t \varepsilon_\tau}{\alpha + \beta + t}.$$

In general, the expected value of the product of lagged δs and xs are computed by

$$\begin{split} E_t(\delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}) \\ &= \delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}|_{\varepsilon^t,\varepsilon_{t+1}=0} \cdot pr\{\varepsilon_{t+1}=0|\varepsilon^t\} \\ &+ \delta_{t+1}x_{t+1}|_{\varepsilon^t,\varepsilon_{t+1}=1} \cdot pr\{\varepsilon_{t+1}=1|\varepsilon^t\}, \end{split}$$

 and

$$\begin{split} E_t(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}) \\ &= \delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}|_{\varepsilon^t,\varepsilon_{t+1}=0,\varepsilon_{t+2}=0} \cdot pr\{\varepsilon_{t+2}=0|\varepsilon^t,\varepsilon_{t+1}=0\} \cdot pr\{\varepsilon_{t+1}=0|\varepsilon^t\} \\ &+ \delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}|_{\varepsilon^t,\varepsilon_{t+1}=0,\varepsilon_{t+2}=1} \cdot pr\{\varepsilon_{t+2}=1|\varepsilon^t,\varepsilon_{t+1}=0\} \cdot pr\{\varepsilon_{t+1}=0|\varepsilon^t\} \\ &+ \delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}|_{\varepsilon^t,\varepsilon_{t+1}=1,\varepsilon_{t+2}=0} \cdot pr\{\varepsilon_{t+2}=0|\varepsilon^t,\varepsilon_{t+1}=1\} \cdot pr\{\varepsilon_{t+1}=1|\varepsilon^t\} \\ &+ \delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}x_{t+2}|_{\varepsilon^t,\varepsilon_{t+1}=1,\varepsilon_{t+2}=1} \cdot pr\{\varepsilon_{t+2}=1|\varepsilon^t,\varepsilon_{t+1}=1\} \cdot pr\{\varepsilon_{t+1}=1|\varepsilon^t\}, \end{split}$$

where

$$pr\{\varepsilon_{t+2} = 0|\varepsilon^{t}, \varepsilon_{t+1} = 0\} \cdot pr\{\varepsilon_{t+1} = 0|\varepsilon^{t}\}$$

$$+pr\{\varepsilon_{t+2} = 1|\varepsilon^{t}, \varepsilon_{t+1} = 0\} \cdot pr\{\varepsilon_{t+1} = 0|\varepsilon^{t}\}$$

$$+pr\{\varepsilon_{t+2} = 0|\varepsilon^{t}, \varepsilon_{t+1} = 1\} \cdot pr\{\varepsilon_{t+1} = 1|\varepsilon^{t}\}$$

$$+pr\{\varepsilon_{t+2} = 1|\varepsilon^{t}, \varepsilon_{t+1} = 1\} \cdot pr\{\varepsilon_{t+1} = 1|\varepsilon^{t}\}$$

$$= \left(1 - \frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^{t} \varepsilon_{\tau}}{\alpha + \beta + t + 1}\right) \cdot \left(1 - \frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^{t} \varepsilon_{\tau}}{\alpha + \beta + t}\right)$$

$$+ \left(\frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^{t} \varepsilon_{\tau}}{\alpha + \beta + t + 1}\right) \cdot \left(1 - \frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^{t} \varepsilon_{\tau}}{\alpha + \beta + t}\right)$$

$$+ \left(1 - \frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^{t} \varepsilon_{\tau} + 1}{\alpha + \beta + t + 1}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^{t} \varepsilon_{\tau}}{\alpha + \beta + t}\right)$$

$$+ \left(\frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^{t} \varepsilon_{\tau} + 1}{\alpha + \beta + t + 1}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^{t} \varepsilon_{\tau}}{\alpha + \beta + t}\right)$$

$$= 1.$$

 ε^t is a sequence of ε s up to and including period t. Note that in computing the value of δ , the order of realized ε s matters.

For example, the expected value of lagged δs may be computed by⁵

$$\begin{split} E_t(\delta_{t+1}\delta_{t+2}) \\ &= E_t\left((\rho\delta_t + \varepsilon_{t+1})(\rho\delta_{t+1} + \varepsilon_{t+2})\right) \\ &= E_t\left((\rho\delta_t + \varepsilon_{t+1})(\rho^2\delta_t + \rho\varepsilon_{t+1} + \varepsilon_{t+2})\right) \\ &= \rho^3\delta_t^2 + 2\rho^2\delta_t E_t(\varepsilon_{t+1}) + \rho\delta_t E_t(\varepsilon_{t+2}) + \rho E_t(\varepsilon_{t+1}^2) + E_t(\varepsilon_{t+1}\varepsilon_{t+2}), \end{split}$$

where

$$E_t(\varepsilon_{t+1}\varepsilon_{t+2}|\sum_{\tau=1}^t \varepsilon_{\tau})$$

$$= \frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^t \varepsilon_{\tau}}{\alpha + \beta + t} \cdot \left[\frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^t \varepsilon_{\tau} + 1}{\alpha + \beta + t + 1} \cdot \frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^t \varepsilon_{\tau}}{\alpha + \beta + t} + \frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^t \varepsilon_{\tau}}{\alpha + \beta + t + 1} \cdot \left(1 - \frac{\alpha + \sum_{\tau=1}^t \varepsilon_{\tau}}{\alpha + \beta + t} \right) \right].$$

3.1.2 The I.I.D. Model

In this section we briefly outline one example of possible I.I.D. model specifications by using the statistical tools applied in the autocorrelation model in the previous section. Here the information variable δ s are identically and independently distributed. The results of this I.I.D. model simulations are not reported in this version, since they do not add prominently

⁵For example, a lagged expectation of ε s such as $E_1(\varepsilon_2\varepsilon_3|\varepsilon_1=1)$ is computed by

$$\begin{split} E_1(\varepsilon_2\varepsilon_3|\varepsilon_1=1) &= E_1(\varepsilon_2|\varepsilon_1=1)E_1(\varepsilon_3|\varepsilon_1=1) \\ &= prob\{\varepsilon_2=1|\varepsilon_1=1\} \cdot (E_1(\varepsilon_3|\varepsilon_1=1,\varepsilon_2=1)prob\{\varepsilon_2=1|\varepsilon_1=1\} \\ &+ E_1(\varepsilon_3|\varepsilon_1=1,\varepsilon_2=0)prob\{\varepsilon_2=0|\varepsilon_1=1\}) \\ &= \frac{\alpha+1}{\alpha+\beta+1} \cdot \left[\frac{\alpha+2}{\alpha+\beta+2} \cdot \frac{\alpha+1}{\alpha+\beta+1} + \frac{\alpha+1}{\alpha+\beta+2} \cdot \left(1 - \frac{\alpha+1}{\alpha+\beta+1}\right)\right]. \end{split}$$

different interpretations on the relations between bargaining durations and other parameter values from the findings on the autocorrelation model.

Let us define each δ as a sum of a prespecified constant and a variable that follows a Bernoulli trial.

$$\delta = \rho + \eta, \ \rho \in (0,1),$$

where

$$\eta \sim binomial(1,\theta), \ \theta \in (0,1),$$

 and

 $\theta \sim \beta eta(\alpha, \beta),$

with predetermined positive constants α and β . θ here is the probability that η takes the value 1, and the players have prior beliefs on the value of θ . Therefore, δ can be greater than 1 if η takes a value 1, given $\rho \in (0, 1)$. The rest of the description of this model is analogous to that of the autocorrelation model.

3.1.3 Design and Data Structures

We design the autocorrelation model as a full binary tree, which is symmetric and whose depth T + 1 is determined by an exogenously given final period number, T.⁶ Hence, the tree has a total of $(2^{T+1}-1)$ nodes, with each node having a degree no larger than 2. Each

⁶We frequently use T = 18 as a maximum possible number of negotiations in exhibits that follow. Since T = 18 indicates $2^{18} = 262144$ possible *states* in the terminal period T, we think that increasing T over 18 to create a higher diversity is not necessary for our purposes. In addition, as T becomes large, the reliability of the backward induction algorithm becomes questionable due to correspondingly more involved hypotheses. Also the standard deviation of the forecast error grows as the forcast horizon increases, resulting in wider confidence intervals. The total number of nodes in the tree when T = 18 is $2^{19} - 1 = 524287$.


Figure 3.1: The Binary Tree of Depth 3 with Sequential Node I.D. Number

level of the tree coincides with each period t, with the first level associated with period 0. Since such a tree is *complete*⁷, we can assign a unique identification number to each node from 1 to $(2^{T+1} - 1)$ in a systematic manner. Given an id number, we can find a unique path, which is defined as a sequence of observed ε s, to reach a node that is identified with the id number. Hence, this numbering scheme enables us to reach any node in the tree, given an address of its root node and the id number, without using a recursive coding. At the root node the initial conditions such as the value of δ_0 and ρ are given. We use a linked representation, where each child of a parent node of period t is associated with the state that ε_{t+1} is either 0 or 1. An example of the tree with T = 2 is shown in Figure 3.1.

Each node in the tree is defined by data structure node and contains the following

⁷Consider a numbering scheme such that starting with the root node with number one we sequentially number nodes on each level from one side to the other. A binary tree with N nodes and a depth T + 1 is *complete* if and only if its nodes correspond to the nodes which are numbered one to N in the full binary tree of depth T + 1.

information.

struct node	
{	
long unsigned int id;	/* ID number of each node, 1, 2, 3,, $2^{(T+1)} - 1$. */
unsigned int t;	/* Period number, $t = 1, 2, 3,, T. */$
float delta;	/* Ex-post δ value, i.e., δ_t . */
float PA0;	$/* P_t^A \{ \varepsilon_{t+1} = 0 \varepsilon^t \}. * /$
float PB0;	$/* P_t^B \{ \varepsilon_{t+1} = 0 \varepsilon^t \}. */$
float PA1;	$/* P_t^A \{ \varepsilon_{t+1} = 1 \varepsilon^t \}. */$
float PB1;	$/* P_t^B \{ \varepsilon_{t+1} = 1 \varepsilon^t \}. */$
float X;	/* Current offer. */
float $\mathbf{Q};$	/* Current asset value. */
unsigned int sum_e;	$/* \sum_{\tau=1}^{t} \varepsilon_{\tau}$. */
unsigned int R;	/* Response strategy : 1 for accept, 0 for reject. */
unsigned int flag;	/* 0 if no trade before t , 1 otherwise. */
struct node *left;	/* Pointer to a left child, i.e., a node with $\varepsilon_{t+1} = 0$ */
struct node *right;	/* Pointer to a right child, i.e., a node with $\varepsilon_{t+1} = 1 * /$
struct node *parent;	/* Pointer to a parent. $*/$
}	

The codes for the simulation of the Basic bargaining game, along with more details on design and data structures, are included in Appendix 3C.1.⁸ This binomial tree procedure is also used with the I.I.D. model.

3.1.4 Results and Comparative Statics

The Basic Game

Tables 3.1 through 3.3^9 show three simulation results of the Autoregressive Binomial model's Basic game with T = 4. Offers and responses are made by following the behavioral assumptions we made in the previous section. Given such equilibrium strategies, the players compute their expected payoffs from trading in the future, which also appear in the ta-

⁸The program in the appendix shows a core part of the codes, on which we have made numerous modifications to obtain various different versions to generate data sets.

⁹All the tables relevant to Chapter 3 are included in Appendix 3A. Appendix 3A.1 contains tables for Autoregressive Binomial Models, while Appendix 3A.2 contains those for Wiener Process Models.

bles. These exhibits clarify how the delays are generated by players' speculation on value increases in the future in our Basic bargaining model. Exhibit 1 provides an example of an immediate trade despite that the players have identical priors about the information flow. In this case both players are not very optimistic about the possibility of the value increase later on, as it is reflected in low probabilities they assign for the future ε to be one.¹⁰ In period 0, player B's highest expected continuation payoff is the one in period 1, which is 0.461687. Since player A's offer in period 0 guarantees B as much as B's highest expected payoff in the future, B has no reason to reject the current offer. Hence, the acceptance occurs in period 0 with A receiving 0.738313 and B receiving 0.461687. Note that proposer A has extracted the surplus in excess of her maximum reservation payoff despite that both A and B are assumed to have the same preferences over the future.

In Exhibit 2, the players again have identical priors about the information flow. But both of them are more optimistic about the future value of the asset than in the case of Exhibit 1, so that we now observe a delay before agreement. In period 0, player *B* would receive nothing if he accepts the current offer,¹¹ while his expected payoffs in period 1, 3, and 4 are positive. Hence, *B* rejects the offer in period 0, and the game continues to period 1. In period 1, if the information they have observed is $\varepsilon_1 = 0$, then *A* would accept *B*'s offer to receive 0.143430 that is as high as *A*'s any expected continuation payoff in the following periods given $\varepsilon_1 = 0$. On the contrary, if they have observed $\varepsilon_1 = 1$ as new information, then both players would maintain their optimistic views and there would be another delay. The game proceeds as it is described in the table.

¹⁰Both players assign probability 0.25 to the event $\varepsilon_1 = 1$.

¹¹In the table, this appears as a negative number, owing to the ridiculous offer player A has made to generate a delay.

Exhibit 3 is the case in which an agreement does not occur immediately despite a big difference among players' beliefs. In this exhibit, player B is more optimistic than player A about the future asset value. B assigns a probability 0.67 to the information in period 1 being 1, while A assigns a probability 0.25, indicating that B has higher incentive to delay than A does. Accepting the current offer would give B a payoff of 0.904373, which is very high compared to what the proposer A would receive, that is 0.295627. However, B foresees the possibility of even higher payoffs in future periods, that are period 1, 3, and 4. Hence, B rejects the offer in period 0, and the game continues.

In general, as the predetermined maximum length of negotiation process increases, we can observe more delay before reaching an agreement. The bargaining duration, however, is not sensitive to the change of the maximum length if both players are pessimistic about the future value of the asset. By pessimistic, we refer to the characteristics of players who assign low initial priors for the first information, ε_1 , being one. and/or to the environment with low initial values of parameters such as ρ and δ_0 . Exhibit 4 in Table 3.4 uses the same parameter values as Exhibit 3, except that the maximum length of time T is 2 in Exhibit 4. Player A's initial belief of $\varepsilon_1 = 1$ is 0.25, and we consider her view as pessimistic. On the other hand, relatively optimistic B assigns probability 0.67. Hence, this is the case that two players have different beliefs about the information flow, with one person being very optimistic. In Exhibit 3, we observed that the first offer made by player A in period 0 was rejected by player B, resulting in a delay. On the other hand, Exhibit 4 shows an immediate agreement in period 0. Figure 3.3 shows the relationship between the changes in T and bargaining durations with the other parameter values identical to the ones in

Exhibits 3 and 4. Z-axis indicates frequencies of agreement in each period.¹²

Similarly, if both players are optimistic, then the duration shows sensitivity to the changes in T even when the environment is not very promissing. In Figure 3.4, neither A nor B has a very pessimistic view about the future value of the asset, with A assigning probability 0.57 and B assigning 0.45 to the first information to be one. Notice also that the values of ρ and δ_0 are low to begin with. As it appears in the figure, however, as long as both players are reasonably optimistic, then the bargaining duration is sensitive to T.¹³ In addition. Figure 3.5 gives another example of how sensitive the duration can be if both players are not very pessimistic and the initial environment is also promissing with large values of ρ and δ_0 . The bargaining duration becomes longer as its horizon increases. For example, with T = 6 the first agreement can be reached in period 3, while with T = 18 the first possible agreement is in period 10. However, if both players are pessimistic, then we observe high agreement frequencies in earlier periods. Figure 3.6 shows such an example, in which an agreement is reached immediately in period 0 in the cases with T = 2 through T = 10.

Figures 3.7 and 3.8 show how differences in players' initial beliefs affect bargaining durations. In Figure 3.7, A has an optimistic view, while B's view is varied from optimistic

¹²All the figures relevant to Chapter 3 are included in Appendix 3B.1, 3B.2, and 3B.3. Appendix 3B.1 contains Figures 3.3 through 3.18, which are figures for Auroregressive Binomial Models. The frequency on Z-axis in the figures are computed in such a way that the total number of agreements is divided by the total number of states in a given period. We consider such a frequency as an *unconditional* frequency since it counts even unreachable nodes in the bargaining tree. Appendix 3B.2 contains Figures 3.19 through 3.34, which are also figures for Autoregressive Binomial Models. But they have *conditional* frequencies on Z-axis, in that we ignore irrelevant states or unreachable nodes in the tree. Parameter values used in the figures in Appendix 3B.2 are analogous to the ones in Appendix 3B.1. Appendix 3B.2 is provided as an additional reference. Appendix 3B.3 contains Figures 3.35 through 3.46, which are figures for Wiener Process Models studied in the next section. The frequencies used in the figures in Appendix 3B.3 are *conditional*, where we ignore unreachable nodes.

¹³Also notice that the environment with low ρ and δ_0 results in higher frequencies of agreements in a period corresponding to that in the more promising environment.

to pessimistic.¹⁴ Frequencies of agreement show slight tendencies to increase as B's view becomes pessimistic at a given period except for period 0 and 1. In Figure 3.8, A has a pessimistic view, while B's view is varied from optimistic to pessimistic. The relationship between the frequencies of agreement and the variation in B's view are very similar to that of Figure 3.7, except that frequencies of agreement are higher in Figure 3.8 than in Figure 3.7 in any given period. Again, this is a consequence of pessimistic players' incentive to come to an early agreement.

In Figure 3.9 we provide four cases in which ρ is varied from 0.1 through 0.9 to reflect a change in the environment that influences the asset value. These four cases differ in the players' prior beliefs.¹⁵ Case 1 is an example with optimistic A and B, Case 2 is with pessimistic A and B, Case 3 is with optimistic A and pesimistic B, and Case 4 is with pessimistic A and optimistic B. As it is clear from the figures, all of the four cases show the tendency of longer delays as ρ increases; that is, the environment becomes more promising on the value increase. For example, in Case 1 the first possible agreement can be reached in period 0 with $\rho = 0.1$, while the first possible agreement is in period 4 with $\rho = 0.6$. The figures also indicate that the frequencies of agreement in any given period decrease as ρ increases. For example, in Case 4 the frequency of agreement in period 4 with $\rho = 0.1$ is 1.0, while it is 0.0625 with $\rho = 0.7$. These findings are intuitive, since it is a hopeful speculation for a value increase that generates delays.

Figure 3.10 shows four cases in which A's predetermined default share x_T varies from

¹⁴The value of β_B , which appears on the x-axis labeled "Beta_B," is varied from 1 through 3.8 by the interval of 0.4. This indicates B's initial beliefs are changed from 0.67 to 0.34, i.e., the probability B assigns to the event $\varepsilon_1 = 1$ is varied from 0.67 to 0.34.

¹⁵In Case 1 A's prior is 0.67 and B's prior is 0.75, in Case 2 they are 0.25 and 0.29, in Case 3 they are 0.67 and 0.25, and in Case 4 they are 0.25 and 0.67, respectively.

0.1 through 0.9. The prior beliefs of the players in the four cases correspond to those in Figure 3.9. In Case 1 and 2 we do not observe much sensitivity in the bargaining duration and frequencies of agreement in a given period as the value of x_T changes. These are the cases in which players are both optimistic and are both pessimistic, respectively. In Case 3 and 4, small changes in the frequencies of agreement is observed. A is optimistic and B is pessimistic in Case 3, in which the frequencies of agreement in a given period decrease gradually and a delay becomes longer as x_T increases. Hence, this is a case that the environment that is increasingly promising to A generates a longer duration despite that a pessimistic in Case 4, in which the frequency increases and a delay becomes shorter as x_T increases. This is a case that as the environment becomes more and more unfavorable to B, an optimistic B wants to generate an early agreement. Optimistic players seem to have more control over durations than pessimistic players. Consequently, when the two players' views sufficiently differ from each other, the bargaining duration shows more sensitivity to the change in x_T .

The Alternative Game

In Alternative bargaining games, a responder has another chance to observe information that is not available when a proposer makes an offer.¹⁶ Exhibit 5 in Table 3.5 shows the outcome of the Alternative game by using the same parameter values as the ones used in Exhibit 3 in Table 3.3. Note that an agreement in period 1 is considered as an immediate

¹⁶Note that the reservation values included in columns labeled "Beliefs" are the reservation values for determining the response. Recall that reservation values that a proposing party uses in Alternative games are different from those in the Basic games, due to the added uncertainty. Refer to the equilibrium concept section in Chapter 2.

agreement in Alternative games due to the structure of the game. The first offer made by A is rejected by B in Exhibit 3, since B's expected payoffs from period 1, 3, and 4 are higher than what he would receive by accepting the current offer. In Exhibit 5, however, the first offer is accepted by B in period 1 if he has observed $\varepsilon_1 = 0$. After B has observed the information in period 1, he has updated his beliefs about the future payoffs before he responds. His expected payoffs from the remaining periods, which are 0.133601 in period 2, 0.108138 in period 3, and 0.133601 in period 3, are lower than what he is guaranteed to receive in period 1 that is 0.165822. Consequently, he has no incentive to wait until later if he has observed 0 in period 1. If he has observed $\varepsilon_1 = 1$ instead, then he still maintains this optimistic view about the future value, so that the game continues.

Figures 3.11 through 3.18 show examples of Autoregressive Binomial model's Alternative game simulations and use the same parameter values corresponding to Figures 3.3 through 3.10, respectively. In Figures 3.11 through 3.14, it is observed that bargaining durations are longer as the predetermined bargaining horizon becomes larger. This finding is consistent with the finding of the Basic game.¹⁷ It has to be noted, however, that the frequencies of agreements in a given T in Alternative games do not increase monotonically especially in the earlier periods. For example, in Figure 3.11 frequencies in some earlier even-numbered periods are lower than those in their preceding odd-numbered periods. Similar relationships are found far less frequently in the examples of Basic games. Pessimistic views of the players generate higher frequencies of agreements even in earlier periods as observed in Figure 3.14. In the promising environment with high values of ρ and δ_0 , as given in Figure

¹⁷Also note that the frequencies of agreements in a given period in an environment with low ρ and δ_0 are higher than that in the more promising environment.

3.13, bargaining durations are very sensitive to the changes in the predetermined bargaining horizon and significant delays are generated as T increases.

Figures 3.15 and 3.16 show the relationship between the difference in priors and the frequencies of agreement that are very similar to that of the Basic game, except that each agreement frequency in the Alternative game is far lower than that in the Basic game in any given period. In other words, the structure of Alternative game is likely to generate longer bargaining durations. Such relations are also observed in Figure 3.17 in comparison to Figure 3.9, regarding the relationship between the value of ρ and the agreement frequencies.

We observe an interesting feature in the results given in Figure 3.18 on the relation between x_T and the frequencies, which are not observed in the Basic game's counterpart given in Figure 3.10. In all of the four cases we observe increasing trade frequencies in evennumbered periods and decreasing frequencies in odd-numbered periods as x_T increases. This may attribute to B's incentive to come to an early agreement, so that B makes an offer that is acceptable to A before reaching the final period. That means that B finds a current payoff higher than the payoff he expects to receive when the predetermined default share is realized.

3.2 The Continuous Distribution Model

In this section we provide another example, in which the state evolves according to a continuous distribution. In order to model the behavior of the asset value in our bargaining games, we consider a stochastic process that is frequently used to study stock prices. It is a particular type of Markov stochastic process used in physics to describe the motion of a particle that is referred to as Brownian motion.¹⁸

3.2.1 The Geometric Brownian Motion (Wiener Process) Model

Let us suppose that a sequence of asset values, $\{Q_{\tau}\}_{\tau=0}^{T}$, can be represented by a generalized Wiener process. In other words, the asset value can be described by an expected drift rate and a variance rate. Such a process can be expressed as¹⁹

$$\frac{dQ_{t-1}}{Q_{t-1}} = \mu_t dt + \sigma \varepsilon_t \sqrt{dt},\tag{3.1}$$

where

 $\varepsilon \sim N(0,1).$

 μ is the expected rate of value increase per unit time, and σ is the volatility of the value and we assume that it is a constant. Hence, the second term on the right-hand side of the equation $\sigma \varepsilon \sqrt{dt}$ is the stochastic component of the value change. We assume that σ s are exogenously determined and known to the players. It is also assumed that ε_t s are independent. In the model a length of each period, dt, is specifically incorporated in computing the asset value changes. But we note that the bargaining duration in terms of the number of negotiation periods is not sensitive to a change in the length of the interval in our bargaining games.

¹⁸For detailed introduction of the Wiener process, refer to Chapter 2 in Krylov (1995).

¹⁹The equation 3.1 is a widely used model of stock price behavior, where μ is referred to as the expected rate of return and σ is referred to as the stock price volatility.

Let us define ΔQ_{t-1} as a change in the asset value in a small time interval Δt such that

$$\Delta Q_{t-1} = Q_t - Q_{t-1}.$$

Then the discrete version of the equation 3.1 can be written as²⁰

$$\frac{\Delta Q_{t-1}}{Q_{t-1}} = \mu_t \Delta t + \sigma_t \varepsilon_t \sqrt{\Delta t}.$$

It follows that the information shock δ_t is expressed by

$$\delta_t = \frac{Q_t}{Q_{t-1}}$$
$$= \frac{Q_{t-1} + \Delta Q_{t-1}}{Q_{t-1}}$$
$$= 1 + \mu_t \Delta t + \sigma_t \varepsilon_t \sqrt{\Delta t}.$$

We also assume that μ s are independently and identically distributed random variables with

$$\mu \sim N(\theta, \varphi)$$

and the value of μ_t is linearly related to the value of ε_t .

Note that the value of θ is unknown to the players, whereas the value of φ is known. Each player has a prior belief on θ that can be expressed in terms of a normal distribution, so that

$$\theta \sim N(\theta_0^A, \varphi_0^A)$$

²⁰Note that with this formulation we consider a fixed length of time interval for each period, which is not the case in the binomial model examples given in the earlier section.

and

$$\theta \sim N(\theta_0^B, \varphi_0^B)$$

characterize player A and B, respectively. We use θ_t and φ_t to indicate a generic player's beliefs in period t. The players observe μ_t in period t, and use it to compute the information shock δ_t and to update their beliefs on the value of θ by using Bayes' rule for formulating their strategies. The initial probability density function, conditional on the information available before the game begins, is given by

$$p(\theta|\mu_{-1}) = \frac{p(\theta) p(\mu_{-1}|\theta)}{\int p(\theta) p(\mu_{-1}|\theta) d\theta}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\varphi_0}} exp\left(-\frac{(\theta-\theta_0)^2}{2\varphi_0}\right)$$

where μ_{-1} indicates the initial information that a player possesses to form his prior beliefs. The posterior probability density function is given by

$$p(\theta|\mu^{t}) = \frac{p(\theta|\mu^{t-1}) p(\mu_{t}|\theta, \mu^{t-1})}{\int p(\theta|\mu^{t-1}) p(\mu_{t}|\theta, \mu^{t-1}) d\theta}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\varphi_{t}}} exp\left(-\frac{(\theta-\mu_{t})^{2}}{2\varphi_{t}}\right).$$

It follows that the posterior density is

$$\theta | \mu^{t-1} \sim N(\theta_t, \varphi_t)$$

where the posterior mean is a weighted mean of a prior mean and an observed value with the weights being proportional to their respective precisions (i.e., the respective reciprocals of the variances),

$$\theta_t = \theta_{t-1} \frac{1/\varphi_{t-1}}{1/\varphi_{t-1} + 1/\varphi} + \mu_t \frac{1/\varphi}{1/\varphi_{t-1} + 1/\varphi},$$

and the posterior variance is expressed as

$$\varphi_t = \frac{1}{1/\varphi_{t-1} + 1/\varphi}.$$

After updating the beliefs θ_t and φ_t in period t, the players compute their expected payoffs in the future periods.²¹

3.2.2 Design and Data Structures

The bargaining process is stored in a linked list, in which two types of data structures coexist. One structure defined by **node** is frequently referred to as a base list in our program, and each node carries the following information.

²¹For example, after observing μ_t in period t, player A computes θ_t^A and φ_t^A . Then she computes expected information shocks such as

$$E_t^A(\delta_{t+1}) = 1 + E_t^A(\mu_{t+1})\Delta t = 1 + \theta_t^A \Delta t$$

and

$$E_t^A(\delta_{t+2}) = 1 + E_t^A(\mu_{t+2})\Delta t = 1 + \theta_t^A \Delta t.$$

The second equation follows immediately from

$$E_t^A(\mu_{t+2}) = E_t^A(\theta_{t+1}^A) = \theta_t^A \frac{1/\varphi_t}{1/\varphi_t + 1/\varphi} + E_t^A(\mu_{t+1}) \frac{1/\varphi}{1/\varphi_t + 1/\varphi} = \theta_t^A.$$

It follows that A's expected valuation of the asset is expressed as

$$E_t^A(Q_{t+n}) = (1 + \theta_t^A \Delta t)^n Q_t.$$

struct node	
{	
unsigned int t;	/* Period number, $t = 1, 2, 3,, T. */$
float delta;	/* Ex-post δ value, i.e., δ_t . */
float thetaA;	/* A's prior on the mean of θ . */
float thetaB;	/* B's prior on the mean of θ . */
float PhiA;	/* A's prior on the variance of θ . */
float PhiB;	/* B's prior on the variance of θ . */
float X;	/* Current offer strategy. */
float $\mathbf{Q};$	/* Current asset value. */
unsigned int R;	/* Response strategy : 1 for accept, 0 for reject. */
float Apay;	/* A's payoff if trade now. $*/$
float Bpay;	/* B's payoff if trade now. $*/$
struct node *next;	/* Pointer to its child node. */
struct node *past;	/* Pointer to its parent node. $*/$
struct node *strat;	/* Pointer to a strategy list. $*/$
}	

This list is used to store the offer and response strategies that the players have decided to take after observing the information available up to the current period.

The other list is defined by a structure **snode**, and we often refer to the list as a strategy

list. Each snode carries the following information.

struct snode	
{	
unsigned int t;	/* Period number, $t = 1, 2, 3,, T. */$
float EAdelta;	/* A's expected value of δ . */
float EBdelta;	/* B's expected value of δ . */
float EAQ;	/* A's expected value of the asset. $*/$
float EBQ;	/* A's expected value of the asset. $*/$
float X;	/* Offer strategy. */
unsigned int R;	/* Response strategy : 1 for accept, 0 for reject. */
float EApay;	/* A's expected payoff in the future period. $*/$
float EBpay;	/* B's expected payoff in the future period. $*/$
struct node *next;	/* Pointer to its child node. */
struct node *past;	/* Pointer to its parent node. $*/$
struct node *base;	/* Pointer to a base list. $*/$
}	

This list stores the information such as expected payoffs in the future that are necessary for the players to compute their strategies in the current period. This list is connected to



Figure 3.2: Design of Wiener Process Model with T = 2

the base list with a pointer *base*, along with a pointer *strat* pointed from a node in the base list. Figure 3.2 shows a case of T = 2. The shaded nodes in the figure constitute the base list, while the nodes surrounded by a big circle constitute the strategy list.²²

3.2.3 Results and Comparative Statics

Tables 3.6 through 3.12 in Appendix 3A.2 show several random sample runs, each of which is associated with an idum number²³ that generates a unique sequence of pseudo-random numbers. They contain the information such as how the asset value and the players' beliefs evolve from the opening of the negotiation untill the final period. Figures 3.35 through

²²The core part of the codes for Alternative games is included in Appendix 3C.2, which also provides more detailed description of the design. Primary input variables are also described in detail in the appendix.

²³An idum number is an integer number given to a subroutine that generates a sequence of pseudo-random numbers. Each idum number is associated with a particular sequence of random numbers, so that it helps us to reproduce a specific sequence of events by feeding the code with the same idum number.

3.46 in Appendix 3B.3 show the results of simulation runs, each of which consists of 10,000 random sample runs. In all of the figures, we assume that $x_T = 0.5$, $\sigma = 0.06$, $\Delta t = 0.01$, $Q_0 = 1.2$, and $\varphi = 0.0004$.

Exhibits 6 through 8, contained in Tables 3.6 through 3.8, are examples on the process of Basic game. All three examples use the same input parameter values, except for an idum number that generates a sequence of random numbers. Exhibit 6 is a case in which there is an immediate agreement. After observing an information in period 0, both players know that the value of the information shock on the asset value has been 0.994825 and that the value now is equal to 1.193791. Based on this observation they update their beliefs on the true value of θ , and compute their expected payoffs in the future. If *B* accepts *A*'s offer 0.499918, he knows with certainty that his payoff in the current period would be 0.596994. His computed expected payoffs in any future period is lower than this payoff. Hence, *B* has no incentive to reject the offer, resulting in an immediate acceptance. *A* then receives a payoff 0.596797 that is also higher than any of her expected payoffs in the future. Note that the proposer *A* receives a positive surplus 0.000139 in excess of her maximum continuation payoff 0.596658.

In Exhibit 7 we observe a delay until the final period. If B accepts A's offer in period 0, A receives 0.600693 and B receives 0.600329. These payoffs are higher than what they end up with in Exhibit 6. However, B speculates even higher payoffs in the future and hence there is a delay. In a similar fashion, the bargaining continues until the default period is reached. Indeed, both players receive payoffs that are higher than any payoffs they have gotten in earlier periods. It is interesting to note that we observe a delay in period 4 in which the information shock has turned out to be less than 1. This reflects that players

accumulate knowledge, so that there has to be a significant decrease in the asset value to prevent a delay if the value has been increasing for several consecutive periods. Exhibit 8 is the case of one period delay, and a similar interpretation can be given to this case as above.

Exhibits 10 through 13, contained in Tables 3.10 through 3.13, are examples of Alternative bargaining games. We use the same input parameter values in these exhibits as in the Basic game exhibits described above, i.e., Exhibits 10, 11, 12, and 13 are given the same idum numbers as Exhibits 6, 7, 8, and 9, respectively. In Exhibit 10 the first offer made by A is accepted by B in period 1 with payoffs that are lower than what they would have received if they were playing an equivalent Basic game.²⁴ Exhibit 11 shows a delay until the final period and therefore the payoffs players receive are the same as what they would have received in an equivalent Basic game.²⁵ In Exhibit 12 the first offer made by A is accepted by B in period 1. A difference in the players' payoffs in this case is smaller than a difference in the case of a Basic game. Exhibit 13 gives yet another example of the Alternative game, in which we observe a delay until a penultimate period. An interesting observation is made in t = 3, in comparison to the result of Exhibit 9. The expected values of δs in the remaining periods are less than 1. As Proposition 2 in the previous chapter indicates, there is an acceptance of a current offer in such a case in the Basic game. In Exhibit 13, however, there is a rejection to cause a delay in t = 3 despite that the expected values of δs in all the remaining periods are less than 1.

Figures 3.35 and 3.36 describe how the change in the value of θ influences bargaining durations in Basic games. Both players have optimistic priors on the value of θ in the first

²⁴Refer to Exhibit 6.

²⁵Refer to Exhibit 7.

figure, while both have low priors in the second figure. Y-axis takes the number of first occurrences of agreement in a specified period out of 10,000 simulation runs. In other words, unreachable nodes in the bargaining game tree are ignored. For example, in Figure 3.35 almost all of the agreements are reached immediately in period 0 with $\theta = -0.05$, while most of the agreements are not reached until the final period as θ approaches to 0.06. The two figures appear to be almost identical, despite the significant differences in the priors. This is due to the fact that once the players have observed the first piece of information in period 0, by using Bayes' rule both can update their beliefs that will approach to the true value fairly quickly. For instance, A's belief on the mean of θ is updated into a negative number after observing the first information. Since θ characterizes μ that is the expected rate of value increase, it is intuitive to observe an immediate agreement if players conjecture the value of θ to be negative. Figures 3.37 and 3.38 are the Alternative game's analogue to Figures 3.35 and 3.36, respectively. Alternative games generate more delays even when the value of θ is very low.²⁶ Moreover, in Alternative games we observe more variations in bargaining durations when θ is low than in Basic games.

Figures 3.39 and 3.40 show the relationship between the difference between the players' beliefs and the frequencies of agreements. In the first figure B has a pessimistic prior on the value of θ , while A's belief is varied from 0.5 through 6.0. In the second figure B has an optimistic prior, while A's prior is varied from 0.5 through 6.0. Both figures show almost identical relationships, indicating that the agreement frequencies are not very sensitive to the difference in priors. In these examples nearly half of the simulations result in an immediate agreement and nearly a quarter of them result in a delay until the final period.

²⁶Recall that an agreement in period 1 is considered as an immediate agreement in Alternative games.

A relatively low value of θ encourages an early agreement, while once there is a delay, then players tend to wait until the final period. Figures 3.41 and 3.42 are an Alternative game's analogue to Figures 3.39 and 3.40. They show low frequencies of an immediate agreement and high frequencies of delays until the final period, despite that they are given the same initial conditions as the Basic game's counterpart. Again, the frequencies do not show a significant sensitivity to the change in the size of differences among players' priors.

Figures 3.43 through 3.46 show the relationship between the change in the predetermined bargaining horizon and the agreement frequencies. The frequencies show only a slight sensitivity to the change in *T*. But the difference between the Alternative games and the Basic games appear to be clear in these figures. In Alternative games only less than a quarter of 10,000 sample runs result in an immediate agreement, while nearly half of them show an immediate agreement in Basic games. In general, in both Autoregressive Binomial Models and Wiener Process Models the Alternative games show more delays than the Basic games with the same parameter values. The fact that one player can observe another piece of information before responding to a current offer expands the players' expectation of value increases, causing higher frequencies of delays.

3.3 Summary and Discussion

Analyzing simulation results helps us capture non-monotonic relations among correlated variables and subtle changes in durations, and is useful in identifying a general trend in case of such non-monotonic relations where analytical solutions are frequently not straightforward to interpret. We also believe that the differences in comparative statics between Basic and Alternative games are adequately demonstrated through our simulations. We summarize our findings on comparative statics as follows.

- Autoregressive Binomial Model
 - As T increases, i.e., as the bargaining horizon becomes longer, the occurrence of the first agreement is observed in a later period. The sensitivity of the duration is significant especially when players have optimistic initial priors on the future asset values. [For unconditional frequencies refer to Figures 3.3 through 3.6 (Basic Game) and Figures 3.11 through 3.14 (Alternative Game). For conditional frequencies refer to Figures 3.19 through 3.22 (Basic Game) and Figures 3.27 through 3.30 (Alternative Game).]
 - 2. As players' initial priors become more pessimistic, we observe higher frequencies of agreement in a given period. Moreover, we observe agreements in earlier periods as players become pessimistic. If we look at the conditional frequencies in Figure 3.24, for example, it is clear that first agreements occur immediately in the very first period when both players are sufficiently pessimistic. Note that the difference in players' initial priors does not seem to have much influence over bargaining durations. [For unconditional frequencies refer to Figures 3.7 and 3.8 (Basic Game) and Figures 3.15 and 3.16 (Alternative Game). For conditional frequencies refer to Figures 3.23 and 3.24 (Basic Game) and Figures 3.31 and 3.32 (Alternative Game).]
 - 3. As ρ increases, i.e., as the bargaining environment becomes more promising on the asset value increase in the future for both players, then there are longer

bargaining durations before we observe the first agreement. If players have pessimistic priors on information shocks at the same time when ρ is low, then we observe an immediate agreement. [For unconditional frequencies refer to Figure 3.9 (Basic Game) and Figure 3.17 (Alternative Game). For conditional frequencies refer to Figure 3.25 (Basic Game) and Figure 3.33 (Alternative Game).]

4. As x_T increases, i.e., as *A*'s predetermined default share in period *T* increases, then in Basic games the bargaining durations are not very sensitive when both players have similar priors about information shocks. If *A* is optimistic and *B* is pessimistic, we observe a subtle tendency to have a longer duration as x_T increases, while if *A* is pessimistic and *B* is optimistic, we observe a subtle tendency to come to an early agreement. On the other hand, in Alternative games we observe higher sensitivity of durations than we can observe in Basic games. With larger x_T we observe higher frequencies of agreement in a given even-numbered period and lower frequencies in a given odd-numbered period. We observe the similar tendency regardless of players' priors, except that there is higher frequencies of agreement in earlier periods with one or more pessimistic players. [For unconditional frequencies refer to Figure 3.10 (Basic Game) and Figure 3.18 (Alternative Game). For conditional frequencies refer to Figure 3.26 (Basic Game) and Figure 3.34 (Alternative Game).]

• Wiener Process Model

1. As θ increases, i.e., as the expected rate of value increase becomes larger, the first agreement is reached in a later period. It is clearly demonstrated that the

variances in durations until the first agreement is larger in Alternative games than in Basic games. [Refer to Figures 3.35 and 3.36 (Basic Game) and Figures 3.37 and 3.38 (Alternative Game).]

- 2. The frequencies of agreement do not show much sensitivity to the change in T as in the case of Autoregressive Binomial Models. But how differently Basic games and Alternative games predict are reflected clearly in our findings. [Refer to Figures 3.43 and 3.44 (Basic Game) and Figures 3.45 and 3.46 (Alternative Game).]
- 3. The frequencies of agreement do not show much sensitivity to the size of differences in players' initial priors. But how differently Basic games and Alternative games predict are reflected clearly in our findings. [Refer to Figures 3.39 and 3.40 (Basic Game) and Figures 3.41 and 3.42 (Alternative Game).]

We conclude our discussion by listing several extensions that can be made to our simulations. We can endogenize the time interval between information arrivals to investigate the physical length of bargaining durations, instead of measuring the duration by the number of periods. Incorporating an exogenously determined varied length of time interval between information shocks is another potential extension. For example, we may suppose that it occurs at some rate per unit time, so that the frequency of information arrivals in a given period length follows the Poisson distribution. Modeling a risk averse player's behavior is also another extension. We may characterize a risk averse player with a strategy of compromising with a lower share than that of a risk neutral counterpart after observing undesirable information to avoid any delay, or with a higher share only after observing a series of desirable information to generate a delay. In addition, players' uncertainty about the value of the asset at a certain time in the future depends on how far they are looking ahead. We may model such uncertainty by using a variance as its measure.

Appendix 3A

Tables for Chapter 3

3A.1 Autoregressive Binomial Models

Table 3.1: Exhibit 1: Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 4, \alpha_A = \alpha_B = 1, \beta_A = \beta_B = 3, x_T = 0.5, \rho = 0.5, \delta_0 = 0.5, Q_0 = 1.2]$

Table 3.2: Exhibit 2: Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 4, \alpha_A = \alpha_B = 2, \beta_A = \beta_B = 1, x_T = 0.5, \rho = 0.5, \delta_0 = 0.5, Q_0 = 1.2]$

Table 3.3 : Exhibit 3 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) [T = 4, $\alpha_A = 1$, $\alpha_B = 2$, $\beta_A = 3$, $\beta_B = 1$, $x_T = 0.5$, $\rho = 0.5$, $\delta_0 = 0.5$, $Q_0 = 1.2$]

Table 3.4 : Exhibit 4 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2, \alpha_A = 1, \alpha_B = 2, \beta_A = 3, \beta_B = 1, x_T = 0.5, \rho = 0.5, \delta_0 = 0.5, Q_0 = 1.2]$

Table 3.5 : Exhibit 5 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) [T = 4, $\alpha_A = 1$, $\alpha_B = 2$, $\beta_A = 3$, $\beta_B = 1$, $x_T = 0.5$, $\rho = 0.5$, $\delta_0 = 0.5$, $Q_0 = 1.2$]

<u>.</u>
ble
Ц

	accept x_t^i	2	π_t^B)		0.461687					0.246127			1.108369				0.005711		0.195290		0.374625		0.392081	
1.2	Payoffs if		π_t^A .			0.738313					0.053873			0.391631				0.031789		0.142210		0.562875		2.045419	
odel (Basic Game) $\rho = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 =$	orium Strategies	Response	A's response in odd t	B's response in even t		accept					accept			reject				accept		reject		accept		reject	
ve Binomial M(= 3, $x_T = 0.5$, p	Equilit	Offer	x_t^A in even t	x_t^B in odd t		0.615261					0.820423			0.738913				0.847703		0.421363		0.600400		0.839146	
$\lambda utoregressi \beta_A = \beta_B =$		**************************************	(π^B_{t+n})			0.461687	0.128122	0.310071	0.267448		0.043627	0.043972	0.030748	0.381608	1.108369	0.977548		0.005711	0.002883	0.197016	0.142210	0.374625	0.265634	2.208984	2.045419
ibit $1:A$ $\alpha_B = 1$,	liefs		E_t^B			$E(\pi_1)$	$E(\pi_2)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$		$E(\pi_2)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_2)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$		$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$
Exh $= 4, \alpha_A =$	Bel		(π^A_{t+n})			0.138313	0.329378	0.151179	0.267448		0.053873	0.023372	0.030748	1.155892	0.534600	0.977548		0.002883	0.002883	0.105327	0.142210	0.230844	0.265634	0.990234	2.045419
T			E_t^A			$E(\pi_1)$	$E(\pi_2)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$ E(\pi_4)$		$ E(\pi_2)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_2)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$		$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$
					At $t = 0$					At $t = 1$	If $Path = 0$		-	If $Path = 1$			At $t = 2$	If $Path = 00$		If $Path = 01$		If $Path = 10$		If $Path = 11$	

112

(Continued on next page)

	T	Exhi $= 4, \alpha_A =$	bit $1: A$ $\alpha_B = 1$,	utoregressiv $\beta_A = \beta_B =$	re Binomial Model 3, $x_T = 0.5$, $\rho = 0.5$	(Basic Game) $0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1$	2	
At $t = 3$								
If $Path = 000$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.000204	$E(\pi_4)$	0.000204	0.912946	accept	0.000204	0.002140
If $Path = 001$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.016275	$E(\pi_4)$	0.016275	0.591518	accept	0.016275	0.023568
If $Path = 010$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.053817	$E(\pi_4)$	0.053817	0.716518	accept	0.053817	0.136026
If $Path = 011$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.318996	$E(\pi_4)$	0.318996	0.604911	reject	0.208348	0.318996
If $Path = 100$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.064741	$E(\pi_4)$	0.064741	0.779018	accept	0.064741	0.228228
If $Path = 101$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.667419	$E(\pi_4)$	0.667419	0.542411	reject	0.563049	0.667419
If $Path = 110$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.826669	$E(\pi_4)$	0.826669	0.582589	accept	0.826669	1.153800
If $Path = 111$	$E(\pi_4)$	3.264169	$E(\pi_4)$	3.264169	0.738839	reject	1.153800	3.264169
At $t = 4$								
If $Path = 0000$							0.000037	0.000037
If $Path = 0001$							0.001208	0.001208
If $Path = 0010$							0.010583	0.010583
If $Path = 0011$							0.030505	0.030505
If $Path = 0100$							0.026697	0.026697
If $Path = 0101$							0.121619	0.121619
If $Path = 0110$							0.205994	0.205994
If $Path = 0111$		N/	A.		Ď	ifault	0.469666	0.469666
If $Path = 1000$				*****			0.022888	0.022888
If $Path = 1001$							0.169373	0.169373
If $Path = 1010$							0.403748	0.403748
If $Path = 1011$							1.018982	1.018982
If $Path = 1100$							0.402283	0.402283
If $Path = 1101$							1.392517	1.392517
If $Path = 1110$							2.001892	2.001892
If $Path = 1111$							4.210876	4.210876
		A CANADA A C					•	

Path identifies a sequence of observed ε 's up to period t. For example, Path = 011 indicates a sequence of $\varepsilon_1 = 0$, $\varepsilon_2 = 1$, and $\varepsilon_3 = 1$. In the last period, i.e., t = 4, payoffs are computed by a predetermined default share, which is $x_T = 0.5$ in this exhibit.

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

		Exh	ibit 2 : A	utoregressiv	ve Binomial Mo	del (Basic Game)		
	L	$=4, \alpha_A =$	$\alpha_B = 2,$	$\beta_A = \beta_B =$	1, $x_T = 0.5, \ \rho$	$b = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1$	2	
		Bel	iefs		Equilil	orium Strategies	Payoffs if	$\operatorname{accept} x_t^i$
					Offer	Response		
	E_t^A	(π^A_{t+n})	E_t^B	(π^B_{t+n})	x_t^A in even t	A's response in odd t	π_t^A	π_t^B
					x^B_t in odd t	B's response in even t		
At $t = 0$								
	$E(\pi_1)$	-0.690032	$E(\pi_1)$	1.790032	1.482448	reject	1.778938	-0.578938
	$ E(\pi_2)$	1.778938	$E(\pi_2)$	-0.341438				
	$ E(\pi_3) $	0.390801	$E(\pi_3)$	1.785293				
	$E(\pi_4)$	1.775662	$E(\pi_4)$	1.775662				
At $t = 1$								
If $Path = 0$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.143430	$E(\pi_2)$	0.044070	0.521899	accept	0.143430	0.156570
	$E(\pi_3)$	0.062490	$E(\pi_3)$	0.142354				
	$ E(\pi_4)$	0.133601	$E(\pi_4)$	0.133601				
If $Path = 1$	$E(\pi_2)$	2.596692	$E(\pi_2)$	-0.534192	1.737842	reject	-1.106763	2.606763
	$E(\pi_3)$	0.554956	$E(\pi_3)$	2.606763				
	$E(\pi_4)$	2.596692	$E(\pi_4)$	2.596692				
At $t=2$								
If $Path = 00$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.007976	$E(\pi_3)$	0.009368	0.750195	accept	0.028132	0.009368
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.008474	$E(\pi_4)$	0.008474				
If $Path = 01$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.117004	$E(\pi_3)$	0.275339	0.766602	reject	0.258728	0.078772
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.258728	$E(\pi_4)$	0.258728				
If $Path = 10$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.288391	$E(\pi_3)$	0.567078	0.561914	reject	0.526794	0.410706
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.526794	$E(\pi_4)$	0.526794				
If $Path = 11$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.643811	$E(\pi_3)$	3.286658	1.348372	reject	3.286658	-0.849158
	$E(\pi_4)$	3.286658	$E(\pi_4)$	3.286658				

Table 3.2

(Continued on next page)

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

	T	Exhi $= 4, \alpha_A =$	ibit $2: A$ $\alpha_B = 2,$	utoregressi $\beta_A = \beta_B =$	ve Binomial Mode = 1, $x_T = 0.5$, $\rho =$	I (Basic Game) = $0.5, \delta_0 = 0.5, Q_0 = 1$.2	
At $t = 3$						-		
If $Path = 000$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.000427	$E(\pi_4)$	0.000427	0.817708	accept	0.000427	1.16100.0
If $Path = 001$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.020544	$E(\pi_4)$	0.020544	0.515625	reject	0.019299	0.020544
If $Path = 010$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.074158	$E(\pi_4)$	0.074158	0.609375	accept	0.074158	0.115686
If $Path = 011$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.381775	$E(\pi_4)$	0.381775	0.723958	reject	0.145569	0.381775
If $Path = 100$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.096130	$E(\pi_4)$	0.096130	0.671875	accept	0.096130	0.196838
If $Path = 101$	$E(\pi_A)$	0.813904	$E(\pi_4)$	0.813904	0.661458	reject	0.416565	0.813904
If $Path = 110$	$E(\pi_4)$	1.062439	$E(\pi_4)$	1.062439	0.536458	reject	0.918030	1.062439
If $Path = 111$	$E(\pi_4)$	3.842712	$E(\pi_4)$	3.842712	0.869792	reject	0.575257	3.842712
At $t = 4$							2000000	260000 0
If $Path = 0000$							100000	0.00000
If $Path = 0001$							0.0101208	0.010100
If $Path = 0010$							0.010555	0.010303
If $Path = 0011$							0.030505	0.030505
If $Path = 0100$							0.026697	0.026697
If $Path = 0101$							0.121619	0.121619
If $D_{\alpha \beta h} = 0.110$							0.205994	0.205994
$\frac{11}{11} \Gamma \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{11} = \frac{11}{11} \frac{11}{11} = \frac{11}{11}$		Z	/ A			Default	0.469666	0.469666
$If D_{0} + b = 1000$							0.022888	0.022888
II Fault = 1001							0.169373	0.169373
1001 = 0.01							0.403748	0.403748
II Path = 1010							1.018982	1.018982
$ If Path = 1011 \\ If T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T $							0.402283	0.402283
II Path = 1100							1.392517	1.392517
II Fatn = 1110							2.001892	2.001892
$If P_{ath} = 1110$							4.210876	4.210876

Path identifies a sequence of observed ε 's up to period t. For example, Path = 011 indicates a sequence of $\varepsilon_1 = 0$, $\varepsilon_2 = 1$, and $\varepsilon_3 = 1$. In the last period, i.e., t = 4, payoffs are computed by a predetermined default share, which is $x_T = 0.5$ in this exhibit.

115

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

3.3	
Table	

-1.2	Payoffs if accept x_{t}^{i}		π_t^A π_t^B			0.295627 0.904373					0.049873 0.250127	_		-1.123606 2.623606				0.026789 0.010711		0.142210 0.195290		0.357867 0.579633		9 045410 0 309081 1	TUULUTU ULUUUU
odel (Basic Game) $0 = 0.5$, $\delta_0 = 0.5$, $O_0 = 0.5$	brium Strategies	Response	A's response in odd t	B's response in even t		reject					accept (reject				accept		reject		accept 0		reject	
ve Binomial Mo $z = 1, x_T = 0.5$	Equilib	Offer	x_t^A in even t	x_t^B in odd t		0.246356					0.833756			1.749071				0.714369		0.421363		0.381724		0.839146	
utoregressiv $\beta_A = 3, \ \beta_B$			(π^B_{t+n})			1.832446	0.326980	1.798102	1.775662		0.103000	0.147093	0.133601	0.438969	2.623606	2.596692		0.010711	0.008474	0.283476	0.258728	0.579633	0.526794	3,304930	
bit $3 : A$ $\alpha_B = 2$.	iefs		E_t^B			$E(\pi_1)$	$E(\pi_2)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$		$E(\pi_2)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_2)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$		$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$F_{i}(\pi_{2})$	
Exhi 4. $\alpha_A = 1$.	Bel		(π^A_{t+n})			-0.243497	0.295627	0.111788	0.267448		0.049873	0.019186	0.030748	1.032887	0.389594	0.977548		0.002883	0.002883	0.084401	0.142210	0.182016	0.265634	0.700963	
T = c			E_t^A			$E(\pi_1)$	$E(\pi_2)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$		$E(\pi_2)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_2)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$		$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_3)$	$E(\pi_4)$	$F_{i}(\pi_{2})$	
					At $t = 0$					At $t = 1$	If $Path = 0$			If $Path = 1$			At $t = 2$	If $Path = 00$		If $Path = 01$		If $Path = 10$		Tf Path = 11	

(Continued on next page)

		Exhi 4. $\alpha_A = 1$.	$\begin{array}{ll} \text{Ibit } 3: \mathbf{A} \\ \alpha_{B} = 2, \end{array}$	utoregressiv $\beta_A = 3, \ \beta_E$	ve Binomial Mode. $\beta = 1, x_T = 0.5, \beta$	$I \text{ (Basic Game)} \\ i = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 =$	= 1.2	
6 7 7 V								
$If D_{a} + h = 000$	$E(\pi_{\star})$	0.000204	$E(\pi_A)$	0.000427	0.912946	accept	0.000204	0.002140
If $Path = 001$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.016275	$E(\pi_4)$	0.020544	0.591518	accept	0.016275	0.023568
If $P_{ath} = 010$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.053817	$E(\pi_4)$	0.074158	0.716518	accept	0.053817	0.136026
If $P_{ath} = 011$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.318996	$E(\pi_4)$	0.381775	0.723958	reject	0.145569	0.381775
If $Path = 100$	$E(\pi_A)$	0.064741	$E(\pi_4)$	0.096130	0.779018	accept	0.064741	0.228228
If $Path = 101$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.667419	$E(\pi_4)$	0.813904	0.661458	reject	0.416565	0.813904
If $Path = 110$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.826669	$E(\pi_4)$	1.062439	0.582589	accept	0.826669	1.153800
If $Path = 111$	$E(\pi_4)$	3.264169	$E(\pi_4)$	3.842712	0.869792	reject	0.575257	3.842712
At $t = 4$							2000000	0 000037
If $Path = 0000$							0.00000	0.00000
If $Path = 0001$							0.010100	0.01010.0
If $Path = 0010$							0.010033	686010.0
If $P_{ath} = 0011$							0.030505	0.030505
If $P_{ath} = 0100$							0.026697	0.026697
$Tf D_{0}th = 0101$							0.121619	0.121619
$II \Gamma au = 0110$							0.205994	0.205994
$TT D_{-1} = 0111$		Z	/ A)efault	0.469666	0.469666
II Path = 1000		-	· · · /				0.022888	0.022888
II Fau = 1001							0.169373	0.169373
$I \Gamma D_{-1L} = 1010$							0.403748	0.403748
II Path = 1011							1.018982	1.018982
II Fath = 1100							0.402283	0.402283
II Fatn = 1101							1.392517	1.392517
							2.001892	2.001892
If Path = 1111 If Path = 1111							4.210876	4.210876
								,

Path identifies a sequence of observed ε 's up to period t. For example, Path = 011 indicates a sequence of $\varepsilon_1 = 0$, $\varepsilon_2 = 1$, and $\varepsilon_3 = 1$. In the last period, i.e., t = 4, payoffs are computed by a predetermined default share, which is $x_T = 0.5$ in this exhibit.

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

	if accept x_t^i	π_t^B			0.771250			0.251250	1.031250		0.018750	0.168750	0.468750	1.218750
= 1.2	Payoffs	π_t^A			0.428750			0.048750	0.468750		0.018750	0.168750	0.468750	1.218750
odel (Basic Game) 5, $\rho = 0.5, \delta_0 = 0.5, Q_0$	brium Strategies	Response A 's response in odd t	B's response in even t		accept			accept	reject			Default		
we Binomial Momentum $B = 1, x_T = 0.1$	Equilit	$\inf_{x_t^A} \text{ in even } t$	x_t^B in odd t		0.357292			0.837500	0.687500					
utoregressi $\beta_A = 3, \ \beta$		(π^B_{t+n})			0.771250	0.718750		0.093750	1.031250					,
ibit $4: A$ $\alpha_B = 2$,	iefs	E_t^B			$E(\pi_1)$	$E(\pi_2)$		$E(\pi_2)$	$E(\pi_2)$			/A		
Exh 2, $\alpha_A = 1$,	Bel	(π^A_{t+n})			0.153750	0.228750		0.048750	0.768750			N/		
T =		E_t^A			$E(\pi_1)$	$E(\pi_2)$		$E(\pi_2)$	$E(\pi_2)$					
				At $t = 0$			At $t = 1$	If $Path = 0$	If $Path = 1$	At $t = 2$	If $Path = 00$	If $Path = 01$	If $Path = 10$	If Path = 11

Table 3.4

Path identifies a sequence of observed ε 's up to period t. For example, Path = 01 indicates a sequence of $\varepsilon_1 = 0$ and $\varepsilon_2 = 1$. In the last period, i.e., t = 2, payoffs are computed by a predetermined default share, which is $x_T = 0.5$ in this exhibit.

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

3.5	
Table	

(Continued on next page)

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

	T =	Exhibit $4, \ \alpha_A = 1,$	t 5 : Auto $\alpha_B = 2$,	Dregressive $\beta_A = 3, \ \beta_I$	Binomial Model (ℓ $g = 1, x_T = 0.5, \ell$	Alternative Game) $b = 0.5, \delta_0 = 0.5, Q_0 = 0.5$	= 1.2	
At $t = 3$								11 1 100 0
If $Path = 000$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.000204	$E(\pi_4)$	0.000427	0.50000	accept	0.001199	0.001145
If $Path = 001$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.016275	$E(\pi_4)$	0.020544	0.500000	reject	0.020376	0.019408
If $Path = 010$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.053817	$E(\pi_4)$	0.074158	0.500000	accept	0.089295	0.100549
If $Path = 011$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.318996	$E(\pi_4)$	0.381775	0.500000	reject	0.248041	0.279303
If $P_{ath} = 100$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.064741	$E(\pi_4)$	0.096130	0.50000	accept	0.128532	0.164436
If $P_{ath} = 101$	$E(\pi_A)$	0.667419	$E(\pi_4)$	0.813904	0.50000	reject	0.539836	0.690632
If $Path = 110$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.826669	$E(\pi_4)$	1.062439	0.50000	reject	1.266212	0.714257
If $Path = 111$	$E(\pi_4)$	3.264169	$E(\pi_4)$	3.842712	0.500000	reject	2.824626	1.593343
At $t = 4$								260000 0
If $Path = 0000$							0.001000	0.000100.0
If $Path = 0001$							0.010700	0.010100
If $Path = 0010$							5200T0.0	0.010363
If $P_{ath} = 0011$							0.030505	cucusu.u
If $P_{ath} = 0100$							0.026697	0.026697
If $P_{ath} = 0101$							0.121619	0.121619
If $D_{c+h} = 0110$							0.205994	0.205994
$11 \mathbf{\Gamma} \mathbf{D}_{2,1\mathbf{L}} = 0111$		Z	۷/.		<u>—</u>	Default	0.469666	0.469666
II Fath = 0111		-	T T 1				0.022888	0.022888
$11 \Gamma T_{11} = 1001$							0.169373	0.169373
II Patn = 1001				_			0.403748	0.403748
II Fatn = 1010							1.018982	1.018982
II Fath = 1011							0.402283	0.402283
II Patn = 1100							1.392517	1.392517
II Fath = 1110							2.001892	2.001892
II Fault = 1110	•						4.210876	4.210876
II Fath = 1111								

Path identifies a sequence of observed ε 's up to period t. For example, Path = 011 indicates a sequence of $\varepsilon_1 = 0$, $\varepsilon_2 = 1$, and $\varepsilon_3 = 1$. In the last period, i.e., t = 4, payoffs are computed by a predetermined default share, which is $x_T = 0.5$ in this exhibit.

3A.2 Generalized Wiener Process Models

Table 3.6 : Exhibit 6 : Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[T = 6, \ \theta_0^A = 1.2, \ \theta_0^B = 0.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0.5, \ \varphi_0^B = 0.05, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ idum = -1]$

Table 3.7: Exhibit 7: Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[T = 6, \ \theta_0^A = 1.2, \ \theta_0^B = 0.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0.5, \ \varphi_0^B = 0.05, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ idum = -3]$

Table 3.8 : Exhibit 8 : Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[T = 6, \ \theta_0^A = 1.2, \ \theta_0^B = 0.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0.5, \ \varphi_0^B = 0.05, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ idum = -1000]$

Table 3.9: Exhibit 9: Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[T = 6, \theta_0^A = 1.2, \theta_0^B = 0.8, \varphi_0^A = 0.5, \varphi_0^B = 0.05, \theta = 0.0014, \varphi = 0.0004, idum = -555]$

Table 3.10: Exhibit 10: Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 6, \ \theta_0^A = 1.2, \ \theta_0^B = 0.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0.5, \ \varphi_0^B = 0.05, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ idum = -1]$

Table 3.11: Exhibit 11: Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 6, \ \theta_0^A = 1.2, \ \theta_0^B = 0.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0.5, \ \varphi_0^B = 0.05, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ idum = -3]$

Table 3.12: Exhibit 12: Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 6, \theta_0^A = 1.2, \theta_0^B = 0.8, \varphi_0^A = 0.5, \varphi_0^B = 0.05, \theta = 0.0014, \varphi = 0.0004, idum = -1000]$

Table 3.13 : Exhibit 13 : Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 6, \ \theta_0^A = 1.2, \ \theta_0^B = 0.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0.5, \ \varphi_0^B = 0.05, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ idum = -555]$

9
က်
le
d.
Ë

			Exhibit	5 : Wiener 1	Process Model	(Basic Game)		
$T = 6, \ \theta_0^A = 1.2$	$\theta_0^B = \theta_0^B = 0$	$0.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0$	$.5, \varphi_0^B =$	$= 0.05, x_T =$	$= 0.5, \ \theta = 0.001$	14, $\varphi = 0.0004$, $\sigma = 0.00$	$\hat{3}, Q_0 = 1.2,$	idum = -1
		Bel	iefs		Equilil	brium Strategies	Payoffs if	$accept x_t^i$
					Offer	Response		
	E_t^A	$^{I}(\pi^{A}_{t+n})$	Et	$^{l}(\pi^{B}_{t+n})$	x_t^A in even t	A's response in odd t	π_t^A	π_t^B
					x_t^B in odd t	B's response in even t		
At $t = 0$								
$\delta_0 = 0.994825$	$E(\pi_1)$	0.596658	$E(\pi_1)$	0.596994	0.499918	accept	0.596797	0.596994
$Q_0 = 1.193791$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.596658	$E(\pi_2)$	0.596855				
	$E(\pi_3)$	0.596520	$E(\pi_3)$	0.596855				
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.596520	$E(\pi_4)$	0.596717				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.596381	$E(\pi_5)$	0.596717				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.596381	$E(\pi_6)$	0.596578				
At $t = 1$								
$\delta_1 = 0.998946$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.596185	$E(\pi_2)$	0.596266	0.500068	accept	0.596185	0.596348
$Q_1 = 1.192532$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.596103	$E(\pi_3)$	0.596266				
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.596103	$E(\pi_4)$	0.596185				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.596022	$E(\pi_5)$	0.596185				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.596021	$E(\pi_6)$	0.596103				
At $t = 2$								
$\delta_2 = 1.001174$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.596910	$E(\pi_3)$	0.596988	0.499982	accept	0.596945	0.596988
$Q_2 = 1.193932$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.596910	$E(\pi_4)$	0.596954				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.596876	$E(\pi_5)$	0.596954				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.596876	$E(\pi_6)$	0.596920				
		The second se						

(Continued on next page)

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·																
, $idum = -1$	if accept x_t^i	8	π_t		0.603079				0.602252			0.604789				0.602709	
$Q_0 = 1.2$	Payoffs	A_	7.5		0.602828				0.602350			0.604708				0.602709	
(Basic Game) [4, $\varphi = 0.0004$, $\sigma = 0.06$	orium Strategies	Response	A s response in odd t B's response in even t		reject		-		reject			reject				Default	
Process Model (= $0.5, \theta = 0.001$	Equilit	Offer A in α	x_t in even t x_t^B in odd t		0.500104				0.500041			0.500033					
: Wiener I = $0.05, x_T =$		()	$(n_{\overline{t}+n})$		0.602928	0.603079	0.603079		0.602363	0.602363		0.604789					
Exhibit 6 .5, $\varphi_0^B =$	iefs	EB	1 T		$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				'A	
$0.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0$	Be	Be	()	(n_{t+n})		0.603055	0.602979	0.603055		0.602295	0.602350		0.604784				N/
$\theta_0^B = 0$		БA	t T		$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$					
$T=6, \ heta_0^A=1.2$				At $t = 3$	$\delta_3 = 1.010030$	$Q_3 = 1.205907$		At $t = 4$	$\delta_4 = 0.998918$	$Q_4 = 1.204602$	At $t = 5$	$\delta_5 = 1.004063$	$Q_5 = 1.209497$	At $t = 6$	$\delta_6 = 0.996627$	$Q_6 = 1.205417$	

123

.
2	
က်	
e	
p	
20	

$T=6, \ \theta^A_0=1.2$	$\theta^B_0 = \theta^B_0$	1 0.8, $\varphi_0^A = 0$	Exhibit ' .5, $\varphi_0^B =$	$7 : Wiener] = 0.05, x_T =$	Process Model = $0.5, \ \theta = 0.00$	(Basic Game) 14, $\varphi = 0.0004$, $\sigma = 0.00$	$6, Q_0 = 1.2,$	idum = -3
		Bel	iefs		Equili	brium Strategies	Payoffs i	f accept x_t^i
					Offer	Response		
	E	$^{4}(\pi^{A}_{t+n})$	E	(π^B_{t+n})	$egin{array}{c} x_t^A ext{ in even } t \ x_t^B ext{ in odd } t \end{array}$	A's response in odd tB 's response in even t	π_t^A	π^B_t
$\Delta t + - 0$					2			
$\delta_0 = 1.000852$	$E(\pi_1)$	0.600229	$E(\pi_1)$	0.600887	0.500152	reject	0.600693	0.600329
$Q_0 = 1.201023$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.600693	$E(\pi_2)$	0.600515				
	$E(\pi_3)$	0.600415	$E(\pi_3)$	0.600887				
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.600693	$E(\pi_4)$	0.600701				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.600600	$E(\pi_5)$	0.600887				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.600693	$E(\pi_6)$	0.600887				
At $t = 1$								
$\delta_1 = 1.005739$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.604334	$E(\pi_2)$	0.603748	0.500378	reject	0.603501	0.604415
$Q_1 = 1.207916$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.603834	$E(\pi_3)$	0.604415				
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.604334	$E(\pi_4)$	0.604081				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.604167	$E(\pi_5)$	0.604415				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.604334	$E(\pi_6)$	0.604415				
At $t = 2$								
$\delta_2 = 1.002991$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.605587	$E(\pi_3)$	0.606097	0.500240	reject	0.606054	0.605474
$Q_2 = 1.211528$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.606054	$E(\pi_4)$	0.605786				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.605898	$E(\pi_5)$	0.606097				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.606054	$E(\pi_6)$	0.606097	and the second se			

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

124

(Continued on next page)

				_										
idum = -3	if accept x_t^i	π_t^B		0.611502			0.609324			0.611082				0.613157
$Q_0 = 1.2,$	Payoffs i	π_t^A		0.610847			0.609609			0.610933				0.613157
(Basic Game) (4, $\varphi = 0.0004$, $\sigma = 0.06$	orium Strategies	Response A's response in odd tB 's response in even t		reject			reject			reject			(Default
Process Model ($= 0.5, \theta = 0.001$	Equilib	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Offer} \\ x_t^A \text{ in even } t \\ x_t^B \text{ in odd } t \end{array}$		0.500268			0.500117			0.500061				
$\frac{7 : Wiener I}{= 0.05, x_T = }$		(π^B_{t+n})		0.611082	0.611502 0.611502		0.609622	0.609622	 	0.611082				
Exhibit 7 5, $\varphi_0^B =$	iefs	E^B_t		$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_5) E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				A
$\frac{1}{1.8}, \ \varphi_0^A = 0.$	Bel	(π^A_{t+n})		0.611477	0.611267 0.611477		0.609460	0.609609		0.611077				N/
$\theta_0^B = 0$		E_t^A		$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_5)$ $E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				
$T=6, \ heta_0^A=1.2$			At $t = 3$	$\delta_3 = 1.008932$	$Q_3 = 1.222349$	At $t = 4$	$\delta_4 = 0.997205$	$Q_4 = 1.218933$	At $t = 5$	$\delta_5 = 1.002529$	$Q_5 = 1.222015$	At $t = 6$	$\delta_6 = 1.003518$	$Q_6 = 1.226314$

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

			Exhibi	t 8 : Wiener	Process Mode	l (Basic Game)		
$T = 6, \ \theta_0^A = 1.5$	$2, \theta_0^B = 0$	$0.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0$	$5, \varphi_0^B =$	$= 0.05, x_T =$	$= 0.5, \ \theta = 0.00$	$14, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.00$	$6, Q_0 = 1.2, -$	idum = -1000
		Bel	liefs		Equili	orium Strategies	Payoffs	if accept x_t^i
					Offer	Response		
	E_t	$A_{t+n} (\pi_{t+n}^A)$	E_t^B	(π^B_{t+n})	x_t^A in even t	A's response in odd t	π_t^A	π_t^B
					x_t^B in odd t	B's response in even t		
At $t = 0$								
$\delta_0 = 0.999042$	$E(\pi_1)$	0.599282	$E(\pi_1)$	0.599591	0.499977	reject	0.599397	0.599453
$Q_0 = 1.198850$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.599397	$E(\pi_2)$	0.599499				
	$E(\pi_3)$	0.599328	$E(\pi_3)$	0.599591				
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.599397	$E(\pi_4)$	0.599545				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.599374	$E(\pi_5)$	0.599591				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.599397	$E(\pi_6)$	0.599591				
At $t = 1$,				
$\delta_1 = 0.991538$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.594241	$E(\pi_2)$	0.594322	0.50004	accept	0.594241	0.594464
$Q_1 = 1.188705$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.594098	$E(\pi_3)$	0.594322				
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.594098	$E(\pi_4)$	0.594180				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.593956	$E(\pi_5)$	0.594180				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.593956	$E(\pi_6)$	0.594038				
At $t = 2$								
$\delta_2 = 1.000038$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.594264	$E(\pi_3)$	0.594397	0.499982	accept	0.594353	0.594397
$Q_2 = 1.188750$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.594264	$E(\pi_4)$	0.594307				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.594175	$E(\pi_5)$	0.594307				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.594175	$E(\pi_6)$	0.594218				

Table 3.8

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

126

(Continued on next page)

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

	idum = -1000	if accept x_t^i	π_t^B		0.597293			0.599123			0.598894				0.602989
	$Q_0 = 1.2,$	Payoffs	π_t^A		0.597252			0.599138			0.598877				0.602989
l (Basic Game)	14, $\varphi = 0.0004$, $\sigma = 0.06$	brium Strategies	Response A 's response in odd t B's response in even t		accept			reject			reject				Default
: Process Mode	$= 0.5, \ \theta = 0.001$	Equilil	Offer x_t^A in even t x_t^B in odd t		0.500017			0.50006			0.50007				
t 8 : Wiener	$= 0.05, x_T =$		(π^B_{t+n})		0.597276	0.597276 0.597260		0.599151	0.599151		0.598894				
Exhibit	$5, \varphi_0^B =$	iefs	E_t^B		$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_5)$ $E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				A
	$.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0.$	Bel	(π^A_{t+n})		0.597252	0.597236 0.597236		0.599124	0.599138		0.598889				N/
	$\theta_0^B = 0$		E_t^A		$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_5)$ $E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				
- Tanta - Sumo - Sumo - Canada	$T = 6, \ \theta_0^A = 1.2$			At $t = 3$	$\delta_3 = 1.004875$	$Q_3 = 1.194545$	At $t = 4$	$\delta_4 = 1.003111$	$Q_4 = 1.198261$	At $t = 5$	$\delta_5 = 0.999591$	$Q_5 = 1.197771$	At $t = 6$	$\delta_6 = 1.006852$	$Q_6 = 1.205978$

			Exhibit	9 : Wiener	Process Model	(Basic Game)		
$T = 6, \ heta_0^A = 1.2$	$\theta_0^B = 0$	$0.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0$	$5, \varphi_0^B =$	$= 0.05, x_T =$	$= 0.5, \ \theta = 0.00$	$14, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.00$	$6, Q_0 = 1.2,$	idum = -555
		Bel	iefs		Equili	brium Strategies	Payoffs i	f accept x_t^i
					Offer	Response		
	E_t^A	(π^A_{t+n})	E_t^B	(π^B_{t+n})	x_t^A in even t	A's response in odd t	π_t^A	π_t^B
					x^B_t in odd t	B's response in even t		
At $t = 0$								
$\delta_0 = 0.997595$	$E(\pi_1)$	0.598427	$E(\pi_1)$	0.598654	0.499918	accept	0.598459	0.598654
$Q_0 = 1.197114$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.598427	$E(\pi_2)$	0.598622				
	$E(\pi_3)$	0.598394	$E(\pi_3)$	0.598622				
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.598394	$E(\pi_4)$	0.598589				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.598361	$E(\pi_5)$	0.598589				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.598361	$E(\pi_6)$	0.598557				
At $t = 1$								
$\delta_1 = 1.001631$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.599551	$E(\pi_2)$	0.599539	0.500082	reject	0.599434	0.599632
$Q_1 = 1.199066$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.599481	$E(\pi_3)$	0.599632				
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.599551	$E(\pi_4)$	0.599585				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.599527	$E(\pi_5)$	0.599632				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.599551	$E(\pi_6)$	0.599632				
At $t=2$					-			
$\delta_2 = 1.001411$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.600318	$E(\pi_3)$	0.600479	0.500047	reject	0.600436	0.600322
$Q_2 = 1.200758$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.600436	$E(\pi_4)$	0.600400				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.600396	$E(\pi_5)$	0.600479				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.600436	$E(\pi_6)$	0.600479				

Table 3.9

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

128

(Continued on next page)

APPENDIX 3A.	TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	T															
	idum = -555	if accept x_t^i		π_t^B			0.596927				0.597258			0.592739				0.595300
	$3, Q_0 = 1.2,$	Payoffs i		π_t^A			0.596880				0.597245			0.592680				0.595300
(Basic Game)	$14, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.00$	orium Strategies	Response	A's response in odd t	B's response in even t		accept				accept			accept				Default
Process Model	$= 0.5, \ \theta = 0.001$	Equilil	Offer	x_t^A in even t	x^B_t in odd t		0.500020				0.499995			0.500025				
9 : Wiener	$= 0.05, x_T =$			(π^B_{t+n})			0.596904	0.596904	0.596882		0.597258	0.597247		0.592685				
Exhibit	5, $\varphi_0^B =$	iefs		E_t^B			$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				A
	$.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0.$	Bel		(π^A_{t+n})			0.596880	0.596858	0.596858		0.597234	0.597234		0.592680				N/
	$\theta_0^B = 0$			E_t^A			$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				
	$T=6, \ \theta_0^A=1.2$					At $t = 3$	$\delta_3 = 0.994211$	$Q_3 = 1.193807$		At $t = 4$	$\delta_4 = 1.000582$	$Q_4 = 1.194502$	At $t = 5$	$\delta_5 = 0.992396$	$Q_5 = 1.185419$	At $t = 6$	$\delta_6 = 1.004370$	$Q_6 = 1.190599$

		Exh	ibit 10:	Wiener Pro	cess Model (A	lternative Game)		
$T = 6, \ \theta_0^A = 1.5$	$\theta_0^B = 0$	0.8, $\varphi_0^A = 0$	$.5, \varphi_0^B =$	$= 0.05, x_T =$	$= 0.5, \ \theta = 0.001$	14, $\varphi = 0.0004$, $\sigma = 0.06$	$3, Q_0 = 1.2,$	idum = -1
		Bel	iefs		Equili	orium Strategies	Payoffs' if a	accept x_{t-1}^i
				2	Offer	Response		٦
	Ē	$^{1}(\pi_{t+n}^{A})$	Etp	(π^B_{t+n})	$egin{array}{c} x_t^A ext{ in even } t \ x_t^B ext{ in odd } t \end{array}$	A's response in even tB 's response in odd t	π_t^A	π_t^B
At $t = 0$								
$\delta_0 = 0.994825$	$E(\pi_1)$	0.596797	$E(\pi_1)$	0.596855	0.499989	N/A	Z	/A
$Q_0 = 1.193791$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.596658	$E(\pi_2)$	0.596855				
	$E(\pi_3)$	0.596658	$E(\pi_3)$	0.596716				
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.596520	$E(\pi_4)$	0.596717				
-	$E(\pi_5)$	0.596520	$E(\pi_5)$	0.596578				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.596381	$E(\pi_6)$	0.596578				
At $t = 1$								
$\delta_1 = 0.998946$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.596184	$E(\pi_2)$	0.596266	0.500027	accept	0.596253	0.596279
$Q_1 = 1.192532$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.596185	$E(\pi_3)$	0.596185				
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.596103	$E(\pi_4)$	0.596185				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.596103	$E(\pi_5)$	0.596103				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.596021	$E(\pi_6)$	0.596103				
At $t=2$								
$\delta_2 = 1.001174$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.596944	$E(\pi_3)$	0.596954	0.50001	reject	0.596933	0.596999
$Q_2 = 1.193932$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.596910	$E(\pi_4)$	0.596954				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.596910	$E(\pi_5)$	0.596920				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.596876	$E(\pi_6)$	0.596920				

Table 3.10

(Continued on next page)

	idum = -1	accept x_{t-1}^i	#B	, t		0.602953				0.602385			0.604724				0.602709
	$Q_0 = 1.2,$	Payoffs if	Å.	; t		0.602954				0.602217			0.604773				0.602709
lternative Game)	$14, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.00$	orium Strategies	Response A's response in even +	B's response in odd t		reject				reject			reject				Default
cess Model (A)	$= 0.5, \ \theta = 0.001$	Equilit	Offer r^{A} in even t	x_t^B in odd t		0.500069				0.500020			0.50000				And a second
Wiener Pro	$= 0.05, x_T =$		(<i>#B</i>)	\"t+n/		0.603079	0.603004	0.603079		0.602308	0.602363		0.604789				
ibit 10:	$5, \varphi_0^B =$	iefs	R.B	1		$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				Α/
Exh	$.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0$	Bel	(<i>m</i> .A.)	/ <i>u</i> + <i>u</i> /		0.602904	0.603055	0.603055		0.602350	0.602350		0.604784				N/
	$\theta_0^B = 0$		E.A	1		$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				
	$T = 6, \ \theta_0^A = 1.2$		-		At $t = 3$	$\delta_3 = 1.010030$	$Q_3 = 1.205907$		At $t = 4$	$\delta_4 = 0.998918$	$Q_4 = 1.204602$	At $t = 5$	$\delta_5 = 1.004063$	$Q_5 = 1.209497$	At $t = 6$	$\delta_6 = 0.996627$	$Q_6 = 1.205417$

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

	(Alternativ
3.11	Model
Table	Process

Exhibit 2, $\theta_0^B = 0.8$, $\varphi_0^A = 0.5$, $\frac{1}{2}$	Exhibit $0.8, \varphi_0^A = 0.5, \langle 0.8, \varphi_0^A \rangle$	ibit .5, <	$\frac{11}{\rho_0^B}$	Wiener Problem $Properties = 0.05, x_T = 1000$	ccess Model (A = 0.5 , $\theta = 0.00$	Iternative Game) 14, $\varphi = 0.0004$, $\sigma = 0.00$	$6, Q_0 = 1.2$, $idum = -3$
		Be	liefs		Equili	brium Strategies	Payoffs if	accept x_{t-1}^i
_					Offer	Response		
	Ē	$^{4}(\pi^{A}_{t+n})$	Et	$^{3}(\pi_{t+n}^{B})$	x_t^A in even t	A's response in even t	π_t^A	π_t^B
					x_t^B in odd t	B's response in odd t		
At $t = 0$								
$\delta_0 = 1.000852$	$E(\pi_1)$	0.600693	$E(\pi_1)$	0.600422	0.500126	N/A	4	V/A
$Q_0 = 1.201023$	$ E(\pi_2)$	0.600322	$E(\pi_2)$	0.600887				
	$ E(\pi_3)$	0.600693	$E(\pi_3)$	0.600608				
	$ E(\pi_4)$	0.600508	$E(\pi_4)$	0.600887				
	$ E(\pi_5)$	0.600693	$E(\pi_5)$	0.600794				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.600693	$E(\pi_6)$	0.600887			-	
At $t = 1$								
$\delta_1 = 1.005739$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.603668	$E(\pi_2)$	0.604415	0.500303	reject	0.604111	0.603805
$Q_1 = 1.207916$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.604334	$E(\pi_3)$	0.603915				
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.604001	$E(\pi_4)$	0.604415				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.604334	$E(\pi_5)$	0.604248				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.604334	$E(\pi_6)$	0.604415				
At $t = 2$								
$\delta_2 = 1.002991$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.606054	$E(\pi_3)$	0.605630	0.500180	reject	0.605397	0.606131
$Q_2 = 1.211528$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.605743	$E(\pi_4)$	0.606097				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.606054	$E(\pi_5)$	0.605941				
	$E(\pi_{\rm fc})$	0.606054	$E(\pi_6)$	0.606097	-			

(Continued on next page)

132

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

	, $idum = -3$	accept x_{t-1}^i	π_t^B	0 610055	DOCOTO:O		0.609684			0.610936				0.613157
	$3, Q_0 = 1.2,$	Payoffs if	π_t^A	0.611304	100110.0		0.609249			0.611079				0.613157
ternative Game)	$4, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.00$	brium Strategies	Response A 's response in even t B's response in odd t	reiert		n an	reject			reject	-			Default
cess Model (Al	$= 0.5, \ \theta = 0.001$	Equilib	Offer x_t^A in even t x_t^B in odd t	0 500178			0.500058			0.50000				
Wiener Pro	$= 0.05, x_T =$		(π^B_{t+n})	0.611509	0.611502		0.609473	0.609473		0.611082				
ibit 11 :	$.5, \varphi_0^B =$	liefs	E_t^B	E(#,)	$E(\pi_5)$ $E(\pi_6)$	10-1	$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				/A
Exh	$0.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0$	Bel	(π^A_{t+n})	0.611057	0.611477		0.609609	0.609609		0.611077				N/
	$\theta_0^B = 0$		E_t^A	E(m.)	$E(\pi_5)$ $E(\pi_5)$		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				
	$T = 6, \ \theta_0^A = 1.5$			At $t = 3$ $5_2 - 1$ 008039	$Q_3 = 1.222349$	At $t = 4$	$\delta_4 = 0.997205$	$Q_4 = 1.218933$	At $t = 5$	$\delta_5 = 1.002529$	$Q_5 = 1.222015$	At $t = 6$	$\delta_6 = 1.003518$	$Q_6 = 1.226314$

		EX	chibit 12	: Wiener P	rocess Model (.	Alternative Game)		
$T=6, \ heta_0^A=1.5$	$\theta_0^B = \theta_0^B = 0$	$0.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0$	$5, \varphi_0^B =$	$= 0.05, x_T =$	$= 0.5, \ \theta = 0.001$	$[4, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.00$	$6, Q_0 = 1.2,$	idum = -1000
		Bel	iefs		Equilit	orium Strategies	Payoffs il	$accept x_{t-1}^{i}$
					Offer	Response		
	Et.	$^{4}(\pi^{A}_{t+n})$	Et ^B	(π^B_{t+n})	x_t^A in even t	A's response in even t	π_t^A	π_t^B
					x_t^{τ} in odd t	B's response in odd t		
At $t = 0$								
$\delta_0 = 0.999042$	$E(\pi_1)$	0.599397	$E(\pi_1)$	0.599476	0.499981	N/A	<u></u>	V/A
$Q_0 = 1.198850$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.599305	$E(\pi_2)$	0.599591				
	$E(\pi_3)$	0.599397	$E(\pi_3)$	0.599522				
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.599351	$E(\pi_4)$	0.599591				
-	$E(\pi_5)$	0.599397	$E(\pi_5)$	0.599568				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.599397	$E(\pi_6)$	0.599591				
At $t = 1$								
$\delta_1 = 0.991538$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.594241	$E(\pi_2)$	0.594322	0.500028	accept	0.594330	0.594376
$Q_1 = 1.188705$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.594240	$E(\pi_3)$	0.594180				
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.594098	$E(\pi_4)$	0.594180				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.594098	$E(\pi_5)$	0.594038				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.593956	$E(\pi_6)$	0.594038				
At $t = 2$								
$\delta_2 = 1.000038$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.594353	$E(\pi_3)$	0.594307	0.500024	reject	0.594342	0.594408
$Q_2 = 1.188750$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.594264	$E(\pi_4)$	0.594307				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.594264	$E(\pi_5)$	0.594218				
	$E(\pi_{6})$	0.594175	$E(\pi_6)$	0.594218				

Table 3.12

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

134

(Continued on next page)

.

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

	, $idum = -1000$	if accept x_{t-1}^i	π_t^B		0.597244			0.599139			0.598882				0.602989
	$3, Q_0 = 1.2$	Payoffs	π_t^A		0.597301			0.599123			0.598889				0.602989
Alternative Game)	$[4, \varphi = 0.0004, \sigma = 0.00]$	orium Strategies	Response A 's response in even t B's response in odd t		reject			reject			reject				Default
rocess Model ($= 0.5, \ \theta = 0.001$	Equilil	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Offer} \\ x_t^A \text{ in even } t \\ x_t^B \text{ in odd } t \end{array}$		0.500007			0.50003			0.50000				
: Wiener P	$= 0.05, x_T =$		(π^B_{t+n})		0.597276	0.597260 0.597260		0.599137	0.599151		0.598894				
chibit 12	$.5, \varphi_0^B =$	liefs	E_t^B		$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_5)$ $E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				/A
Ê	$.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0$	Bel	(π^A_{t+n})		0.597252	0.597252 0.597236		0.599138	0.599138		0.598889				N/
	$\theta_0^B = 0$		E_t^A		$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_5)$ $E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				
	$T = 6, \ \theta_0^A = 1.5$			At $t = 3$	$\delta_3 = 1.004875$	$Q_3 = 1.194545$	At $t = 4$	$\delta_4=1.003111$	$Q_4 = 1.198261$	At $t = 5$	$\delta_5 = 0.999591$	$Q_5 = 1.197771$	At $t = 6$	$\delta_6 = 1.006852$	$Q_6 = 1.205978$

.

.

		Ex	hibit 13	: Wiener P.	rocess Model (Alternative Game)		
$T = 6, \ \theta_0^A = 1.2$	$\theta_{0}^{B} = 0$	$0.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0.$	$5, \varphi_0^B =$	$= 0.05, x_T =$	$= 0.5, \ \theta = 0.00$	14, $\varphi = 0.0004$, $\sigma = 0.06$	$3, Q_0 = 1.2$	idum = -555
		Bel	iefs		Equili	brium Strategies	Payoffs ¹	if accept x_{t-1}^i
					Offer	Response		
	Et	(π^A_{t+n})	Et	(π^B_{t+n})	x_t^A in even t	A's response in even t	π_t^A	π_t^B
					x_t^B in odd t	B's response in odd t		
At $t = 0$								
$\delta_0 = 0.997595$	$E(\pi_1)$	0.598459	$E(\pi_1)$	0.598622	0.499946	N/A		N/A
$Q_0 = 1.197114$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.598427	$E(\pi_2)$	0.598622				
	$E(\pi_3)$	0.598427	$E(\pi_3)$	0.598589	-			
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.598394	$E(\pi_4)$	0.598589				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.598394	$E(\pi_5)$	0.598557		- 1		
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.598361	$E(\pi_6)$	0.598557				
At $t = 1$								
$\delta_1 = 1.001631$	$E(\pi_2)$	0.599458	$E(\pi_2)$	0.599632	0.500066	reject	0.599468	0.599598
$Q_1 = 1.199066$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.599551	$E(\pi_3)$	0.599562				
	$E(\pi_4)$	0.599504	$E(\pi_4)$	0.599632				
	$E(\pi_5)$	0.599551	$E(\pi_5)$	0.599609				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.599551	$E(\pi_6)$	0.599632				
At $t = 2$								
$\delta_2 = 1.001411$	$E(\pi_3)$	0.600436	$E(\pi_3)$	0.600361	0.500035	reject	0.600300	0.600458
$Q_2 = 1.200758$	$E(\pi_4)$	0.600357	$E(\pi_4)$	0.600479				
-	$E(\pi_5)$	0.600436	$E(\pi_5)$	0.600440				
	$E(\pi_6)$	0.600436	$E(\pi_6)$	0.600479				

(Continued on next page)

		1,	······	~~~~~		·				_					
	idum = -555	accept x_{t-1}^i	π_t^B		0.596861			0.597259			0.592708				0.595300
	$3, Q_0 = 1.2,$	Payoffs if	π_t^A		0.596946			0.597243			0.592712				0.595300
Alternative Game)	4, $\varphi = 0.0004$, $\sigma = 0.00$	brium Strategies	Response A 's response in even t B's response in odd t		reject			reject			accept				Default
rocess Model (A	$= 0.5, \ \theta = 0.001$	Equilib	Offer x_t^A in even t x_t^B in odd t		0.500007			0.50002			0.50000				and the second
: Wiener P ₁	$= 0.05, x_T =$		(π^B_{t+n})		0.596905	0.596882 0.596882		0.597247	0.597247		0.592685				
hibit 13	$5, \varphi_0^B =$	iefs	E^B_t		$E(\pi_4)$	$E(\pi_5)$ $E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				A
Ex	$.8, \ \varphi_0^A = 0$	Bel	(π^A_{t+n})		0.596880	0.596880 0.596858		0.597245	0.597234		0.592680	1			N/
	$\theta_0^B = 0$		E_t^A		$E(\pi_4)$	$\left \begin{array}{c} E(\pi_5) \\ E(\pi_6) \end{array} \right $		$E(\pi_5)$	$E(\pi_6)$		$E(\pi_6)$				
	$T = 6, \ heta_0^A = 1.2$			At $t = 3$	$\delta_3 = 0.994211$	$Q_3 = 1.193807$	At $t = 4$	$\delta_4 = 1.000582$	$Q_4 = 1.194502$	At $t = 5$	$\delta_5 = 0.992396$	$Q_5 = 1.185419$	At $t = 6$	$\delta_6 = 1.004370$	$Q_6 = 1.190599$

APPENDIX 3A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

Appendix 3B

Figures for Chapter 3

3B.1 Autoregressive Binomial Models I

Unconditional Frequencies

Figure 3.3 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.4 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.3, \ \alpha_B = 1.5, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 1.8, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.5 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 1.5, \ \beta_B = 2.0, \ x_T = 0.4, \ \rho = 0.7, \ \delta_0 = 0.8, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.6 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 3.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.7: Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$ $[T = 8, \alpha_A = 2.0, \alpha_B = 2.0, \beta_A = 1.0, x_T = 0.3, \rho = 0.3, \delta_0 = 0.3, Q_0 = 1.0]$

Figure 3.8 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$ $[T = 8, \alpha_A = 1.0, \alpha_B = 2.0, \beta_A = 3.0, x_T = 0.3, \rho = 0.3, \delta_0 = 0.3, Q_0 = 1.0]$

Figure 3.9: Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[\rho = 0.1 \rightarrow 0.9]$ $[T = 8, x_T = 0.5, \delta_0 = 0.5, Q_0 = 1.0]$ Case 1: $\alpha_A = 2.0, \alpha_B = 3.0, \beta_A = 1.0, \beta_B = 1.0$ Case 2: $\alpha_A = 1.0, \alpha_B = 1.0, \beta_A = 3.0, \beta_B = 2.5$ Case 3: $\alpha_A = 2.0, \alpha_B = 1.0, \beta_A = 1.0, \beta_B = 3.0$ Case 4: $\alpha_A = 1.0, \alpha_B = 2.0, \beta_A = 3.0, \beta_B = 1.0$ $\begin{array}{lll} \mbox{Figure 3.10:} & \mbox{Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game)} & [x_T = 0.1 \rightarrow 0.9] \\ & [T = 8, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1.0] \\ & \mbox{Case 1:} & \ \alpha_A = 2.0, \ \alpha_B = 3.0, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0 \\ & \mbox{Case 2:} & \ \alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 2.5 \\ & \mbox{Case 3:} & \ \alpha_A = 2.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 3.0 \\ & \mbox{Case 4:} & \ \alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0 \\ \end{array}$

Figure 3.11 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.12 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.3, \ \alpha_B = 1.5, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 1.8, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.13 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 1.5, \ \beta_B = 2.0, \ x_T = 0.4, \ \rho = 0.7, \ \delta_0 = 0.8, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.14 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 3.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.15 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$ $[T = 8, \alpha_A = 2.0, \alpha_B = 2.0, \beta_A = 1.0, x_T = 0.3, \rho = 0.3, \delta_0 = 0.3, Q_0 = 1.0]$

Figure 3.16 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$ $[T = 8, \alpha_A = 1.0, \alpha_B = 2.0, \beta_A = 3.0, x_T = 0.3, \rho = 0.3, \delta_0 = 0.3, Q_0 = 1.0]$

 $\begin{array}{lll} \mbox{Figure 3.17:} & \mbox{Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) } [\rho = 0.1 \rightarrow 0.9] \\ & \mbox{$[T=8, x_T=0.5, \ensuremath{\delta_0}=0.5, \ensuremath{Q_0}=1.0]$} \\ & \mbox{Case 1:} & \mbox{$\alpha_A=2.0, \ensuremath{\alpha_B}=3.0, \ensuremath{\beta_A}=1.0, \ensuremath{\beta_B}=1.0$} \\ & \mbox{Case 2:} & \mbox{$\alpha_A=1.0, \ensuremath{\alpha_B}=1.0, \ensuremath{\beta_A}=3.0, \ensuremath{\beta_B}=2.5$} \\ & \mbox{Case 3:} & \mbox{$\alpha_A=2.0, \ensuremath{\alpha_B}=1.0, \ensuremath{\beta_A}=3.0, \ensuremath{\beta_B}=3.0$} \\ & \mbox{Case 4:} & \mbox{$\alpha_A=1.0, \ensuremath{\alpha_B}=2.0, \ensuremath{\beta_A}=3.0, \ensuremath{\beta_B}=1.0$} \\ \end{array}$

Figure 3.18 :

3.18: Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[x_T = 0.1 \rightarrow 0.9]$ $[T = 8, x_T = 0.5, \delta_0 = 0.5, Q_0 = 1.0]$ Case 1: $\alpha_A = 2.0, \alpha_B = 3.0, \beta_A = 1.0, \beta_B = 1.0$ Case 2: $\alpha_A = 1.0, \alpha_B = 1.0, \beta_A = 3.0, \beta_B = 2.5$ Case 3: $\alpha_A = 2.0, \alpha_B = 1.0, \beta_A = 1.0, \beta_B = 3.0$ Case 4: $\alpha_A = 1.0, \alpha_B = 2.0, \beta_A = 3.0, \beta_B = 1.0$ Figure 3.3: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$

 $(\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.4: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ ($\alpha_A = 1.3, \ \alpha_B = 1.5, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 1.8, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.5: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$

 $(\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 1.5, \ \beta_B = 2.0, \ x_T = 0.4, \ \rho = 0.7, \ \delta_0 = 0.8, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.6: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $(\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 3.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.7: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[\beta_B=1.0\rightarrow 3.8]$

 $(T=8, \ \alpha_A=2.0, \ \alpha_B=2.0, \ \beta_A=1.0, \ x_T=0.3, \ \rho=0.3, \ \delta_0=0.3, \ Q_0=1.0)$



Figure 3.8: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$ $(T = 8, \ \alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ x_T = 0.3, \ \rho = 0.3, \ \delta_0 = 0.3, \ Q_0 = 1.0)$









APPENDIX 3B. FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 3

Figure 3.11: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ ($\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.12: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ ($\alpha_A = 1.3, \ \alpha_B = 1.5, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 1.8, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.13: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $(\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 1.5, \ \beta_B = 2.0, \ x_T = 0.4, \ \rho = 0.7, \ \delta_0 = 0.8, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.14: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ ($\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 3.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



APPENDIX 3B. FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 3

Figure 3.15: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$ $(T = 8, \ \alpha_A = 2.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ x_T = 0.3, \ \rho = 0.3, \ \delta_0 = 0.3, \ Q_0 = 1.0)$



Figure 3.16: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$ $(T = 8, \ \alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ x_T = 0.3, \ \rho = 0.3, \ \delta_0 = 0.3, \ Q_0 = 1.0)$









.........





APPENDIX 3B. FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 3

3B.2 Autoregressive Binomial Models II

Conditional Frequencies

Figure 3.19: Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.20: Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.3, \ \alpha_B = 1.5, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 1.8, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.21 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 1.5, \ \beta_B = 2.0, \ x_T = 0.4, \ \rho = 0.7, \ \delta_0 = 0.8, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.22 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 3.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.23 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$ $[T = 8, \alpha_A = 2.0, \alpha_B = 2.0, \beta_A = 1.0, x_T = 0.3, \rho = 0.3, \delta_0 = 0.3, Q_0 = 1.0]$

Figure 3.24 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$ $[T = 8, \alpha_A = 1.0, \alpha_B = 2.0, \beta_A = 3.0, x_T = 0.3, \rho = 0.3, \delta_0 = 0.3, Q_0 = 1.0]$

 $\begin{array}{lll} \mbox{Figure 3.25:} & \mbox{Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game)} & [\rho = 0.1 \rightarrow 0.9] \\ & & [T = 8, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1.0] \\ & \mbox{Case 1:} & \ \alpha_A = 2.0, \ \alpha_B = 3.0, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0 \\ & \mbox{Case 2:} & \ \alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 2.5 \\ & \mbox{Case 3:} & \ \alpha_A = 2.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 3.0 \\ & \mbox{Case 4:} & \ \alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0 \\ \end{array}$

Figure 3.26 :

26 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[x_T = 0.1 \rightarrow 0.9]$ $[T = 8, x_T = 0.5, \delta_0 = 0.5, Q_0 = 1.0]$ Case 1 : $\alpha_A = 2.0, \alpha_B = 3.0, \beta_A = 1.0, \beta_B = 1.0$ Case 2 : $\alpha_A = 1.0, \alpha_B = 1.0, \beta_A = 3.0, \beta_B = 2.5$ Case 3 : $\alpha_A = 2.0, \alpha_B = 1.0, \beta_A = 1.0, \beta_B = 3.0$ Case 4 : $\alpha_A = 1.0, \alpha_B = 2.0, \beta_A = 3.0, \beta_B = 1.0$

APPENDIX 3B. FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 3

Figure 3.27 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.28 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.3, \ \alpha_B = 1.5, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 1.8, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.29 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 1.5, \ \beta_B = 2.0, \ x_T = 0.4, \ \rho = 0.7, \ \delta_0 = 0.8, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.30 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $[\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 3.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.31 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$ $[T = 8, \alpha_A = 2.0, \alpha_B = 2.0, \beta_A = 1.0, x_T = 0.3, \rho = 0.3, \delta_0 = 0.3, Q_0 = 1.0]$

Figure 3.32 : Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$ $[T = 8, \alpha_A = 1.0, \alpha_B = 2.0, \beta_A = 3.0, x_T = 0.3, \rho = 0.3, \delta_0 = 0.3, Q_0 = 1.0]$

Figure 3.34 :

Autoreg. Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[x_T = 0.1 \rightarrow 0.9]$ $[T = 8, x_T = 0.5, \delta_0 = 0.5, Q_0 = 1.0]$ Case 1: $\alpha_A = 2.0, \alpha_B = 3.0, \beta_A = 1.0, \beta_B = 1.0$ Case 2: $\alpha_A = 1.0, \alpha_B = 1.0, \beta_A = 3.0, \beta_B = 2.5$ Case 3: $\alpha_A = 2.0, \alpha_B = 1.0, \beta_A = 1.0, \beta_B = 3.0$ Case 4: $\alpha_A = 1.0, \alpha_B = 2.0, \beta_A = 3.0, \beta_B = 1.0$ Figure 3.19: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$

 $(\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.20: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ ($\alpha_A = 1.3, \ \alpha_B = 1.5, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 1.8, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.21: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$

 $(\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 1.5, \ \beta_B = 2.0, \ x_T = 0.4, \ \rho = 0.7, \ \delta_0 = 0.8, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.22: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ ($\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 3.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.23: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$

 $(T=8, \ \alpha_A=2.0, \ \alpha_B=2.0, \ \beta_A=1.0, \ x_T=0.3, \ \rho=0.3, \ \delta_0=0.3, \ Q_0=1.0)$



Figure 3.24: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$ $(T = 8, \alpha_A = 1.0, \alpha_B = 2.0, \beta_A = 3.0, x_T = 0.3, \rho = 0.3, \delta_0 = 0.3, Q_0 = 1.0)$



Case 2: $\alpha_A = 1.0$, $\alpha_B = 1.0$, $\beta_A = 3.0$, $\beta_B = 2.5$ Figure 3.25: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[\rho=0.1\rightarrow0.9]$ $x_T = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1.0)$ Case 1: $\alpha_A = 2.0, \ \alpha_B = 3.0, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0$ ж Ж F)









Figure 3.26: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Basic Game) $[x_T = 0.1 \rightarrow 0.9]$ $(T = 8, \ \rho = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1.0)$ Case 2: $\alpha_A = 1.0$, $\alpha_B = 1.0$, $\beta_A = 3.0$, $\beta_B = 2.5$ Case 1: $\alpha_A = 2.0$, $\alpha_B = 3.0$, $\beta_A = 1.0$, $\beta_B = 1.0$



APPENDIX 3B. FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 3

Figure 3.27: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$

 $(\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.28: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ ($\alpha_A = 1.3$, $\alpha_B = 1.5$, $\beta_A = 1.0$, $\beta_B = 1.8$, $x_T = 0.5$, $\rho = 0.4$, $\delta_0 = 0.4$, $Q_0 = 1.2$)



Figure 3.29: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ $(\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 1.5, \ \beta_B = 2.0, \ x_T = 0.4, \ \rho = 0.7, \ \delta_0 = 0.8, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.30: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 18]$ ($\alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ \beta_B = 3.0, \ x_T = 0.5, \ \rho = 0.4, \ \delta_0 = 0.4, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.31: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[\beta_B=1.0\rightarrow 3.8]$

 $(T = 8, \ \alpha_A = 2.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ x_T = 0.3, \ \rho = 0.3, \ \delta_0 = 0.3, \ Q_0 = 1.0)$



Figure 3.32: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[\beta_B = 1.0 \rightarrow 3.8]$ $(T = 8, \ \alpha_A = 1.0, \ \alpha_B = 2.0, \ \beta_A = 3.0, \ x_T = 0.3, \ \rho = 0.3, \ \delta_0 = 0.3, \ Q_0 = 1.0)$


Case 2: $\alpha_A = 1.0$, $\alpha_B = 1.0$, $\beta_A = 3.0$, $\beta_B = 2.5$ Case 4: $\alpha_A = 1.0$, $\alpha_B = 2.0$, $\beta_A = 3.0$, $\beta_B = 1.0$ 8 2 8 2 2 3 2 3 2 3 Figure 3.33: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[\rho=0.1\rightarrow0.9]$ $(T = 8, x_T = 0.5, \delta_0 = 0.5, Q_0 = 1.0)$ Case 3: $\alpha_A = 2.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 3.0$ Case 1: $\alpha_A = 2.0, \ \alpha_B = 3.0, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0$



...........

APPENDIX 3B. FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 3



APPENDIX 3B. FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 3

Figure 3.34: Autoregressive Binomial Model (Alternative Game) $[x_T = 0.1 \rightarrow 0.9]$ $(T = 8, \ \rho = 0.5, \ \delta_0 = 0.5, \ Q_0 = 1.0)$ Case 2: $\alpha_A = 1.0$, $\alpha_B = 1.0$, $\beta_A = 3.0$, $\beta_B = 2.5$ Case 1: $\alpha_A = 2.0, \ \alpha_B = 3.0, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 1.0$



Case 4: $\alpha_A = 1.0$, $\alpha_B = 2.0$, $\beta_A = 3.0$, $\beta_B = 1.0$ Case 3: $\alpha_A = 2.0, \ \alpha_B = 1.0, \ \beta_A = 1.0, \ \beta_B = 3.0$



3B.3 Generalized Wiener Process Models

Conditional Frequencies

Figure 3.35 : Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[\theta = -0.05 \rightarrow 0.06]$ $[\theta_A = 5.5, \ \theta_B = 5.5, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 1.5, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

- Figure 3.36 : Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[\theta = -0.05 \rightarrow 0.06]$ $[\theta_A = 0.5, \ \theta_B = 0.5, \ \varphi_A = 0.5, \ \varphi_B = 0.5, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$
- Figure 3.37: Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[\theta = -0.05 \rightarrow 0.06]$ $[\theta_A = 5.5, \ \theta_B = 5.5, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 1.5, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.38: Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[\theta = -0.05 \rightarrow 0.06]$ $[\theta_A = 0.5, \ \theta_B = 0.5, \ \varphi_A = 0.5, \ \varphi_B = 0.5, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.39 : Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[\theta_A = 0.5 \rightarrow 6.0]$ $[\theta_B = 0.5, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 0.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.40: Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[\theta_A = 0.5 \rightarrow 6.0]$ $[\theta_B = 6.0, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 1.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.41: Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[\theta_A = 0.5 \rightarrow 6.0]$ $[\theta_B = 0.5, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 0.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.42: Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[\theta_A = 0.5 \rightarrow 6.0]$ $[\theta_B = 6.0, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 1.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.43 : Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 12]$ $[\theta_A = 5.5, \ \theta_B = 5.5, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 1.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.44 : Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 12]$ $[\theta_A = 0.5, \ \theta_B = 0.5, \ \varphi_A = 0.5, \ \varphi_B = 0.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.45: Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 12]$ $[\theta_A = 5.5, \ \theta_B = 5.5, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 1.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$

Figure 3.46 : Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 12]$ $[\theta_A = 0.5, \ \theta_B = 0.5, \ \varphi_A = 0.5, \ \varphi_B = 0.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2]$ APPENDIX 3B. FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 3

Figure 3.35: Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[\theta = -0.05 \rightarrow 0.06]$ $(\theta_A = 5.5, \ \theta_B = 5.5, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 1.5, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.36: Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[\theta = -0.05 \rightarrow 0.06]$

 $(\theta_A = 0.5, \ \theta_B = 0.5, \ \varphi_A = 0.5, \ \varphi_B = 0.5, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.37: Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[\theta = -0.05 \rightarrow 0.06]$ $(\theta_A = 5.5, \ \theta_B = 5.5, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 1.5, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.38: Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[\theta = -0.05 \rightarrow 0.06]$ $(\theta_A = 0.5, \ \theta_B = 0.5, \ \varphi_A = 0.5, \ \varphi_B = 0.5, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.39: Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[\theta_A = 0.5 \rightarrow 6.0]$

 $(\theta_B = 0.5, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 0.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.40: Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[\theta_A = 0.5 \rightarrow 6.0]$ $(\theta_B = 6.0, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 1.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.41: Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[\theta_A = 0.5 \rightarrow 6.0]$ $(\theta_B = 0.5, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 0.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.42: Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[\theta_A = 0.5 \rightarrow 6.0]$ $(\theta_B = 6.0, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 1.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.43: Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[T=2\rightarrow 12]$

 $(\theta_A = 5.5, \ \theta_B = 5.5, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 1.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.44: Wiener Process Model (Basic Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 12]$

 $(\theta_A = 0.5, \ \theta_B = 0.5, \ \varphi_A = 0.5, \ \varphi_B = 0.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.45: Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[T=2\rightarrow 12]$

 $(\theta_A = 5.5, \ \theta_B = 5.5, \ \varphi_A = 1.5, \ \varphi_B = 1.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Figure 3.46: Wiener Process Model (Alternative Game) $[T = 2 \rightarrow 12]$

 $(\theta_A = 0.5, \ \theta_B = 0.5, \ \varphi_A = 0.5, \ \varphi_B = 0.5, \ \theta = 0.0014, \ \varphi = 0.0004, \ \sigma = 0.06, \ Q_0 = 1.2)$



Appendix 3C

Simulation Codes

3C.1 Autoregressive Binomial Models

ABBM1.c Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995

#include <stdio.h>
#include <malloc.h>
#include <math.h>
#include <stdlib.h>

/*

/* ABBM1.c : Autoregressive Binomial Bargaining Model One

1

/* ABBM1.c simulates a special case of bilateral bargaining game */
/* that is studied in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 of my Ph.D. dissertation */
/* at California Institute of Technology. The detailed behavioral */
/* assumptions of the game participants are given in the chapters, and */
/* we do not repeat them here. The particular game that is simulated */
/* is the one called "Basic Game" of "Autoregressive Binomial */
/* Bargaining Model" in the dissertation. Its "Alternative Game" is */
/* from the author. Hence, this version contains a very basic part of */
/* the simulation process, upon which we have made numerous */
/* modifications and extensions to create different versions of the */
/* program and have generated various types of data sets. */

DATA STRUCTURES

1* The bargaining process is described by a full binary tree with */ /* its depth equaling to an exogenously predetermined bargaining /* horizon minus one period. The tree is stored in a linked structure "node," which is defined below. Each level in the tree describes 1* each trading period, with the first level corresponding to Period 0. A left child of each node is associated with a state in which a /* currently observed value of epsilon is zero, whereas a right child */ is associated with epsilon one. Each node in the tree is given an unique id number, with its root node corresponding to one. The id number is incremented by one from the left node to the right node in each level. This numbering scheme enables us to reach any node * / /* in the tree, given the address of the root node and the id number, without using a recurrsive coding. In addition, each node can also /* be identified by an uniquely associated "path." A "path" is a sequence of observed epsilons upto the current period, and the sequence is stored in a linked list structure "binary," which is defined below. We have accomodated each node in both "node" and "binary" with a pointer that enables us to move in the list in any direction we wish, hoping to have some flexibility in future extensions.

DESIGN

After reading primary input values, we first create a root node /* /* of the bargaining tree and store the initial information by calling a subroutine plant_first_node() from main(). Then we add one node /* */ at a time by calling plant_tree() to create a full tree. We call point_to_parent() to add a pointer to each node that points to its parent node. calc_node() computes variable values to be stored in each node that are necessary for the computation of players' bargaining strategies. calc_strategy() computes each player's offer strategies and response strategies at each node. At this point, we have a full binary tree with each node containing Consequently, /* information that describe the bargaining process. optional subroutines can be accomodated to the program afterwards /* to generate various output.

*/

ABBM1.c Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995 2 FUNDAMENTAL NOTATIONS /* Notations are kept consistent with the ones used in the /* dissertation whenever it is appropriate and possible. For example, /* alpah_A in the dissertation is denoted as a_A in this program. */ */ /* Likewise, alpha_B = a_B, beta_A = b_A, and beta_B = b_B. Other /* Greek letters are replaced with English writings, such as rho and /* delta. */ PRIMARY INPUT VARIABLES . /* In this version, primary input variables are read interactively by calling a subroutine get_par() in main(). */ . /* */ /* Such input variables are : */ */ T : unsigned int (positive integer) /* /* /* /* Predetermined number of maximum bargaining periods */ a_A : float (positive constant) alpha_A, a parameter for Beta distribution that characterizes player A's prior a_B : float (positive constant) alpha_B, a parameter for Beta distribution that characterizes player B's prior b_A : float (positive constant) beta_A, a parameter for Beta distribution *'/ *' that characterizes player A's prior b_B : float (positive constant) */ */ beta_B, a parameter for Beta distribution that characterizes player B's prior */ */ X_T : float (0 <= X_T <= 1) Predetermined player A's default share in Period T */ */ */ rho : float (|rho| < 1) Describes the autocorrelation of delta delta0 : float Initial information that is available in Period 0 Q0 : float (positive real) Initial value of the asset in Period 0 * / BASIC OUTPUT * / We have included in this version, as an example of output, a /* /* subroutine trade_freq(). trade_freq() computes unconditional and */ /* conditional frequencies of agreement in each trading period, and /* writes the results in formatted output files, ta.dat and tb.dat. /* ta.dat contains information such as T, X_T, rho, and t (current /* period) along with computed unconditional and conditional /* frequencies. tb.dat contains information such a_A, a_B, b_A, b_B, /* and t along with the computed frequencies. Unconditional /* frequencies are computed by dividing (the number of nodes in which /* a response strategy indicates an acceptance) by (the total number */ /* of nodes in the level (trading period)). Conditional frequencies /* are computed by dividing (the number of reachable nodes in which a /* response strategy indicates an acceptance) by (the total number of /* reachable nodes in the level). A node is 'reachable' if there has */ /* been no trade upto the current period. If, for example, there has */ /* been an agreement in period 0, then none of the nodes in the tree /* other than the root node is reachable. Hence, the conditional */ /* frequencies cannot be computed for the rest of the nodes, and in * / such a case we give 0 frequency as its output. /* */ RELATED VERSIONS There are other versions of ABBM1.c that contain modules to */ /* /* simulate "Alternative Game" and to generate other output files. */ NOTE: main() is defined at the very end of the program. */ /*

```
ABBM1.C
          Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995
                               з
#define DISPLAY1 "BARGAINING SIMULATION PROGRAM : ABBM1.c \n"
#define ENDMESSAGE1 "END OF BARGAINING SIMULATION PROGRAM : ABBM1.c \n"
/* ______
#define space2 printf("\n\n")
#define space3 printf("\n\n\n")
#define LINE1 printf("*********
                    ,
****************** \n")
#define out2(fp, a1, a2) fprintf(fp, "%u %u \n", a1, a2)
#define out3(fp, a1, a2, a3) fprintf(fp, "%f %f %u \n", a1, a2, a3)
/* Defining data structure (declaration of global variables) ======== */
/* _____
/* "node" specifies each node in a full binary tree that describes
/* the stochastic bargaining process. Each node contains information
/* necessary to compute players' strategies as it appears below.
                                                */
  struct node
  {
    /* A's prior of e = 0 in the next period */
    float PA0:
                    /* A's prior of e = 1 in the next period */
    float PA1;
                    /* B's prior of e = 0 in the next period */
    float PB0;
                    /* B's prior of e = 1 in the next period */
    float PB1;
                      /* sum of e's upto the current period */
    int sum_e;
                   /* player i's offer in the current period */
    float X;
                unsigned int R;
    float Q;
    int flag;
    struct node *left;
    struct node *right;
    struct node *parent;
  }:
/* "binary" stores a value of e, 0 or 1, in each period, the sequence */
/* of which is stored in a linked list and is used to identify a path
                                                */
                                                * /
/* to each node in the bargaining tree.
  struct binary
  {
    int num:
    struct binary *next;
    struct binary *reverse;
  };
/* _____
```

```
ABBM1.c
```

Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995

4

```
FILE *fa;
                  /* Formatted output file */
 FILE *fb;
                  /* Formatted output file */
/*
 /* -------*/
/* display ================== */
/* displays the current program name.
                            */
void display()
ł
 space3;
 printf(DISPLAY1);
 space3;
 return;
} /* End of display() */
/* _____
/*
 /* opens files to write the output.
void open_files()
{
 fa = fopen("ta.dat", "w");
fb = fopen("tb.dat", "w");
 return:
} /* End of open_files() */
/* _______
/* close_files ===================================*/
 /*
                            */
/* closes the output files that have been opened in open_files().
void close_files()
ł
 fclose(fa);
 fclose(fb);
 return;
} /* End of close_files() */
/* _______
/*
/* prints the ending message on the monitor.
void end_message()
```

```
ABBM1.c
```

Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995

5

```
{
  space3:
  printf(ENDMESSAGE1);
  space3:
 return:
} /* End of end_message() */
/* power ================================== */
  *
/*
/* raise base to n-th power ; n >= 0 */
long int power(base, n)
  long int base, n;
{
  long int i, p;
  p = 1;
  for(i=1; i<=n; ++i)
   p = p * base;
  return p;
} /* End of power() */
* /
/* get_par() is called in main().
/* get_par() function reads input parameter values interactively.
                                                     */
void get_par(T, a_A, a_B, b_A, b_B, X_T, rho, delta0, Q0)
  unsigned int *T;
  float *a_A, *a_B, *b_A, *b_B, *X_T, *rho, *delta0, *Q0;
{
  printf("Enter T (even integer) : ");
  scanf("%d", T);
  printf("Enter a_A (positive real) : ");
  scanf("%f", a_A);
  printf("Enter a_B (positive real) : ");
  scanf("%f", a_B);
  printf("Enter b_A (positive real) : ");
  scanf("%f", b_A);
  printf("Enter b_B (positive real) : ");
  scanf("%f", b_B);
  printf("Enter X_T (positive real) : ");
  scanf("%f", X_T);
  printf("Enter rho (|real| < 1) : ");</pre>
  scanf("%f", rho);
  printf("Enter delta0 (real) : ");
  scanf("%f", delta0);
  printf("Enter Q0 (positive real) : ");
  scanf("%f", Q0);
  space3;
```

return;

```
ABBM1.c Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995
```

} /* End of get_par() */

p = p -> left;

```
/* _____
/*
 1*
 */
/* plant_first_node ============== */
1*
 */
/* creates the origin node of the binary tree.
struct node *plant_first_node(p, id, a_A, a_B, b_A, b_B, X_T, rho, delta0, Q0)
  struct node *p;
  long unsigned int id;
  float a_A, a_B, b_A, b_B, X_T, rho, delta0, Q0;
{
 p = (struct node *)calloc(1, sizeof(struct node));
 p->left = NULL;
 p->right = NULL;
 p \rightarrow id = id;
 p->delta = delta0;
 p \rightarrow PA1 = a_A / (a_A + b_A);
p \rightarrow PA0 = 1 - p \rightarrow PA1;
  p \rightarrow PB1 = a_B / (a_B + b_B);
  p->PB0 = 1 - p->PB1;
  p->sum_e = 0;
  p -> X = 0.0;
  p -> Q = Q0;
  return p;
} /* End of plant_first_node() */
                                     _____* */
/* plant_tree() constructs a full binary tree by adding one node each */
/* time. Each node added is assigned an unique id number that enables */
/* us to reach any node we wish, given the address of the origin and */
/* a "path" that is defined later. The id numbers are used throughout */
/* this program.
struct node *plant_tree(origin, id, path)
  struct node *origin;
  long unsigned int id;
  struct binary *path;
{
  struct node *p, *temp;
  p = origin;
  while (path != NULL)
  {
    if (path->num == 0)
    {
      if (p->left != NULL)
```

6

```
ABBM1.c
             Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995
                                         7
        else
        {
          temp = (struct node *)calloc(1, sizeof(struct node));
          temp->left = NULL;
          temp->right = NULL;
          temp->id = id;
          p->left = temp;
       }
     3
     else
     {
       if (p->right != NULL)
          p = p->right;
        else
        {
          temp = (struct node *)calloc(1, sizeof(struct node));
          temp->left = NULL;
          temp->right = NULL;
          temp->id = id;
          p->right = temp;
        )
     }
  path = path->reverse;
} /* End of while */
  return origin;
} /* End of plant_tree() */
/* find_path ================== */
/* Given an id number of a node, find_path() finds a unique sequence
                                                              */
/* of observed epsilons upto the current period. Such a sequence is
                                                               */
/* stored in a structure "binary."
                                                               */
struct binary *find_path(Z)
   long unsigned int Z;
{
   struct binary *first, *last, *now, *past, *list[30], *rt;
   long int counter;
   counter = 1;
   while (Z \ge 1)
   {
    now = (struct binary *)calloc(1, sizeof(struct binary));
    list[counter]=now;
    now -> num = (Z + 2);
     Z = (int)(Z/2);
     now->next = NULL;
     first = now;
     if (counter == 1)
     {
       last = now;
       last->reverse = NULL;
     }
     else
     {
       past->next = now;
       now->reverse = past;
     3
     past = now;
```

```
ABBM1.c
           Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995
                                    8
   counter = counter + 1;
  }
  rt = first->reverse;
  counter --;
  while(counter > 0)
  {
   free(list[counter]);
   counter -- ;
  3
  return rt;
} /* End of find_path() */
/* _________________*
/* find_period ============== */
/* _____
                                                      */
/* find_period() is called in calc_node() with an id number.
                                                      */
/* Given an id number of a node in the tree, find_period() returns
/* a period number to which the node with the given id number belongs. */
unsigned int find_period(id)
  long unsigned int id;
{
  long unsigned int counter;
  struct binary *path;
  counter = 0;
  path = find_path(id);
  while (path != NULL)
  {
     counter = counter + 1;
     path = path->reverse;
  }
  return counter;
} /* End of find_period() */
/* ______
.
/*
/* Provided the address of the root node, an id number and a path
                                                      */
  associated with a particular node in concern, goto_node() finds the */
.
/*
/* address of the node.
struct node *goto_node(root, id, path)
  struct node *root;
  long unsigned int id;
   struct binary *path;
{
   struct node *p;
   p = root;
   while (path != NULL)
   ł
     if (path->num == 0)
       p = p->left;
     else
       p = p->right;
```

```
ABBM1.c
```

3

{

{

Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995

path = path->reverse;

```
return p;
```

} /* End of goto_node() */

9

void point_to_parent(root, T)

```
struct node *root;
unsigned int T;
```

```
struct node *current_node;
struct binary *path;
long unsigned int i;
```

```
for (i=1; i <= (power(2,T) - 1); i++)
{
    path = find_path(i);
    current_node = goto_node(root, i, path);
    current_node->left->parent = current_node;
    current_node->right->parent = current_node;
}
```

return;

} /* End of point_to_parent() */

void calc_node(root, T, rho, a_A, a_B, b_A, b_B)

```
struct node *root;
unsigned int T;
float rho, a_A, a_B, b_A, b_B;
struct node *p;
struct binary *path;
long unsigned int i;
p = root;
```

```
for (i=2; i <= (power(2,T+1) - 1); i++)
{
    path = find_path(i);
    p = goto_node(root, i, path);
    p->sum_e = compute_sum_e(i);
    p->t = find_period(i);
    p->delta = rho * p->parent->delta + e_past(i);
```

```
ABBM1.C
           Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995
                                    10
    p \rightarrow PA1 = (a_A + p \rightarrow sum_e) / (a_A + b_A + p \rightarrow t);
    p \rightarrow PA0 = 1 - p \rightarrow PA1;
    p \rightarrow PB1 = (a_B + p \rightarrow sum_e) / (a_B + b_B + p \rightarrow t);
    p->PB0 = 1 - p->PB1;
p->Q = p->parent->Q * p->delta;
  }
  return:
) /* End of calc_node() */
/* sums a sequence of epsilons upto the current node, given its id
                                                      */
/* number.
int compute_sum_e(Z)
  long unsigned int Z;
{
  struct binary *moving;
  int e;
  moving = find_path(Z);
  if (moving != NULL)
  {
    e = moving->num;
    while (moving->reverse != NULL)
    {
     moving = moving->reverse;
     e = e + moving->num;
    }
  }
  else
    e = 0;
  return e;
} /* End of compute_sum_e() */
*/
/*
/* Given an id number, returns the latest observed value of e. */
int e_past(Z)
  long unsigned int Z;
{
   struct binary *moving;
  int i;
  moving = find_path(Z);
   if (moving == NULL)
    i = 0;
   else
   ł
    while (moving->reverse != NULL)
     moving = moving->reverse;
    i = moving->num;
```

ſ

```
ABBM1.c
                 Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995
                                                     11
   }
   return i;
} /* End of e_past() */
/* calc_strategy ============ */
/* ______
/* computes players' offer and response strategies at each node.
                                                                                 */
void calc_strategy(root, T, X_T)
   struct node *root;
   unsigned int T;
   float X_T;
   struct binary *path;
   float arg1, arg2;
struct node *p; /* points to a current node */
   long unsigned int lastnode_id; /* the largest id number in the tree */
   long unsigned int i; /* id counter */
   lastnode_id = power(2, T+1) -1;
    for (i = lastnode_id; i >= 1; i--)
    {
       path = find_path(i);
       p = goto_node(root, i, path);
       if (p \rightarrow t == T)
       {
        p \rightarrow X = X_T;
        p -> R = 1;
       }
       else if (p->t == (T-1))
       {
        arg1 = 1 - (X_T * (p->PA0 * p->left->delta + p->PA1 * p->right->delta));
arg2 = (1 - X_T) * (p->PB0 * p->left->delta + p >PB1 * p->right->delta);
        p \rightarrow X = max(arg1, arg2);
        if (p \rightarrow X \leq arg1)
           p \rightarrow R = 1; /* A accepts B's offer in T-1. */
         else
           p \rightarrow R = 0; /* A rejects B's offer in T-1. */
       }
       else if (p \rightarrow t == (T-2))
        {
         arg1 = 1 - (p->PB0 * p->left->delta * p->left->X
        arg1 = 1 - (p->PB1 * p->right->delta * p->right->X);
arg2 = X_T * (p->PA0 * p->left->PA0 * p->left->delta
* p->left->left->delta + p->PA0 * p->left->PA1
                 * p->left->delta * p->left->right->delta
                 + p->PA1 * p->right->PA0 * p->right->delta
                * p->right->left->delta + p->PA1 * p->right->PA1
* p->right->delta * p->right->right->delta);
         p \rightarrow X = max(arg1, arg2);
         if (p \rightarrow X \leq arg1)
            p \rightarrow R = 1; /* B accepts A's offer in T-2. */
         else
            p \rightarrow R = 0; /* B rejects A's offer in T-2. */
         3
         else if ((p->t % 2) == 0) /* strategy for even numbered periods */
         ł
          arg1 = 1 - (p->PB0 * p->left->delta * p->left->X
```

ABBM1.c

{

 $p \rightarrow flag = 0;$

else Ł

Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995 12

```
+ p->PB1 * p->right->delta * p->right->X);
         arg2 = p->PA0 * p->left->PA0 * p->left->delta * p->left->left->delta
                 * p->left->left->X + p->PAO * p->left->PAI * p->left->delta
* p->left->right->delta * p->left->right->X
+ p->PA1 * p->right->PAO * p->right->delta
                 * p->right->left->delta * p->right->delta
* p->right->left->X
+ p->PA1 * p->right->PA1 * p->right->delta
* p->right->right->delta * p->right->right->X;
        p->X = max(arg1, arg2);
if (p->X <= arg1)</pre>
            p \rightarrow R = 1; /* B accepts A's offer. */
         else
            p \rightarrow R = 0; /* B rejects A's offer. */
        }
        else if ((p->t % 2) == 1) /* strategy for odd numbered periods */
        {
         arg1 = 1 - (p->PA0 * p->left->delta * p->left->X
         + p->PA1 * p->right->delta * p->right->X);
arg2 = p->PB0 * p->left->PB0 * p->left->delta * p->left->left->delta
                  * p->left->left->X + p->PB0 * p->left->PB1 * p->left->delta
* p->left->right->delta * p->left->right->X
+ p->PB1 * p->right->PB0 * p->right->delta
                  * p->right->left->delta * p->right->delta
* p->right->right->PB1 * p->right->delta
* p->right->right->delta * p->right->right->X;
         p->X = max(arg1, arg2);
if (p->X <= arg1)</pre>
             p \rightarrow R = 1; /* A accepts B's offer. */
         else
             p->R = 0; /* A rejects B's offer. */
        }
   } /* End of for (i = lastnode_id; i >= 1; i--) */
   return;
 } /* End of calc_strategy() */
/* trade_flag ============ */
*/
/* If a node in concern is reachable, i.e., there has been no trade
/* in a path upto the node, then flag receives 0. If a node is not /* reachable, flag receives 1.
                                                                                         */
                                                                                         */
void trade_flag(root, T)
   struct node *root;
   unsigned int T;
   struct binary *path;
struct node *temp, *p;
    long unsigned int i;
    int addR; /* sum of R upto the previous period */
    for (i=1; i<=(power(2, T+1) -1); i++)</pre>
    {
      path = find_path(i);
      p = goto_node(root, i, path);
      if (p->parent == NULL)
```

```
ABBM1.c
           Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995
                                     13
     temp = p;
     addR = 0;
     while (temp->parent != NULL)
     {
       addR = addR + temp->parent->R;
       temp = temp->parent;
     ٦.
     if (addR == 0)
       p \rightarrow flag = 0;
     else ·
     p->flag = 1;
/* End of else */
    3
  } /* End of for (i=1; i<=(power(2, T+1) -1); i++) */</pre>
  return;
) /* End of trade_flag() */
/* _____
/* trade_freq =============== */
/* ______
/* computes and outputs unconditional and conditioanl frequencies of */
/* agreement in each trading period. Output files, ta.dat and tb.dat */
/* are created.
void trade_freg(root, T, X_T, rho, a_A, a_B, b_A, b_B)
  struct node *root;
  unsigned int T;
  float X_T, rho, a_A, a_B, b_A, b_B;
{
  unsigned int i;
  unsigned int f1; /* number of agreement in t (unconditional) */
  unsigned int f2; /* number of agreement in t (if no trade upto t-1) */
  long unsigned int j;
  long unsigned int fltotal; /* total number of nodes in concern for freq */
long unsigned int fltotal; /* total number of nodes in concern for confreq */
  float freq, confreq;
  struct binary *path;
  struct node *p;
  i = 0; /* period counter */
j = 0; /* id counter */
for (i=0; i <= (T-1); i++)</pre>
   {
     f1 = 0;
     f2 = 0;
     fltotal = power(2, i);
     f2total = 0;
     for (j = power(2,i); j <= (power(2, i+1) - 1); j++)</pre>
       path = find_path(j);
       p = goto_node(root, j, path);
        if (p ->R == 1)
         f1 = f1 + 1;
       if (p \rightarrow flag == 0)
```

```
ABBM1.c
           Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995
                                  14
      {
        f2total = f2total + 1;
        if (p -> R == 1)
         f2 = f2 + 1;
      }
    3

}
freq = (f1 * 1.0) / (f1total * 1.0);
confreq = (f2 * 1.0) / (f2total * 1.0);
fprintf(fa, "%d %f %f %d %f %f \n", T, X_T, rho, i, freq, confreq);
fprintf(fb, "%f %f %f %f %d %f %f \n", a_A, a_B, b_A, b_B, i, freq, confreq);
  3
  return;
} /* End of trade_freq() */
/* displays basic information stored in each node of the binary tree. */
void display_tree(root, T)
  struct node *root:
  unsigned int T;
{
  struct binary *path;
  struct node *temp;
  long unsigned int i;
  for (i=1; i <= (power(2, T+1) - 1); i++)</pre>
  {
    path = find_path(i);
    temp = goto_node(root, i, path);
printf("id = %d, period = %d \n", temp->id, temp->t);
printf("sum_e = %d, delta = %f \n", temp->sum_e, temp->delta);
    printf("PA0 = %f, PA1 = %f \n", temp->PA1);
printf("PB0 = %f, PB1 = %f \n", temp->PB0, temp->PB1);
    print("Pu = %f \n", temp->R);
printf("X = %f \n", temp->X);
printf("R = %d \n", temp->R);
    LINE1 :
  }
  return:
} /* End of display_tree() */
/* _____
main()
(
/* the maximum number of periods in the game */
int T;
long unsigned int i;
float a_A, a_B, b_A, b_B;
                                           /* id counter */
                               /* a_A = alpha_A in the paper */
```

```
ABBM1.c
           Fri Apr 7 03:16:14 1995
                                    15
                         /* Likewise, b_A = beta_A, and so on. */
float X_T;
           /* player A's predetermined share in the final period T */
                                     /* |rho| < 1 */
/* delta_0 in period 0 */
float rho;
float delta0;
                       /* Q_0 in period 0 */
/* root node (origin) of the binary tree */
float Q0;
struct node *root;
struct binary *path;
/* path from the root node to a given node in the sequence of e's */
display():
  open_files();
  get_par(&T, &a_A, &a_B, &b_A, &b_B, &X_T, &rho, &delta0, &Q0);
  root = NULL;
  root = plant_first_node(root, 1, a_A, a_B, b_A, b_B, X_T, rho, delta0, Q0);
for (i=2; i <= (power(2, T+1) - 1); i++)</pre>
  {
    path = find_path(i);
    root = plant_tree(root, i, path);
  3
  point_to_parent(root, T);
  calc_node(root, T, rho, a_A, a_B, b_A, b_B);
calc_strategy(root, T, X_T);
  trade_flag(root, T);
  trade_freq(root, T, X_T, rho, a_A, a_B, b_A, b_B);
display_tree(root, T);
  close_files();
  end_message();
) /* End of main() */
```

184

3C.2 Generalized Wiener Process Models

WPBM2.c Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995

#include <stdio.h>
#include <malloc.h>
#include <math.h>
#include <stdlib.h>

/* WPBM2.c : Wiener Process Bargaining Model Two 1* /* _____ */ WPBM2.c simulates a special case of bilateral bargaining game 1+ /* that is studied in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 of my Ph.D. dissertation */ /* at California Institute of Technology. The detailed behavioral assumptions of the game participants are given in the chapters, and /* */ we do not repeat them here. The particular game that is simulated /* is the one called "Alternative Game" of "Generalized Wiener Process /* (or Brownian Motion) Model" in the dissertation. "Basic Game" of /* this model is simulated in another version of this program, which can be obtained from the author. Hence, this version contains a /* /* very basic part of the simulation process of the Wiener Process /* model. DATA STRUCTURES AND DESIGN The bargaining process is stored in a linked list, in which two /* /* types of data structures coexist. One structure defined by "node" /* below is frequently referred to as 'a base list' in this program. /* This list begins with its origin corresponding to period 0, and /* each node carries the information such as players' offer and /* response strategies in each period. The other structure defined by /* "snode" is frequently referred to as 'a strategy list,' that /* contains the players' updated beliefs over future values of the asset given the information upto the current period. The information stored in this list is used to compute what strategy to take in the current period. A pointer 'strat' points to 'snode' in /* this strat list of each period from 'node' of the corresponding /* period, while a pointer 'base' points from the strategy list to its corresponding 'node' in the base list. In addition, each node is */ /* accomodated with a pointer to point back to its parent node, which /* adds the program flexibility. In this version, each simulation run consists with 10,000 sample /* /* runs. In other words, given initial values, a sequence of random */ /* numbers associated with each idum number is generated for 10,000 /* times. idum takes a negative integer. We give an initial value /* of idum = -1 in main() as an example, that is decremented by 1 /* down to -10,000. FUNDAMENTAL NOTATIONS /* Notations are kept consistent with the ones used in the /* dissertation whenever it is appropriate and possible. For example, */ /* a Greek letter 'theta' with a subscript 'A' in the dissertation is /* written thetaA in this program. Likewise, PhiA, PhiB, sigma, and *'/ /* so on. PRIMARY INPUT VARIABLES /* In this version, the initail values of variables are read

1

/* interactively by calling a subroutine get_par() in main().
/* We give initial values to the following variables.
/* T : unsigned int (positive integer)
/* Predetermined number of maximum bargaining periods
/* thetaA : float
/* Player A's prior belief on the mean of theta

WPBM2.C Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995 2 thetaB : float */ */ */ */ /* Player B's prior belief on the mean of theta /* PhiA : float . /* Player A's prior belief on the variance of theta PhiB : float Player B's prior belief on the variance of theta *'/ *'/ theta : float Mean of a normal distribution that describes mu, the expected rate of value increase */ */ */ */ Phi : float Variance of a normal distribution that describes mu sigma : float Predetermined volatility of the asset value */ delta_t : float Predetermined time interval of information arrival */ */ initialQ : float (positive real) */ Initial value of the asset X_T : float (0 <= X_T <= 1) */ Predetermined player A's default share in Period T */ BASIC OUTPUT */ We have included in this version, as an example of output, a */ /* /* subroutine out_freq() and out_exp_delta(). out_freq() writes */ /* frequencies of first agreement in each period, that are computed in */ /* calc_freq(). 'Frequency' here is a number of agreement out of */ /* 10,000 simulation runs, given that there has been no trade upto a */ /* period in concern. */ /* out_exp_delta() writes in an output file the expected values of */ /* delta that are stored in a strategy list. * / /* RELATED VERSIONS There are other versions of WPBM2.c that contains modules to */ 1* /* simulate "Basic Game" and to generate other output files. NOTE: main() is defined at the very end of the program. */ /* /* Defining DISPLAY messages ============================== */ #define DISPLAY1 "BARGAINING SIMULATION PROGRAM : WPBM2.c \n" #define ENDMESSAGE1 "END OF BARGAINING SIMULATION PROGRAM : WPBM2.c \n" /* ________________________*/ #define MINIDUM -10000 /* Minimum number idum takes */ #define ITR 0.0005 /* iteration interval for the value of theta */ /* ______ /* Refer to "Numerical Recipes in C : Second Edition" (p280) for this */ /* random number generating function. #define IA 16807 #define IM 2147483647 #define AM (1.0/IM) #define IQ 127773 #define IR 2836 #define NTAB 32 #define NDIV (1+(IM-1)/NTAB)

```
WPBM2.c
             Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
                                           3
#define EPS 1.2e-7
#define RNMX (1.0-EPS)
#define space2 printf("\n\n")
#define space3 printf("\n\n")
#define out3(fp, a1, a2, a3) fprintf(fp, "%f %f %u \n", a1, a2, a3)
#define sqr(x) (x*x) /* sqr gives a squared value of the argument */ #define max(A, B) ((A) > (B) ? (A) : (B))
                   /* max gives a larger number of the given two numbers */
/* Defining data structure (declaration of global variables) ======== */
/* "node" specifies a node in a linked list (base list), in which
/* players' strategies are stored along with the following data.
                                                                 */
struct node
ł
  unsigned int t;
                                  /* period number t = 0, 1, ..., T */
                                                 /* ex-post delta */
  float delta;
  float thetaA;
                                  /* A's prior on the mean of theta */
                                  /* B's prior on the mean of theta */
  float thetaB;
  float PhiA;
                              /* A's prior on the variance of theta */
                              /* B's prior on the variance of theta */
   float PhiB;
                               /* asset value in the current period */
   float Q;
   float X;
                            /* offer strategy in the current period */
  unsigned int R;
                         /* response strategy in the current period */
   float Apay; /* A's payoff if agreement occurs in the current period */
float Bpay; /* B's payoff if agreement occurs in the current period */
                                          /* pointer to its child */
/* pointer to its parent */
   struct node *next;
   struct node *past;
   struct snode *strat;
                                     /* pointer to a strategy list */
);
/* _____
/* "snode" specifies a node in a linked list (strategy list), in which */
/* expected values of various variables are stored.
struct snode
{
   unsigned int t;
                                  /* period number t = 0, 1, ..., T */
                                     /* A's expected value of delta */
/* B's expected value of delta */
   float EAdelta;
   float EBdelta;
   float EAQ;
                                 /* A's expected value of the asset */
                                 /* B's expected value of the asset */
   float EBQ;
   /* offer strategy in the future, based on the available information */
   /* upto the current period */
   float X;
                                                                  * /
   /* response strategy in the future, based on the available
   /* information upto the current period */
   unsigned int R;
                         /* A's expected payoff in the future period */
   float EApay;
                         /* B's expected payoff in the future period */
   float EBpay;
                                           /* pointer to its child */
   struct snode *next;
   struct snode *past;
                                           /* pointer to its parent */
                                          /* pointer to a base list */
   struct node *base;
```

```
WPBM2 C
      Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
};
/* "freq" specifies a node in a linked list, in which trading
/* frequencies of each period is stored. Also refer to calc_freq()
                                */
/* and out_freq().
struct freq
{
 unsigned int t;
                /* period number t = 0, 1, ..., T */
 unsigned int i;
                      /* frequency counter */
 struct freq *next;
                     /* pointer to its child */
};
FILE *fa:
                    /* Formatted output file */
 FILE *fb;
                     /* Formatted output file */
/* =========== INPUT/MISCELLANEOUS SUBROUTINES =========== */
.
/*
 */
/*
 /* displays the current program name.
void display()
{
 space3;
 printf(DISPLAY1);
 space3;
 return;
} /* End of display() */
*/
                                */
/* opens files to write the output.
void open_files()
{
 fa = fopen("ta.dat", "w");
 fb = fopen("tb.dat", "w");
 return;
} /* End of open_files() */
/* _____
                                */
_____
/* closes the output files that have been opened in open_files().
void close_files()
```

```
WPBM2.c
         Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
                            5
ł
 fclose(fa);
 fclose(fb);
 return;
} /* End of close_files() */
*/
/* prints the ending message.
void end_message()
{
 space3;
 printf(ENDMESSAGE1);
 space3;
 return;
} /* End of end_message() */
.
                                           */
/* raise base to n-th power : n \ge 0.
float power(base, n)
  float base;
  long int n;
{
  long int i;
  float p;
  p = 1.0;
  for(i=1; i<=n; ++i)</pre>
   p = p * base;
  return p;
} /* End of power() */
/*
 /*
 get_par ================================== */
/*
  ______
/* get_par() is called in main().
/* get_par() reads input data (parameter values) interactively.
                                           */
void get_par(T, theta, Phi, X_T, delta_t, sigma, initialQ, thetaA, thetaB, PhiA, PhiB)
  unsigned int *T;
  float *theta, *Phi, *X_T, *delta_t, *sigma, *initialQ;
float *thetaA, *thetaB, *PhiA, *PhiB;
ł
```

printf("Enter T (even int) : ");

```
WPBM2.c
             Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
                                          6
  scanf("%d", T);
  printf("Enter theta (real) : ");
  scanf("%f", theta);
  printf("Enter Phi (real) : ");
  scanf("%f", Phi);
  printf("Enter X_T (positive real) : ");
  scanf("%f", X_T);
  printf("Enter delta_t (positive real) : ");
  scanf("%f", delta_t);
  printf("Enter sigma (positive real) : ");
  scanf("%f", sigma);
  printf("Enter initialQ (positive real) : ");
  scanf("%f", initialQ);
  printf("Enter thetaA (real) : ");
  scanf("%f", thetaA);
  printf("Enter thetaB (real) : ");
  scanf("%f", thetaB);
  printf("Enter PhiA (real) : ");
  scanf("%f", PhiA);
  printf("Enter PhiB (real) : ");
  scanf("%f", PhiB);
  return;
) /* End of get_par() */
/* _______________________ */
/* "Minimal" random number generator of Park and Miller with Bays-
/* Durham shuffle and added safeguards. Returns a uniform random
/* deviate between 0.0 and 1.0 (exclusive of the endpoint values).
/* Call with idum, a negative integer to initialize; thereafter, do
/* not alter idum between succesive deviates in a sequence. RNMX
  should approximate the largest floating value that is less than 1.
1*
/* (Taken from p280 of "Numerical Recipes in C" : Second edition)
float random(flag, idum)
   int flag;
   long *idum;
{
   int j;
   long k;
   static long iy=0;
   static long iv[NTAB];
   float temp;
if (flag== 1)
   if (*idum <= 0 || !iy)
   {
    if (-(*idum) < 1)
       *idum = 1;
     else
      *idum = -(*idum);
     for (j=NTAB+7; j>=0; j--)
     {
      k=(*idum)/IQ;
      *idum=IA*(*idum-k*IQ)-IR*k;
      if (*idum < 0) *idum += IM;
      if (j < NTAB) iv[j] = *idum;
     iy = iv[0];
```

*/

*/

*/

*/

*/

*/

*/

```
WPBM2.c
           Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
                                    7
  }
}
  k = (*idum)/IQ;
*idum = IA * (*idum-k*IQ)-IR*k;
if (*idum < 0)</pre>
   *idum += IM;
  j = iy/NDIV;
  iy = iv[j];
  iv[j] = *idum;
  if ((temp=AM*iy) > RNMX )
   return RNMX;
  else
   return temp;
} /* End of random() */
/* Refer to "Numerical Recipes in C : Second edition."
                                                       */
/* Given idum, it returns a value from a standard normal distribution. */
float stnormal(flag, idum)
  int flag;
  long *idum;
{
  static int iset=0;
  static float gset;
  float fac, rsq, v1, v2;
  if (iset == 0)
  {
   do
    {
     v1 = 2.0*random(flag, idum)-1.0;
    flag = 0;
v2 = 2.0*random(flag, idum)-1.0;
rsq = v1 * v1 + v2 * v2;
) while ((rsq >= 1.0) || (rsq == 0.0));
    fac = sqrt(-2.0*log(rsq)/rsq);
    gset=v1*fac;
    iset=1;
    return v2*fac;
  }
  else
  {
    iset = 0;
    return gset;
  }
} /* End of stnormal() */
/* ______
'/*
  */
/* stn = a value taken from a standardized normal distribution (i.e.,
                                                        */
                                                       */
·
/*
  a normal distribution with a mean 0 and standard deviation 1).
/* Returns a value converted from N(0,1) to N(theta, Phi).
                                                        */
```

```
WPBM2.c
       Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
                      8
float normal (stn, theta, Phi)
 float stn, theta, Phi;
{
 float stdiv;
 float n;
 stdiv = sqrt(Phi);
 n = theta + (stdiv * stn);
 return n:
} /* End of normal() */
/* Called in build_base_list() to compute an ex-post delta values that */
/* is stored in each node in the base list.
float calc_delta(e, mu, sigma, delta_t)
 float e, mu, sigma, delta_t;
ł
 float d;
 d = 1 + mu*delta_t + sigma*e*sqrt(delta_t);
 return d;
) /* End of calc_delta() */
/* ______________________________*/
/* Called in build_base_list() to compute an ex-post asset value that */
/* is stored in each node in the base list.
float calc_Q(e, mu, sigma, delta_t, preQ)
 float e, mu, sigma, delta_t, preQ;
{
 float tempQ;
 float d;
 d= 1 + mu*delta_t + sigma*e*sqrt(delta_t);
 tempQ = d * preQ;
 return tempO;
} /* End of calc_Q() */
/*
 */
/*
/* _______________________*
/* Construct the base list.
```

struct node *build_base_list(origin, idum, T, theta, Phi, initialQ, delta_t, sigma, thetaA

```
WPBM2.C
                Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
                                                   9
, thetaB, PhiA, PhiB)
   struct node *origin;
   long idum;
int T;
   float theta, Phi, initialQ, delta_t, sigma;
   float thetaA, thetaB, PhiA, PhiB;
{
   struct node *p, *temp;
   int t;
   int flag;
   float e, mu;
   flag = 1;
   origin = (struct node *)calloc(1, sizeof(struct node));
   origin->next = NULL;
   origin->past = NULL;
   origin->strat= NULL;
   origin->t = 0;
   e = stnormal(flag, &idum);
   mu = normal(e, theta, Phi);
   origin->delta = calc_delta(e, mu, sigma, delta_t);
origin->Q = calc_Q(e, mu, sigma, delta_t, initialQ);
origin->thetaA = (thetaA * ((1/PhiA)/((1/PhiA) + (1/Phi)))) + (mu * ((1/Phi)/((1/PhiA))))
+ (1/Phi)));
   origin->thetaB = (thetaB * ((1/PhiB)/((1/PhiB) + (1/Phi)))) + (mu * ((1/Phi)/((1/PhiB)
  (1/Phi)));
   origin->PhiA = 1/((1/PhiA) + (1/Phi));
   origin->PhiB = 1/((1/PhiB) + (1/Phi));
   flag = 0;
   p = origin;
    for (t=1; t<=T; t++)
    {
      temp = (struct node *)calloc(1, sizeof(struct node));
      temp->next = NULL;
      temp->past = p;
      temp->strat= NULL;
     temp -> t = t;
      e = stnormal(flag, &idum);
     mu = normal(e, theta, Phi);
mu = hormar(e, theta, Fhi);
temp->delta = calc_delta(e, mu, sigma, delta_t);
temp->Q = calc_Q(e, mu, sigma, delta_t, temp->past->Q);
temp->thetaA = (temp->past->thetaA * ((1/temp->past->PhiA)/((1/temp->past->PhiA) + (1
/Phi)))) + (mu * ((1/Phi)/((1/temp->past->PhiA) + (1/Phi))));
      temp->thetaB = (temp->past->thetaB * ((1/temp->past->PhiB)/((1/temp->past->PhiB) + (1
/Phi)))) + (mu * ((1/Phi)/((1/temp->past->PhiB) + (1/Phi))));
      temp->PhiA = 1/((1/temp->past->PhiA) + (1/Phi));
      temp->PhiB = 1/((1/temp->past->PhiB) + (1/Phi));
      p->next = temp;
     p = p - next;
    }
    return origin;
} /* End of build_base_list() */
 /* ______
 /* _____
                                                                              */
 /* Construct the strategy list.
                                                                              */
```

```
/* Pl points through the base list made in build_base_list()
```

*/

```
WPBM2.c
              Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
                                               10
struct node *build_strat_list(origin, T, delta_t)
   struct node *origin;
   int T;
   float delta_t;
{
   struct node *P1;
   struct snode *P2, *temp;
   float EAdelta, EBdelta, Qt;
   int t;
   P1 = origin;
   while (P1->next != NULL)
   {
     EAdelta = 1 + P1->thetaA * delta_t;
EBdelta = 1 + P1->thetaB * delta_t;
     Qt = P1 ->Q;
     for (t = P1 -> t + 1; t <= T; t++)
     {
       temp = (struct snode *)calloc(1, sizeof(struct snode));
       temp->next = NULL;
       temp -> t = t;
       temp->EAdelta = EAdelta;
       temp->EBdelta = EBdelta;
temp->EAQ = Qt * (power(EAdelta, (t - P1->t)));
temp->EBQ = Qt * (power(EBdelta, (t - P1->t)));
       if ((t - P1 -> t) == 1)
       {
         P1->strat = temp;
         temp->base = P1;
       )
       else
       {
         P2->next = temp;
         temp->past = P2;
       3
       P2 = temp;
     } /* End of for (t = P1->t + 1; t <= T; t++) */
     P1 = P1->next;
   } /* End of while (P1->next != NULL) */
   return origin;
) /* End of build_strat_list() */
/* ______ */
/* calc_offer_strategy =========================== */
/* _________________________________*/
/* Calculates offer strategies, X, to be stored in the base list and */
/* the strategy list.
                                                                        *7
struct node *calc_offer_strategy(origin, T, X_T)
   struct node *origin;
   int T;
```

int T; float X_T;
```
Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
WPBM2.c
                                                 11
{
   int i, count;
   struct node *P1;
   struct snode *P2;
   float arg1, arg2;
   P1 = origin;
   while (P1->next != NULL)
   {
     count = T-1;
     while (count >= 0)
     {
       P2 = P1 -> strat;
       for (i = Pl->strat->t; i <= count; i++)</pre>
         P2 = P2 - next;
/* compute offer strategies in the strategy list */
       if (P2->t == T)
       {
```

```
P2 -> X = X_T;
        }
        else if (P2->t == (T-1))
        {
          P2 \rightarrow X = 1 - X_T;
        }
        else if (P2->t == (T-2))
         {
          arg1 = 1 - ((1 - X_T) * P2->next->next->EBdelta);
arg2 = X_T * P2->next->next->EAdelta;
          P2 \rightarrow X = max(arg1, arg2);
        3
        else if ((P2->t % 2) == 0)
        ł
          arg1 = 1 - (P2->next->next->EBdelta * P2->next->X);
          arg2 = P2->next->next->EAdelta * P2->next->next->next->EAdelta * P2->next->next->
X;
          P2 \rightarrow X = max(arg1, arg2);
        }
        else if ((P2->t % 2) == 1)
        {
           arg1 = 1 - (P2->next->next->EAdelta * P2->next->X);
           arg2 = P2->next->next->EBdelta * P2->next->next->EBdelta * P2->next->next->EBdelta * P2->next->next->
X;
           P2 \rightarrow X = max(arg1, arg2);
        }
```

```
count = count - 1;
```

.

```
} /* End of while (count >= 0) */
```

/* compute offer strategies in the base list */

```
if (P1->t == (T-1))
P1->X = 1 - X_T;
else if (P1->t == (T-2))
{
    arg1 = 1 - ((1 - X_T) * P1->strat->next->EBdelta);
    arg2 = P1->strat->next->EAdelta * X_T;
    P1->X = max(arg1, arg2);
}
```

```
WPBM2.c
              Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
                                            12
     else if ((P1->t % 2) == 0)
     Ł
      arg1 = 1 - (P1->strat->next->EBdelta * P1->strat->X);
      arg2 = P1->strat->next->EAdelta * P1->strat->next->EAdelta * P1->strat->next-
>X :
      P1 \rightarrow X = max(arg1, arg2);
    }
    else if ((P1->t % 2) == 1)
      arg1 = 1 - (P1->strat->next->EAdelta * P1->strat->X);
      arg2 = P1->strat->next->EBdelta * P1->strat->next->next->EBdelta * P1->strat->next-
>X :
      P1 \rightarrow X = max(arg1, arg2);
    }
    P1 = P1->next;
  } /* End of while (P1->next != NULL) */
  P1 \rightarrow X = X_T;
  return origin;
} /* End of calc_offer_strategy() */
/* exp_payoff ============ */
/*
  /* Computes expected payoffs if an offer in a period in concer is
                                                                    */
/* accepted. The computed expected payoffs are stored in the strategy */
/* list and the base list.
                                                                    */
struct node *exp_payoff(origin, T, X_T)
   struct node *origin;
   int T;
   float X_T;
{
   struct node *P1;
   struct snode *P2;
   P1 = origin;
   while (P1->next != NULL)
   (
     P2 = P1->strat;
     if ((P2->t % 2) == 0)
     {
       P2 \rightarrow EApay = (1 - P1 \rightarrow X) * P2 \rightarrow EAQ;
       P2->EBpay = P1->X * P2->EBQ;
     }
     else
     {
       P2 \rightarrow EApay = P1 \rightarrow X * P2 \rightarrow EAQ;
       P2->EBpay = (1 - P1->X) * P2->EBQ;
     }
     if (P2->next != NULL)
       P2 = P2 - next;
     while (P2->next != NULL)
```

```
WPBM2.c
               Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
                                               13
     {
       if ((P2->t % 2) == 0)
       {
        P2->EApay = (1 - P2->past->X) * P2->EAQ;
P2->EBpay = P2->past->X * P2->EBQ;
       }
       else
       {
         P2->EApay = P2->past->X * P2->EAQ;
         P2 \rightarrow EBpay = (1 - P2 \rightarrow past \rightarrow X) * P2 \rightarrow EBQ;
      }
      P2 = P2 - next;
     } /* End of while (P2->next != NULL) */
    P2->EApay = X_T * P2->EAQ;
P2->EBpay = (1 - X_T) * P2->EBQ;
     if (P1 -> t == 0)
     {
      P1 -> Apay = 0.0;
      P1->Bpay = 0.0;
     }
     else if ((P1->t % 2) == 0)
     {
      P1 \rightarrow Apay = (1 - P1 \rightarrow past \rightarrow X) * P1 \rightarrow Q;
      P1->Bpay = P1->past->X * P1->Q;
     }
     else if ((P1->t % 2) == 1)
     {
      P1->Apay = P1->past->X * P1->Q;
P1->Bpay = (1 - P1->past->X) * P1->Q;
     3
     P1 = P1 -> next;
   } /* End of while (P1->next != NULL) */
   P1->Apay = X_T * P1->Q;
P1->Bpay = (1 - X_T) * P1->Q;
   return origin;
} /* End of exp_payoff() */
/* Computes response strategies in the base list.
/* R = 0 if reject, R = 1 if accept.
struct node *calc_resp_strategy(origin, T, X_T)
   struct node *origin;
   int T;
   float X_T;
{
   struct node *P1;
   struct snode *P2;
   float arg;
   P1 = origin;
```

*/

*/

```
WPBM2.C
          Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
                                 14
  while (P1->next != NULL)
  ł
   if (P1->t == 0)
   P1 \rightarrow R = 0;
else if ((P1->t % 2) == 0)
   {
    arg = 1 - (P1->strat->EAdelta * P1->X);
     if (P1->past->X <= arg)
      P1 ->R = 1;
     else
      P1 -> R = 0;
   }
   else
   ł
     arg = 1 - (P1->strat->EBdelta * P1->X);
     if (P1->past->X <= arg)
      P1 ->R = 1;
     else
      P1 ->R = 0;
   3
   P1 = P1->next;
  3
  P1 -> R = 1:
  return origin:
} /* End of calc_resp_strategy() */
  /* ------
/* _____
/* Initialize a linked list pointed by a pointer "first" with a data /* structure "freq" that will be used to store the number of first
/* agreement in each trading period out of 10,000 sample runs.
struct freq *init_first(first, T)
  struct freq *first;
  int T;
{
  struct freq *temp1, *temp2;
  int t;
  first = (struct freq *)calloc(1, sizeof(struct freq));
  first -> t = 0;
  first -> i = 0;
  first->next = NULL;
  temp1 = first;
  t = 1;
  while (t <= T)
  {
    temp2 = (struct freq *)calloc(1, sizeof(struct freq));
   temp2->t = t;
temp2->i = 0;
    temp2->next = NULL;
    temp1->next = temp2;
    temp1 = temp2;
```

*/

*/ */

*/

```
WPBM2.c
         Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
                               15
   t = t + 1;
  3
  return first;
) /* End of init_first() */
^{/} * By moving through the base list, it counts the number of first /\ast agreement in each period out of 10,000 sample runs, and store the
                                               */
                                               */
/* result in a list with the data structure "freq."
                                               */
struct freq *calc_freq(first, origin)
  struct freq *first;
struct node *origin;
ł
  struct node *P1;
  struct freq *P2;
  P1 = origin;
  P2 = first;
  while (P1->R != 1)
  {
   P1 = P1->next;
   P2 = P2 -> next;
  3
  P2 \rightarrow i = P2 \rightarrow i + 1;
  return first;
) /* End of calc_freg() */
/* Writes the information stored in a structure "freq" in an output
                                                */
/* file "tb.dat."
                                                * /
void out_freq(first, theta)
  struct freq *first;
  float theta;
{
  struct freq *temp;
  temp = first;
  while (temp->next != NULL)
  {
   fprintf(fb, "theta = %f, t = %d, freq = %d \n", theta, temp->t, temp->i);
   temp = temp->next;
  fprintf(fb, "theta = %f, t = %d, freq = %d \n", theta, temp->t, temp->i);
} /* End of out_freq() */
1*
/* Writes expected values of delta stored in the strategy list into an */
```

```
WPBM2.c
          Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
                                 16
/* output file "ta.dat."
                                                  */
void out_exp_delta(origin, T)
  struct node *origin;
  int T;
{
  struct node *temp;
  struct snode *temp2;
  int t;
  temp = origin;
  while (temp != NULL)
  {
   temp2 = temp->strat;
   for (t = temp -> t +1; t <= T; t++)
   {
     fprintf(fa, "t = %d, EAQ= %f, EBQ= %f \n", temp2->t, temp2->EAQ, temp2->EBQ);
fprintf(fa, "t = %d, EAdelta= %f, EBdelta= %f \n", temp2->t, temp2->EAdelta, temp2-
>EBdelta);
     fprintf(fa, "\n");
     temp2 = temp2->next;
   ٦
   temp = temp->next;
  3
  return;
} /* End of out_exp_delta() */
/*
  */
*/
*/
/* ______
main()
{
/* ______*
int T;
                  /* the maximum number of periods in the game */
          /* seed number to generate a sequence of random numbers */
long idum;
/* Refer to the description of the input variables in the beginning of */
/* this program for the followings.
float delta_t, sigma;
float theta, Phi;
float thetaA, thetaB, PhiA, PhiB;
float X_T;
float initialQ;
struct node *origin;
                    /* pointer to a root node of the base list */
struct freq *first;
                /* pointer to a root node of the frequency list */
/* _______________________*/
  display();
  open_files();
  get_par(&T, &theta, &Phi, &X_T, &delta_t, &sigma, &initialQ, &thetaA, &thetaB, &PhiA, &
PhiB);
```

```
WPBM2.c
          Sun Apr 9 01:25:25 1995
                                 17
  first = NULL;
  first = init_first(first, T);
  idum = -1;
  while (idum >= MINIDUM)
  {
   origin = NULL;
   origin = build_base_list(origin, idum, T, theta, Phi, initialQ, delta_t, sigma, theta
A, thetaB, PhiA, PhiB);
   origin = build_strat_list(origin, T, delta_t);
   origin = calc_offer_strategy(origin, T, V_T);
origin = exp_payoff(origin, T, X_T);
origin = calc_resp_strategy(origin, T, X_T);
first = calc_freq(first, origin);
idum = idum 1
   idum = idum - 1;
  }
  out_freq(first, theta);
  out_exp_delta(origin, T);
  end_message();
  close_files();
} /* End of main() */
```

Chapter 4

Concluding Remarks on Part I

Incorporating stochastic elements into sequential bargaining games has been proven to provide us with an alternative way of describing various bargaining durations. Despite the assumption of complete information, in our games it is not uncommon to observe delays before the first agreement. The comparison of the Basic and the Alternative games showed us the sensitivity of the durations to the timing of information arrivals and players' actions. In addition, our equilibrium strategies predict differences in reservation values of an offermaking player between the Basic and the Alternative games. Simulation outputs have confirmed many of our analytical findings and conjectures with regard to comparative statics results.

By construction, however, neither of our bargaining games explains breakdowns¹ in the current negotiation. It is not new to us, however, to observe a bargaining breakdown even if there are positive gains for both parties from a potential agreement. Such breakdowns

¹By breakdown we mean that the bargaining parties never come to an agreement and leave the negotiation table without any transaction among themselves.

can leave one or both parties with zero payoff and become a source of inefficiency. In addition to explaining various bargaining durations, we need to construct a model that incorporates such possibilities. We conclude Part I by including the following idea as a potential extension that will enhance our understanding of bargaining durations in more complicated situations.

We would like to model delays and eventual negotiation breakdowns explicitly in the presence of complete information, where players can choose at their own cost to search for outside options that can be realized stochastically. Consider a negotiation process where both parties see positive gains from an agreement at the same time when each player knows that his opponent is constantly searching for a better outside option. Suppose that both the value of the asset in the current negotiation and of the outside option they are looking for are common knowledge and positive constant. Furthermore, let us assume that there is a cost associated with the search for the outside option, and the option always gives a higher utility than the agreement in the current bargaining to the party that has found it. This sort of model can be motivated by the following simple example. Suppose that person A is looking for an apartment to rent, hoping to move in very soon, and is currently negotiating with a condominium owner B who wants to sublet. We can reasonably assume that the value of the asset in concern is constant, since the value of the condominium or other apartments may not fluctuate much in a short term. In the meantime A is still looking for a better deal elsewhere and B is hoping to find someone who wants to rent it with the price he is asking for. Naturally, the more vigorously one looks for an outside option, the more likely the person finds a better option. If neither finds a better option within a reasonable length of time, then they compromise with each other and settle with the price that is determined by an exogenous factor such as information through reliable real estate agents. If one finds a better option, then the current negotiation breaks down. For example, if A finds a deal of the century, she receives the value of the outside option higher than the agreement in the current negotiation, whereas B is left with no payment.

According to Rubinstein and Osborne (1990), with the assumption of complete information, opting out is not a credible threat, and thus an outside option has no effect on the bargaining outcome. We conjecture that the introduction of stochastic realization of outside options can result in varied bargaining durations. We need to model an endogenous risk of breakdowns in our bargaining games. By introducing a decision variable such as each player's search intensity of outside options, we will have a bargaining model in which an outside option becomes stochastically available to players. In a discrete time model, for example, at the beginning of each negotiation period both players first compute their reservation values and decide on their level of investment into the search to maximize expected payoffs. For example, let $V_t^i(\cdot)$ be a player is continuation payoff after period t begins, so that both players decide on their investment levels to maximize V_t^i and V_t^j . Then, one player quotes a price, to which the other responds. In other words, i quotes an offer x_t^i such that $x_t^i = \max\{V_t^i/Q_t, 1 - (V_t^j/Q_t)\}$, which j accepts if $x_t^i = 1 - (V_t^j/Q_t)$ or rejects if $x_t^i = V_t^i/Q_t > 1 - (V_t^j/Q_t)$. The game ends if the responder accepts the offer or if the responder rejects and at least one player finds a better option by the end of the period. If the responder rejects and no one finds a better option by the end of the period, the next negotiation period (t + 1) opens. The game continues until a predetermined time horizon is reached. Note that an agreement is generated by an increasing endogenous risk of breakdown, while the potential for finding a better outside option may cause a delay. We

shall solve for Nash equilibrium level of investment and may find conditions to guarantee a unique investment choice process. We shall also check conditions for the uniqueness of players' contingency plans or equilibrium payoffs. Results should be compared to those of Rubinstein and Osborne (1990), which predicts unique subgame perfect equilibrium with the presence of outside options. Running simulations to study comparative statics, especially with respect to bargaining durations, is also recommended.

Bibliography

- Admati, Anat R. and Motty Perry, (1987), "Strategic Delay in Bargaining," Review of Economic Studies, 54, 345-364.
- [2] Ausubel, Lawrence M. and Raymond J. Deneckere, (1989), "Reputation in Bargaining and Durable Goods Monopoly," *Econometrica*, 57, 511-531.
- [3] Ausubel, Lawrence M. and Raymond J. Deneckere, (1989), "A Direct Mechanism Characterization of Sequential Bargaining with One-Sided Incomplete Information," Journal of Economic Theory, 48, 18-46.
- [4] Cho, In-Koo, (1990), "Uncertainty and Delay in Bargaining," Review of Economic Studies, 57, 575-595.
- [5] Cramton, Peter C., (1984), "Bargaining with Incomplete Information: An Infinite-Horizon Model with Two-Sided Uncertainty," *Review of Economic Studies*, 51, 579-593.
- [6] Cramton, Peter C., (1987), "Strategic Delay in Bargaining with Two-Sided Uncertainty," *Review of Economic Studies*,

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [7] Fudenberg, Drew and Jean Tirole, (1983), "Sequential Bargaining under Incomplete Information," *Review of Economic Studies*, 50, 221-247.
- [8] Fudenberg, Drew, David Levine, and Jean Tirole, (1985), "Infinite-Horizon Models of Bargaining with One-Sided Incomplete Information," in Game-Theoretic Models of Bargaining, Chapter 5.
- [9] Grossman, Sanford J. and Motty Perry, (1986), "Sequential Bargaining under Asymmetric Information," Journal of Economic Theory, **39**, 120–154.
- [10] Gul, Faruk and Hugo Sonnenschein, (1988), "On Delay in Bargaining with One-Sided Uncertainty," *Econometrica*, 56, 601-611.
- [11] Gul, Faruk, Hugo Sonnenschein, and Robert Wilson, (1986), "Foundations of Dynamic Monopoly and the Coase Conjecture," *Journal of Economic Theory*, 39, 155–190.
- [12] Harris, Christopher, (1985), "Existence and Characterization of Perfect Equilibrium in Games of Perfect Information," *Econometrica*, 53, 613–628.
- [13] Krylov, Nikolai Vladimirovich, (1995), <u>Introduction to the Theory of Diffusion Processes</u>, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island.
- [14] Linhart, Peter B., Roy Radner, and Mark A. Satterthwaite, (1992), Bargaining with Incomplete Information, Academic Press., San Diego.
- [15] Merlo, Antonio, and Charles Wilson, (1995), "A Stochastic Model of Sequential Bargaining with Complete Information," *Econometirca*, 63, 371–399.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [16] Myerson, Roger B. and Mark A. Satterthwaite, (1983), "Efficient Mechanisms for Bilateral Trading," Journal of Economic Theory, 28, 265–281.
- [17] Osborne, Martin J., and Ariel Rubinstein, (1990), <u>Bargaining and Markets</u>, Academic Press., San Diego.
- [18] Roth, Alvin E., (1985), <u>Game-Theoretic Models of Bargaining</u>, Cambridge University Press., New York.
- [19] Rubinstein, Ariel, (1982), "Perfect Equilibrium in a Bargaining Model," *Econometrica*, 50, 97–109.
- [20] Rubinstein, Ariel, (1985), "A Bargaining Model with Incomplete Information about Time Preferences," *Econometrica*, 53, 1151–1172.
- [21] Sobel, J. and I. Takahashi, (1983), "A Multi-Stage Model of Bargaining," Review of Economic Studies, 50, 411-426.
- [22] Sutton, J., (1986), "Non-Cooperative Bargaining Theory : An Introduction," Review of Economic Studies, 53, 709-724.

Part II

Information and Order Flow in Experimental Markets

Chapter 5

Order Flow in Experimental Financial Markets

5.1 Introduction

The efficient market hypothesis, which has acquired widespread support in the fields of economics and finance, states that financial markets with significant informational asymmetries such as securities exchanges are said to be efficient if the prices of the securities traded fully convey available information. In rational expectation settings, the informational efficiency of prices is achieved since the model predicts that the prices reflect all relevant private information about the asset value, provided that the market is in perfect competition (Milgrom and Stokey (1982)). In other words, a market that provides an efficient mechanism for information dissemination resolves uncertainty among rational traders. It has been successfully demonstrated in the related experimental economics literature that laboratory asset markets disseminate privately held information efficiently (Forsythe, Palfrey, and Plott (1982), Plott and Sunder (1982), and Plott and Sunder (1988)).

The existing market microstructure literature that investigates the information dissemination and aggregation properties of markets in experimental context has mainly been constructed within a restricted framework in which traders are allowed to submit only market orders. Limit orders, along with market orders, constitute an intrinsic part of financial market trading. For instance, in a market such as the Paris Stock Exchange, the Tokyo Stock Exchange, or the Toronto Stock Exchange, every market participant observes both market and limit orders entered by other members, so that one can utilize the information in estimating the demand and supply for a particular stock one is interested in trading. In other words, the traders condition their beliefs not only on the transaction prices, but also on the more detailed order flow that can be found in the limit order book. Consequently, the list of limit orders is part of a source for predicting the future stock prices, thereby influencing transaction outcomes. In a specialist market such as the New York Stock Exchange, where investors submit limit orders to the specialist who is the only person having an access to the list of all the limit orders, the specialist utilizes the information for promoting effective execution of orders.

Likewise, it is a common practice for investors to submit limit orders in the operation of stock market. In the computerized simulated markets Bollerslev and Domowitz (1993) investigated, the size of the order book is shown to be positively related to the amount of information available, for the price volatility decreases as the book length grows.¹ Hence, we may conjecture that the system provided with a limit order book carries more information both implicitly and explicitly about the market, and the effects of allowing the traders to

¹This result is in accordance with Kyle(1985)'s theoretical findings.

have an access to such information should not be ignored. We attempt to investigate how the information conveyed in the order book affects the order flow in experimental financial markets with asymmetrically informed traders.

In this chapter the markets are organized as computerized double auctions accommodated with an order book that contains a complete list of current limit and market orders.² In practice, investors can submit limit orders in the operation of the stock market. In our experimental market all the participants can submit both market and limit orders. The list of the orders can be inspected by every market participant at any time during each market period. All of the trades are executed at outstanding quotes in the book. Our empirical analysis of the experimental data sets focuses on the series of actions taken by the subjects that include quote revisions, limit order arrivals, and trades. Players' actions are identified as events. The state of the book is updated immediately after the occurrence of each event. In the analysis of order flow, we report the presence of serial dependencies of order arrivals on the previous event type, the state of the order book, the size of the bid–ask spread, and the time intervals. The method of the analysis follows that of Biais, Hillion, and Spatt (1993).³

We seek to provide an empirical analysis of the acquired data in an attempt to understand the order flow dynamics and to identify the determinants of the order flow by creating a market that reflects several essential features of financial markets in a controlled laboratory environment. We are particularly interested in how the traders interpret various

²The software we used is called MUDA, Multiple–Unit Double Auction, and has been developed at the California Institute of Technology. We describe our market organization in the next section. For more details of this software, refer to Plott (1991).

³Biais *et al.* uses summary statistics to characterize the order book and contingency tables to analyze the determinants of the order flow in the analysis of data from the Paris Bourse.

states of the order book and how they typically respond to certain information they extract from the order book. In summary, our tasks in this chapter are i) to observe the interaction of subjects' behavior and the information conveyed in the transaction prices and the limit order book, ii) to ascertain the significance of the impact of information carried in the order book, iii) to empirically examine the determinants of the order flow, and iv) to compare the results from the data acquired in the computerized laboratory financial markets with the previous findings in the literature of order flow analyses, especially in comparison with those of Biais *et al.* (1993).

The rest of the chapter is organized as follows. In section 5.2, we describe the organization of our experimental financial market along with the details of the experimental design. In section 5.3, we give selected descriptive statistics on the acquired data sets. Section 5.4 contains the analyses of the determinants of the order flow, such as the previous event type, the state of the order book, the size of bid-ask spread, and the time intervals. We give brief concluding remarks and several ideas for a future research in section 5.5.

5.2 Experimental Procedure

All of the experiments were conducted in the Laboratory of Experimental Economics and Political Science at the California Institute of Technology. The experiments were run on a set of computers operated in a local area network. The subjects were undergraduate students of various majors and backgrounds at the California Institute of Technology, and were recruited by the announcement of an invitation to participate in an economics experiment. They were told that the experiment would not require any prior knowledge of economics or computers and that they would be paid the amount they have earned through their decision making in cash at the end of the experiment. We particularly recruited those who have never participated in an experiment of the similar environment before.

Once the subjects were in the laboratory, each person was randomly seated at a terminal where he/she was given a packet of instructions along with a subject identification number.⁴ The content of the packet is described in detail in the section below where the market environments are discussed. The subjects were read the instructions by the experimenter, and several examples were given on a board to enhance their understanding of the rules. Approximately thirty minutes were spent for the instructional purposes. Then a practice period, Period 0, was run for 7 minutes to accustom the subjects to the rules and the environment. The procedure that is specific to each market environment is also included below. We ran 15 periods in each experimental session, in which each peirod lasted for 5 minutes. The subjects were aware of the length of each period, but were not told how many periods would be run. After each session has ended, each subject was paid in cash before leaving the laboratory.

5.2.1 Market Organization

All of the markets were organized as a computerized double auction accommodated with an open limit order book. The subjects can submit market and limit orders at any time during a trading period through their terminals. The subjects' actions are transparent in that everyone has an access to observe everyone else's action at any time during a trading peirod, including the activities in the order book. The order book shows the market and

⁴A copy of the instruction packet used in the actual experiments is included in Appendices 5D and 5E.

limit bid and ask quotes along with the associated quantities and the subject identification numbers. The price priority rule is enforced over the time priority rule. The size of the book can be considered infinite in that the complete list of the limit orders were listed in our experiments, though there is a physical limit. We consider the lowest limit order on the sell-side as the standing market ask and the highest limit order on the buy-side as the standing market bid. Hence, orders entered as limit orders automatically become standing market orders when they are the lowest or highest on each side of the book. The limit orders do not have a prespecified lifetime; that is, the subjects are allowed to keep or revise the orders as they wish. Hence, an unexecuted limit order remains in the book until it is deleted by a person who has entered it. However, the limit order book is cleared at the end of each trading period; that is, any orders remaining at the closing of a trading period are not carried over to the next period.

Transactions can occur only at the current standing quotes, which eliminates the possibility of transactions at prices strictly within the bid-ask spread. Along with the data in which we can keep track of each subject's choice of actions, this feature is a significant advantage of our experimental markets in the analysis of the order flow, since we can readily identify each trade as buyer-initiated or seller-initiated.⁵

⁵In the analysis of data from stock exchanges, we need to employ certain methods to classify the direction of each transaction. But since many transactions occur within the bid-ask spread and since we do not know who exactly is a seller or a buyer, it is difficult to classify every transaction accurately just by looking at the transaction prices data. For such classification methods, refer, for example, to Blume, MacKinlay, and Terker (1989).

5.2.2 Experimental Design

The experimental design described in this section is summarized in Tables 5.1a, 5.1b, 5.1c, and 5.1d. There are two types of market environments, which we often refer to as the market 1 environment and the market 2 environment. The four data sets analyzed and reported here are indexed as 042393b:Market1, 042393b:Market2, 042393c:Market1, and 042393c:Market2, where 042393 indicates that the experiment was run on April 23, 1993. The market 1 environment simulates a financial market with no specialist, where assets of uncertain values are traded in the presence of asymmetric information among subjects. The market 2 environment is a simple competitive market design often used in testing a competitive behavior of subjects characterized by symmetric demand and supply schedules. In each experiment, there are eight subjects, half of which is identified as type I and the other half is type II in the market 1 environment, while half is a seller and the other half is a buyer in the market 2 environment. Each packet of instructions contained the materials that identify the subjects with these types along with a copy of the general instruction.

Market 1 environment

In this hypothetical asset market, three subjects are randomly chosen before the beginning of each period to become insiders in market $1.^6$ The insiders are given an opportunity to observe an *ex post* liquidation value of the risky asset. Assuming anonymity, each subject does not know who is informed or uninformed other than about himself/herself. There is no exogenous arrival of information regarding the value of the asset in the middle of each trading period, so that the information revelation is endogenous. Consequently, in

⁶We refer to the informed subjects as insiders despite that other interpretations are possible.

such a market environment, uninformed traders have access to only the market-generated information.

The asymmetric information in the market is generated in the following manner. Each period is associated with one of three *states*, X, Y, and Z, which is known to only the insiders.⁷ The value of the asset varies from person to person, and from state to state. Therefore, the asset value to each subject is defined by one of the state-dependent types, type I and type II, which specify the asset's dividend value for a given *state*. These types are given in Table 5.2a. The dividend values follow those used by Forsythe and Lundholm (1990) in their investigation of information aggregation properties of experimental markets. The state of each period was determined randomly by the experimenter before the experiment sessions by using a random number table. After each trading period has ended, the state of the past period becomes public information, and the subjects compute their profits for the period.

Market 2 environment

The market 2 environment is described by a set of demand and supply schedules illustrated in Figure 5.1. It is a symmetric market with respect to supply and demand, in which each trader is classified as either a buyer or a seller and is provided with a table containing one's own reservation values for units one trades during a given trading period.⁸

⁷Refer to Table 5.1b.

⁸Refer to Tables 5.2b through 5.2d.

5.3 Descriptive Summary

Figures 5.2a through 5.2d show the obtained time series of transaction prices from the experiments. Several summary statistics are included in Tables 3a through 3d in order to provide some intuition for the acquired data sets. The trading volume in the tables is the number of units traded in each period, which is equivalent of the number of transactions since in our experiment the subjects are not allowed to place multiple-unit orders. Note that it is not necessarily equal to the total number of contracts outstanding at the end of each trading period. This indicates the existence of a trader who has taken both a long position and a short position within the same period.⁹ An action taken by the subjects is identified as an event that belongs to one of ten event types. These event types are described and explored in detail in the following sections. But briefly, on the buyers' side they are "take ask," which results in immediate trading at the standing ask price, "new bid > standing bid," meaning a buyer overbidding the current standing bid, "new bid = standing bid," meaning a buyer entering a new bid equal to the current standing bid that will be recorded in the limit order book, "new bid < standing bid," meaning a buyer entering a new bid lower than the current standing bid that will also be recorded in the book accordingly, and "cancel bid," meaning a buyer cancelling a bid he has entered previously. The event types on the sellers' side are defined analogously. The price change is defined as a difference between transaction prices at transaction times t and t-1. The bid-ask spread is expressed in francs that is a difference between the lowest ask quote and the highest bid quote, and is

⁹This is commonly observed in real exchanges. For example, the volume of trading in some commodity futures contracts in a day can be larger than its open interest at the end of the day, reflecting a large number of day trades.

updated whenever a new event occurs. The time between events is a time elapsed in seconds between two consecutive events. Additional descriptive statistics on the market activities, such as the number of bids or asks, the size of the bid-side or ask-side spread in the order book, and the size of the bid-side or ask-side depth are included in Figures 5.3a through 5.4d.

5.3.1 Trading Activities and Bid–Ask Spreads

We include variables such as the trading volume and the number of events for each period as direct measures of the level of trading activities. A glance over the number of events in each market indicates that the subjects are generally more active in the markets with information asymmetry than in the market 2 environment, where the equilibrium trading volume predetermined by the experimenter has proven to prevail by previous researchers. This simply confirms the conjecture that the speculators make a market active and that an active market attracts speculators. This indicates the positive relation between the trading volume and the absorptive capacity of the market, or the liquidity of the market.¹⁰

The previous literature has found that the level of trading activities is a determinant of the bid-ask spread. McInish and Wood (1992) study the intraday patterns of bid-ask spreads in the NYSE data and find that the size of bid-ask spread is significantly inversely related to the number of trades and the number of shares per trade.¹¹ Our data do not necessarily contradict their findings, but it is not clear whether we can conclude that it is true in the analysis of the data on the inter-period basis. In Table 5.3a both the trading

¹⁰For example, see Kyle (1985) and Admati and Pfleiderer (1988).

¹¹Copeland and Galai (1983) show that the bid-ask spread is inversely related to the frequency of trading. For the analysis of data for intervals of a day or longer, see Tinic and West (1972), and Benston and Hagerman (1974).

221

volume and the event frequency are highest in period 12 where the mean bid-ask spread is 56.11 francs, whereas in period 1, where the event frequency is lowest and the trading volume is relatively low, the mean bid-ask spread is 104.02 francs. But in period 2, where the trading volume is lowest and the event frequency is relatively low, the mean bid-ask spread is 40.86 francs with a low standard deviation, which is smaller than 56.11 francs. We also find such inconsistencies in the other three data sets.¹² Accordingly, we find that it is difficult to conclude that the level of activities is a significant determinant of bid-ask spreads in our data sets. This inconsistency with the prior work, however, certainly does not mean that our laboratory markets have produced uninterpretable data. The key argument made by previous researchers as a reason of the inverse relationship between the trading activities and the spread size is the economies of scale in transactions costs, i.e., an increase in trading activities results in lowering the trading costs due to the economies of scale, which in turn leads to a smaller spread.¹³ In the absence of transactions costs, we need to seek for another interpretation. Moreover, there is empirical evidence that the pattern of differences in bid-ask spreads across days of a week is not stable over time compared to their intraday patterns.¹⁴ Since our notion of a period supposedly corresponds to a day, this instability might have contributed to the observed inconsistency.

McInish and Wood (1992) also find the crude reverse J-shape pattern in the analysis of the minute-by-minute bid-ask spreads. Figures 5.7a1 and 5.7a2 shows two examples of the intra-period patterns of bid-ask spreads that approximately follow a reverse J-

¹²Along with Tables 5.3a through 5.3d, refer also to Figures 5.3a through 5.3d, which show the average bid and ask in francs and the average number of bids and asks computed for each period.

¹³An alternative interpretation is due to Ho and Stoll (1983) in inventory control models of a dealership market, where increasing trading volume may lead to a larger spread if dealers are put in an undesired inventory position.

¹⁴This statement was noted by McInish and Wood (1992).

shape pattern. The spreads are large in the early stage of the given period, then they become smaller in the middle, followed by slightly larger spreads near the end of the period. Examples in which the pattern observed is very different from the reverse J-shape pattern are given in Figures 5.7b1 and 5.7b2. In period 10 of 042393c data, the spread becomes smaller almost monotonically as time advances. Since the market is designed as that of asymmetric information, we can interpret it as follows. The private information was revealed fairly early in the period that led to a gradual but permanent information adjustment and eventually was conveyed into prices by the end of the period. Hence, there is no informational shock near the end of the period nor speculation of higher risk. Another example included in Figure 5.7b2 is the pattern in period 12 of 042393c data. The data shows the spread widening later in the period followed by a succession of very large spreads. This observation can be interpreted that the private information was successfully concealed by the insiders in the early stage and that there was an informational impact later in the period.¹⁵ In fact, we can observe in the time series graphed in Figure 5.2b that the transaction prices begin to rapidly move up to a price level predicted by the rational expectations model in the last half of the period. Likewise, the spread size depends on how the information is assimilated into the market price reflecting the insiders' strategies that may not be obvious to the others.

¹⁵By using NYSE data McInish and Wood (1992) show that there is a direct relationship between spreads and the amount of information coming to the market.

5.3.2 Inferences Concerning Variances

In the next observation we deal with inferences concerning variances of the selected variables. The standard deviation of transaction prices are higher in the market 1 environment than in the market 2 environment in period-by-period comparison, except for a few periods. This result is consistent with previous theoretical and empirical findings. In market 2 each trader has no uncertainty about the asset value since one's reservation value is predetermined and given to him in the beginning of the experiment, while in market 1 there exists uncertainty regarding the *ex post* liquidation value among the subjects except for three randomly chosen insiders. Hence, there is no necessity of speculation nor information extraction from prices in the market 2 environment, whereas the information that is available to the insiders in the market 1 environment may not be fully absorbed into prices especially in the early stage of each period. The large price volatility increases speculative profits by increasing the chances of buying low and selling high in an asymmetric information market where speculating traders condition their actions on the prices. In Kyle's (1985) insider trading model, he finds that the price volatility decreases as information is conveyed into prices. The empirical investigation conducted by Bollerslev and Domowitz (1993) reports the negative monotonic relation between the amount of available information and the price variability.¹⁶ The findings on the standard deviation of price changes also fall in line with this argument. The standard deviations of bid-ask spreads are also higher in the market 1 environment than in the market 2 environment. This is consistent with Bollerslev et al.'s finding that the standard deviation of transaction prices and that of bid-ask spreads follow similar patterns.

¹⁶In the Bollerslev *et al.*'s simulated markets, the level of available information is modeled as a varied length of the electronic order book, in which the longer book size indicates more information available in the market.

The above observations are supported formally by the following statistical arguments. Since it is not doubtful whether the assumption of normality is appropriate for the distribution of such variables by observing their skewness and kurtosis, we can employ the ratio of the variances as a test statistic for testing the hypotheses

$$(A) \quad H_0 : \ \sigma_{tr1}^2 = \sigma_{tr2}^2 \ ; \ H_a : \ \sigma_{tr1}^2 > \sigma_{tr2}^2$$
$$(B) \quad H_0 : \ \sigma_{pc1}^2 = \sigma_{pc2}^2 \ ; \ H_a : \ \sigma_{pc1}^2 > \sigma_{pc2}^2$$
$$(C) \quad H_0 : \ \sigma_{ba1}^2 = \sigma_{ba2}^2 \ ; \ H_a : \ \sigma_{ba1}^2 > \sigma_{ba2}^2$$

where σ_{tr1}^2 , σ_{pc1}^2 , and σ_{ba1}^2 are the variance of transaction prices, price changes, and bidask spreads in Market 1, respectively, and the others are defined analogously. The data from 042393b and 042393c are pooled by market environment.¹⁷ The test statistics and the critical regions are shown in Table 5.4. We find the results in favor of the alternative hypothesis for all three cases; in other words, there is sufficient evidence to doubt the equality of the variances of these variables between the two market environments. Hence, we can conclude that the data support the contention that there is more variability in the transaction prices, the price changes, and the bid-ask spreads in markets with information asymmetries.

¹⁷The standard deviation of transaction prices in the market 1 environment is calculated over the transaction prices pooled across 15 periods in Market 1 of both 042393b and 042393c data sets. The standard deviations of price changes and of bid-ask spreads are defined similarly.

5.3.3 Other Findings on the Descriptive Statistics

With insiders present in the market 1 environment, the rational expectations model and the prior information model predict different transaction prices for three different states X, Y, and Z, while they predict the same price for any state in the market without insiders.¹⁸ As it can be observed in Tables 5.3a and 5.3b, the mean transaction prices differ in period-by-period comparison, whereas it is not obvious among the mean price changes and the mean bid-ask spreads. We perform an analysis of variance to test whether the differences among the means of selected descriptive variables in the three states in the market 1 environment are significant. The null hypotheses are

(A) H_0 : $\mu_{trX} = \mu_{trY} = \mu_{trZ}$ (B) H_0 : $\mu_{pcX} = \mu_{pcY} = \mu_{pcZ}$ (C) H_0 : $\mu_{baX} = \mu_{baY} = \mu_{baZ}$,

where μ_{trX} , μ_{pcX} , and μ_{baX} are the mean transaction price, the mean price change, and the mean bid-ask spread in X-state periods, respectively, and the others are defined similarly. The alternative hypothesis to each null hypothesis is that the μ 's are not all equal. The ANOVA tables are included in Tables 5.5a and 5.5b. The null hypothesis is rejected for the mean of transaction prices in both 042393b and 042393c data sets at any reasonable level of significance. In other words, the transaction price series fluctuate about different levels in different states. Therefore, the series is *nonstationary* in the mean. This result can easily be inferred from the time series plot in Figures 5.2a and 5.2b, in which both inter-

¹⁸Refer to Table 5.1d.

and intra-period series show a time trend and wander away from a fixed horizontal level. Nonstationarity can be caused by a shift in the influence of periodic factors. In inter-period time series, it is the change in the information on the terminal value of the asset that becomes available to three traders at the beginning of each trading period. In intra-period time series, it may reflect an uneven assimilation of information throughout a given trading period. Hence, this result confirms the existence of insiders in the markets according to the rational expectations model's and the prior information model's predictions. The null hypothesis cannot be rejected for the mean price change, indicating that the observed difference between the two means is not significant. Hence, one cannot conclude that the means of price changes vary among different states. In addition, we can say that the process resulted by taking successive differences of transaction prices is *stationary*, indicating that the original series could be a homogeneous nonstationary process of order one. It suggests a potential application of Autoregressive integrated moving average (ARIMA) models, that are frequently used in the the analysis of capital markets, to our experimental time series. These results should be visited again when we deal with the specification of time series The difference in the mean bid-ask spreads is significant at the 0.05 level of models. significance in both 042393b and 042393c data, but is not at the 0.01 level in 042393b data.

The unconditional frequencies of ten event types are computed for the data pooled across 15 periods and included in Table 5.6, and are also computed for each period of the four data sets and included in Tables 5.7a through 5.7d.¹⁹ The data in the tables will be compared to the frequencies that are conditional on several variables in the next section, where we turn our attention more to the determinants of the order flow. Before moving

¹⁹Hence, each column in the tables sums to 100.

on to the analysis of the order flow, however, we shall determine whether there in fact is a relationship between the state of the market and the event frequencies. The states of the market we look at here are the X, Y, and Z states in the market 1 environment that are defined in section 2. We test the null hypothesis concerning proportions,

$$H_0$$
: $P_{iX} = P_{iY} = P_{iZ}$, for $i = 1, ..., 10$,

where P_{ij} is the unconditional frequency of event *i* in state *j*, with $\sum_{i=1}^{10} P_{ij} = 100$ for each of the three states. The alternative hypothesis is that the *P*'s are not equal for at least one event type. This is equivalent of testing an existence of a dependence between the proportion of certain event type and the state of the market. We compute the following statistic for the test.

$$\chi^2 = \sum_{i=1}^r \sum_{j=1}^c \frac{(O_{ij} - E_{ij})^2}{E_{ij}}, \text{ with } E_{ij} = \frac{(\sum_{i=1}^r N_{ij})(\sum_{j=1}^c N_{ij})}{N_{total}},$$

where O_{ij} is the observed and E_{ij} is the expected frequency of event *i* in state *j*, and *r* and *c* are the number of event types and states, respectively. The results included in Table 5.8b along with the contingency table in Table 5.8a clearly show that the null hypothesis has to be rejected in both 042393b and 042393c data sets at any reasonable level of significance. Hence, we conclude that there is a dependence between the frequencies of event types and the state of the market, so that the probability of certain event's occurrence is not the same for the three different states. We note that this result should be referred when the evidence of information dissemination in the market is investigated.

228

5.4 Analysis of the Order Flow

As it was mentioned earlier, we have differentiated subjects' actions into ten categories, and identify them by different event types. These event types are used as indices of the direction and the level of aggressiveness of an action.²⁰ The direction indicates whether a trade is buyer- or seller-initiated, and with our data sets we can classify the direction accurately. Event 1, for example, is "take ask," which results in an immediate trading at the current standing ask quote and thus is the most aggressive type of action taken by a buyer. Event 2 is the second most aggressive action by a buyer, which is "new bid > standing bid" that results in replacing the current standing bid. We call such orders market orders in our experimental markets. Event 3 and Event 4 are "new bid = standing bid" and "new bid < standing bid," respectively. These orders will be placed in the limit order book according to price priority over time priority rule, and they are called limit orders. Event 5 is "cancellation" that removes a previously entered market or limit order. The event types on the sellers' side are defined analogously.

Table 5.6 reports the unconditional frequencies of ten event types over the data pooled across 15 periods for each of the four data sets. Among the buyers' side activities, "take ask" is the most frequent event type and "new bid > standing bid" is the second most frequent event type in two of the four data sets, while the latter is the most frequent event type in the other two. In all of the four data sets, the orders away from the standing quotes,

 $^{^{20}}$ This differentiation of event types follows the method used by Biais, Hillion, and Spatt (1993), except that they have 15 categories instead of 10. This is because in our experimental market the subjects are instructed not to enter multiple-unit orders, whereas in the Paris Bourse it is allowed as a matter of course. Therefore, Biais *et al.*'s differentiation includes the notion of the size of an order such as "large buy" and "small buy." We also do not have a category that they call "applications," which are prearranged trades put through the market at or within the best quotes.

i.e., "new bid < standing bid," occupy low frequencies. Analogously, on the sellers' side the events such as "take bid," "new ask < standing ask," and "new ask = standing ask" receive high frequencies compared to "new ask > standing ask" and "cancel ask." In general, most of the activities is within the bid-ask spread and at the standing quotes, which agrees with Biais *et al.*'s findings from the Paris Bourse data.²¹ The subjects are anxious to participate actively in the trading processes instead of waiting in line to be hit by the other side of the market, reflecting the competition for price priority. The uninformed subjects are also hesitant to place orders away from the standing quote with the risk of being hit in case of unexpected informational events, whereas the informed subjects are reluctant to take the risk of revealing their privately held information too soon by letting the book carry more information. Hence, the subjects seem to recognize the higher adverse selection cost associated with the quotes away from the standing quotes.

Tables 5.7a through 5.7d provide the unconditional frequencies of ten event types computed for each period of the four data sets. The data included in these tables seem to conform to the statement above. It has to be noted, however, that the event frequencies are found to be dependent on the market environment as it was discussed in the previous section. This finding can be considered as a piece of evidence that the order flow reflects the information dissemination process, and that it presumably reflects different information differently. Hence, the more of the order flow one has an access to observe, the more information one has a chance to extract. Consequently, this point confirms the contention made by Bollerslev *et al.* that the longer book seems to provide more information.

²¹Biais *et al.* also cite Harris and Hasbrouck's (1992) result on the NYSE data that is also consistent with our findings.

We depict the intraperiod frequencies of events in Figures 5.5a1 through 5.5d2. We divide each period into 10 intervals of 30 seconds, and compute the frequencies of events in one interval relative to the other intervals. In the Paris Bourse data Biais *et al.* found a prominent U-shaped pattern in the frequencies of orders and trades, in which market activities are relatively frequent in the morning and near the end of the trading day. In our data sets this pattern is not observed. In fact, in the market 1 environment it is difficult to identify if there is any pattern among the event frequencies. The markets seem to remain active throughout the trading period. This may be due to the short time limit we have set for each period. In the market 2 environment it appears that the market is relatively active right after the opening and that events gradually become less frequent as the competitive equilibrium is achieved. These figures show this contrast of markets with information asymmetry and without one clearly.

5.4.1 Frequencies of Event, Conditional on the Previous Event Type

Tables 5.9a through 5.9d document the frequencies of ten event types conditional on the previous event type that is also identified as one of the ten event types.²² The price improvement tends to occur right after a trade; that is, "new bid > standing bid" and "new ask < standing ask" have high frequencies relative to the other events after "take ask" or "take bid" has just occurred. This observation reflects the subjects' competition for the supply of liquidity after the liquidity is consumed by the trade. The high probability of "new ask < standing ask" after "take bid" and of "new bid > standing bid" after "take ask" could also be an evidence of information effects in the order flow. After one seller observes that

²²Hence, each row in the tables sums to 100.

another seller has accepted a standing bid, he may react to this event by entering an ask that can replace the current standing ask as a part of information adjustment process. Biais *et al.* (1993) interpret the shift in the order book due to large transactions as information effects. But they do not observe such shifts due to small transactions. Our finding, however, is an indication that traders are capable of extracting some information even from a unit transaction. The frequencies of these overbidding and undercutting event types conditional on the last event being a trade also tend to be higher than their unconditional frequencies. They also have high probabilities of occurrence after the placement of new orders at or within the standing quotes on the same side of the market, although they are not most frequent under this condition unlike Biais *et al.*'s finding in their data set.²³ This is also a reflection of the competitive behavior of the subjects for the supply of liquidity.²⁴

The frequency of "take bid" by a seller is high right after an overbidding action by a buyer, and the frequency of "take ask" by a buyer is high right after an undercutting action by a seller. This shows the existence of traders waiting to pick up a more favorable offer and competing for trade execution.

The diagonal effect that was observed in Biais *et al.*'s analysis of the Paris Bourse data is also present in our data sets. The frequencies on the diagonal of each table are generally large compared to the frequencies in the other rows of the same column; that is, the same type of event tends to occur in succession.²⁵ In addition, they tend to be larger than the unconditional counterpart of the frequencies, meaning that the probability of a

²³Note that the probabilities of overbidding and undercutting behavior are also high after the price improvement on the opposite side of the market.

²⁴Biais et al. (1993) cite Ho and Stoll (1983) and Kyle (1985) for the models of competition for the supply of liquidity.

²⁵Hasbrouck and Ho (1987) find strongly positive autocorrelations in the buy-sell indicator series for NYSE data.
232

particular event's occurrence is higher after the same type of event has just occurred than the probability expected unconditionally. This observation of positive serial correlation in event occurrence can be provided with several interpretations. The effect may reflect the subjects' behavioral pattern that they tend to interpret and react to the available information in a similar fashion, resulting in the succession of the same event type. A sequence of consecutive overbidding behavior, for example, may initiate an upward shift in the bid-ask spread leading to a permanent information adjustment. It may also reflect another behavioral pattern that some subjects learn to imitate the action of other subjects who are trusted for their accurate interpretation of information. Hence, some subjects extract information from the flow of other subjects' actions that works as a signal of what they are supposed to do. Or since the subjects are instructed to place a single-unit order at a time in our experiments, the same person may enter the same order consecutively with a short time interval in order to acquire an opportunity for trading multiple units. The diagonal effect of actions that result in an immediate trading such as "take ask" and "take bid" also reflects the positive relationship between the intensity of trade and the liquidity. If traders have discretion over the timing of their trades, they tend to bunch at times when they expect the others to be trading as well, for that is the time at which the liquidity is highest.26

The statistical significance of the differences between the conditional and unconditional frequencies noted in the discussion above is shown by the following argument. We calculate

 $^{^{26}}$ This is the central finding by Admati and Pfleiderer (1988). Kyle (1985) shows that this effect is enhanced with the presence of informed traders.

the multinomial chi-square sum in order to test the hypotheses,

$$H_0 : F_{j,k}^i = UF_k^i \forall k$$
$$H_a : F_{j,k}^i \neq UF_k^i \text{ for some } k,$$

where $F_{j,k}^i$ is the frequency of event k in the data set i, conditional on the previous event being j, and UF_k^i is the unconditional frequency of event k in the data set i. The χ^2 statistic is calculated for ten different last event types in each of the four data sets. For example, the χ^2 statistic for event type j in data i is

$$\chi^2 = N_j \cdot \sum_{k=1}^{10} \frac{(F_{j,k}^i - UF_k^i)^2}{UF_k^i},$$

where N_j is the number of the observations with the previous event type being j. This follows the χ^2 distribution with the degrees of freedom equal to 9, which is the number of event types minus $1.^{27}$ The computed χ^2 values are included in Table 5.10. The null hypothesis is clearly rejected for any last event type in all of the four data sets, indicating that the difference among the unconditional and conditional frequencies are statistically significant. Therefore, we can conclude that a current event type is not independent of the last event type in our experimental financial markets.

²⁷The critical values for the significance levels 0.05 and 0.01 are $\chi^2_{0.05}(9df) \approx 16.919$ and $\chi^2_{0.01}(9df) \approx 21.666$, respectively.

5.4.2 Frequencies of Event, Conditional on the State of the Order Book

In this section we look at the discrepancy between the unconditional frequencies and the frequencies of event conditional on the previous state of the limit order book. The limit order book is characterized by nine different states, which depend on the relative size of bid-side and ask-side spreads and of bid-side and ask-side depths of the book. The bid-side spread is defined as the difference in francs between the standing bid quote and the lowest bid quote listed last in the limit order book plus 1 unit of the standing bid.²⁹ The ask-side spread and depth are defined similarly. State 1, for example, is "(bid-side spread > ask-side spread) \land (bid-side depth > ask-side depth)," state 2 is "(bid-side spread > ask-side spread) \land (bid-side depth = ask-side depth)," and so on. The state of the book is updated whenever there is a new event. Tables 5.11a through 5.11d report the conditional frequencies, in which each row corresponds to each state.³⁰

The frequencies of "take bid" tend to be high when the ask-side depth is larger than or equal to the bid-side depth, whereas those of "take ask" tend to be high when the ask-side depth is smaller than the bid-side depth. The former reflects the selling pressure with more people waiting to sell, and the latter reflects the buying pressure with more people waiting to buy. A similar pattern is observed in the undercutting and the overbidding behavior. The high probabilities of the placement of new asks within the bid-ask spread

²⁸If there is no bid or only a standing bid, the spread is defined to be 0.

 $^{^{29}}$ Since only a sigle-unit order is allowed, this is equivalent of the total number of units listed in the book including 1 unit of the standing bid. For instance, the depth is 0 if there is no order, and the depth is 1 if there is only a standing bid and no order in the book.

³⁰Hence, each row in the tables sums to 100.

or at the standing quotes when the ask-side depth is larger than or equal to the bid-side depth indicate that a number of the participants are anxious to gain time priority to sell, while the high probabilities of new bids within or at the market standing quotes reflect the opposite.

We conduct the χ^2 test to confirm the discrepancy between the unconditional and the conditional frequencies. The hypotheses tested are

$$H_0 : BF_{j,k}^i = UF_k^i \forall k$$
$$H_a : BF_{j,k}^i \neq UF_k^i \text{ for some } k,$$

where $BF_{j,k}^i$ is the frequency of event k in the data set i, conditional on the state of the book being j, and UF_k^i is the unconditional frequency of event k in the data set i. For example, the χ^2 statistic for the book state j in data i is

$$\chi^2 = N_j \cdot \sum_{k=1}^{10} \frac{(BF_{j,k}^i - UF_k^i)^2}{UF_k^i},$$

where N_j is the number of observations with the state of the book being j. Again, this chisquare statistic has 9 degrees of freedom, which is the number of event types minus 1. Table 5.12 contains the computed test statistics. The null hypothesis is rejected for any reasonable level of significance. Therefore, we have confirmed the presence of dependency between the order flow and the state of the order book in our experimental financial markets.

5.4.3 Frequencies of Event, Conditional on the Size of Bid–Ask Spread

In Tables 5.13a through 5.16 we define the size of the bid-ask spread to be large if it is at least as large as the time-series mean of bid-ask spreads through 15 periods, and to be small otherwise.³¹ The frequencies of "take ask" and "take bid" are relatively high when a bid-ask spread is smaller than the mean bid-ask spread; that is, trades tend to occur when a bid-ask spread is tight. The frequencies of "new bid > standing bid" and "new ask < standing ask" are relatively high when a bid-ask spread is larger than or equal to the mean bid-ask spread; that is, overbidding and undercutting behavior tend to occur when a bid-ask spread is large. Other events such as new orders away from the standing quote do not appear to be affected by the size of bid-ask spread. These findings are consistent with Biais *et al.*'s findings on the Paris Bourse data.

We conduct a χ^2 test again to see the statistical significance of the discrepancy between the conditional and unconditional frequencies of the events. The hypotheses tested are

$$egin{array}{rcl} H_0 & : & SF^i_{j,k} = UF^i_k \ orall & k \end{array} \ H_a & : & SF^i_{j,k}
eq UF^i_k \ ext{for some } k \end{array}$$

where $SF_{j,k}^{i}$ is the frequency of event k in period i, conditional on the size of the bid-ask spread right before the event being j, and UF_{k}^{i} is the unconditional frequency of event k in period i. For example, the χ^{2} statistic for the bid-ask spread size j in period i is

$$\chi^2 = N_j \cdot \sum_{k=1}^{10} \frac{(SF_{j,k}^i - UF_k^i)^2}{UF_k^i},$$

³¹Note that in Tables 5.13a' and 5.13b' the mean is computed for X-, Y-, and Z-state periods.

where N_j is the number of observations with the bid-ask spread being j. This chi-square has nine degrees of freedom, which is the number of event types minus one. As it is clear by observing the computed χ^2 statistics reported in Table 5.14, we can reject the null hypothesis at any reasonable level of significance. Hence, we can conclude that the size of bid-ask spreads affects the frequencies of different events in our experimental financial markets.

5.4.4 Time Intervals between Events

The distributions of time intervals between two consecutive events are graphed in Figure 5.8a through Figure 5.8d. Over 50 percent of all events occur in 2 seconds after another event has occurred in the market 1 environment, and about 50 percent in 3 seconds in the market 2 environment. Part of the short time intervals may be due to the stringent time limit we set for each period, or may be reflecting quick responses of subjects to observed events in competition for time priority. The frequency of events almost monotonically decreases as the time interval increases. Hausman *et al.* (1992) studied 1988 transactions data for selected U.S. stocks, and found similar patterns in the depiction of the time-between-trades for the stocks with relatively large market capitalization.³² Biais *et al.*'s empirical distribution of the time intervals of the Paris Bourse data also showed the similar pattern.

Tables 5.15a and 5.15b show mean time intervals between two events conditional on the last event type, the state of the order book, the size of bid-ask spread, and the size of the last time interval. The size of the last time interval is defined to be large if it is larger than

 $^{^{32}}$ In their sample derived from the Institute for the Study of Security Markets database, International Business Machines Corporation has the largest market capitalization with a market value of \$69.8 billion, and Handy and Harman Company has the smallest. The smaller, less liquid stocks showed a very different pattern.

or equal to the time series mean of time intervals computed from the data pooled across 15 periods, and to be small otherwise. The mean time interval after a small time interval is smaller than that after a large time interval in all of the four data sets. This suggests the existence of an alternating pattern of intense and sparse activities during a trading period. This pattern was also observed by Biais *et al.* The differences between the means conditional on the last time interval are shown to be statistically significant below. The mean time interval after the large bid-ask spread is larger than that after the small bid-ask spread in three of the four data sets. This contradicts the findings by Biais *et al.* on the Paris Bourse data. But in two out of the three cases the difference is not significant.

Mean time intervals after order placements at standing quotes are short, reflecting that some subjects wishing to trade multiple units at the same price enter multiple orders for a single unit of the same price within a short time.³³ An event after a cancellation tends to occur quickly, too. In fact, another cancellation often follows one cancellation with a short time interval, reflecting a quick response of other observant subjects or a sequence of multiple cancellations by the same subject to incorporate newly acquired information into their decisions. On the other hand, mean time intervals after a transaction tend to be larger than their unconditional counterpart. The intervals after overbidding or undercutting events are smaller than the intervals after a transaction in 042393c data, but they are larger in 042393b data though not by much.³⁴

The intervals conditional on the state of the book indicate that an event tends to occur quickly when the state of the book is strongly asymmetric between the bid-side and the

³³Note again that in our experiments the subjects are not allowed to enter multiple-unit orders.

³⁴In Biais *et al.*'s analysis of the Paris Bourse data, they found that the mean time interval is shortest after market sell orders, and relatively short after market buy orders.

ask-side. In other words, if a difference between the bid-side and the ask-side spread is large at the same time when a difference between the bid-side and the ask-side depth is large, then the next event tends to occur in short time. If those differences are small, the time interval before the next event tends to be large. This is the indication that the subjects interpret that a shape of a book may become very asymmetric in a process of information assimilation, reflecting a significant amount of private information and emitting a signal that the current price needs to incorporate the information quickly. Hence, it results in the subjects' reacting to their observation quickly.

In order to support the above observations formally, we perform an analysis of variance to test each of the following hypotheses.

> (A) H_0 : $\mu_{event1} = \mu_{event2} = \cdots = \mu_{event10}$ (B) H_0 : $\mu_{state1} = \mu_{state2} = \cdots = \mu_{state10}$ (C) H_0 : $\mu_{spreadlg} = \mu_{spreadsm}$ (D) H_0 : $\mu_{intervallg} = \mu_{intervalsm}$,

where μ_{event1} , μ_{state1} , $\mu_{spreadlg}$, and $\mu_{intervallg}$ are the mean time intervals conditional on the previous event type being 1, the state of the book being 1, the size of bid-ask spread being large, and the previous time interval being large, respectively, and the others are defined similarly. Computed F ratios for the treatments are reported in Table 5.16. According to these statistics, it is difficult to conclude that the size of the previous bid-ask spread has a significant influence over the time interval, for the null hypothesis (C) cannot be rejected in three of the four data sets. On the other hand, in three out of the four data sets the null hypothesis (B) is rejected, indicating the time interval may be influenced by the state of the book. In addition, the time intervals are clearly dependent on the previous event type and the last time interval. Hence, we may conclude that the time interval between two trades or events carries information that is valuable to the market participants' decisions.

It is also interesting to inspect Tables 5.17a and 5.17b, which contain mean time intervals jointly conditional on the previous event type, the state of the book, and the size of the last time interval.

5.5 Concluding Remarks

We conclude this chapter by describing potential research interests on our data sets.

Prices provide an important source of information along with other variables. In fact, it is a common practice for securities' traders to study price changes in forming their investment decisions. Our empirical investigation on the determinants of the order flow indicates that the complex nature of order placements is closely related to price dynamics. It brings us to study how this interdependence between the order flow and the price dynamics functions. We need to analyze the movement of intra-period price changes conditional on the history of order flow, whereas many previous works have focused on unconditional distribution of price changes.³⁵ In so doing discreteness of price changes should not be ignored especially for intraperiod price movements, since such finely-sampled price changes may take on only several distinct values.

As it was indicated in the previous section, orders arrive in varied time intervals. Since

 $^{^{35}}$ Easley and O'Hara (1987) find that the order flow affects the conditional distribution of the next price change.

the order flow is not independent of the time intervals, the information contained in the length of time between, for example, two transactions may have a significant influence over price dynamics. In the process of the model specification, we need to incorporate a variable that reflects the information in the intervals.

In addition, we may include independent variables that describe the state of the order book on the ask side and on the bid side. For example, first we can examine several simple regression models without applying a time-series model to the residual series and analyze each model for cases in which independent variables are at t + 1, t + 2, and so on. Then choose the model with the best fit and use it to construct a combined regression-time-series model. In other words, give an ARIMA specification of the residual series. One of the goals is to conclude whether or not the state of the book is a good indicator of future transaction prices. We conjecture that the order book carries a significant amount of information, so that the presence of the book enhances the better forecasting by traders. We can repeat the similar procedure with other independent variables such as bid-ask spreads.

Another interesting extension is to investigate how traders' private information regarding a liquidation value of risky assets becomes conveyed into market variables such as transaction prices in laboratory asset markets, where asymmetrically informed traders can submit both market and limit orders. We are particularly interested in analyzing how the presence of the limit order book contributes to the process of disseminating the traders' private information. Previous experimental investigations regarding information dissemination focuses on the analysis of efficiency measures. They don't look at second-by-second movement of activities and variables. We feel the need to look for the sign of information revelation in the order flow and its determinant variables. By giving a closer look at the order flow and investigating the intraperiod pattern of the variables that are empirically proven to be the determinants of the order flow in the previous sections, we should be able to show the sign of information dissemination in the experimental asset markets that are not accommodated with the sufficient conditions given by Forsythe and Lundholm (1990).³⁶ In other words, Rational Expectation equilibria do not have to be achieved to be able to conclude that the market has provided information dissemination institution. Instead, look at the movement of, for example, a bid-ask spread, and look for the sign of information dissemination based on the previous theoretical findings and empirical findings on the real data. Each period may have different insiders and a different subject may have a different way of revealing one's private information, indicating that it may be harder for others to extract information when a certain person is an insider. Hence, every period doesn't necessarily converge to a Rational Expectation equilibrium price within the limited length of time. But can we reject Rational Expectation hypothesis just because transaction prices have not converged to what it predicts? We argue that the answer is no. We can find the information dissemination process among the order flow and other variables that affect the order flow. Hence, it's possible that information is revealed right before a given period ends and thus the fact that information has been successfully revealed is not reflected in the equilibrium price yet. We need to look at other variables to find the sign of revelation.

Though Rational Expectation equilibrium is not really achieved, we may still be able to show the evidence of information dissemination by looking at the shifts in the order book. If the shift of bid-ask spread is not transient, reflecting the permanent adjustment

³⁶Forsythe *et al.* found, through the analysis of experimental data, that participants' trading experience and common knowledge of dividends are jointly sufficient to achieve a Rational Expectation equilibrium.

 $\mathbf{243}$

to the newly revealed information, then we may claim that it is information effects and is the evidence of the information dissemination process. We may be able to observe from figures the movement of intraperiod bid-ask spread for a few periods of X, Y, and Z that reflects the permanent adjustment. We provided four examples related to this topic in figures 5.7a1, 5.7a2, 5.7b1, and 5.7b2. The different sizes of the spreads may indicate that bid-ask spreads are larger for assets where information asymmetries are more pervasive. It would be worthwhile to verify empirically that information asymmetries affect the ability of executing trades. We can also compare standard deviations of price changes (or transaction prices) between early part and late part within each period. We hope to see $\sigma_{early} > \sigma_{late}$. We should also comment on observed information mirage or bubbles as a consequence of speculative behavior.

Yet another interesting extension is to investigate the concept of dynamic equilibrium in laboratory experiments.³⁷ This will require us to make a slight modification of the experimental design. Suppose that there are two types of traders in equilibrium in the market that form two different trends. For example, we may design the experiment in which one type is strongly influenced by a short-term view and the other's behavior is affected by a long-term prospect. We may be able to observe two different types of fair valuation of assets, one mostly reflecting the short-term information, and the other reflecting the state after the market has fully adjusted for the information. In such a case the equilibrium may shift between the two fair valuations with a certain length of time interval that is required for the

 $^{^{37}}$ We computed the Hurst exponent with our data sets to see the evidence of relaxation processes. Indeed the computed exponent indicated 1/f noise in our data. But it is still inconclusive, since we had to aggregate the data for all the 15 periods. We included the step-by-step computation process of the Hurst exponent as a reference in Appendix 5C.

market to absorb the information shocks. In other words, we should design the experiment in such a way that the same information may affect different subjects differently depending on each subject's investment horizon. We believe that analyzing the price dynamics and other details of the order flow in such trading environments may help us understand a part of the stock price movements that are sometimes hard to explain within the framework of the Efficient Market Hypothesis.

Appendix 5A

Tables for Chapter 5

Summary of the Experimental Design (Market 1)

Table 5.1a

	Uncertainty	of Insiders	No		No		
LIVIGENDS	Common	Knowledge	No		No		
	Subjects'	Experience	None		None		
	MIDULES	per Period	2	-	2		
		Z	40	125	40	125	
	videna	Y	330	60	330	6	
ř	ĥ	x	120	205	120	205	
E	Irader	Types	I	п	I	H	
N	IN URDER OF	Insiders	3		e		
Mb.	Number of	Traders	8		ø		
	DOLLARS	per Franc	100'0		0.001		
-	ment	Francs	10,000		10,000		
	Initial Endi	Certificates	8		80		
	Lious	Sales	No		No		
		Book	Yes		Yes		
	rxperiment	Number	042393b		042393c		

Table 5.1b

States of Trading Periods (Market 1)

 Trading Periods
 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
 10
 11
 12
 13
 14

 States
 Y
 X
 Y
 X
 X
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Y
 Y
 Z
 Z
 Z
 Z
 Z
 Z
 Z
 Z
 Z
 Z
 Z
 Z
 Z
 Z</t

X 12

Table 5.1c Summary of the Experimental Design (Market 2)

Subjects'	Experience	None	None
Minutes	per Period	ß	5
Trader	Types	4 types of buyers and 4 types of sellers as indicated in Tables 5.2b and 5.2c	4 types of buyers and 4 types of sellers as indicated in Tables 5.2b and 5.2c
Number of	Traders	8	æ
Dollars	per Franc	0.003	0.003
Endowment	Francs	10,000	10,000
Initial	Units	10	10
Short	Sales	No No	No
	Book	Yes	Yes
Experiment	Number	042393b	042393c

Table 5.1d Equilibrium Predictions in Market 1

			Wi	ih Insi	iders				Without	Insiders
Market		×	Ч	N	×	٢	2		Any State	Any State
042393b,c	RE	205	330	125	Ξ	H	II	RE	163.33	I
	Ы	205	330	163	Π	н	п	Ы	163.33	I
	MM	205	330	125	Ħ	I	П	MM	06	п

Table 5.2a

State Contingent Dividend Parameters in Market 1

	State X	State Y	State Z
Type I	120	330	40
Type II	205	90	125

Table 5.2b

Buyers' Redemption Values in Market 2

Unit	Туре 1	Type 2	Type 3	Type 4
1	230	224	234	238
2	196	190	204	212
3	162	156	170	178
4	128	138	138	146
5	94	128	108	116
6	60	100	74	82
7	26	66	40	48
8	10	32	10	10
9	10	10	10	10
10	10	10	10	10

Table 5.2c

Sellers' Inventory Use Costs in Market 2

Uni	t	Type 1	Type 2	Туре 3	Type 4
1		32	28	28	36
2		62	54	48	70
3		96	88	82	104
4		128	120	116	138
5		158	150	144	172
6		192	184	178	206
7		226	218	212	240
8		245	250	250	245
9		250	255	255	250
1())	255	260	260	255

Table 5.2d

Types of Each Subject in Market 1 and Market 2

	T	
Subject ID $\#$	Market 1	Market 2
0	Type I	Buyer Type 1
1 ·	Туре І	Seller Type 1
2	Type I	Buyer Type 2
3	Туре І	Seller Type 2
4	Туре II	Buyer Type 3
5	Туре ІІ	Seller Type 3
6	Type II	Buyer Type 4
7	Type II	Seller Type 4

Selective Descriptive Statistics on Market Activities (Data 042393b : Market 1) Table 5.3a

	Per 1	Per 2	Per 3	Per 4	Per 5	Per 6	Per 7	Per 8	Per 9	Per 10	Per 11	Per 12	Per 13	Per 14	Per 15
Trading Volume	18	14	20	20	36	25	32	22	38	26	30	39	28	17	25
Number of Events	41	58	61	57	92	69	117	12	94	95	98	152	86	94	100
Transaction Price															
(France)															
High	410	170	150	200	300	200	250	219	225	140	225	300	100	150	150
Low	100	100	30	100	120	150	130	150	100	ñ	136	150	80	100	80
Mean	221.11	130.00	74.25	143.25	172.14	186.48	194.03	170.36	184.08	81.65	189.93	214.92	91.96	116.47	111.92
Std. dev.	71.69	20.00	30.79	23.41	36.07	16.47	32.93	19.59	28.47	22.13	18.53	33.84	4.70	13.20	17.21
Price Change															
(France)															
Mean	9.41	1.54	1.05	1.58	4.00	-0.83	1.45	-2.10	1.49	-1.60	2.72	3.68	0.37	1.88	1.67
Std. dev.	94.30	23.04	39.67	30.46	14.26	10.63	45.83	14.33	24.94	31.36	11.97	37.17	4.89	19.05	22.25
Bid-Ask Spread															
(Francs)															
Mean	104.02	40.86	32.54	104.26	65.77	92.58	107.17	78.45	70.80	53.11	40.33	56.11	36.77	47.16	56.20
Std. dev.	115.80	26.18	40.12	67.62	40.62	48.30	44.38	29.73	40.05	36.89	22.73	42.02	33.65	34.21	40.81
Time between Events															
(Seconds)															
Mean	7.39	6.29	4.89	5.33	3.15	4.32	4.25	4.23	3.19	3.26	3.00	2.01	3.40	3.26	3.06
644 4400	13 22	7 06	10.00	5 05	3 03	6 88	4 90	4 01	6 00	3 99	5 73	3 50	5 48	д 7 <u>г</u>	6 1 <i>6</i>

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

251

Table 5.3b

Selective Descriptive Statistics on Market Activities (Data 042393c : Market 1)

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

 Table 5.3c

 Selective Descriptive Statistics on Market Activities (Data 042393b : Market 2)

	Per 1	Per 2	Per 3	Per 4	Per 5	Per 6	Per 7	Per 8	Per 9	Per 10	Per 11	Per 12	Per 13	Per 14	Per 15
Trading Volume	6	12	13	16	16	15	12	13	14	14	14	14	13	12	13
Number of Events	43	53	51	57	53	49	47	59	56	42	41	33	48	44	46
Transaction Price															
(France)															
High	165	170	160	158	143	150	139	144	140	137	136	135	133	149	130
Low	140	130	130	125	110	122	120	130	125	120	120	120	20	121	120
Mean	156.56	149.33	147.85	138.50	133.00	135.13	129.33	137.54	134.36	129.64	128.86	129.14	120.00	135.83	127.46
Std. dev.	8.17	10.91	11.17	9.32	9.13	10.23	8.52	4.37	5.67	5.58	5.17	5.27	30.43	11.38	7.41
Price Change															
(France)															
Mean	0.50	0.18	-2.50	-0.33	-2.00	-0.21	0.00	0.75	-0.31	-0.77	-0.62	0.46	9.42	2.18	1.17
Std. dev.	12.33	14.74	17.65	9.07	10.39	7.66	12.47	3.02	5.91	3.81	6.10	6.75	30.52	5.56	8.64
Bid-Ask Spread															
(France)															
Mean	30.77	23.17	24.10	16.91	16.21	17.73	16.74	12.64	14.63	9.29	16.73	14.03	11.65	39.84	16.61
Std. dev.	19.94	14.51	8.44	10.82	12.81	7.92	15.68	9.31	7.01	5.85	10.93	18.71	7.42	1.88	4.35
Time between Events															
(Seconds)															
Mean	7.23	5.63	5.80	5.30	5.77	6.47	6.43	5.11	5.36	7.24	7.40	9.18	6.38	6.95	7.33
Std. dev.	13.52	9.04	9.02	6.59	4.60	7.98	6.66	6.40	8.00	11.23	11.09	10.38	8.05	13.26	14.56

 Table 5.3d

 Selective Descriptive Statistics on Market Activities (Data 042393c : Market 2)

	Per 1	Per 2	Per 3	Per 4	Per 5	Per 6	Per 7	Per 8	Per 9	Per 10	Per 11	Per 12	Per 13	Per 14	Per 15
Trading Volume	11	11	13	12	13	11	12	14	13	14	13	13	12	14	15
Number of Events	42	46	41	41	37	32	34	58	35	50	45	51	47	52	54
Transaction Price															
(Francs)															
High	200	200	175	175	175	170	174	165	160	160	170	155	155	155	155
Low	140	150	145	140	145	145	142	140	142	120	140	120	140	120	130
Mean	164.55	166.82	157.92	157.00	159.08	157.18	155.92	153.64	152.54	148.36	152.77	146.31	147.92	145.14	147.20
Std. dev.	21.15	19.40	11.94	12.02	10.92	9.02	8.76	7.15	5.64	9.83	9.20	9.65	4.32	9.94	6.56
Price Change															
(Francs)															
Mean	-6.00	-5.00	-2.50	-3.18	0.00	-1.50	-1.18	-1.92	-1.50	-3.08	-2.50	-2.92	0.00	-2.31	-1.71
Std. dev.	14.30	10.27	9.29	10.98	14.62	9.28	12.19	5.16	3.68	7.45	7.18	8.81	5.85	6.16	4.16
Bid-Ask Spread															
(Francs)															
Mean	98.79	66.67	7.34	19.93	5.27	11.25	12.50	12.33	8.80	8.88	9.44	11.29	15.04	7.85	6.85
Std. dev.	32.46	28.12	9.05	14.22	7.07	10.58	10.42	8.53	5.89	7.44	5.86	8.15	9.66	7.82	5.80
Time between Events											1				
(Seconds)															
Mean	7.38	6.59	7.40	7.22	8.22	7.69	8.24	5.21	8.54	6.26	6.43	5.88	6.13	6.02	5.61
Std. dev.	7.73	10.64	9.63	6.56	11.37	8.02	19.71	6.63	12.14	9.78	8.56	9.26	6.85	8.32	9.98

Table 5.4
Statistics for Tests Concerning Equality of Selected Variables between Market 1 and Market 2
(A) H_0 : $\sigma_{tr1}^2 = \sigma_{tr2}^2$; H_a : $\sigma_{tr1}^2 > \sigma_{tr2}^2$
$F = \frac{\sigma_{tr1}^2}{\sigma_{tr2}^2} \approx 8.348 > 1.130 \approx F_{0.05}(705, 390)$
(B) H_0 : $\sigma_{pc1}^2 = \sigma_{pc2}^2$; H_a : $\sigma_{pc1}^2 > \sigma_{pc2}^2$
$F = \frac{\sigma_{pe1}^2}{\sigma_{pe2}^2} \approx 6.832 > 1.140 \approx F_{0.05}(675, 360)$
(C) H_0 : $\sigma_{ba1}^2 = \sigma_{ba2}^2$; H_a : $\sigma_{ba1}^2 > \sigma_{ba2}^2$
$F = rac{\sigma_{bu1}^2}{\sigma_{bu2}^2} pprox 4.779 > 1.000 pprox F_{0.05}(2192, 1386)$
(D) H_0 : $\mu_{pc1} = \mu_{pc2}$; H_a : $\mu_{pc1} > \mu_{pc2}$
$Z = \frac{\mu_{pc1} - \mu_{pc2}}{\sqrt{\frac{\sigma_{pc1}^2}{N_{pc1}} + \frac{\sigma_{pc2}^2}{N_{pc2}}}} \approx 2.244 > 1.645 \approx Z_{0.05}$
(E) H_0 : $\mu_{ba1} = \mu_{ba2}$; H_a : $\mu_{ba1} > \mu_{ba2}$
$Z = \frac{\mu_{\rm bal} - \mu_{\rm ba2}}{\sqrt{\frac{\sigma_{\rm bal}^2}{\kappa_{\rm bal}^2} + \frac{\sigma_{\rm ba2}^2}{\kappa_{\rm ba2}^2}}} \approx 27.910 > 1.645 \approx Z_{0.05}$

Table 5.5a

ANOVA Tables for Tests Concerning Difference among X, Y, and Z States (Data 042393b : Market 1)

	($(A) H_0 : \mu_{trX}$	$x = \mu_{trY} = \mu_{trZ}$		
Source of	Degrees of	Sum of	Mean	77	E (0. 007)
variation	jreeaom	squares	square	F	$F_{0.05}(2, 387)$
States	2	3.39882e+005	1.69941e+005	80.25	3.02
Residuals	387	8.19558e+005	2.11772e+003		
Total	389	1.15944e+006			

	(1	$H_0 : \mu_{pcX}$	$= \mu_{pcY} = \mu_{pcZ}$		
Source of	Degrees of	Sum of	Mean		
variation	freedom	squares	square	F	$F_{0.05}(2, 372)$
States	2	6.10750e+002	3.05375e+002	0.29	3.02
Residuals	372	3.90453e+005	1.04961e+003		
Total	374	3.91064e+005			

_	(C) H_0 : μ_{baX}	$\mu_{baY} = \mu_{baY}$		
Source of	Degrees of	Sum of	Mean		
variation	freedom	squares	square	F	$F_{0.05}(2, 1236)$
States	2	1.92890e+004	9.64450e+003	3.96	2.99
Residuals	1236	3.00852e+006	2.43408e+003		
Total	1238	3.02781e+006			

Table 5.5b

ANOVA Tables for Tests Concerning Difference among X, Y, and Z States (Data 042393c : Market 1)

		$(A) = H_0 : \mu_{tr}$	$x = \mu_{tr} Y = \mu_{tr} Z$		
Source of	Degrees of	Sum of	Mean		E (9, 212)
variation	jreeaom	squares	square	<u> </u>	P0.05(2, 313)
States	2	1.45682e+005	7.28410e+004	110.87	3.03
Residuals	313	2.05636e+005	6.56984e+002		
Total	315	3.51318e+005			

	(.	B) $H_0: \mu_{pcX}$	$= \mu_{pcY} = \mu_{pcZ}$		
Source of	Degrees of	Sum of	Mean		
variation	freedom	squares	square	F	$F_{0.05}(2, 298)$
States	2	3.27186e+002	1.63593e+002	0.40	3.03
Residuals	298	1.23145e+005	4.13238e+002		
Total	300	1.23472e+005			

	(($C) = H_0 : \mu_{ba,X}$	$= \mu_{ba} Y = \mu_{ba} Z$		
Source of variation	Degrees of freedom	Sum of squares	Mean square	F	F _{0.05} (2. 951)
States	2	3.06200e+004	1.53100e+004	7.50	3.00
Residuals	951	1.94038e+006	2.04036e+003		
Total	953	1.97100e+006			

	042393c : Market 2		16.15		13.08		4.15		1.23		1.85		13.23		24.15		11.38		6.31		8.46	
	042393b : Market 2		13.30		18.67		3.11		3.68		6.79		14.99		23.20		10.33		3.96		1.98	
	042393c : Market 1		17.68		21.73		20.02		0.64		1.06		15.97		15.76		4.69		1.06		1.38	
	042393b : Market 1		22.14		12.58		10.70		2.61		1.31		9.72		21.32		11.76		5.64		2.21	
Data	Event Type 1	Take ask		New bid >	standing bid	New bid =	standing bid	New bid <	standing bid	Cancel bid		Take bid		New ask <	standing ask	New ask =	standing ask	New ask >	standing ask	Cancel ask		

Table 5.6 Unconditional Frequencies of Events The number of each event's occurrence is added across 15 periods for each data set, and divided by the total number of observations to obtain the percentage frequencies.

.7a
10
<u>e</u>
D.
Ę

Unconditional Frequencies of Events by Period (Data 042393b : Market 1)

	Event Type						Unc	conditio	nal Fre	quency	(%)					
		Per 1	Per 2	Per 3	Per 4	Per 5	Per 6	Per 7	Per 8	Per 9	Per 10	Per 11	Per 12	Per 13	Per 14	Per 15
Buy	Take ask	34.146	8.621	6.557	29.825	36.957	23.188	36.620	30.986	35.106	7.368	26.531	23.684	8.140	12.766	12.000
Side	New bid > standing bid	12.195	20.690	31.148	8.772	10.870	21.739	15.493	4.225	11.702	20.000	12.245	7.895	8.140	3.191	14.000
	New bid = standing bid	0.000	15.517	0.000	0.000	10.870	1.449	0.000	1.408	6.383	0.000	18.367	37.500	20.930	7.447	4.000
	New bid < standing bid	0.000	0.000	0.000	10.526	0.000	2.899	1.408	12.676	0.000	2.105	0.000	0.658	9.302	1.064	2.000
	Cancel bid	0.000	17.241	0.000	0.00	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.053	0.000	3.289	0.000	0.000	0.000
Sell	Take bid	9.756	15.517	26.230	5.263	2.174	13.043	8.451	0.000	5.319	20.000	4.082	1.974	24.419	5.319	13.000
Side	New ask < standing ask	36.585	17.241	16.393	40.351	29.348	26.087	23.944	32.394	19.149	18.947	18.367	19.737	19.767	17.021	12.000
	New ask = standing ask	2.439	0.000	19.672	3.509	2.174	7.246	8.451	12.676	17.021	2.105	15.306	1.316	0.000	34.043	40.000
-	New ask > standing ask	4.878	5.172	0.000	1.754	6.522	4.348	5.634	2.817	5.319	26.316	1.020	3.289	9.302	2.128	2.000
-	Cancel ask	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.087	0.000	0.000	2.817	0.000	2.105	4.082	0.658	0.000	17.021	1.000

Table 5.7b

Unconditional Frequencies of Events by Period (Data 042393c : Market 1)

	Event Type						й О	conditic	nal Fre	quency	(%)					
		Per 1	Per 2	Per 3	Per 4	Per 5	Per 6	Per 7	Per 8	Per 9	Per 10	Per 11	Per 12	Per 13	Per 14	Per 15
Buy	Take ask	18.919	25.424	30.612	11.905	1.639	3.750	16.456	7.576	29.688	21.918	17.241	15.385	20.000	11.765	33.929
Side	New bid > standing bid	27.027	15.254	8.163	28.571	42.623	17.500	32.911	18.182	15.625	10.959	16.379	41.026	26.667	14.706	16.071
	New bid = standing bid	5.405	18.644	14.286	26.190	9.836	48.750	1.266	37.879	17.188	16.438	43.103	0.000	1.667	20.588	8.929
	New bid < standing bid	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.639	0.000	2.532	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.282	0.000	5.882	0.000
	Cancel bid	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	3.750	0.000	0.000	0.000	8.219	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.786
Sell	Take bid	29.730	11.864	10.204	21.429	37.705	12.500	22.785	15.152	6.250	4.110	6.034	25.641	21.667	23.529	3.571
Side	New ask < standing ask	16.216	23.729	30.612	7.143	4.918	11.250	10.127	12.121	21.875	27.397	8.621	10.256	23.333	23.529	26.786
	New ask = standing ask	0.000	5.085	6.122	4.762	1.639	0.000	6.329	3.030	7.813	4.110	8.621	6.410	0.000	0.000	8.929
	New ask > standing ask	2.703	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.00	3.797	1.515	1.563	4.110	0.000	0.000	1.667	0.000	0.000
	Cancel ask	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	2.500	3.797	4.545	0.000	2.740	0.000	0.000	5.000	0.000	0.000

Unconditional Frequencies of Events by Period (Data 042393b : Market 2)

	Event Type						Un	conditio	nal Fre	quency	(%)					
		Per 1	Per 2	Per 3	Per 4	Per 5	Per 6	Per 7	Per 8	Per 9	Per 10	Per 11	Per 12	Per 13	Per 14	Per 15
Buy	Take ask	13.953	11.321	17.647	12.281	16.981	8.163	10.638	11.864	10.714	14.286	14.634	21.212	14.583	13.636	6.522
Side	New bid > standing bid	18.605	28.302	11.765	19.298	16.981	28.571	14.894	20.339	14.286	16.667	26.829	21.212	16.667	22.727	17.391
	New bid = standing bid	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	4.255	1.695	7.143	0.000	4.878	0.000	8.333	4.545	15.217
	New bid < standing bid	0.000	1.887	0.000	5.263	7.547	2.041	0.000	0.000	5.357	2.381	9.756	6.061	6.250	2.273	6.522
	Cancel bid	0.000	11.321	1.961	7.018	7.547	6.122	4.255	8.475	8.929	0.000	7.317	0.000	12.500	6.818	13.043
Sell	Take bid	6.977	11.321	7.843	15.789	13.208	22.449	14.894	10.169	14.286	19.048	19.512	21.212	12.500	13.636	21.739
Side	New ask < standing ask	13.953	11.321	35.294	24.561	30.189	24.490	31.915	22.034	28.571	30.952	17.073	24.242	16.667	29.545	10.870
	New ask = standing ask	25.581	24.528	21.569	12.281	3.774	4.082	17.021	11.864	5.357	7.143	0.000	6.061	2.083	0.000	6.522
	New ask > standing ask	11.628	0.000	3.922	3.509	3.774	4.082	2.218	8.475	0.000	9.524	0.000	0.000	8.333	0.000	2.174
	Cancel ask	9.302	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	5.085	5.357	0.000	0.000	0.000	2.083	6.818	0.000

Table 5.7d

Unconditional Frequencies of Events by Period (Data 042393c : Market 2)

Byent Tyne							11m	conditio	nal Free	VDUALL	(%)					
										Comort						
	Per 1	- 1	Per 2	Per 3	Per 4	Per 5	Per 6	Per 7	Per 8	Per 9	Per 10	Per 11	Per 12	Per 13	Per 14	Per I
Take ask 26.190	26.190		23.913	17.073	17.073	27.027	21.875	20.588	10.345	22.857	10.000	11.111	13.725	4.255	13.462	9.259
New bid > standing bid 9.524	9.524		4.348	12.195	9.756	5.405	12.500	8.824	10.345	8.571	18.000	13.333	11.765	39.298	17.308	14.815
New bid = standing bid 0.000	0.000		4.348	2.439	4.878	5.405	6.250	5.882	6.987	5.714	0.000	4.444	0.000	2.128	0.000	12.963
New bid < standing bid 0.000	0.000		0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	2.941	1.724	2.857	0.000	0.000	1961	6.383	0.000	1.852
Cancel bid 0.000	0.000		0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	3.125	0.000	5.172	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.961	0.000	3.846	9.259
Take bid 0.000	0.000		0.000	14.634	12.195	8.108	12.500	14.706	13.793	14.286	18.000	17.778	11.765	21.277	13.462	18.519
New ask < standing ask 47.619	47.619		41.304	36.585	34.146	35.135	28.125	20.588	20.690	25.714	18.000	15.556	19.608	10.638	19.231	16.667
New ask = standing ask 7.143	7.143		15.217	12.195	9.756	8.108	9.375	5.882	13.793	11.429	18.000	20.000	5.882	6.383	15.385	5.556
New ask > standing ask 4.762	4.762		8.696	2.439	7.317	2.703	6.250	20.588	12.069	5.714	0.000	0.000	15.686	0.000	1.923	5.556
Cancel ask 4.762	4.762		2.174	2.439	4.878	8.108	0.000	0.000	5.172	2.857	18.000	17.778	17.647	10.638	15.385	5.556

	Z		40	20.2	29	14.6	37	18.7	2	1.0	6	3.0	25	12.6	46	23.2	8	4.0	3	1.5	2	1.0
c : Market 1	A A		45	14.3	110	34.9	10	3.2	4	1.3	0	0.0	85	27.0	. 39	12.4	11	3.5	5	1.6	9	1.9
Data 042393	x		81	18.4	73	16.6	141	32.0	0	0.0	4	0.0	40	9.1	1 02	15.9	25	5.7	2	0.5	2	1.1
	State →	Event Type 1	Take ask		New bid >	standing bid	New bid =	standing bid	New bid <	standing bid	Cancel bid		Take bid		New ask <	standing ask	New ask =	standing ask	New ask >	standing ask	Cancel ask	
							r						r				r				r	
	Z		40	13.0	46	15.0	7	2.3	6	2.9	1	0.3	43	14.0	29	21.8	48	15.6	28	9.1	18	5.9
b : Market 1	ZĀ		117 40	26.5 13.0	45 46	10.2 15.0	85 7	19.2 2.3	10 9	2.3 2.9	5 1	1.1 0.3	36 43	8.1 14.0	106 67	24.0 21.8	11 48	2.5 15.6	25 28	5.7 9.1	2 18	0.5 5.9
Data 042393b : Market 1			114 117 40	23.3 26.5 13.0	67 45 46	13.7 10.2 15.0	39 85 7	8.0 19.2 2.3	13 10 9	2.7 2.3 2.9	10 5 1	2.0 1.1 0.3	40 36 43	8.2 8.1 14.0	99 106 67	20.2 24.0 21.8	85 111 48	17.3 2.5 15.6	16 25 28	3.3 5.7 9.1	7 2 18	1.4 0.5 5.9

Table 5.8a : Cross-tabulation of Event Types by State

Table 5.8b : Statistics for Tests Concerning Equality of Unconditional Event Frequencies among Three Different States $(H_0 : P_{iX} = P_{iY} = P_{iZ}, for i = 1, \dots, 10)$

Data 042393b : Market 1

 $\chi^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{10} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{(O_{ij} - E_{ij})^2}{E_{ij}} \approx 176.344 > 34.805 \approx \chi^{0.01}_{0.01}(18)$

Data 042393c : Market 1

 $\chi^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{10} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{(O_{ij} - E_{ij})^2}{E_{ij}} \approx 192.687 > 34.805 \approx \chi^2_{0.01}(18)$

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

Cancel ask	1.509	0.637	0.775	0.000	0.000		0.847		0.743	0.000		2.899		59.259	
New ask > standing ask	1.887	3.822	0.775	3.226	0.000	1	4.237	100	600.8	1.399		33.333		0.000	:
New ask = standing ask	1.132	1.274	0.000	0.000	0.000		1.695	11 010	19.242	67.133		0.000		0.000	•
New ask < standing ask	38.113	21.019	12.403	25.806	12.500		21.180	10101	100.01	7.692		17.391		11.111	
Take bid	4.528	26.752	2.326	6.452	0.000		21.119	r oo u	£07.6	6.294		5.797		3.704	;
Cancel bid	0.000	0.637	0.000	3.226	75.000	0000	0.000	0.70	710.0	0.000		0.000		3.704	1
New bid < standing bid	3.019	2.548	1.550	25.806	0.000	100	4.237	207 1	1.401	0.000		1.449		0.000	
New bid = standing bid	0.000	21.019	74.419	0.000	0.000		0.000	67E 0	0.143	0.000		0.000		0.000	
New bid > standing bid	11.321	14.013	1.550	16.129	12.500	100.00	22.034	002 31	10.129	3.497		20.290		111.11	
Take ask	38.491	8.280	6.202	19.355	0.000		18.644	100 10	177.16	13.986		18.841		11.111	
Event Type t t-1	Take ask	New bid > standing bid	New bid = standing bid	New bid < standing bid	Cancel bid	Take bid		New ask <	standing ask	New ask = standing ask	New ask >	standing ask	Cancel ask		

The total number of each event conditional on the last event type j in 15 periods is divided by the total number of all events conditional on the last event type j in 15 periods to give a percentage frequency, where j corresponds to the conditioning variable in each row. Therefore, each row sums to 100.

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Type of the Previous Event (Data 042393b : Market 1) Table 5.9a

.

Г ٦٢

								[1							Γ			[Γ			Γ	•	
Cancel	ask	1.786	0.877	2.564	1.493	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.190	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	2.326	1.020	0.000	1.515	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	7.143	42.857	0.000	
New ask >	standing ask	1.786	1.754	2.564	2.985	4.444	4.444	0.000	1.190	0.000	0.000	0.000	111.11	0.000	0.000	0.00	5.128	5.556	2.326	8.163	11.429	9.091	1.176	0.000	2.128	6.250	24.000	57.143	0.000	0.000	
New ask =	standing ask	2.679	0.000	0.000	2.985	0.000	0.000	0:00	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	2.564	0.000	2.326	23.469	3.810	21.212	65.882	63.636	70.213	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
New ask <	standing ask	33.036	42.982	38.462	22.388	24.444	15.556	13.158	10.714	28.571	33.333	10.000	33.333	0.000	20.000	100.000	12.821	16.667	32.558	21.429	18.095	15.152	4.706	9.091	12.766	18.750	16.000	17.857	14.286	50.000	
Take	bid	4.464	4.386	5.128	25.373	4.444	51.111	0.000	3.571	0.000	0000	20.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	28.205	38.889	16.279	0.000	8.571	7.576	7.059	0.000	6.383	6.250	4.000	7.143	0.000	0.000	r Ero
Cancel .	bid	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	2.222	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	10.000	0.000	90.000	60.000	0.00	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.020	0.000	0.00	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.00	0.000	0.000	
New bid <	standing bid	5.357	0.877	2.564	4.478	0.000	2.222	0.000	1.190	14.286	16.667	30.000	33.333	0.000	0.000	0.000	2.564	8.333	2.326	1.020	1.905	1.515	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	3.571	0.000	0.000	0000
New bid =	standing bid	0.000	0.000	0.000	11.940	48.889	6.667	78.947	73.809	57.143	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.020	0.952	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0000
New bid >	standing bid	10.714	9.649	17.949	20.896	6.667	111.11	2.632	1.190	0.000	25.000	10.000	111.11	10.000	20.000	0.000	25.641	8.333	30.233	13.265	15.238	24.242	3.529	9.091	2.128	43.750	24.000	3.571	14.286	50.000	
Take	ask	40.179	39.474	30.769	7.463	8.889	8.889	5.263	7.143	0.000	25.000	20.000	111.11	0.000	0.000	0.000	23.077	22.222	11.628	29.592	40.000	19.697	17.647	18.182	6.383	25.000	32.000	3.571	28.571	0.000	
7		×	7	N	×	۲	N	×	Y	Z	×	¥	N	×	Y	Z	×	Y	2	×	¥	Z	×	Y	2	×	۲	Z.	×	۲	
Event Type	l - 1	Take ask			New bid >	standing bid		New bid =	standing bid		New bid <	standing bid		Cancel bid			Take bid			New ask <	standing ask		New ask =	standing ask		New ask >	standing ask		Cancel ask		

Table 5.9a' : Frequencies of Events by State, Conditional on the Type of the Previous Event (Data 042393b : Market 1)

X-state periods are 2, 6, 8, 9, 11, and 15, Y-state periods are 1, 5, 7, 12, and 13, and Z-state periods are 3, 4, 10, and 14.

Event Type t	Take	New bid >	New bid =	New bid <	Cancel	Take	New ask <	New ask =	New ask >	Cancel
<u>t</u> - 1	ask	standing bid	standing bid	standing bid	bid	bid	standing ask	standing ask	standing ask	ask
Take ask										
	35.583	22.699	0.000	0.000	1.227	9.816	30.061	0.000	0.000	0.613
New bid >										
standing bid	9.524	17.143	30.476	1.429	0.000	27.143	12.381	0.000	0.952	0.952
New bid =										
standing bid	0.538	9.677	65.591	0.000	0.538	10.753	11.828	0.000	0.000	1.075
New bid <										
standing bid	16.667	50.000	0.000	16.667	0.000	0.000	16.667	0.000	0.000	0.000
Cancel bid										
	10.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	60.000	10.000	10.000	0.000	0.000	10.000
Take bid										
	15.172	39.310	1.379	1.379	0.000	24.828	13.793	0.690	0.690	2.759
New ask <										
standing ask	33.766	24.026	0.000	0.000	0.649	9.091	14.935	15.584	1.948	0.000
New ask =								-		
standing ask	18.605	25.581	0.000	0.000	0.000	2.326	6.977	44.186	0.000	2.326
New ask >										
standing ask	10.000	20.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	20.000	20.000	0.000	30.000	0.000
Cancel ask										
	16 667	25 000	0 000	0000	0.000	25 000	8.333	0 000	8 333	16 667

Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Type of the Previous Event (Data 042393c : Market 1)

Table 5.9b

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

Event Type	4	Take	New bid >	New bid =	New bid <	Cancel	Take	New ask <	New ask =	New ask >	Cancel
t - 1		ask	standing bid	standing bid	standing bid	bid	bid	standing ask	standing ask	standing ask	ask
Take ask	×	40.741	16.049	0.000	0.000	1.235	4.938	37.037	0.000	0.000	0.000
	۲	32.558	34.884	0.000	0.000	0.000	16.279	13.953	0.000	0.000	2.326
	2	28.205	23.077	0.000	0.000	2.564	12.821	33.333	0.000	0.000	0.000
New bid >	×	9.589	12.329	61.644	0.000	0.000	8.219	8.219	0.000	0.000	0.000
standing bid	~	111.11	22.222	6.481	2.778	0.000	39.815	13.889	0.000	1.852	1.852
	Z	3.448	10.345	41.379	0.000	0.000	27.586	17.241	0.000	0.000	0.000
New bid =	×	0.714	8.571	68.571	0.000	0.714	8.571	:1.429	0.000	0.000	1.429
standing bid	7	0.000	40.000	10.000	0.000	0.000	50.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Z	0.000	5.556	69.444	0.000	0.000	8.333	16.667	0.000	0.000	0.000
New bid <	×	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
standing bid	7	25.000	50.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	25.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	z	0.000	50.000	0.000	50.000	0.00	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Cancel bid	×	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	50.000	25.000	25.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	7	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	000.0.
	Z	16.667	0.000	0.000	0.000	66.667	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	16.667
Take bid	×	16.216	35.135	0.000	0.000	0.000	27.027	16.216	0.000	0.000	5.405
	۲	8.333	45.238	2.381	1.190	0.000	25.000	13.095	1.190	1.190	2.381
	2	37.500	25.000	0.000	4.167	0.000	20.833	12.500	0.000	0.000	0.000
New ask <	×	36.232	26.087	0.000	0.000	0.000	7.246	8.696	20.290	1.449	0.000
standing ask	۶	25.641	35.897	0.000	0.000	0.000	12.821	7.692	15.385	2.564	0.000
	Z	36.957	10.870	0.000	0.000	2.174	8.696	30.435	8.696	2.174	0.000
New ask =	×	32.000	12.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	4.000	8.000	44.000	0.000	0.000
standing ask	7	0.000	63.636	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	36.364	0.000	0.000
	Z	0.000	14.286	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	14.286	57.143	0.000	14.286
New ask >	×	50.000	50.000	0.000	0.000	0.00	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
standing ask	×	0.000	20.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	40.000	20.000	0.000	20.000	0.000
	2	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	33.333	0.000	66.667	0.000
Cancel ask	×	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	25.000	25.000	0.000	25.000	25.000
	7	16.667	33.333	0.000	0.000	0.000	33.333	0.000	0.000	0.000	16.667
	2	50.000	50.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
X-state perio	ds a	re 2, 6, 8, 9,	11, and 15, ⁷	Y-state perio	ds are 1, 5, 7	l, 12, and 13	, and Z-stat	e periods are	3, 4, 10, and	1 14.	

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

Table 5.9b' : Frequencies of Events by State, Conditional on the Type of the Previous Event (Data 042393c : Market 1)

Event Type t	Take	New bid >	New bid =	New bid <	Cancel	Take	New ask <	New ask =	New ask >	Cancel
t - 1	ask	standing bid	standing bid	standing bid	bid	bid	standing ask	standing ask	standing ask	ask
Take ask										
_	29.348	16.304	0.000	3.261	8.696	11.957	27.174	0.000	2.174	1.087
New bid >										
standing bid	7.194	14.388	6.475	7.194	4.317	30.216	25.899	0.719	2.158	1.439
New bid =										
standing bid	0.000	18.182	50.000	9.091	0.000	160.6	13.636	0.000	0.000	0.000
New bid <		•								
standing bid	16.000	28.000	4.000	8.000	4.000	8.000	28.000	4.000	0.000	0.000
Cancel bid										
	17.391	17.391	0.000	4.348	36.957	2.174	17.391	0.000	2.174	2.174
Take bid										
	12.871	27.723	0.990	0.990	6.931	14.851	33.663	0.990	0.990	0.000
New ask <										
standing ask	11.905	16.667	0.000	3.571	4.762	16.667	22.024	20.238	2.976	1.190
New ask =										
standing ask	9.589	21.918	0.000	0.000	1.370	1.370	12.329	49.315	4.110	0.000
New ask >										
standing ask	14.286	14.286	0.000	0.000	0.000	10.714	14.286	0.000	46.429	0.000
Cancel ask										
	7.692	15.385	0.000	0.000	0.000	7.692	7.692	0.000	0.000	61.538

Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Type of the Previous Event (Data 042393b : Market 2)

Table 5.9c

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

Table 5.9d	Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Type of the Previous Event (Data 042393c : Market 2)

_		_			_				with some state	_	_	-		_							
Cancel	ask		4.854		4.545		0.000		12.500		0.000		10.256		5.988		0.000		0.000		51.923
New ask >	standing ask		3.883		2.273		0.000		0.000		0.000		3.846		8.383		2.703		36.585		1.923
New ask ==	standing ask		1.942		2.273		0.000		0.000		8.333		1.282		17.964		50.000		2.439		0.000
New ask <	standing ask		41.748		28.409		22.222		0.000		16.667		24.359		18.563		13.514		24.390		21.154
Take	bid		11.650		15.909		18.519		50.000		16.667		26.923		9.581		5.405		7.317		9.615
Cancel	bid		1.942		0.000		0.000		0.000		33.333		3.846		1.796		0.000		0.000		0.000
New bid <	standing bid		0.000		3.409		3.704		0.000		0.000		2.564		1.198		0.000		0.000		0.000
New bid =	standing bid		0.000		14.773		44.444		0.000		0.000		0.000		0.599		0.000		2.439		0.000
New bid >	standing bid		16.505		19.318		7.407		25.000		0.000		20.513		10.778		8.108		7.317		7.692
Take	ask		17.476		9.091		3.704		12.500		25.000		6.410		25.150		20.270		19.512		7.692
Event Type t	t - 1	Take ask		New bid >	standing bid	New bid =	standing bid	New bid <	standing bid	Cancel bid		Take bid		New ask <	standing ask	New ask =	standing ask	New ask >	standing ask	Cancel ask	

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5
Table 5.10

,

 χ^2 Statistics for the Discrepancy between Unconditional Frequencies and Frequencies Conditional on the Last Event Type

Data Set \rightarrow Event Type $(t-1)$ [042393b : Market 1	042393c : Market 1	042393b : Market 2	042393c : Market 2
Take ask	271×52.601	166×60.383	94×36.189	105×29.700
New bid >				
standing bid	154×60.043	204×25.599	132×37.372	85×51.939
New bid =				
standing bid	131×428.577	188×136.438	22×757.562	27×438.527
New bid <				
standing bid	32×238.051	6×482.420	26×25.755	8×164.882
Cancel bid				
	16×4213.632	10×3386.943	48×162.171	12×577.880
Take bid				
	119×61.630	150×43.926	106×25.190	86×42.326
New ask <				
standing ask	261×22.844	148×66.133	164×14.390	157×15.973
New ask ==				
standing ask	144×300.228	44×373.319	73×179.300	74×161.069
New ask >				
standing ask	69×168.001	10×823.538	28×487.096	41×170.412
Cancel ask				
	27×1522.027	13×254.811	14×1836.224	55×252.958

 $\chi^2 = N_j \cdot \sum_{k=1}^{10} \frac{(F_{j,k} - UF_k)^2}{UF_k}$

where N_j is the number of observations with the previous event type being j, $F_{j,k}$ is the frequency of event k conditional on the previous event being j, and UF_k is the unconditional frequency of event k.

1)	
Market	
••	
042393b	
(Data	
Book	
Order	
he	
oft	
State	
the	
u U	
tional	
Condi	
Events,	
of I	
lencies	
Frequ	

Table 5.11a

sk = New ask > Canc	g ask standing ask ask		71 2.679 0.44		53 0.000 5.26		19 1.266 5.06		0.00 0.000 0.00		13 10.714 0.00		00 111.111 0.00		10 3.540 1.77		00 8.197 0.00		
ask < New as	ing ask standin		875 3.57		895 5.26		722 21.5		000 0.00		857 7.14		111 50.0		088 5.31		902 0.00		10 1 1 100
Take New	bid stand		3.125 21		10.526 57		3.797 17.		0.000 0.0		0.000 42.		11.111 11.		3.540 30.		8.197 45.		011 0111
Cancel	bid		2.232		0.000		0.000		0.000		0.000		0.000		4.425		1.639		-
New bid <	standing bid		0.893		10.526		6.329		0.000		0.000		0.000		3.540		3.279		
New bid =	standing bid		31.250		5.263		1.266		0.000		0.000		0.000		13.274		13.115		
New bid >	standing bid		7.143		5.263		6.329		50.000		32.143		11.111		6.195		4.918		
Take	ask		26.786		0.000		36.709		50.000		7.143	_	5.556		28.319		14.754		
Event Type →		Bid-side depth >	Ask-side depth	Bid-side depth =	Ask-side depth	Bid-side depth <	Ask-side depth	Bid-side depth >	Ask-side depth	Bid-side depth =	Ask-side depth	Bid-side depth <	Ask-side depth	Bid-side depth >	Ask-side depth	Bid-side depth =	Ask-side depth	Bid-side depth <	
	State of the Book	Bid-side spread >	Ask-side spread					Bid-side spread =	Ask-side spread					Bid-side spread <	Ask-side spread				

The total number of each event given the state of the book is divided by the total number of all the events given the state of the book in order to give a percentage frequency. Therefore, each row sums to 100.

,

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

٢

	Event Typ	1	Take	New bid >	New bid =	New bid <	Cancel	Take	New ask <	New ask =	New ask >	Cancel
State of the Boc	sk t		ask	standing bid	standing bid	standing bid	bid	bid	standing ask	standing ask	standing ask	ask
Bid-side sprend >	Bid-side depth >	×	29.730	8.108	21.622	1.351	0.000	1.351	24.324	8.108	4.054	1.351
Ask-side sprend	Ask-side depth	7	25.503	6.711	36.242	0.671	3.356	4.027	20.134	1.342	2.013	0.000
		2	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	100.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Bid-side depth =	×	0.000	7.143	7.143	7.143	0.000	7.143	57.143	7.143	0.000	7.143
	Ask-side depth	~	0.000	0.000	0.000	25.000	0.000	25.000	50.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
		Z	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	100.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Bid-side depth <	×	37.179	6.410	1.282	6.410	0.000	3.846	16.667	21.795	1.282	5.128
	Ask-side depth	۲	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
		N	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.00	100.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Bid-side sprend =	Bid-side depth >	×	0.000	100.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Ask-side sprend	Ask-side depth	7	100.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
		N	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Bid-side depth =	×	12.500	25.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	50.000	0.000	12.500	0.000
	Ask-side depth	۲	7.143	42.857	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	28.571	7.143	14.286	0.000
		17	0.000	16.667	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	66.667	16.667	0.000	0.000
	Bid-side depth <	×	0.000	28.571	0.000	0.000	0.000	14.286	14.286	42.857	0.000	0.000
	Ask-side depth	۲	100.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0:00	0.000	0.000
		N	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	10.000	10.000	60.000	20.000	0.000
Bid-side spread <	Bid-side depth >	×	23.077	2.564	23.077	0.000	12.821	5.128	20.513	7.692	5.128	0.000
Ask-side spread	Ask-side depth	7	37.931	10.345	6.897	1.724	. 0.000	3.448	32.759	0.000	3.448	3.448
		Z	6.250	0.000	12.500	18.750	0.000	0.000	43.750	18.750	0:000	0.000
	Bid-side depth =	×	16.667	8.333	16.667	0.000	8.333	16.667	25.000	0.000	8.333	0.000
	Ask-side depth	×	12.121	6.061	15.152	3.030	0.000	6.061	48.485	0.000	160.6	0.000
		Z	18.750	0.000	6.250	6.250	0.000	6.250	56.250	0.000	6.250	0.000
	.Bid-side depth <	×	20.319	18.327	3.984	2.390	1.594	11.952	15.936	21.912	3.187	0.398
	Ask-side depth	×	28.249	11.299	12.429	3.390	0.000	14.124	17.514	4.520	8.475	0.000
		N	14.286	17.460	1.587	1.984	0.397	16.270	15.873	15.079	9.921	7.143

Table 5.11a'

Frequencies of Events by State, Conditional on the State of the Order Book (Data 042393b : Market 1)

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

270

X-state periods are 2, 6, 8, 9, 11, and 15, Y-state periods are 1, 5, 7, 12, and 13, and Z-state periods are 3, 4, 10, and 14.

Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the State of the Order Book (Data 042393c : Market 1)

Table 5.11b

	Event Type →	Take	New bid >	New bid ==	New bid <	Cancel	Take	New ask <	New ask ==	New ask >	Cancel
State of the Book		ask	standing bid	standing bid	standing bid	bid	bid	standing ask	standing ask	standing ask	ask
Bid-side spread >	Bid-side depth >										
Ask-side spread	Ask-side depth	17.958	21.303	18.310	0.528	0.880	18.486	15.669	5.458	0.704	0.704
	Bid-side depth =										
	Ask-side depth	22.222	29.630	7.407	0.000	3.704	7.407	18.519	3.704	3.704	3.704
	Bid-side depth <										
	Ask-side depth	26.667	20.000	3.333	0.000	3.333	6.667	20.000	0.000	10.000	10.000
Bid-side spread =	Bid-side depth >										
Ask-side spread	Ask-side depth	5.882	20.588	52.941	0.000	0.000	5.882	8.824	5.882	0.000	0.000
	Bid-side depth =										
	Ask-side depth	8.889	42.222	17.778	2.222	0.000	8.889	20.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Bid-side depth <										
	Ask-side depth	0.000	100.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Bid-side spread <	Bid-side depth >										
Ask-side spread	Ask-side depth	10.714	20.000	32.857	0.000	2.143	15.000	9.286	5.000	1.429	3.571
	Bid-side depth =										
	Ask-side depth	16.667	0.000	25.000	0.000	0.000	25.000	33.333	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Bid-side depth <										
	Ask-side depth	32.927	17.073	7.317	2.439	0.000	13.415	23.171	3.659	0.000	0.000

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

 $\mathbf{271}$

• Table 5.11b' Frequencies of Events by State, Conditional on the State of the Order Book (Data 042393c : Market 1)

Cancel 1.852 0.000 0.000 10.000 0.000 10.526 4.545 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 ask 0.000 160.6 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 standing ask New ask > 0.000 0.000 10.000 0.000 18.182 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.818 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.852 0.000 New ask == standing ask 6.714 4.167 4.348 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 5.882 0.000 0.000 0.000 28.571 5.455 5.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.348 v standing ask 18.728 10.648 18.841 0.000 17.647 20.000 0.000 21.053 18.182 10.000 12.500 10.000 8.182 10.000 50.000 50.000 14.286 55.556 25.000 25.000 New ask 0.000 20.000 22.222 23.188 0.000 Take bid 7.420 33.796 15.942 0.000 11.765 0.000 0.000 10.526 0.000 0.000 28.571 12.500 10.000 0.000 0.000 15.455 20.000 0.000 50.000 25.000 0.000 111.111 14.493 0.000 0.000 Cancel bid 0.353 0.000 5.797 0.000 0.000 10.000 0.000 0.000 9.091 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 2.727 2.727 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 New bid < standing bid 0.000 1.389 0.000 2.899 standing bid New bid == 2.315 23.188 70.000 14.286 42.857 18.750 20.000 11.111 29.329 37.273 0.000 50.000 0.000 0.000 37.500 0.000 0.000 8.696 0.000 20.000 0.000 0.000 9.091 0.000 0.000 0.000 New bid > standing bid 13.074 33.333 14.286 56.250 40.000 22.222 100.000 15.455 55.000 0.000 47.059 0.000 26.316 9.091 20.000 28.571 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 111.11 15.942 17.391 0.000 0.000 26.316 27.273 0.000 9.091 20.000 50.000 0.000 12.500 24.382 10.648 0.000 0.000 28.571 0.000 10.000 14.493 30.000 111.11 0.000 0.000 0.000 25.000 55.556 30.435 Take ask x > N × × N ×× N × >-N × ≻ N × ≻ N х× N × 7 N × 7 N Event Type Bid-side depth > Ask-side depth Ask-side depth Ask-side depth Ask-side depth Bid-side depth = Ask-side depth Ask-side depth Ask-side depth Bid-side depth = Ask-side depth Bid-side depth < Ask-side depth Bid-side depth > Bid-side depth < Bid-side depth > Bid-side depth = Bid-side depth < State of the Book J Bid-side spread > Bid-side spread == Bid-side sprend < Ask-side spread Ask-side sprend Ask-side sprend

X-state periods are 2, 6, 8, 9, 11, and 15, Y-state periods are 1, 5, 7, 12, and 13, and Z-state periods are 3, 4, 10, and 14.

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the State of the Order Book (Data 042393b : Market 2)

Table 5.11c

	Event Type →	Take	New bid >	New bid =	New bid <	Cancel	Take	New ask <	New ask =	New ask >	Cancel
State of the Book	1	ask	standing bid	standing bid	standing bid	bid	bid	standing ask	standing ask	standing ask	ask
Bid-side spread >	Bid-side depth >										
Ask-side spread	Ask-side depth	12.048	15.663	3.614	4.819	4.819	21.687	31.325	4.819	1.205	0.000
	Bid-side depth =			-							
	Ask-side depth	12.500	30.000	2.500	2.500	2.500	20.000	20.000	10.000	0.000	0.000
	Bid-side depth <										
	Ask-side depth	15.205	16.374	2.924	4.678	10.526	12.281	19.298	11.696	2.339	4.678
Bid-side spread =	Bid-side depth >										
Ask-side spread	Ask-side depth	25.000	25.000	25.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	25.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Bid-side depth =										
	Ask-side depth	0.000	19.231	3.864	7.692	0.000	3.846	34.615	26.923	3.846	0.000
	Bid-side depth <										
	Ask-side depth	11.111	27.778	0.000	2.778	2.778	8.333	8.333	27.778	11.111	0.000
Bid-side spread <	Bid-side depth >										
Ask-side spread	Ask-side depth	0.000	14.286	0.000	0.000	0.000	42.857	42.857	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Bid-side depth =										
	Ask-side depth	10.000	30.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	40.000	20.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Bid-side depth <										
	Ask-side depth	14.242	17.879	3.333	3.030	7.273	14.545	23.939	8.485	5.455	1.818

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the State of the Order Book (Data 042393c : Market 2)

Table 5.11d

	Event Type →	Take	New bid >	New bid =	New bid <	Cancel	Take	New ask <	New ask =	New ask >	Cancel
State of the Book		ask	standing bid	standing bid	standing bid	bid	bid	standing ask	standing ask	standing ask	ask
Bid-side spread >	Bid-side depth >										
Ask-side spread	Ask-side depth	9.677	19.355	6.452	3.226	0.000	35.484	19.355	0.000	0.000	6.452
	Bid-side depth ==										
	Ask-side depth	0.000	16.667	16.667	0.000	8.333	25.000	25.000	0.000	0.000	8.333
	Bid-side depth <										
	Ask-side depth	11.905	9.524	4.762	0.000	4.762	16.667	19.048	11.905	7.143	14.286
Bid-side spread =	Bid-side depth >										
Ask-side spread	Ask-side depth	0.000	12.500	18.750	0.000	12.500	0.000	31.250	25.000	0.000	0.000
	Bid-side depth ==										
	Ask-side depth	7.895	15.789	7.895	0.000	2.632	2.632	28.947	26.316	7.895	0.000
	Bid-side depth <										
	Ask-side depth	15.789	17.544	3.509	1.754	0.000	5.263	24.561	28.070	0.000	3.509
Bid-side spread <	Bid-side depth >										
Ask-side spread	Ask-side depth	10.000	30.000	10.000	10.000	0.000	20.000	0.000	0.000	20.000	0.000
	Bid-side depth =										
	Ask-side depth	0.000	28.571	0.000	14.286	14.286	14.286	14.286	0.000	14.286	0.000
	Bid-side depth <			•		•					
	Ask-side depth	19.222	11.442	2.746	0.915	1.144	13.272	24.943	8.924	7.323	10.069

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

	Data Set →				
State of the Book ((t - 1) <u>t</u>	042393b : Market 1	042393c : Market 1	042393b : Market 2	042393c : Market 2
Bid-side spread >	Bid-side depth >				
Ask-side spread	Ask-side depth	224×57.725	568×1.182	83×14.283	31×68.523
	Bid-side depth =				
	Ask-side depth	19×130.736	27×35.011	40×18.199	12×107.028
	Bid-side depth <				
	Ask-side depth	79×47.010	30×164.622	171×8.559	42×14.103
Bid-side spread =	Bid-side depth >				
Ask-side spread	Ask-side depth	7×211.636	50×75.936	13×208.383	21×176.467
	Bid-side depth ==				
	Ask-side depth	12×95.264	18×48.608	10×67.201	20×47.624
	Bid-side depth <				
	Ask-side depth	29×164.164	12×360.183	43×67.353	70×42.194
Bid-side spread <	Bid-side depth >				
Ask-side spread	Ask-side depth	113×25.265	140×19.206	7×112.640	10×174.012
	Bid-side depth =				
	Ask-side depth	61×51.641	12×56.557	10×79.714	7×294.863
	Bid-side depth <				
	Ask-side depth	680×8.681	82×34.884	330 × 1.209	437×2.639

Table 5.12

 χ^2 Statistics for the Discrepancy between Unconditional Frequencies and Frequencies Conditional on the State of the Book

 $\chi^2 = N_j \cdot \sum_{k=1}^{10} \frac{(BF_{j,k} - UF_k)^2}{UF_k}$

where N_j is the number of observations with the state of the book being j, $BF_{j,k}$ is the frequency of event k conditional on the state of the book being j, and UF_k is the unconditional frequency of event k.

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

Table 5.13a

Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Size of Bid–Ask Spread (Data 042393b : Market 1)

Event Type	Take	New bid >	New bid =	New bid <	Cancel	Take	New ask <	New ask =	New ask >	Cancel
Bid-Ask Spread 1	ask	standing bid	standing bid	standing bid	bid	bid	standing ask	standing ask	standing ask	ask
Bid-ask spread 2										
Mean bid-ask spread	20.8	12.0	9.7	3.4	0.2	7.7	28.5	10.1	7.2	0.4
Bid-ask spread <										
Mean bid-ask spread	23.2	13.0	11.5	1.9	2.2	11.4	15.3	13.2	4.3	3.7

Mean spread is the time-series mean of bid-ask spreads through 15 periods.

Table 5.13a'

Frequencies of Events by State, Conditional on the Size of Bid-Ask Spread (Data 042393b : Market 1)

Event Type	1	Take	New bid >	New bid =	New bid <	Cancel	Take	New ask <	New ask =	New ask >	Cancel
Bid-Ask Spread 1		ask	standing bid	standing bid	standing bid	bid	bid	standing ask	standing ask	standing ask	ask
Bid–ask spread ≥	×	0.0	16.7	0.0	6.7	0.0	16.7	13.3	46.7	0.0	0.0
Mean bid–ask spread	Y	0.0	8.3	25.0	16.7	0.0	0.0	41.7	0.0	8.3	0.0
	N	0.0	0.0	14.8	3.7	0.0	1.11	18.5	48.1	3.7	0.0
Bid–ask spread <	×	25.1	13.2	8.6	2.4	2.2	7.7	20.0	15.6	3.5	1.5
Mean bid–ask spread	≻	27.5	10.1	19.3	1.9	1.2	8.5	22.8	2.6	5.6	0.5
	Z	14.5	16.3	1.1	2.9	0.4	14.5	21.4	12.7	9.8	6.5

X-state periods are 2, 6, 8, 9, 11, and 15, Y-state periods are 1, 5, 7, 12, and 13, and Z-state periods are 3, 4, 10, and 14. *Mean spread* is the time-series mean of bid-ask spreads through X-state periods for row Xs, through Y-state periods for row Ys, and through Z-state periods for row Zs.

Table 5.13b

Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Size of Bid–Ask Spread (Data 042393c : Market 1)

Event Type →	Take	New bid >	New bid =	New bid <	Cancel	Take	New ask <	New ask =	New ask >	Cancel
Bid-Ask Spread 1	ask	standing bid	standing bid	standing bid	bid	bid	standing ask	standing ask	standing ask	ask
Bid−ask spread ≥										
Mean bid–ask spread	10.4	25.7	23.6	0.9	0.9	15.8	17.6	2.7	1.5	0.9
Bid–ask spread <										
Mean bid-ask spread	21.7	19.5	18.0	0.5	1.2	16.1	14.7	5.8	0.8	1.7

Mean spread is the time-series mean of bid-ask spreads through 15 periods.

Table 5.13b'

Frequencies of Events by State, Conditional on the Size of Bid-Ask Spread (Data 042393c : Market 1)

Event Type	t	Take	New bid >	New bid =	New bid <	Cancel	Take	New ask <	New ask =	New ask >	Cancel
Bid–Ask Spread		ask	standing bid	standing bid	standing bid	bid	bid	standing ask	standing ask	standing ask	ask
Bid-ask spread ≥	×	0.0	33.3	22.2	0.0	0.0	1.11	33.3	0.0	0.0	0.0
Mean bid~ask spread	¥	10.5	52.6	5.3	0.0	0.0	5.3	26.3	0.0	0.0	0.0
	2	11.1	1.11	25.9	7.4	0.0	22.2	22.2	0.0	0.0	0.0
Bid–ask spread <	×	19.0	15.5	32.6	0.0	0.9	9.2	15.3	5.9	0.5	1.2
Mean bid-ask spread	У	14.8	33.3	3.1	1.4	0.0	28.9	11.0	3.8	1.7	2.1
	z	22.2	15.0	18.0	0.0	3.6	11.4	22.2	4.8	1.8	1.2

X-state periods are 2, 6, 8, 9, 11, and 15, Y-state periods are 1, 5, 7, 12, and 13, and Z-state periods are 3, 4, 10, and 14. *Mean spread* is the time-series mean of bid-ask spreads through X-state periods for row Xs, through Y-state periods for row Ys, and through Z-state periods for row Zs.

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Size of Bid–Ask Spread (Data 042393b : Market 2)

Table 5.13c

Event Type	Take	New bid >	New bid =	New bid <	Cancel	Take	New ask <	New ask =	New ask >	Cancel
Bid–Ask Spread 1	ask	standing bid	standing bid	standing bid	bid	bid	standing ask	standing ask	standing ask	ask
Bid-ask spread ≥										
Mean bid-ask spread	10.4	22.6	5.1	4.0	5.1	10.8	24.2	13.5	3.0	1.3
Bid–ask spread <										
Mean bid–ask spread	15.4	15.9	1.7	3.4	8.0	18.0	22.4	8.0	4.6	2.4

Table 5.13d

Frequencies of Events, Conditional on the Size of Bid-Ask Spread (Data 042393c : Market 2)

Event Type →	Take	New bid >	New bid =	New bid <	Cancel	Take	New ask <	New ask ==	New ask >	Cancel
Bid-Ask Spread 1	ask	standing bid	standing bid	standing bid	bid	bid	standing ask	standing ask	standing ask	ask
Bid-ask spread 2		-								
Mean bid-ask spread	17.6	12.3	3.2	1.1	0.0	5.3	36.4	10.7	7.5	5.9
Bid–ask spread <										
Mean bid–ask spread	15.6	13.4	4.5	1.3	2.6	16.4	19.2	11.7	5.8	9.5

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

Table 5.14

.

 χ^2 Statistics for the Discrepancy between Unconditional Frequencies and Frequencies Conditional on Bid–Ask Spread

Data Set →				
Bid–Ask Spread $(t-1)$ [042393b : Market 1	042393c : Market 1	042393b : Market 2	042393c : Market 2
Bid-ask spread 2				
Mean bid-ask spread	557×6.367	335×5.904	297×5.835	187×14.265
Bid-ask spread <				
Mean bid-ask spread	667×4.412	604×1.869	410×2.969	463×2.316

$$\chi^2 = N_j \cdot \sum_{k=1}^{10} \frac{(SF_{j,k} - UF_k)^2}{UF_k}$$

where N_j is the number of observations with the bid-ask spread being j, $SF_{j,k}$ is the frequency of event k conditional on the bid-ask spread being j, and UF_k is the unconditional frequency of event k.

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

Table 5.15a

Mean Time Interval between Two Events (seconds)

			y		
Conditioning Variat	Data Set \rightarrow bles $(t-1)\downarrow$	042393b : Market 1	042393c : Market 1	042393b : Market 2	042393c : Market 2
Take ask		4.585	6.417	7.380	7.262
New bid > standing	; bid	4.656	4.433	7.158	7.261
New bid = standing	; bid	1.310	2.565	1.273	1.703
New bid < standing	ç bid	4.484	4.333	6.680	7.250
Cancel bid		1.313	0.600	4.870	8.167
Take bid		3.763	6.276	7.040	10.269
New ask < standing	z ask	3.888	4.701	7.196	7.491
New ask = standing	z ask	1.720	2.558	2.603	2.919
New ask > standing	g ask	4.710	2.300	3.250	6.756
Cancel ask		2.074	2.667	5.308	3.404
Bid-side spread > Ask-side spread	Bid-side depth > Ask-side depth	2.228	4.136	7.831	7.000
	Bid-side depth = Ask-side depth	7.000	6.074	4.150	2.833
	Bid-side depth < Ask-side depth	4.089	4.200	6.363	8.000
Bid-side spread = Ask-side spread	Bid-side depth > Ask-side depth	2.286	4.620	4.154	1.905
	Bid-side depth = Ask-side depth	5.833	8.222	5.500	4.800
	Bid-side depth < Ask-side depth	3.793	6.333	2.744	3.214
Bid-side spread < Ask-side spread	Bid-side depth > Ask-side depth	4.584	3.879	6.571	2.200
	Bid-side depth = Ask-side depth	5.574	8.750	7.300	3.714
	Bid-side depth < Ask-side depth	3.504	6.622	6.403	7.586
Unconditional		3.588	4.563	6.171	6.632

Table 5.15b

Mean Time Interval between Two Events (seconds)

Data Set →				
Conditioning Variables $(t-1)\downarrow$	042393b : Market 1	042393c : Market 1	042393b : Market 2	042393c : Market 2
Bid-ask spread \geq				
Mean bid-ask spread	4.294	4.866	5.882	6.711
Bid-ask spread <				
Mean bid-ask spread	2.999	4.396	6.380	6.600
Time interval \geq Mean time interval	4.900	5.186	8.899	8.541
Time interval < Mean time interval	2.974	4.120	5.156	5.891
Unconditional	3.588	4.563	6.171	6.632

Table 5.16

Statistics for Tests Concerning Equality of Mean Time Intervals among Different Conditioning Variables

	(A)	H_0 : $\mu_{event1} = \mu_{event2} = \cdots = \mu_{event10}$
042393b : Mkt1		$F \approx 26.88 > 1.88 \approx F_{0.05}(9, 1214)$
042393c: Mkt1		$F \approx 6.64 > 1.89 \approx F_{0.05}(9, 929)$
042393b : Mkt2		$F \approx 3.15 > 1.90 \approx F_{0.05}(9, 697)$
042393c: Mkt2		$F \approx 4.22 > 1.90 \approx F_{0.05}(9, 640)$

	(B)	H_0 : $\mu_{state1} = \mu_{state2} = \cdots = \mu_{state9}$	
042393b : Mkt1		$F \approx 7.40 > 1.94 \approx F_{0.05}(8, 1215)$	
042393c: Mkt1		$F \approx 3.59 > 1.95 \approx F_{0.05}(8, 930)$	
042393b : Mkt2		$F \approx 1.49 < 1.95 \approx F_{0.05}(8, 698)$	•
042393c : Mkt2		$F \approx 3.03 > 1.95 \approx F_{0.05}(8, 641)$	

	$(C) H_0 : \ \mu_{spreadlg} = \mu_{spreadsm}$	
042393b : Mkt1	$F \approx 14.03 > 3.84 \approx F_{0.05}(1, 1222)$	
042393c : Mkt1	$F \approx 1.25 < 3.85 \approx F_{0.05}(1, 937)$	
042393b : Mkt2	$F \approx 0.51 < 3.85 \approx F_{0.05}(1, 705)$	
042393c : Mkt2	$F \approx 0.02 < 3.85 \approx F_{0.05}(1, 648)$	

	(D) H_0 : $\mu_{intervallg} = \mu_{intervalsm}$	
042393b : Mkt1	$F \approx 27.07 > 3.84 \approx F_{0.05}(1, 1207)$	
042393c: Mkt1	$F \approx 6.47 > 3.84 \approx F_{0.05}(1, 922)$	
042393b : Mkt2	$F \approx 24.04 > 3.84 \approx F_{0.05}(1, 690)$	
042393c : Mkt2	$F \approx 10.19 > 3.84 \approx F_{0.05}(1, 633)$	

$F = \frac{MS(T\tau)}{MSE}$

٠

where MS(Tr) is the treatment mean square and MSE is the error mean square.

Table 5.17a

Mean Time Intervals between Two Events, Jointly Conditional on the Previous Event Type, the State of the Order Book, and the Size of the Last Time Interval (Data 042393b : Market 1 in roman type ; 042393c : Market 1 in **bold** type)

Time interval			Tim	e interval	≥ Mean	time inter	val					Tim	e interval	< Mean	time inte	rval		
State of the hook																		
Laut event type 1	State 1	State 2	State 3	State 4	State 5	State G	State 7	State 8	State 9	State 1	State 2	State 3	State 4	State 5	State 0	State 7	State 8	State 9
	5.11	7.50	09.6	3.00	7.00		6.78	G.75	6.33	2.05	5.50	5.39	2,00	2.00		6.04	8.28	3.30
Event 1	7.06	8.00	1.00	11.00	8.00		8.83	17.00	8.63	5.83	G. 50	5.20	0.00	7.00		0.00	10.50	5.00
	4.40	2.00	G.75		2.50	11.00	3.00	3.35	6.24	7.50	00.1	15.00		10.4	3.00	2.00	2.50	2.44
Event 2	3.77	3.33	3.00	2.33	0.75		3.64	00.9	2.33	5.35	0.50	2.00	4.00	17.40	3.00	2.23		5.00
									, i,, .	0.50	0.00					3.13	1.17	1.90
Event 3				7.07						3.36	0.00		3.30			2.54	3.00	0.00
	00.4		2.00				5.07		5.83	3.07		90.				4.50	0.00	3.63
Event 4	4.67								0.00	7.00						_		5.00
	1.00						0.00			2.25						0.00	0.00	1.83
Event 5	1.00						0.00			0.00	0.00	0.00				3.50		
		0.00	2.50		20,00	0.00	00.4	2.50	5.10	3.67		3.00				3.00	0.00	3.20
Event 6	5.04	24.00	15.00	3.00	a.a7	9.50	7.20		8.30	5.03	7.00	0.50	5.00			3.50		11.00
	1.07	03.76	5.08	00.5	2.00	0.00	3.48	0.88	10.0	1.08	1.00	11.		6.67	0.00	2.29	00.0	3.54
Event 7	2.41	0.00	5.00	0.50			5.69	19.50	7.91	3.03	7.67	7.20		5.00	2.50	4.00	2.00	7.13
	00'1		1.00						1.00	0.07	0.00	0.50			4.09	4.00	00.0	1.63
Event 8	3.00									1.32	7.50	6. 00	2.50			3.60		2.00
			18.00				7.40		4.05	2.40	4,00				2.50	16.67		3.85
Event 9	1.00		2.00				14.00			0.67		1.33				0.00		
	9.00		0.00				10.00	-	1.80	2.00	0.00	0.00				12.00		1.00
Event 10	0. 00						0.00			3.75	1.50	3.00				4.60		

Blank entries indicate no valid observations for the cell.

Table 5.17b

Mean Time Intervals between Two Events, Jointly Conditional on the Previous Event Type, the State of the Order Book, and the Size of the Last Time Interval (Data 042393b: Market 2 in roman type ; 042393c: Market 2 in **bold** type)

ł

Time Interval -			Tin	ne interval	l ≥ Mean	time inte	rval					Tin	re interval	l < Mean	time inte	rval		
State of the hook -																		
Last event type 1	State 1	State 2	State 3	State 4	State 5	State 6	State 7	State 8	State 9	State 1	State 2	State 3	State 4	State 5	State G	State 7	State 8	State 9
	1.67	3.50	8.44		1.00	, 1an -	1.00	3.00	11.40	10.31	5.50	C6.8			3.00			5.19
Event 1	7.33		7.50			32.00			11.06	4.00	4.00	00.0	3.50	5.60	4.15			5.30
	10.17	5.00	9.00		20.00		18.00	7.50	10.20	00.0	£5.4	7.20		1.00	0,00	1.00	16.00	3.61
Event 2	13.35		4-00		4.00	0.00		5.00	8.50	8.22	2.50	6.07	4.00	3.00	3.29	1.00	0.00	11-11
				0.00					0.00	2.00	0.00	0.00	0.00				2,00	2.00
Event 3										3.50	0.00		2.00		3.00	00.5	3.00	1.09
	5.50		10.00						4.00	5.80	6.33	5.8.3						8.07
Event 4									4.00	11.00		4.00			3.00		:	7.00
	14.50		3.00						8.00	00.0	0.00	3.50			4.80			4.74
Event 5			0.00						7.50			1.50	0.00	0.00	4.00			30.50
	10.50	3.00	8.83			2.00			11.31	6.75	64-4	6.47	0.00	2.00	6.67	5.00	4.50	0.05
Event 6			13.00		4.00	8.50			8.31	5.25	1.50	11.00	1.50		11.00	5.50	6. 00	15.14
	7.44	14.33	14.55		2.67	7.00		00'D	8.49	3.17	2.29	5.33	2.00	7.67	4.50	3.00	11.00	7.43
Event 7	3.00		10.50				0.00	2.00	8.12		7.00	7.00	4.00	12.53	3.50	0.00	2.00	8.19
						2.00				5.00	00'0	2.29			0.75			4.14
Event 8				-					3.00			4.80	0.00	0.00	1.36			4.03
									5.00	0.00		10.50						2.23
Event 9			28.00						12.00			10.00				1.00	3.00	3.67
									15.00			2.43						2.33
Event 10			3.50			1.00			3.00	1.00	0.00	10.00		3.33				3.07

APPENDIX 5A. TABLES FOR CHAPTER 5

Appendix 5B

Figures for Chapter 5







Figure 5.2a : Time Series of Transaction Prices (Data 042393b : Market 1)



Figure 5.2b : Time Series of Transaction Prices (Data 042393c : Market 1)

APPENDIX 5B. FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 5



Figure 5.2c : Time Series of Transaction Prices (Data 042393b : Market 2)

APPENDIX 5B. FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 5



Figure 5.2d : Time Series of Transaction Prices (Data 042393c : Market 2)

290 [·]



Figure 5.3a : Average and Total Number of Bids and Asks (Data 042393b : Market 1)

Figure 5.3b : Average and Total Number of Bids and Asks (Data 042393c : Market 1)







Figure 5.3d : Average and Total Number of Bids and Asks (Data 042393c : Market 2)





Figure 5.4a : State of the Order Book (Data 042393b : Market 1)

Figure 5.4b : State of the Order Book (Data 042393c : Market 1)





Figure 5.4c : State of the Order Book (Data 042393b : Market 2)

Figure 5.4d : State of the Order Book (Data 042393c : Market 2)







Figure 5.5a2 : Intraperiod Patterns of Market Activities (Data 042393b : Market 1)







Figure 5.5b2 : Intraperiod Patterns of Market Activities (Data 042393c : Market 1)





Figure 5.5c1 : Intraperiod Patterns of Market Activities (Data 042393b : Market 2)

Figure 5.5c2 : Intraperiod Patterns of Market Activities (Data 042393b : Market 2)







Figure 5.5d2 : Intraperiod Patterns of Market Activities (Data 042393c : Market 2)



APPENDIX 5B. FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 5

Figure 5.6a : Histograms of Intraperiod Price Changes (Data 042393b : Market 1)



(The horizontal axis ranges from -100 to 100 with ticksize 5.)

Figure 5.6b : Histograms of Intraperiod Price Changes (Data 042393c : Market 1)





APPENDIX 5B. FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 5





(The horizontal axis ranges from -40 to 40 with ticksize 2.)





(The horizontal axis ranges from -40 to 40 with ticksize 2.)





Figure 5.7a2 : Intraperiod Pattern of Bid-Ask Spreads (Data 042393b : Market 1)






Figure 5.7b2 : Intraperiod Pattern of Bid-Ask Spreads (Data 042393c : Market 1)







Figure 5.8b : Distribution of Time Interval between Orders (Data 042393c : Market 1)



v





Figure 5.8d : Distribution of Time Interval between Orders (Data 042393c : Market 2)



Appendix 5C

Computation Steps of the Hurst Exponent

Suppose that a given time series has M observation points. First, we convert the series into a time series of length N = M - 1 of logarithmic ratios in the following manner.

$$N_i = \log \frac{M_{i+1}}{M_i}, i = 1, 2, \dots, M - 1.$$

Then we divide the log-ratio time series into A consecutive subperiods of length n, i.e., $A \cdot n = N$. Each subperiod is labeled I_a , with a = 1, 2, ..., A, and each element in I_a is labeled $N_{j,a}$, with j = 1, 2, ..., n. For each I_a of length n, the average value is defined as

$$E_a(N) = \frac{1}{n} \sum j = 1nN_{j,a}$$

where $E_a(N)$ is an expected value of N_i in subperiod I_a . A series of cumulative deviations from the mean value for each subperiod I_a is defined as

$$X_{j,a} = \sum i = 1j(N_{i,a} - E_a(N)), \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Hence, we have n values computed for each I_a . The range is defined as the difference between the maximum and the minimum value of $X_{j,a}$ in each I_a such that

$$R_a = \max(X_{j,a}) - \min(X_{j,a}), \ 1 \le j \le n.$$

The standard deviation calculated for each subperiod I_a is

$$\sigma_a = (\frac{1}{n} \sum j = \ln(N_{j,a} - E_a(N))^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

We normalize each range R_a by dividing it by a corresponding standard deviation σ_a ; that is, the rescaled range for each I_a is $\frac{R_a}{\sigma_a}$. The average R/S value for length n is defined as

$$(R/\sigma)_n = \frac{1}{A} \sum a = 1A \frac{R_a}{\sigma_a}.$$

The length n is increased to the next higher value, where (M-1)/n is an integer. Then the procedure above is repeated for the new value of n, until n = (M-1)/2. Finally, we perform an ordinary least squares regression on $\log(n)$ as the independent variable and $\log(R/\sigma)_n$ as the dependent variable. The estimated slope of the equation is the estimate of the Hurst exponent. More detailed description of the rescaled range analysis can be found in Chapter 4 of Peters (1994).

Appendix 5D

An Instruction for the

Experiments

INSTRUCTIONS

General:

This is an experiment in the economics of market decision making. Various research foundations have provided funds for this research. The instructions are simple, and if you follow them carefully and make good decisions, you might earn a considerable amount of money which will be paid to you in cash.

In this experiment there are two markets, called Market 1 and Market 2. In Market 1 you will buy and sell certificates in a sequence of market periods. Attached to the instructions you will find a sheet, labeled "Dividend Sheet," which helps determine the value to you of any decisions you might make in Market 1. In Market 2 you are either a buyer or a seller as indicated on your Market 2 Record Sheet. You will buy or sell units of goods in a sequence of market periods. On your Market 2 Record Sheet you will find *Redemption Value* or *Inventory Use Cost* of each unit, which helps determine the value to you of any decisions you might make in Market 2. You are not to reveal the information on your Dividend Sheet and the Record Sheet to anyone. It is your own private information.

The type of currency used in this market is francs. All trading and earnings will be in terms of francs. Each franc is worth ______ dollars to you in Market 1, and ______ dollars to you in Market 2. Do not reveal this number to anyone. At the end of the experiment your francs will be converted to dollars at this rate, and you will be paid in dollars. Notice

that the more francs you earn, the more dollars you earn.

Market 1

Specific Instructions:

Your profits in Market 1 come from two sources — from collecting dividend earnings on all certificates you hold at the end of the period and from buying and selling certificates. During each market period you are free to purchase or sell as many certificates as you wish, provided you follow the rules below. The dividend per certificate depends on the *state* of the market period. Each market period will be in one of three states, X, Y, or Z. You can find the dividends associated with each of these three states on your "Dividend Sheet." You are assigned either Type I or Type II dividend sheet. Note that dividend values corresponding to a state may be different for different dividend types. For example, if the state is X, then the dividend you will receive might not be the same as the dividend received by someone else. The method by which the state is selected each period is explained later in these instructions.

Suppose that your dividend sheet was as follows. (The numbers are completely hypothetical.)

	State X	State Y	State Z
Dividend	100	70	50

At the end of each market period the state will be announced. You will compute your total dividend earnings for the period by multiplying the dividend per certificate, given the state, by the number of certificates held. That is, (number of certificates held) × (dividend per certificate) = total dividend earnings. Suppose, for example, that you hold 5 certificates at the end of a period and that the state is X. If your dividend is 100 frances per certificate as in the example, then your total dividend earnings from the period would be $5 \times 100 = 500$ frances. Likewise, if the state is Y and if your dividend is 70 frances as in the example, then your total dividend earnings would be $5 \times 70 = 350$ frances. This number should be recorded in the box labeled C on your "Record Sheet" after each period.

Sales from your certificate holdings increase your francs on hand by the amount of the sale price. Similarly, purchases reduce your francs on hand by the amount of the purchase price. Thus you can gain or lose money on the purchase and resale of certificates. Your total gain or loss from buying and selling certificates should be recorded in the box labeled **B** on your "Record Sheet" after each period.

At the beginning of each period, each of you are provided with an initial holding of ______ certificates. You may sell these if you wish or you may hold them. If you hold a certificate, then you receive "dividend per certificate" at the end of the period. Notice therefore that for each certificate you hold initially, you can earn during the period *at least* the amount shown as "dividend per certificate." You earn this amount if you do not sell the certificate during the period.

In addition, at the beginning of each period you are provided with an initial amount of 10,000 francs on hand. You may keep this if you wish or you may use it to purchase certificates.

Thus at the beginning of each period you are endowed with holdings of _____ certificates and 10,000 francs on hand. You are free to buy and sell certificates as you wish according to the rules below. Your francs on hand at the end of each period are determined by your initial amount of francs on hand, dividends on certificate holdings at the end of the period, and gains and losses from purchases and sales of certificates. All francs on hand at the end of each period in excess of 10,000 francs are your total profits for the period and are yours to keep.

Determination of States:

The dividend you receive from the certificates you hold depends on the state of a market period. The state can be either X, Y, or Z. If the market period is in the state X, then your dividend per certificate is the one associated with the state X as given in your "Dividend Sheet." The state of a market period will be randomly determined before each period begins. But it will not be made public until the period ends. Each state is equally likely. A random number table was used and can be inspected by anyone after the experiment.

Information about States:

At the beginning of each market period, before trading starts, each of you will receive a clue card that may or may not carry some information regarding the state. If your clue card contains "X," then the state is X for sure. Similarly, "Y" and "Z" inform you that the state is Y and Z with certainty, respectively. If your clue card does not contain any information, then it means you have received no information for the period. In each period there will be exactly two people who receive the information, one person among Type I people and the other person among Type II people.

At the beginning of each period, each trader will draw a clue card out of a box that the experimenter had prepared. After you have drawn a clue card, write down the information you have received as it appears in the clue card in the box **A** of your "Record Sheet (Market 1)." If you have received no information, then write "No" in the box. The information given to you in a clue card is your private information, and you are not allowed to talk to each other regarding your private information.

Trading and Recording Rules:

1. All transactions are for one certificate at a time. After each of your sales or purchases you must record the TRANSACTION PRICE in the appropriate column on your

"Record Sheet" depending on the nature of the transaction.

- 2. You are free to sell or buy as many certificates as you wish. Notice that if you think that it would be profitable, then you can sell more certificates than you have on hand. In such a case, if you end up with a negative number of certificates on hand at the end of the period, then your dividend earnings would be negative. Suppose, for example, that you hold -2 certificates on hand at the end of period and that the dividend per certificate is 50 francs. Then your dividend earnings are $-2 \times 50 = -100$ francs. Of course if you sold the certificates for more than 50 francs each, then you have made a profit. But if you sold for less than 50 francs each, then you have made a loss.
- 3. At the end of each period, compute your total earnings from buying and selling from the period, and record it in the box labeled **B**.
- 4. At the end of each period, after the experimenter has announced the state of the period, compute your total dividend earnings from the period and record it in the box labeled C.
- 5. The price of the information given to you at the beginning of each period is zero in every market period. Therefore, 0 has been entered in the box labeled \mathbf{D} in every market period.
- 6. At the end of each period, compute your total profits from the period by adding the numbers in boxes **B** and **C**, and record it in the box labeled **E**. Also record it on the appropriate row of your "Profit Sheet."
- 7. At the end of the experiment, add up your profit from all the periods, and record it on row 18 of your "Profit Sheet." Then, convert it into dollars by multiplying the profit by the conversion rate that is given on row 19 of your "Profit Sheet." Finally record your profit in dollars on row 20 of your "Profit Sheet." The experimenter will pay you this amount of money in cash.

Market Organization:

The market for these certificates is organized as follows. The market will be conducted in a series of market periods. Each market lasts for _____ minutes. The technology of trading will be explained to you.

Are there any questions?

Anyone wishing to purchase a certificate is free to do so by employing either or both of the following.

- Enter the price you are willing to pay, let's call it 'buy order,' in the order box on your monitor and hit F1 key, and wait until someone accepts your buy order. Note that if your buy order is *higher* than any other buy orders, then it will become a standing buy order and will appear in the buy order box on the monitor. If your buy order is *lower* than the current standing buy order, then it will be kept in a "Book," which you can always view by hitting F5 key.
- 2. You can purchase a certificate by accepting a 'sell order' which appears in the sell order box on the monitor. In order to accept a sell order, hit Ctrl + F1 keys simultaneously. Note that 'accepting a sell order' means that you are purchasing a certificate at a price that appears in the sell order box on your screen.

Similarly, anyone wishing to sell a certificate is free to do so by employing either or both of the following.

- 1. Enter the price you are willing to sell (a sell order) in the order box on your monitor and hit $\boxed{F2}$ key, and wait until someone accepts your sell order. Note that if your sell order is *lower* than any other sell orders, then it will become a standing sell order and will appear in the sell order box on the monitor. If your sell order is *higher* than the current standing sell order, then it will be kept in a "Book" which you can always view by hitting $\boxed{F5}$ key.
- 2. You can sell a certificate by accepting a 'buy order' which appears in the buy order box on the monitor. In order to accept a buy order, hit Ctrl + F2 keys simultaneously. Note that 'accepting a buy order' means that you are selling a certificate at a price that appears in the buy order box on your screen.

Are there any questions?

APPENDIX 5D. AN INSTRUCTION FOR THE EXPERIMENTS

FINANCIAL AGREEMENT

SHOULD MY EARNINGS FROM THE EXPERIMENT BE NEGATIVE, I AGREE TO WORK IN THE ECONOMIC SCIENCE LABORATORY AT A RATE OF 7 DOL-LARS PER HOUR UNTIL THE LOSS IS REPAID.

NAME _____

DATE _____

Appendix 5E

Record Sheet and Dividend Sheet

Subject ID #____

Period #_____

Α

Record Sheet (Market 1 : Type I)

Information on a clue card is :

Sale Price Purchase Price Row 1 $\mathbf{2}$ 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 $\overline{12}$ 13 14 15 16 17 Revenue from 18 19 trading $\overline{20}$ = \mathbf{B}



Your profit in Market 1 from this period is :

$$B + C = D$$

Subject ID #____

Period #_____

Record Sheet (Market 1 : Type II)

Information on a clue card is :

A

	Row	Sale Price	Purchase Price		
	1				
	2				
	3				
	4				
	5	//			
	6				
	7				
	8			1	
	9	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>			
	10]	
	11]	
	12				
	13				
	14				
	15				
	16				
	17				
	18			Revenue from	
	19			trading	
	20				B
Number of certif	icates	Divid	end	•	
n hand at the e	nd	Der cer	tificate	Total dividend	
in many at the c		per cer	01110000	room arviacha	
·	X				
			}	1	

Your profit in Market 1 from this period is :

$$B + C = D$$

APPENDIX 5E. RECORD SHEET AND DIVIDEND SHEET

Subject ID #____

Period #_____

Record Sheet (Market 2 : Buyer)

Row	Redemption Value (1)	Purchase Price (2)	Profit ((1) - (2))
1			
2			
3			
4			
5			
6			
7			
8			
9			
10			

Your profit in Market 2 from this period is \longrightarrow

Subject ID #____

Period #_____

Record Sheet (Market 2 : Seller)

Row	Sale Price (1)	Inventory Use Cost (2)	Profit ((1) - (2))
1			
. 2			
3			·
4			
5			
6			
7			
8			
9			
10			
37	0		1

Your profit in Market 2 from this period is \longrightarrow

Profit Sheet

Subject ID # _____

Row	Market Period	Profit (Market 1)	Profit (Market 2)
0	0 (Practice)		
1	1		
2	2		
3	3		
4	4		
5	5		
6	6		
7	7		
8	8		
9	9		
10	10		
11	11		
12	12		
13	13		
14	14		
15	15		
16	16		
17	17		
18	Total Profit in Francs		
19	Dollars per Franc		
20	Total Profit in Dollars		

NAME	
DATE	

Dividend Sheet (Market 1 : Type I)

	State X	State Y	State Z
Dividend	120	330	40

Dividend Sheet (Market 1 : Type II)

	State X	State Y	State Z
Dividend	205	90	125

Appendix 5F

Data Files

The raw data from the experiments reported here are saved at the Laboratory for Experimental Economics and Political Science at the California Institute of Technology. The file names follow the convention we use in the lab., 042393b.sta and 042393c.sta.

The raw data required several modifications due to obvious mistakes that were made by the experiment participants or problems associated with a computer software. These changes are documented below.

- (042393b, mkt1) Period 14 at 7499 seconds : The bid order by agent 5 has been modified into 5 units instead of 50 units.
- (042393c, mkt1) Period 7 at 3781 seconds : "dask" order was placed by agent 1 (1 unit of 250). However, the .col data set indicates that this ask order was never entered before the "dask" order. Hence, it was eliminated. MUDA was revised to correct such problems in the later version.

- (042393c, mkt1) Period 7 at 3933 seconds : "dask" order entered by agent 1 (1 unit of 200) had the same problem as above, and was eliminated.
- (042393c, mkt1) Period 10 at 5261 seconds : "dask" order entered by agent 3 (1 unit of 129) had the same problems as above, and was eliminated.
- (042393c, mkt1) Period 13 at 6524 seconds : "dask" order entered by agent 1 (1 unit of 250) had the same problem as above, and was eliminated.
- (042393c, mkt1) Period 15 at 7260 seconds : "dask" order entered by agent 5 (1 unit of 190) had the same problem as above, and was eliminated.
- (042393c, mkt2) Period 11 at 5714 seconds : "dask" order entered by agent 3 (1 unit of 160) had the same problem as above, and was eliminated.
- (042393c, mkt2) Period 14 at 6862 seconds : "dask" order entered by agent 1 (3 units of 155) had the same problem as above, and was eliminated.
- Multiple unit orders were modified into multiple orders of single unit.

Bibliography

- Admati, Anat R. and Paul Pfleiderer, (1988), "A Theory of Intraday Patterns: Volume and Price Variability," *Review of Financial Studies*, I, 3 – 40.
- [2] Benston, George J. and Robert L. Hagerman, (1974), "Determinants of Bid-Ask Spreads in the Over-the-Counter Market," Journal of Financial Economics, 1, 353 - 364.
- [3] Biais, Bruno, Pierre Hillion, and Chester Spatt, (1993), "An Empirical Analysis of the Limit Order Book and the Order Flow in the Paris Bourse," Carnegie Mellon University Working Paper
- [4] Blume, Marshall, Craig MacKinlay, and Bruce Terker, (1989), "Order Imbalances and Stock Price Movements on October 19 and 20, 1987," Journal of Finance, 44, 827 – 848.
- [5] Bollerslev, Tim and Ian Domowitz, (1993), "Some Effects of Restricting the Electronic Order Book in an Automated Trade Execution System," *The Double Auction Market: Institutions, Theories, and Evidence*, SFI Studies in the Sciences of Complexity, 221 – 252.

- [6] Copeland, Thomas E. and Dan Galai, (1983), "Information Effects on the Bid-Ask Spread," Journal of Finance, 38, 1457 - 1469.
- [7] Easley, David and Maureen O'Hara, (1987), "Price, Trade Size, and Information in Securities Markets," Journal of Financial Economics, 19, 69 – 90.
- [8] Forsythe, Robert, Thomas R. Palfrey, and Charles R. Plott, (1982), "Asset Valuation in an Experimental Market," *Econometirca*, 50, 537 – 567.
- [9] Forsythe, Robert and Russell Lundholm, (1990), "Information Aggregation in an Experimental Market," *Econometirca*, 58, 309 347.
- [10] Glosten, Lawrence R. and Paul R. Milgrom, (1985), "Bid, Ask and Transaction Prices in a Specialist Market with Heterogeneously Informed Traders," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 14, 71 – 100.
- [11] Glosten, Lawrence R., (1985), "Insider Trading, Liquidity, and the Role of the Monopolist Specialist," *Journal of Business*, 62, 211 – 235.
- [12] Hasbrouck, Joel and Thomas S. Y. Ho, (1987), "Order Arrival, Quote Behavior, and the Return-Generating Process," *Journal of Finance*, 42, 1035 – 1048.
- [13] Hasbrouck, Joel, (1988), "Trades, Quotes, Inventories, and Information," Journal of Financial Economics, 22, 229 - 252.
- [14] Hausman, Jerry A., Andrew W. Lo, and A. Craig MacKinlay, (1992), "An Ordered Probit Analysis of Transaction Stock Prices," *Journal of Financial Economics*, **31**, 319 - 379.

- [15] Ho, Thomas S. Y.and Hans R. Stoll, (1983), "The Dynamics of Dealer Markets under Competition," Journal of Finance, 38, 1053 – 1074.
- [16] Kyle, Albert S., (1985), "Continuous Auctions and Insider Trading," *Econometirca*, 53, 1315 1335.
- [17] Kyle, Albert S., (1989), "Informed Speculation with Imperfect Competition," Review of Economic Studies, 317 – 355.
- [18] Laffont, Jean-Jacques and Eric S. Maskin, (1990), "The Efficient Market Hypothesis and Insider Trading on the Stock Market," *Journal of Political Economy*, 98, 70 - 93.
- [19] McInish, Thomas H. and Robert A. Wood, (1992), "An Analysis of Intraday Patterns in Bid/Ask Spreads for NYSE Stocks," *Journal of Finance*, 47, 753 – 764.
- [20] Milgrom, Paul and Nancy Stokey, (1982), "Information, Trade, and Common Knowledge," Journal of Economic Theory, 26, 17 – 27.
- [21] Peters, Edgar E., (1994),Fractal Market Analysis John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- [22] Plott, Charles R. and Shyam Sunder, (1982), "Efficiency of Experimental Security Markets with Insider Information: An Application of Rational-Expectations Models," *Journal of Political Economy*, **90**, 663 – 697.
- [23] Plott, Charles R. and Shyam Sunder, (1988), "Rational Expectations and the Aggregation of Diverse Information in Laboratory Security Markets," *Econometirca*, 56, 1085 1118.

- [24] Plott, Charles R., (1991), "A Computerized Laboratory Market System and Research Support Systems for the Multiple-Unit Double Auction," California Institute of Technology Working Paper, # 783.
- [25] Tinic, Seha M. and Richard R. West, (1972), "Competition and the Pricing of Dealer Services in the Over-the-Counter Market," Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, 8, 1707 - 1727.